Integrating marine megafauna into ecosystem-based management: a multidisciplinary approach applied to southern European waters

María Isabel García Barón

PhD thesis 2019



Euskal Herriko Unibertsitatea

Integrating marine megafauna into ecosystem-based management: a multidisciplinary approach applied to southern European waters

Presented by

María Isabel García Barón

A thesis submitted to the University of the Basque Country for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Thesis Directors

Dr. Maite Louzao Arsuaga

Dr. María Begoña Santos Vázquez

Department

Zoology and Animal Cell Biology

Doctoral programme

Marine Environment and Resources

University of the Basque Country

November 2019







Recommended citation:

García-Barón, I. (2019) Integrating marine megafauna into ecosystem-based management: a multidisciplinary approach applied to southern European waters. PhD Thesis. Department of Zoology and Animal Cell Biology, University of the Basque Country, 351pp

Cover illustration is an original creation of Joan Mir Arguimbau, who remains the intellectual owner. Any form of reproduction, distribution, public communication or transformation of the same without prior authorization of the author is forbidden.

The research carried out in this Dr. Philos thesis has been developed in AZTI (Pasaia, Spain) and it has been financed by the "Challenge Project" [CTM2013-47032-R] from the "Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad" of the Spanish Government (MINECO). Isabel García-Barón was funded by a Doctoral Fellowship [BES-2014-070597] from the National Programme for the Promotion of Talent and Its Employability - National Sub-Programme for Training from the "Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad" of the Spanish Government (MINECO).

PELACUS surveys have been co-funded by the European Union through the European Maritime and Fisheries Fund (EMFF) within the National Program of collection, management and use of data in the fisheries sector and support for scientific advice regarding the Common Fisheries Policy.

JUVENA surveys have been co-funded by the "Viceconsejería de Agricultura, Pesca y Politicas Alimentarias - Departamento de Desarrollo Económico y Competitividad" of the Basque Government and the "Secretaría General de Pesca, Ministerio de Agricultura, Alimentación y Medio Ambiente" of the Spanish Government.

This Dr. Philos thesis, presented under the international mention from University of the Basque Country, was assessed by two scientific experts from non-Spanish research institutions:

- Dr. Mathieu Authier, from the Observatoire Pelagis, UMS 3462 CNRS-Université de La Rochelle (La Rochelle, France).
- Dr. James Waggitt, from the School of Ocean Sciences, Bangor University (Anglesey, UK).

A mis padres y mi hermana

"Even if you never have the chance to see or touch the ocean, it touches you with every breath you take, every drop of water you drink, every bite you consume. Everyone, everywhere is inextricably connected to and utterly dependent upon the existence of the sea."

Sylvia Earle

"It is a curious situation that the sea, from which life first arose, should now be threatened by the activities of one form of that life. But the sea, though changed in a sinister way, will continue to exist: the threat is rather to life itself."

Rachel Carson

CONTENTS

AGR	ADECIN	IENTOS - ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
SCIE	NTIFIC	PRODUCTION AND FORMATION	IX
1.	Peer-R	eviewed Publications	IX
2.	Confer	ence Papers	Х
3.	Scienti	fic Reports	XIII
4.	Oceano	ographic Surveys	XIII
LIST	OF ACF	RONYMS	XV
LIST	OF TAE	BLES	XXI
LIST	OF FIG	URES	XXIII
RES	UMEN		XXV
SUN	IMARY .		XXXI
GEN	ERAL IN	ITRODUCTION	1
1.	Status	of marine ecosystems	3
2.	Marine	megafauna and their role in the ecosystem	5
3.	Conse	vation of marine megafauna	7
4.	Ecosys	stem-based management	8
	4.1.	Tracking ecosystem changes	9
	4.2.	Identification of important areas	10
	4.3.	Spatially-explicit management measures	11
5.	Marine	ecosystem-based management in practice	13
	5.1.	Marine ecosystem monitoring	14
	5.2.	Multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys	15
	5.3.	Ecological modelling for ecosystem assessment	16
	5.4.	Systematic conservation planning	19
6.	Ration	ale for the study	20
	6.1.	The Bay of Biscay and the Iberian Coast	20
	6.2.	Marine megafauna within the Bay of Biscay	22
	6.3.	Marine protected areas in the Bay of Biscay	24
7.	Hypoth	nesis, aim and objectives	27
	7.1.	Working hypothesis	27
	7.2.	Aim and objectives	27
8.	Structu	re of the thesis	
СНА	PTER 1	- Which are the main threats affecting the marine megafauna in the Bay of Biscay?	29
1.	Introdu	iction	31
2.	Materia	al and Methods	32

	2.1.	Selection of species	32
	2.2.	Threats considered	33
	2.3.	Impact assessment	33
3.	Results		36
	3.1.	Quantitative impact assessment	36
	3.2.	Qualitative impact assessment	39
	3.3.	Quantitative versus qualitative assessments	42
4.	Discus	sion	46
	4.1.	Evaluating threat impacts based on monitoring schemes	46
	4.2.	Overall threats to marine megafauna	48
5.	Conclu	sions	51
CHA	PTER 2 vevs to a	- Understanding the 3D environment of pelagic seabirds from multidisciplinary oceanogr dvance ecosystem-based monitoring.	raphic
1.	Introdu	ction	55
2.	Materia	I and Methods	57
	2.1.	Multidisciplinary surveys	57
	2.2.	Characterising the vertical domain	63
	2.3.	Seabird detection functions	63
	2.4.	Spatial abundance models	64
3.	Results	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	66
	3.1.	Characterization of the vertical domain	66
	3.2.	3D preyscapes	66
	3.3.	3D oceanographic environment	67
	3.4.	Seabird sightings and detection function	71
	3.5.	Biologically meaningful vertical domain	71
	3.6.	Pelagic seabird 3D oceanographic habitat and abundance predictions	71
4.	Discus	sion	78
CHA dive	PTER 3	- Essential dynamic ocean variables shape the environmental envelopes of marine megat	fauna 83
1.	Introdu	ction	85
2.	Materia	I and Methods	88
	2.1.	Oceanographic survey and data collection	88
	2.2.	Species detectability based on environmental conditions and biological traits	89
	2.3.	Spatio-temporal modelling of megafauna abundance	91
	2.4.	High-value biodiversity areas	92
	2.5.	Environmental envelopes driving megafauna diversity	93
3.	Results		94
	3.1.	Oceanographic survey data	94
	3.2.	Species detectability	95

	3.3.	Spatio-temporal modelling of marine megafauna	97
	3.4.	High-value biodiversity areas	
	3.5.	Environmental envelope	
4.	Discus	ssion	
	4.1.	Marine megafauna community and detectability	
	4.2.	Environmental envelopes	
	4.3.	Implications of the EOVs for the conservation of the HVBAs	
CHA	PTER 4	- Modelling the spatial abundance of a migratory predator: a call for transbounda	ry marine
prot	ected a	reas	
1.	Introd		
2.	Materi	al and Methods	
	2.1.	Data collection	
	2.2.	Detection function modelling	110
	2.3.	Data processing	110
	2.4.	Density surface models	113
	2.5.	Spatial prediction reliability	115
	2.6.	Critical areas of Fin whales in the Bay of Biscay	115
3.	Result	S	117
	3.1.	Detection function modelling	117
	3.2.	Density surface models	117
	3.3.	Spatial predictions reliability	121
	3.4.	Suitability of Marine Protected Areas in the Bay of Biscay for Fin whales	121
4.	Discus	ssion	123
	4.1.	Spatial abundance of Fin whales in the Bay of Biscay	123
	4.2.	Critical areas for oceanic species	
	4.3.	Futures perspectives	
СНА	PTER 5	- The value of time-series for conservation planning	
1.	Introd	uction	131
2.	Materi	al and Methods	
	2.1.	Protected areas and conservation features	132
	2.2.	Threat spatio-temporal distribution	134
	2.3.	Conservation planning scenarios	135
	2.4.	Comparison of planning scenarios	137
3.	Result	S	138
4.	Discus	ssion	141
CON	ICLUSIC	DNS	147
REF	ERENCI	Ξ\$	151
APP	ENDICE	S	
СНА	PTER 1	– APPENDIX A	

Appendix A – Section 1: Species data	
Appendix A – Section 2: Seabird admissions	191
Appendix A – Section 3: List of references	196
CHAPTER 2 – APPENDIX B	203
Appendix B – Section 1: Non-breeding diet of pelagic seabirds	205
Appendix B – Section 2: Horizontal fields of oceanographic descriptors	206
Appendix B – Section 3: Static variables	209
Appendix B – Section 4: Characterising the vertical domain	210
Appendix B – Section 5: Seabird detection functions	211
Appendix B – Section 6: Correlation between descriptors	213
Appendix B – Section 7: Surface environmental conditions	215
CHAPTER 3 – APPENDIX C	217
Appendix C – Section 1: Species data	219
Appendix C – Section 2: Distance Sampling Analysis	232
Appendix C – Section 3: Environmental covariates	240
Appendix C – Section 4: Density surface models	245
Appendix C – Section 5: High-value biodiversity areas	
CHAPTER 4 – APPENDIX D	
Appendix D – Section 1: Survey's protocol	
Appendix D – Section 2: Workflow of the entire analytical process	
Appendix D – Section 3: Environmental covariates	
Appendix D – Section 4: Spearman-rank correlation coefficients	
Appendix D – Section 5: Spatial prediction reliability	278
Appendix D – Section 6: Distance Sampling Analysis	279
Appendix D – Section 7: Results of spatial abundance modelling procedure	
CHAPTER 5 – APPENDIX E	
Appendix E – Section 1: Conservation features	
Appendix E – Section 2: Conservation targets	
Appendix E – Section 3: Approach 1 and Approach 2 results	
Appendix E – Section 4: Approach 3 results	

AGRADECIMIENTOS - ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Quien me iba a decir que, habiendo nacido en los campos de la meseta castellana, terminaría escribiendo estas líneas de camino a Donosti, la tierra que me ha acercado al mar. Para alguien de interior, el mar es un medio desconocido y enigmático, de alguna manera, tenerlo lejos hace que se convierta en algo especial y solo percibir su olor despierta una oleada de sensaciones. Recuerdo mis primeras semanas en Donosti cuando, a pesar de la lluvia a la que me ha costado acostumbrarme, me levantaba por la mañana, abría la ventana y escuchaba a las gaviotas. No puedo describir lo especial que ha sido poder vivir estos años ligada al mar. Por ello, ante todo quiero agradecer a mis directoras, Maite y Begoña, haber confiado en mí para llevar a cabo esta tesis. Gracias por darme esta oportunidad, por enseñarme tanto, por acompañarme y guiarme en este camino. De corazón, infinitas gracias, porque sin vosotras no estaría escribiendo estas líneas ahora mismo. Begoña, aún en la distancia, gracias por tu ayuda, tus consejos y tus ánimos, espero que nuestros caminos profesionales vuelvan a cruzarse. Maite, eskerrik asko bihotzez, por haber sido capaz de llegar a conocerme tanto y haber intentado enseñarme a superar mis debilidades. Gracias por apoyarme y animarme, por creer en mí y compartir conmigo la locura por la ciencia. Eskerrik asko horrenbestegatik.

Gracias también a mi tutor, Iñaki Saiz-Salinas, por toda la ayuda con el papeleo y la burocracia y por facilitarme los trámites del depósito. *I would also like to thank Matthieu and James for being the international reviewers of my thesis and cope with the reading in such a short time.*

Esta tesis no habría sido posible sin los datos de los Centros de Recuperación de Fauna Silvestre de Gipuzkoa (Arrano-Etxea), Bizkaia (Gorliz), Cantabria y Asturias, gracias por el trabajo que lleváis a cabo en pro de la fauna silvestre. Gracias en especial a Iñaki Intxausti (como olvidar a sus pottoka), Jose Miguel Escribano y Manena Fayos por acogerme tan gratamente en las visitas que os hacía. Tampoco habría podido llevar a cabo la tesis sin las campañas PELACUS y JUVENA. Gracias, gracias y gracias a todas aguellas personas que han compartido conmigo esos momentos surcando los mares. Gracias a Pablo y a Guille, isois los mejores jefes que se puede tener en alta mar!, gracias a todo el equipo de observadores y observadoras que me han acompañado durante las campañas Salva, Xulio, Toño, Jose Murcia, Amaia, Ruairí, Iñaki O., Mikel B., Gaizkita, Dunja, Bea, Iñigo K., Paula y Alberto, gracias por hacer tan especiales esas horas en la proa, ino lo cambiaría por nada del mundo! No quiero olvidarme de aquellas personas que, aunque no pude compartir tiempo con ellas, también han hecho posible la recogida de datos, Arkaitz, Iker, Milo, Amaia Alzaga... También, un inmenso gracias al resto de científicos por haber convertido esos días en la mar en un recuerdo tan especial, Deniz, Bea, Ángel, Rosendo, Bea B., Carlota, Maite C., Bernardo, Iñaki R., Ainhoa, Esther, Marian, Manu, Mario, Carlota R... y no puedo olvidarme de la tripulación, tanto del Ramón Margalef, como del Miguel Oliver, gracias por vuestra calurosa acogida, por esas interminables

conversaciones en los descansos del turno y por responder con tanta alegría a las llamadas de *walkie* pidiendo los datos de viento y altura de ola, ¡gracias! Por supuesto, no puedo pasar por alto las sesiones nocturnas de cine de terror/gore/zombis a bordo del Margalef, gracias jefe (*aka* Guille) por nombrarme Ministra de Cultura, ¡espero no haberos defraudado!

And how to forget the stays! Merçi beaucoup à toute l'équipe de l'Observatoire Pelagis, surtout Matthieu pour m'avoir aidé et guidé pendant ces trois mois, J'espère qu'à l'avenir plus de collaborations! Thank you also to Beth, who host and instructed me at the University of Washington. En este punto no quiero olvidarme de mi primo Rodri, de Gonza y de Andrea, por ser mi familia allí, hacer inolvidable mi estancia en Seattle y compartir conmigo tantas americanadas. Maite, Katy, Thiago, David, Ramtin, Siddharth, Jorge, Baptiste, Antonio, our uruguayan mami René and Macaira! Thank you so much, muito obrigada, merçi beaucoup, dhanyavad, for making my stay in Seattle such a special and memorable moment! I hope to see you soon somewhere in the world! Finally, ευχαριστώ Syvaine for all your help and support during my stay in Nice, I hope to work with you again someday! Merçi beaucoup, Elisabeth, for all your help and shared moments during my months there, I hope the next time we see each other, we celebrate it being doctors. I would also like to thank all the ECOSEAS' people, Adriana, Patricia, the Antonios, Francesca, Benoit, Virginie, Simona, Alexandre, Eugenio and, of course Marija, it was a pleasure to see you in Nice!

Gracias a toda la gente de AZTI, por todas las conversaciones y consejos a lo largo de estos años, por vuestras sonrisas mañaneras y vuestros ánimos. Gracias también a todas las personas que me han ayudado, Ainhoa, Anna, Iván, Luis y Yolanda, ha quedado claro que las corrientes oceánicas no son lo mío. Javi Franco, gracias por las conversaciones pajareras y por esos intercambios de libros, ojalá que sean muchos más. Unai, gracias por todas las veces que he tocado a tu despacho y tan amablemente me has escuchado y has intentado ayudarme. Y no quiero olvidarme de Imanol, ¡qué habría hecho sin toda tu ayuda informática!

Un inmenso gracias a Sarai, Blanca y Bea, hemos recorrido este camino juntas, espero que el que venga por delante, aunque en la distancia, nos siga manteniendo unidas, jos quiero muchísimo! Unai, no olvidaré nuestras conversaciones, sea cual sea el camino que te depare la vida, que sea tan bonito como te mereces. Gracias a mi *compi* de tesis, Amaia, por escucharme, por dejar que me desahogase con ella, por su ayuda, sus consejos, por sus caras enfurruñadas que tanto me hacen reír y por haber estado ahí, codo con codo, jvoy a echarte muchísimo de menos! Iraide, nunca pierdas tu esencia, adoro lo especial e inolvidable que eres, gracias por escucharme y por estar siempre ahí. Miren e Igor, eskerrik asko por todas esas conversaciones, por vuestra ayuda y por quererme aun siendo tan habladora. Iván (*aka* papá garbanzo) eskerrik asko por hacer que me sintiese integrada en Donosti, por escucharme cuando estaba mal y por llevarme por la mala vida y enseñarme que desayunar a las 8 de la mañana una hamburguesa en el Boulevard es como mejor puede terminar una noche en Donosti. Kemal, mi pequeño turco, *Teşekkür ederim* por ser como eres, por quererme tanto y por preocuparte tanto por mí. Ainhoa, has llegado en la última etapa, pero

menuda revolución, ¡que tu bolso nunca se quede sin limones! Oihane M., eskerrik asko por acogernos cuando éramos unos pollitos, por todas esas risas pantalla con pantalla en la sala de becarios y por seguir estando ahí aún pasado el tiempo. Aitor, que con un gif fuésemos capaces de entendernos hace que seas tan especial. Iker, eskerrik asko por todos tus consejos y por mantenerme con la mente fría cuando me agobiaba. María, gracias por tan buenos consejos y porque nunca acaben las cenas en la secta. Gracias también a Arkaitz por ser mi cómplice pajarero, a Deniz por gran aventura en México, a Irene, Oihane, Ernesto, Natalia, Nerea, Eva, los Jones, Jorge, Maite...

A mis pisukides, Ibone, Itxaso, Margot y Shahr zad *Shash*, infinitas gracias por ser, en mayúsculas, no solo mi familia, sino mi hogar. Mila esker por estar ahí siempre, por apoyarme en los momentos difíciles, por tantas horas y tantas conversaciones juntas, porque sin vosotras no hubiese sido lo mismo. *Eskerrik asko neskak, maite zaituztet!*

Gracias también a aquellas personas que de una manera u otra han hecho que haya podido vivir esta experiencia. Joan, gracias por darme la oportunidad de embarcarme contigo y meter las manos entre vísceras de cetáceos, sin ti no estaría donde estoy. Noe, gracias por tus ánimos, tu apoyo y por creer siempre en mí. A los *Biocos* y a la gente de Sevilla (Eneko, María, Paloma, Javi, Álvaro...) no solo os agradezco haber formado parte de mi vida antes de la tesis, sino que durante ella habéis permanecido a mi lado. A mis *leoneses deliciosos* Jaime, Fer y David y a mis cazurros y cazurros adoptados Sergio, Juanlu, Segoviano y Kike, gracias por tantos años de amistad y de apoyo aun en la distancia.

Gracias a mi familia, a los que están y a los que se fueron. Gracias tía Bea, porque, aunque a muchas veces me arrepienta de la decisión que tomé, gracias a que me apoyases estoy donde estoy. A la abuela Esperanza, que no puede ver el final del camino, pero estuvo ahí mientras lo recorría. A mi tío Mario y a la yaya por todo su cariño incondicional. A Miguel, por picarme y aguantar mis piques, sabes que te quiero un montón. Y a las personas más importantes de mi vida, mis padres, GRACIAS por creer siempre en mí, por enseñarme a luchar, a ser constante, paciente y fuerte, porque sin vosotros no habría llegado hasta aquí. A mi hermana, por ser un ejemplo de sacrificio y constancia, por valorarme tanto y confiar en mí. A la cosa más bonita que me ha dado la vida, Lucía, algún día leeremos juntas estas palabras y te explicaré lo inmensamente feliz que me hizo tu llegada, cada sonrisa, cada nuevo pasito, cada nueva palabra, te quiero con toda mi alma. Y gracias a mi vikingo, Josh, gracias por tu paciencia y, sobre todo, gracias por darle un vuelco tan bonito a mi vida, por ilusionarme, apoyarme y quereme tanto.

Eta eskerrik asko une hauei, itsasoa mirestea erakutsi didatelako

Trayecto de tren Valladolid - Donosti Octubre de 2019

SCIENTIFIC PRODUCTION AND FORMATION

The scientific and technical material produced, and the scientific formation acquired during the period of this doctoral thesis (March 2015 - October 2019) are detailed in this section:

1. Peer-Reviewed Publications

First author publications

- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Giakoumi, S., Santos, M.B., Granado, I., Louzao, M. (Submitted) *The value of time series data for conservation planning.* Journal of Applied Ecology.
- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Santos, M.B., Saavedra, C., Astarloa, A., Valeiras, J., Barcelona, S.G., Louzao, M. (Under review) *Essential dynamic ocean variables shape the environmental envelopes of marine megafauna diversity.* Ecological Indicators.
- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Santos, M.B., Uriarte, A., Inchausti, J.I., Escribano, J.M., Albisu, J., Fayos, M., Pis-Millán, J.A., Oleaga, Á., Alonso, F.E., Hernández, O., Moreno, O., Louzao, M., 2019. *Which are the main threats affecting the marine megafauna in the Bay of Biscay*? Continental Shelf Research 186, 1–12.
- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Authier, M., Caballero, A., Vázquez, J.A., Santos, M.B., Louzao, M., 2019. *Modelling the spatial abundance of a migratory predator: a call for transboundary marine protected areas.* Diversity and Distributions 25, 346–360.
- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Cortés-Avizanda, A., Verburg, P.H., Marques, T.A., Moreno-Opo, R., Pereira, H.M., Donázar, J.A., 2018. *How to fit the distribution of apex scavengers into land-abandonment scenarios? The Cinereous vulture in the Mediterranean biome*. Diversity and Distributions 24, 1018–1031.

Other

- Waggitt, J.J., Evans P.G.H., Hiddink, J.G., Geert, J., Kavanagh, A., Banks, A., Gilles, A., Santos, M.B., Saavedra, C., Wall, D., Stienan, E.W.M., Bradbury, G., Pierce, G.J., Skov, H., Garcia-Barón, <u>I.</u>, Haelters, J., Wilson, J., Andrade, J., Martinez-Cedeira, J., James, K., Lohrengel, K., Bolton, M., Jessopp, M., Markones, M., Hodgins, N., Vanermen, N., O'Cadhla, O., Thompson, P., Fijn, R.C., Hamilton, S., Perry, S.L., Wanless, S., Sveegaard, S., Garthe, S., Geelhoed, S., Brereton, T., Felce, T. (In press) *Distribution maps of cetacean and seabird populations in the North-East Atlantic.* Journal of Applied Ecology.
- Louzao, M., Valeiras, J., Garcia-Barcelona, S., González-Quirós, R., Nogueira, E., Iglesias, M., Bode, A., Vázquez, J.A., Murcia, J.L., Saavedra, C., Pierce, G.J., Fernández, R., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Santos, M.B., 2019. *Marine megafauna niche coexistence and hotspot areas in a temperate ecosystem*. Continental Shelf Research 186, 77–87.
- Franco, J., Fort, J., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Loubat, P., Louzao, M., del Puerto, O., Zorita, I., 2019. *Incidence of plastic ingestion in seabirds from the Bay of Biscay (Southwestern Europe)*. Marine Pollution Bulletin 146, 387-392.

- Louzao, M., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Rubio, A., Martínez, U., Vázquez, J.A., Murcia, J.L., Nogueira, E., Boyra, G., 2019. Understanding the 3D environment of pelagic seabirds from multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys, to advance ecosystem-based monitoring. Marine Ecology Progress Series 617–618, 199–219.
- Virgili, A., Authier, M., Boisseau, O., Cañadas, A., Claridge, D., Cole, T., Corkeron, P., Dorémus, G., David, L., Di-Méglio, N., Dunn, C., Dunn, T.E., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Laran, S., Lauriano, G., Lewis, M., Louzao, M., Mannocci, L., Martínez-Cedeira, J., Palka, D., Panigada, S., Pettex, E., Roberts, J.J., Ruiz, L., Saavedra, C., Santos, M.B., Van Canneyt, O., Vázquez Bonales, J.A., Monestiez, P., Ridoux, V., 2019. *Combining multiple visual surveys to model the habitat of deep-diving cetaceans at the basin scale.* Global Ecology and Biogeography 28(3), 300-314.
- Louzao, M., Gallagher, R., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Chust, G., Intxausti, I., Albisu, J., Brereton, T., Fontán, A., 2019. *Threshold responses in bird mortality driven by extreme wind events*. Ecological Indicators 99, 183–192.
- García, G., Arévalo, A., Beldarrain, B., Cuesta, M., Franco, J., Gallagher, R., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Gómez, I., Lizarraga, M., Louzao, M., Martín, I., Serrano, N., Zorita, I. (2018). *Protocolo para evaluar y cuantificar la ingestión de plásticos en el arao común (*Uria aalge). Revista de Investigación Marina, AZTI, 25(1): 1-31.
- Giménez, J., Marçalo, A., García-Polo, M., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Castillo, J.J., Fernández-Maldonado, C., Saavedra, C., Santos, M.B., de Stephanis, R., 2018. *Feeding ecology of Mediterranean Common dolphins: The importance of mesopelagic fish in the diet of an endangered subpopulation*. Marine Mammal Science 34, 136–154.

2. Conference Papers

Oral communications

- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Franco, J., Fort, J., Loubat, P., Louzao, M., Zorita, I. (2019). *Primeros datos sobre la ingestión de desechos plásticos por aves marinas en el Golfo de Bizkaia*. In II Ornithological Congress of Euskadi. Vitoria-Gasteiz (Spain).
- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Giakoumi, S., Santos, M.B., Saavedra, C., Granado, I., Louzao, M. (2019). *Identifying high priority areas for marine top predators in southern Europe.* In 1st Meeting of the Iberian Ecological Society & XIV AEET Meeting. Barcelona (Spain).
- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Santos, B., Saavedra, C., Valeiras, X., García, S., Louzao, M. (2018) *Estimas de abundancia de depredadores apicales para determinar áreas clave en el sur del Golfo de Bizkaia*. In XI Spanish Society of Cetaceans Congress. Bilbao (Spain).
- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Authier, M., Caballero, A., Vázquez, J.A., Santos, M.B., Murcia, J.L., Louzao, M. (2018). *Modelling the relative abundance of an endangered baleen whale to identify missing critical conservation areas*. In 12th International Postgraduate Course Research in Marine Environment & Resources 2018. Donostia-San Sebastián (Spain).
- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Louzao, M., Santos M.B. (2017). *Pelagic changing ecosystems from predators' perspective: advancing conservation efforts in southern European waters.* In 11th International Postgraduate Course Research in Marine Environment & Resources 2017. Donostia-San Sebastián (Spain).

- **García-Barón, I.**, Authier, M., Caballero, A., Vázquez, J.A., Santos, M.B., Murcia, J.L., Louzao, M. (2016). *Modelado espacial de la abundancia relativa de rorcual común en la Bahía de Bizkaia*. In IX Spanish Society of Cetaceans Congress. Las Palmas de Gran Canaria (Spain).
- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Louzao, M., Intxausti, I., Albisu, J. (2016). ¿A qué presiones se enfrentan las aves marinas en el Cantábrico oriental?: una aproximación desde el punto de vista de los centros de recuperación. In I Ornithological Congress of Euskadi. Busturia (Spain).
- Franco, J., Fort, J., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Loubat, P., Louzao, M., Zorita, I. (2018) *First data on plastic litter ingested by seabirds in the Bay of Biscay.* In MICRO 2018, Fate and Impact of Microplastics: Knowledge, Actions and Solutions. Lanzarote (Spain).
- Louzao, M., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Astarloa, A., Chust, G., Martínez, U., Uranga, J., Rubio, A., Boyra, G. (2018) Superposición espacial de mamíferos marinos y presas pelágicas en el Golfo de Bizkaia. In XI Spanish Society of Cetaceans. Bilbao (Spain).
- Louzao, M., Valeiras, S., García-Barcelona, S., González-Quirós, R., Nogueira, E., Iglesias, M., Bode, A., Vázquez, J.A., Murcia, J.L., Saavedra, C., Pierce, G.J., Fernández, R., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Santos, M.B. (2018). *Co-occurrence of marine predators in the northern Iberian Peninsula inferred from spatial modelling.* In XVIth International Symposium on Oceanography of the Bay of Biscay (ISOBAY 16). Anglet (France).
- Virgili, A., Authier, M., Boisseau, O., Cañadas, A., Claridge, D., Cole, T., Corkeron, P., Dorémus, G., David, L., Di-Méglio, N., Dunn, C., Dunn, T., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Laran, S., Lauriano, G., Lewis, M., Louzao, M., Mannocci, L., Martínez-Cedeira, J., Palka, D., Panigada, S., Pettex, E., Roberts, J., Ruiz, L., Saavedra, C., Santos, M.B., Van-Canneyt, O., Vázquez Bonales, J.A., Monestiez, P., Ridoux, V. (2018). *Would habitat models for deep-diving cetaceans be improved if prey distributions were included?* In 32nd European Cetacean Society Conference. La Spezia (Italy).
- Virgili, A., Authier, M., Boisseau, O., Cañadas, A., Claridge, D., Cole, T., Corkeron, P., Dorémus, G., David, L., Di-Méglio, N., Dunn, C., Dunn, T., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Laran, S., Lauriano, G., Lewis, M., Louzao, M., Mannocci, L., Martínez-Cedeira, J., Palka, D., Panigada, S., Pettex, E., Roberts, J., Ruiz, L., Saavedra, C., Santos, M.B., Van-Canneyt, O., Vázquez Bonales, J.A., Monestiez, P., Ridoux, V. (2017). *Large scale distribution of deep-diving cetaceans in the North Atlantic Ocean and the Mediterranean Sea.* In 22nd Society for Marine Mammal Conference. Halifax, Nova Scotia (Canada).
- Louzao, M., Boyra, G., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Rubio, A., Martínez, U., Vázquez, J.A., Murcia, J.L., Krug, I., Oyarzabal, I., Basterretxea, M. (2017). Understanding pelagic seabird 3D environment from multidisciplinary oceanographic cruises. In Symposium on Drivers of dynamics of small pelagic fish resources. Victoria, BC (Canada).
- Louzao, M., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Rubio, A., Martínez, U., Vázquez, J.A., Murcia, J.L., Krug, I., Oyarzabal, I., Basterretxea, M., Boyra, G. (2016). Understanding pelagic seabird 3D environment from multidisciplinary oceanographic cruises. In 6th International Albatross and Petrel Conference. Barcelona (Spain).
- Louzao, M., Boyra, G., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Rubio, A., Martínez, U., Vázquez, J.A., Murcia, J.L., Krug, I., Oyarzabal, I., Basterretxea, M. Franco, J., Cotano, U. (2016). *Algo más que avistar aves marinas: cómo pueden contribuir los programas de observadores a los planes seguimiento.* In I Ornithological Congress of Euskadi. Busturia (Spain).
- Louzao, M., Boyra, G., Rubio, A., Martínez, U., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Vázquez, J.A., Murcia, J.L., Cotano, U. (2015). *Disentangling the effects of environmental conditions and pelagic prey availability in*

driving the spatial patterns of highly migratory seabirds while refueling. In 2nd World Seabird Conference. Cape Town (South Africa).

- Louzao, M., Valeiras, J., García-Barcelona, S., González-Quirós, R., Nogueira, E., Iglesias, M., Bode, A., Vázquez, J.A., Murcia, J.L., Saavedra, C., Pierce, G.J., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Santos, M.B. (2015). *Modelización espacial de la distribución de cetáceos en el norte de la Península Ibérica: la importancia de incluir información de sus presas.* In VIII Spanish Society of Cetaceans Congress. Vigo (Spain).
- Giménez, J., Marçalo, A., Garcia Polo, M., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Castillo, J.J., Fernández Maldonado, C., Santos, M.B., de Stephanis, R. (2015). *Ecología trófica de los delfines comunes del Mar de Alborán (Mar Mediterráneo).* In VIII Spanish Society of Cetaceans Congress. Vigo (Spain).

Posters

- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Intxausti, I., Albisu, J., Fayos, M., Oleaga, A., Santos, M.B., Louzao, M. (2018). *Pressures facing marine top predators in the Bay of Biscay: insights from rehabilitation centres.* In XVIth International Symposium on Oceanography of the Bay of Biscay (ISOBAY 16). Anglet (France).
- García-Barón, I., Gallagher, R., Fontán, A., Intxausti, I., Escribano, J.M, Albisu, J. Fayos, M., Alonso, F.E., Uriarte, A., Louzao, M. (2017). ¿A qué presiones se enfrentan las aves marinas en el mar Cantábrico? Uso de datos derivados de centros de recuperación. In XXIII Spanish Ornithology Conference. Badajoz (Spain).
- **García-Barón, I.**, Authier, M., Caballero, A., Vázquez, J.A., Santos, M.B., Murcia, J.L., Louzao, M. (2017). *Identifying Fin whale hotspots in southern European waters: insights from oceanographic cruises*. In 21st European Cetacean Society Conference. Middelfart (Denmark).
- <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Authier, M., Vázquez, J.A., Santos, M.B., Murcia, J.L., Louzao, M. (2016). *Relative* abundance of Fin whales in a non-breeding area: insights from spatial modelling in the Bay of Biscay. In IMBeR ClimEco5 Summer School. Natal (Brazil).
- Gallagher, R., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Fontán, A., Intxausti, I., Albisu, J., Franco, J., Louzao, M. (2017). Assessing the impact of extreme wind conditions on the mortality of wintering common guillemots (Uria aalge) in southeastern the Bay of Biscay. In COAST. Bordeaux (France).
- Zorita, I., Franco, J., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Gallagher, R., Louzao, M. (2017). *Monitoring of plastic litter ingested by seabirds in the Southeastern Bay of Biscay: EU management implications.* In COAST. Bordeaux (France).
- Louzao, M., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Martínez, U., Saavedra, C., Astarloa, A., Santos, M.B., Pierce, G., Boyra, G. (2017). Uso de las campañas oceanográficas anuales para monitorear los mamíferos marinos. In X Spanish Society of Cetaceans Congress. Valencia (Spain).
- Glennie, R., Louzao, M., Arcos, J.M., <u>García-Barón, I.</u> (2017). *Distance sampling with behaviour-switching animal movement*. In EURING Analytical Meeting & Workshop (EURING 2017). Barcelona (Spain).
- Virgili, A., Authier, M., Cañadas, A., Claridge, D., Cole, T., Corkeron, P., Dorémus, G., David, L., Di-Méglio, N., Dunn, C., Dunn, T., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Josephson, E., Laran, S., Lewis, M., Louzao, M., Mannocci, L., Martínez-Cedeira, J., Moscrop, A., Palka, D., Panigada, S., Pettex, E., Roberts, J., Santos, M.B., Van-Canneyt, O., Vázquez Bonales, J.A., Monestiez, P., Ridoux, V. (2017). Basin wide approach, combined datasets and gap analyses: options to overcome the lack of sighting

data on rare cetacean species. In 21st European Cetacean Society Conference. Middelfart (Denmark).

3. Scientific Reports

- García-Barón, I., Astarloa, A., Vázquez, J.A., Bidegain, G., Urtizberea, I., Basterretxea, M. and Louzao, M., Predators observation in JUVENA 2017 in ICES. 2018. *Acoustic surveying of anchovy Juveniles in the Bay of Biscay: JUVENA 2017 Survey Report* in ICES. 2018. Working Group on Acoustic and Egg Surveys for Sardine and Anchovy in ICES Areas 7, 8 and 9 (WGACEGG). ICES WGACEGG REPORT 2017 3-17 November 2017. pp. 388.
- García-Barón, I., Vázquez, J.A., Gallagher, R., Basterretxea, M. and Louzao, M., Predators observation in JUVENA 2016 in ICES. 2017. *Acoustic surveying of anchovy Juveniles in the Bay of Biscay: JUVENA 2016 Survey Report* in ICES. 2017. Report of the Working Group on Acoustic and Egg Surveys for Sardine and Anchovy in ICES Areas 7, 8, and 9. WGACEGG Report 2016 Capo, Granitola, Sicily, Italy. 14-18 November 2016. ICES CM 2016/SSGIEOM:31. 326 pp.
- Louzao, M., Astarloa, A. and <u>García-Barón, I.</u> Predators observation in JUVENA 2018 in ICES. 2019. Acoustic surveying of anchovy Juveniles in the Bay of Biscay: JUVENA 2018 Survey Report in ICES. 2019. Report of the Working Group on Acoustic and Egg Surveys for Sardine and Anchovy in ICES Areas 7, 8 and 9 (WGACEGG). 19-23 November. Nantes, France. ICES CM 2018/EOSG:03. 355pp.
- Louzao, M., <u>García-Barón, I.</u>, Murcia, J.L., Krug, I., Oyarzabal I., and Basterretxea, M. Predators observation in JUVENA 2015 in ICES. 2016. Acoustic surveying of anchovy Juveniles in the Bay of Biscay: JUVENA 2015 Survey Report in ICES. 2016. Second Interim report of the Working Group on Acoustic and Egg Surveys for Sardine and Anchovy in ICES Areas VII, VIII and IX (WGACEGG), 16-20 November 2015, Lowestoft, UK. ICES CM 2015/SSGIEOM:31. 396 pp.

4. Oceanographic Surveys

- JUVENA 2018 Acoustic survey provided a synoptic overview on the autumn distribution of small pelagic species and of their environment. AZTI. R/V Ramón Margalef. 29th August 30th September. From the north Iberian coast in the south to the Celtic Sea in the north.
- JUVENA 2016 Acoustic survey provided a synoptic overview on the autumn distribution of small pelagic species and of their environment. AZTI. R/V Ramón Margalef. 31st August 6th October. From the north Iberian coast in the south to the Celtic Sea in the north.
- PELACUS 2016 Survey for the assessment of pelagic resources. IEO. R/V Miguel Oliver. 15rd March 16th April. Galician shell Spanish national waters.
- JUVENA 2015 Acoustic surveys provided a synoptic overview on the autumn distribution of small pelagic species and of their environment. AZTI. R/V Ramón Margalef. 31st August 30th September. From the north Iberian coast in the south to the Celtic Sea in the north.
- PELACUS 2015 Survey for the assessment of pelagic resources. IEO. R/V Miguel Oliver. 15rd March 16th April. Galician shell Spanish national waters.

LIST OF ACRONYMS

Acronym	Definition
2D	2-dimensional
3D	3-dimensional
ACAP	Agreement on the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels
ACCOBAMS	Agreement on the Conservation of Cetaceans of the Black Seas, Mediterranean and Contiguous Atlantic Area
ASCOBANS	Agreement on the Conservation of Small Cetaceans of the Baltic, North East Atlantic, Irish and North Seas
AIC	Akaike information criterion
AICc	Corrected Akaike Information Criterion
ALCTOR	Alca torda
ANEJ	Juvenile European anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus)
ANEJ ₁₀	Juvenile European anchovy between 5 and 15 m depth
ANEJ ₇₀	Juvenile European anchovy between 5 and 70 m depth
ANEJDTG	Juvenile European anchovy from the surface up to the depth of maximum temperature gradient
ANEA	Adult European anchovy
ANEA ₁₀	Adult European anchovy between 5 and 15 m depth
ANEA ₇₀	Adult European anchovy between 5 and 70 m depth
ANEA _{DTG}	Adult European anchovy from the surface up to the depth of maximum temperature gradient
BAT	Bathymetry
BATG	Spatial gradient of the bathymetry
BD	Birds Directive (79/409/EEC)
BoB	Bay of Biscay
BLM	Boundary length modifier
BRI	Biodiversity richness index
CBD	Convention on Biological Diversity
CC	Central Cantabrian Sea
CDS	Conventional Distance Sampling
Chl-a	Chlorophyll-a concentration
Chl-a _g	Spatial gradient of the chlorophyll-a concentration
CI	Confidence interval
CITES	Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora
CMS	Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals
CODA	Cetacean Offshore Distribution and Abundance in the European Atlantic

Acronym	Definition
CR	Critically endangered
CV	Coefficient of variation
DCO	Distance to the coastline
DD	Data deficient
DELDEL	Delphinus delphis
DistCO	Closest distance to the coast
DisCO	Closest distance to the coast
DistSB	Closest distance to the shelf-break
DisSB	Closest distance to the shelf-break
DSB	Distance to the shelf-break
DSM	Density Surface Model
DTG	Depth of maximum temperature gradient
DYN	Dynamic height
EB	Emma Bardán
EBM	Ecosystem-Based Management
EBSA	Ecologically or Biologically Significant Marine Area
EC	Eastern Cantabrian Sea
ED	Explained Deviance
EEZ	Economic Exclusive Zone
EKE	Eddy Kinetic Energy
EN	Endangered
EOV	Essential Ocean Variable
ESW	Effective strip half-width
EU	European Union
FOO	Framework for Ocean Observing
GAM	Generalized Additive Model
GEO	Geostrophic velocity
GEO ₁₀	Geostrophic velocity at 10 m
GEO ₇₀	Median value of geostrophic velocity from the surface to 70 m depth
GEO _{DTG}	Median value of geostrophic velocity from the surface up to the depth of maximum temperature gradient
GES	Good Environmental Status
GLOMEL	Globicephala melas
GOOS	Global Ocean Observing System
GPS	Global Positioning System
GRSH	Great shearwater (Ardenna gravis)
HD	Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC)
HVBA	High-value biodiversity areas

Acronym	Definition
IAC	Inter-American Convention
IATTC	Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission
IBA	Important Bird Area
ICCAT	International Commission for the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas
ICES	International Council for the Exploration of the Sea
ICHMEL	Ichthyaetus melanocephalus
ICG-COBAM	Intersessional Correspondence Group on the Coordination of Biodiversity Assessment and Monitoring
IEO	Spanish Institute of Oceanography
IMMA	Important Marine Mammal Areas
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
IWC	International Whaling Commission
JWGBIRD	Joint Working Group on Seabirds
L	Length of the segment in km
LARMIC	Larus michahellis
LARFUS	Larus fuscus
LC	Least concern
logBAT	Logarithm of bathymetry
MCDS	Multiple-Covariate Distance Sampling
MMPATF	Marine Mammal Protected Areas Task Force
MO	Miguel Oliver
MORBAS	Morus bassanus
MPA	Marine Protected Area
MS	Member States
MSFD	Marine Strategy Framework Directive
MSPD	Maritime Spatial Planning Directive
MTG	Maximum temperature gradient
Ν	Relative abundance
NA	North Atlantic
NAO	North Atlantic Oscillation
NG	North Galicia
nMDS	Non-metric multidimensional scaling
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (USA)
Np	Number of parameters
NT	Near threatened
NW	North-western
OECM	Other effective area-based conservation measure
OSI	Optimal statistical interpolation

Acronym	Definition
OSPAR	The Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic
PA	Protected area
PCB	Polychlorinated biphenyl
PIL	European pilchard (Sardina pilchardus)
PIL ₁₀	European pilchard between 5 and 15 m depth
PIL ₇₀	European pilchard between 5 and 70 m depth
PIL _{DTG}	European pilchard from the surface up to the depth of maximum temperature gradient
PU	Planning unit
PUFMAU	Puffinus mauretanicus
PUFPUF	Puffinus
r	Spearman correlation coefficient
R/V	Research vessel
RM	Ramón Margalef
SAAM	Suivi Aérien de la Megafaune Marine
SAC	Special Area of Conservation
SAL	Salinity
SAL ₁₀	Salinity at 10 m
SAL ₇₀	Median value of salinity from the surface to 70 m depth
SALdtg	Median value of salinity from the surface up to the depth of maximum temperature gradient
SCANS	Small Cetacean Abundance in the North Sea and Adjacent waters
SCP	Systematic conservation planning
SDM	Species distribution model
SE-BoB	South-eastern Bay of Biscay
SG	South Galicia
SOSH	Sooty shearwater (Ardenna grisea)
SLA	Sea Level Anomalie
SLOPE	Slope
SPA	Special Protection Area
SST	Sea surface temperature
SSTG	Sea surface temperature gradient
SSTg	Sea surface temperature gradient
STESKU	Stercorarius skua
TEM	Temperature
TEM ₁₀	Temperature at 10 m
TEM ₇₀	Median value of temperature from the surface to 70 m depth

Acronym	Definition
TEM _{DTG}	Median value of temperature from the surface up to the depth of maximum temperature gradient
ТН	Thalassa
THASAN	Thalasseus sandvicensis
TURTRU	Tursiops truncatus
URIAAL	Uria aalge
VMS	Vessel Monitoring System
VU	Vulnerable
W	Modulus of the Geostrophic currents
WC	Western Cantabrian Sea
WDPA	World Database of Protected Areas
WFD	Water Framework Directive
WGMME	Working Group on Marine Mammal Ecology
WOCE	World Ocean Circulation Experiment
WRC	Wildlife Rehabilitation Centre
ωi	Akaike weight

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Name	Page
1.1	Threat matrix for cetaceans in the Bay of Biscay	40
1.2	Threat matrix for seabirds in the Bay of Biscay	43
2.1	Predictors obtained from annual JUVENA oceanographic surveys and additional static variables	62
2.2	Generalized additive model output showing the ranking of models	73
2.3	Abundance estimations of Sooty and great shearwaters during JUVENA surveys	76
3.1	Effort for each year of the PELACUS survey	94
3.2	Results of the best fitted detection functions for each species	96
4.1	Characteristics related with the sightings of Fin whales during the PELACUS and JUVENA surveys	112
4.2	Environmental covariates used for spatial density modelling of Fin whales in the Bay of Biscay, their units, resolution and source	114
4.3	Abundance estimates for Fin whales in the Bay of Biscay for the 6-years study period	119
5.1	Conservation targets set for each species	134

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Name	Page
1	Map of the change in human impacts to marine ecosystems from 2008 to 2013	3
2	Biodiversity risk of marine mammals and seabirds	4
3	Migratory connections between summer and winter grounds of humpback whales as an example of the redistribution of nutrients by marine megafauna	5
4	Interactions of the different components covered by the concept of ecosystem- based management	9
5	Official Marine Protected Areas World map	13
6	Example of an ecosystem data collection from a multidisciplinary oceanographic survey	16
7	The concept behind Species Distribution Models	17
8	Location of the Bay of Biscay	21
9	Most common cetacean species inhabited the Bay of Biscay	23
10	Most common seabird species inhabited the Bay of Biscay	24
11	MPAs within the Bay of Biscay	25
1.1	Locations of the four Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres along the southern Bay of Biscay	34
1.2	The protocol implemented in the Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres	35
1.3	Admissions at the Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres categorized by families and threats	37
1.4	Annual admissions of the most frequently admitted seabird families and the main marine threats	38
1.5	Seasonal admissions of the most frequently admitted seabird families and the main marine threats	39
1.6	Quantitative versus qualitative assessments	46
2.1	Sooty shearwater and Great shearwater observations during the JUVENA surveys	58
2.2	3D preyscape represented by the spatial patterns of log-transformed biomass of preys	68
2.3	3D oceanographic environment	69
2.4	2D oceanographic environment	70
2.5	Predictor importance in explaining Sooty and Great shearwater spatial abundance patterns	72
2.6	Response plots showing the mean relationship between the environmental variables and the predicted spatial abundance	74
2.7	Predicted spatial density of Sooty and Great shearwaters during JUVENA surveys	77
3.1	Workflow chapter 3	87
3.2	Map of the study area showing the geographic references, the predefined transects followed during the PELACUS surveys and the sectors subdividing the study area	88
3.3	Relationships between the effective strip-width and seabird species' biometry data	95
3.4	Boxplot of the relative variable importance for each group of species	97
3.5	Maps showing the high-value biodiversity areas based on the mean biodiversity richness index	99

Figure	Name	Page
3.6	Environmental envelope showing the mean biodiversity richness index per sector and year and the 3D Generalized Additive Model graphic output	100
4.1	Map of the study area showing the geographical names and the Fin whale sightings during PELACUS and JUVENA surveys.	111
4.2	Main environmental variables driving Fin whale abundance patterns characterized by means of relative variable importance and smoothed fits of the main covariates.	118
4.3	Fin whale spatial density predictions in the Bay of Biscay during PELACUS and JUVENA surveys	119
4.4	Extrapolation analysis using Gower's distance	120
4.5	Map showing the different areas covered by the highest percentages of abundance for PELACUS and JUVENA critical areas	122
4.6	Proportion of the Fin whales' national predicted population for each survey covered by those MPAs belonging to the Natura 2000 Network which include at least some proportion of the national populations	123
5.1	Map of the North and North-western Spanish continental shelf showing the study area and the MPAs within the study area	133
5.2	Maps of threat level for the ten planning scenarios	136
5.3	Pairwise comparison of planning scenarios using the Cohen's Kappa statistics for the Marxan best solutions Wilcoxon rank sum tests to assess differences in percentage of overlap of selection frequency of each scenario and approach	139
5.4	Relationships among solutions of the ten scenarios of the Approach 1 and Approach 2	140
5.5	Maps of the ten planning scenarios showing the selection frequency of the planning units for the Approach 1 and the Approach 2	142
5.6	Maps of the ten planning scenarios showing the Marxan best solution for the Approach 1 and the Approach 2	143

RESUMEN

Los ecosistemas marinos se ven amenazados por múltiples actividades humanas que afectan su sostenibilidad y resiliencia, causando una disminución de la biodiversidad marina y afectando a su funcionamiento. Las especies de mayor tamaño, la megafauna marina, presentan un alto riesgo de extinción en todo el mundo, lo que aumenta la necesidad de priorizar estrategias de conservación para garantizar su protección. Para revertir esta situación, se necesita urgentemente información sobre los patrones espacio-temporales de las presiones que afectan al medio marino y una evaluación de su severidad para proporcionar información para la conservación de la biodiversidad y de los hábitats, diseñar las medidas de mitigación apropiadas y asesorar en los procesos de toma de decisiones en materia de ordenación territorial.

La megafauna marina juega un papel esencial en los ecosistemas marinos y, debido a su intrínseca vulnerabilidad cuando está expuesta a presiones antropogénicas, actúa como centinela de la variabilidad y reorganización que se está produciendo en el ecosistema marino. En este contexto, se han promulgado leyes nacionales e internacionales y convenios internacionales para proteger a este grupo de especies. Dentro de la Unión Europea (UE), la Directiva Hábitats y la Directiva Aves tienen por objeto promover medidas de conservación y mantener la diversidad biológica y obliga a los Estados Miembros a que adopten medidas para alcanzar o mantener el estado de conservación favorable de los hábitats naturales y las especies. Además, la Directiva Marco sobre la Estrategia Marina (DMEM) incorpora el Enfoque Ecosistémico y el Principio de Precaución, con el fin de lograr y mantener el Buen Estado Ambiental (BEA) de las aguas de la UE para 2020. Además, la DMEM hace referencia de manera específica a la biodiversidad marina y refuerza la protección que ofrecen la Directiva Hábitats y la Directiva Aves. Por último, la Directiva para la Ordenación del Espacio Marítimo promueve también el desarrollo y la utilización sostenible de los recursos marinos y costeros desde una perspectiva holística.

Para anticipar la respuesta de los ecosistemas frente a las crecientes presiones a las que se ven sometidos, se requiere un enfoque holístico para su gestión con una visión integral del ecosistema (enfoque incluido en Directivas como la DMEM o la Directiva para la Ordenación del Espacio Marítimo). Un enfoque de gestión basada en el ecosistema (EBM) requiere conocimientos sobre los aspectos ecológicos, económicos y sociales del ecosistema y sus interacciones para lograr su objetivo de un uso sostenible de los mismos. La implementación de un EBM requiere la recolección multidisciplinar de datos, el seguimiento del estado del sistema, su comportamiento y funcionamiento, la elaboración de métodos para organizar, mostrar e ilustrar las relaciones entre los componentes del ecosistema y avances metodológicos de carácter transdisciplinario para sintetizar datos, polivalentes e integradores, con el fin de asesorar en la adopción de medidas de gestión.

El Golfo de Vizcaya (en adelante 'GdV') y la costa norte y noroeste de la península ibérica, donde se ha centrado esta tesis, están situados en el Atlántico noreste. El GdV se caracteriza por una plataforma continental amplia en la zona occidental de Francia y estrecha en la costa norte de la Península Ibérica, donde un complejo patrón de circulación oceánica influenciado por diferentes corrientes genera fenómenos oceanográficos de mesoescala. En el GdV se producen dos afloramientos de fitoplancton, uno en primavera y otro en otoño, mientras que en la costa ibérica se producen durante el verano y principios de otoño. El GdV es un ecosistema pelágico muy dinámico y biológicamente rico con una comunidad de megafauna marina muy diversa que incluye varios grupos taxonómicos. Esta área representa además un importante corredor migratorio de aves y es una zona clave para aquellas especies que realizan migraciones estacionales en busca de áreas de alimentación.

La megafauna marina del GdV está sufriendo crecientes amenazas debido a diferentes presiones antropogénicas, tales como actividades extractivas (por ejemplo, la pesca o la acuicultura), las actividades industriales contaminantes, el transporte marítimo, que conlleva riesgo de derrames de petróleo o mareas negras y de colisiones con embarcaciones, en el caso de mamíferos marinos, y la introducción de especies alóctonas. Además, hay pruebas de los impactos, cada vez mayores, del cambio climático (como son los fenómenos meteorológicos extremos). Actualmente, las medidas de gestión implementadas para proteger la biodiversidad marina del GdV se centran en la designación, bajo diferentes legislaciones ambientales o sectoriales, de Áreas Marinas Protegidas (AMPs) tales como Zonas de Especial Conservación (ZEC), Zonas de Especial Protección para las Aves (ZEPA) o Biotopos Protegidos, entre otras. Todas estas áreas de conservación abarcan una amplia gama de diversidad de especies y hábitats y pueden constituir una red de AMPs cuyo objetivo es el revertir los impactos negativos causados por las actividades antropogénicas.

En este contexto, el objetivo de esta tesis fue evaluar los impactos de las actividades antropogénicas sobre la megafauna marina mediante la integración de su ecología espacial
en el EBM. Al centrarse en las aves marinas y los cetáceos que habitan en el GdV, esta tesis desarrolla un marco ecológico integrador basado en enfoques multidisciplinares para identificar amenazas, desarrollar indicadores ambientales, establecer valores de referencia, obtener estimas de abundancia espacio-temporales, evaluar la coherencia de la actual red de AMPs y, además, examinar el valor de las series temporales de datos para una designación robusta de AMPs. Para lograr este objetivo, la tesis ha sido dividida en cinco capítulos.

Con el fin de recopilar información con relación a la susceptibilidad de la comunidad de megafauna del GdV a amenazas, tales como la captura incidental y, así contribuir a la evaluación del BEA dentro de la DMEM, en el Capítulo 1, se evaluó el impacto de las principales amenazas que afectan a las aves marinas y a los cetáceos en el GdV. En primer lugar, se realizó una evaluación cuantitativa basada en la causa de ingreso de aves marinas en los Centros de Recuperación de Fauna Silvestre de la costa cantábrica durante un periodo de 13 años. En segundo lugar, se llevó a cabo una evaluación cualitativa para identificar las principales amenazas que afectan directa o indirectamente a las especies de cetáceos y aves marinas del GdV. Además, sintetizamos la información de ambas evaluaciones para identificar aquellas amenazas que necesitan ser gestionadas con urgencia. Las principales amenazas identificadas para las aves marinas fueron la caquexia, la exposición a hidrocarburos y la interacción con artes de pesca, siendo las principales especies afectadas el arao común, la gaviota patiamarilla, el alcatraz atlántico, el cormorán grande y el alca. La evaluación cualitativa mostró que los cetáceos son especialmente vulnerables a la captura accidental, la colisión con buques y a aquellas amenazas relacionadas con la contaminación, mientras que las aves marinas son particularmente sensibles a los derrames de petróleo, la captura accidental y a la basura marina. Este tipo de estudios de evaluación de amenazas puede ayudar a identificar áreas y/o especies prioritarias para la aplicación de medidas de gestión para asegurar que el objetivo final de la DMEM, la conservación sostenible del medio marino, se alcanza.

Los programas de seguimiento, como son las campañas oceanográficas multidisciplinares, se están convirtiendo en sistemas de integración de datos que proporcionan información de múltiples componentes del sistema dentro del mismo esquema de seguimiento. En el **Capítulo 2**, se muestra un ejemplo de los resultados de un análisis combinando múltiples componentes pelágicos que proporciona una evaluación integral para avanzar en el seguimiento a nivel del ecosistema. En este capítulo desarrollamos un enfoque metodológico para identificar aquellos predictores

oceanográficos y de abundancia de presas (preyscapes) biológicamente apropiados para considerar conjuntamente la dimensión espacial y vertical de los hábitats oceanográficos y que puede ser aplicado a cualquier especie marina. El objetivo de este trabajo fue comprender el entorno tridimensional de las aves marinas pelágicas mediante la evaluación de la importancia de la distribución espacial de la abundancia de sus presas y de las características oceanográficas a nivel de mesoescala que condicionan los patrones espaciales de abundancia de las pardelas sombría Ardenna grisea y capirotada A. gravis en el GdV. Estos patrones fueron explicados tanto por las condiciones oceanográficas como por la accesibilidad de las presas, ambas integradas por encima de la profundidad del gradiente máximo de temperatura en el caso de la pardela sombría e integradas a nivel de superficie en el caso de la pardela capirotada, lo que conduce a una segregación de las especies en el uso del hábitat vertical. De la misma manera, ambas especies mostraron una segregación espacial en la preferencia de hábitat, en zonas de plataforma continental (preferidas por la pardela sombría, que se asocia a zonas de afloramiento y desembocaduras de ríos) frente a zonas oceánicas (preferidas por la pardela capirotada). Además, en este trabajo se presentan las primeras estimas de abundancia de las pardelas sombría y capirotada durante el mes de septiembre en el GdV.

La medición de parámetros tales como las variables oceánicas esenciales (VOEs) es necesaria para evaluar el estado, la variabilidad y el cambio en los ecosistemas marinos, además de para la toma de decisión hacia una gestión sostenible de la diversidad biológica y los bienes y servicios de los ecosistemas. Las VOEs conforman la envolvente ambiental de una especie (es decir, las condiciones ambientales que una determinada especie encuentra idóneas para vivir). En consecuencia, su identificación es necesaria para detectar cambios en la distribución y abundancia de la megafauna marina. Asimismo, la ubicación de áreas importantes donde se agregan individuos o comunidades, como las Áreas con Alto Valor de Biodiversidad (AAVBs), se convierte en un importante objeto de estudio debido a las consecuencias que los cambios en las comunidades de megafauna marina pueden tener sobre la dinámica de los ecosistemas. Además, tanto las VOEs como las AAVBs pueden ayudar a anticipar la vulnerabilidad de las especies y los ecosistemas frente a amenazas como el cambio climático. En el Capítulo 3, identificamos las VOEs que conforman la envolvente ambiental de la comunidad de aves marinas y cetáceos del norte y noroeste peninsular y delineamos sus AAVBs utilizando los avistamientos recogidos durante campañas oceanográficas anuales. Para delimitar las AAVBs y encontrar las VOEs para la comunidad, empleamos un enfoque de modelado espacio-temporal utilizando Modelos Aditivos Generalizados. Identificamos la temperatura superficial del agua y la

concentración de clorofila como VOEs ya que fueron las variables dinámicas con mayor importancia predictiva relativa. Estas VOEs delimitan la envolvente ambiental y dan forma a las AAVBs. Las AAVBs se localizaron principalmente en aguas del noroeste peninsular, con una menor presencia hacia el interior del GdV y permaneciendo espacialmente estables durante el periodo de estudio. El uso de esta información puede facilitar el establecimiento de valores de referencia para predecir y detectar el efecto de múltiples amenazas sobre las AAVBs, así como para satisfacer la necesidad emergente de información espacial sólida que apoye la aplicación de la planificación espacial marina.

En su origen, las AMPs no se diseñaron con el fin de proteger especies altamente móviles, sin embargo, su utilidad como medida de gestión para proteger a este tipo de especies se ha reconocido a pesar de la extensión de sus hábitats y su comportamiento migratorio. La identificación de áreas críticas para especies altamente móviles puede informar la designación de AMPs que, además, pueden ofrecer protección a otras especies. En este contexto, el Capítulo 4 aborda la dificultad de proteger especies que por su alta movilidad cruzan múltiples límites jurisdiccionales y AMPs no específicas, con el ejemplo de los rorcuales comunes Balaenoptera physalus, una especie altamente migratoria. Para ello, se analizaron los datos de avistamiento recogidos durante campañas oceanográficos anuales utilizando la metodología de Muestreo de Distancia (Distance Sampling) y Modelos Aditivos Generalizados para predecir la abundancia relativa de esta especie e identificar sus áreas críticas en el GdV a finales del verano. Con esta información, evaluamos si la red actual de AMPs designada en el área ofrece protección a la especie. La principal área crítica para los rorcuales comunes se localizó en la parte sureste del GdV, un área que actualmente está marginalmente cubierta por tres AMPs. En base a estos resultados proponemos la creación de un AMP transfronteriza para esta especie en el GdV, que además beneficiaría a otras especies de megafauna que habitan el área.

La Planificación Sistemática para la Conservación ha sido reconocida como el enfoque más robusto y transparente para diseñar redes de AMPs que tiene en cuenta los posibles conflictos entre los factores ecológicos, sociales y económicos. El proceso de Planificación Sistemática para la Conservación necesita información de múltiples fuentes, siendo la cantidad y calidad de los datos disponibles el principal factor responsable de la exactitud de los resultados, ya que la falta de datos puede introducir incertidumbre en el proceso de priorización espacial. En el **Capítulo 5** se evaluó el valor de las series temporales de datos explorando si las áreas prioritarias para la conservación de tiempo (es decir, el

número de años) considerado en el proceso de priorización. Para ello utilizamos los resultados de abundancia espacial derivados del Capítulo 3 y la herramienta de apoyo a la toma de decisiones Marxan para desarrollar y comparar varios planes de conservación. Para cada plan de conservación, utilizamos datos de abundancia de megafauna marina y esfuerzo pesquero que engloban diferentes años del período 2007-2016. Se incluyó el esfuerzo pesquero como un indicador de las interacciones entre depredadores y pesquerías. De esta manera proporcionamos un método para calcular el número mínimo de años de monitoreo requeridos para establecer una red efectiva de AMPs, método que recomendamos para la priorización espacial futura de AMPs enfocadas a la gestión y conservación de especies altamente móviles. Además, estos resultados pueden tener especial relevancia para la configuración de redes de AMPs en alta mar.

Los capítulos incluidos en esta tesis comparten un objetivo práctico, ya que se centran en los aspectos relacionados con la biodiversidad y la conservación de los ecosistemas del EBM, el cual requiere de estudios multidisciplinarios que implican diferentes enfoques y técnicas de estudio. Con el objetivo de hacer operativo el EBM dentro de la legislación europea actual, los resultados de esta tesis pretenden integrar nuevos componentes del ecosistema en este enfoque, como la megafauna marina, con el fin de que sirva para informar las medidas de conservación y gestión en el contexto del objetivo general de la DMEM, posibilitar el uso sostenible de los bienes y servicios marinos.

SUMMARY

Marine ecosystems are under threat by multiple human activities which are affecting their sustainability and resilience, causing a decline in marine biodiversity and impacting ecosystem functioning. The largest species, *i.e.* marine megafauna, show high risk of extinction worldwide, raising awareness of the need of priority conservation strategies to ensure their protection. To reverse this situation, information on the spatio-temporal patterns of the pressures that affect the marine environment and an assessment of their severity are urgently needed to inform biodiversity and habitats conservation, devise appropriate mitigation measures and advise spatial planning decision processes.

Marine megafauna plays an essential role in marine ecosystems and due to their intrinsic vulnerability when exposed to anthropogenic pressures, acts as sentinels of the variability and reorganization that are taking place in the marine ecosystem. In this context, national and international legislation and international conventions have been enacted to protect marine megafauna. Within the European Union (EU), the Habitats and the Birds Directives aim to promote and maintain biological diversity with Member States required to take measures to reach or maintain the favourable conservation status of natural habitats and species. In addition, the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD), incorporates the Ecosystem Approach and the Precautionary Principle, by aiming at achieving and maintaining the Good Environmental Status (GES) of EU waters by 2020. The MSFD refers specifically to marine biodiversity and reinforces the protection offered by the Habitats and the Birds Directives. Finally, the Maritime Spatial Planning Directive (MSPD) promotes a sustainable development and use of the marine and coastal resources also from a holistic perspective.

To anticipate the response of the ecosystems in the face of growing pressures, a holistic management approach with an integral vision of the ecosystem is required (an approach included in Directives such as the MSFD or the MSPD). An integrated Ecosystem-Based Management (EBM) approach requires knowledge on the ecologic, economic and social aspects of the ecosystem and their interactions aiming at their sustainable management. Implementing the EBM approach requires multidisciplinary data collection, monitoring of the system state, behaviour, and functioning, development of methods to organize, display, and illustrate the relationships of ecosystem components and

methodological developments of transdisciplinary nature to synthesis data, multipurpose and integrative in order to inform management measures.

The Bay of Biscay (hereafter 'BoB') and the North and North-western Iberian coast, where this thesis dissertation has focused, are situated in the eastern North Atlantic Ocean. The BoB is characterized by a wide shelf in the Western area of France and a narrow shelf on the Northern Iberian coast, while a complex circulation pattern is present influenced by different currents resulting in different mesoscale oceanographic events. Two phytoplankton blooms take place in the BoB, one in spring and one in autumn, whilst two upwelling events take place during summer and early autumn over the Iberian coast. The BoB is a dynamic and biologically rich pelagic ecosystem with a highly diverse marine megafauna community that include several taxonomic groups. This area represents a migration corridor and a key seasonal feeding ground for those species undertaking seasonal feeding migrations into the area.

The marine megafauna of the BoB is suffering increasing disturbances due to anthropogenic pressures, such as extractive activities (*e.g.* fishing or aquaculture), polluting industrial activities, maritime transport with the risk of oil spills and marine mammals' collisions or introduction of non-native species. Furthermore, there is evidence of the increasing impacts of climate change (*e.g.* extreme weather events). Currently, the management measures implemented to protect the marine biodiversity of the BoB are mainly focused in the designation, under different environmental legislation or sectoral laws, of Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) such as Special Areas of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Areas (SPA) or Protected biotopes among others. All these conservation areas encompass a broad range of species diversity and habitats and would constitute a network of MPAs aiming at reversing the negative impacts of human impacts/stressors.

Within this context, the aim of this thesis was to assess the impacts of human activities on marine megafauna by integrating their spatial ecology into EBM. By focusing on seabirds and cetaceans inhabiting the BoB, we developed an integrative ecological framework based on multidisciplinary approaches to identify threats, develop environmental indicators, establish baseline values, obtain estimates of spatio-temporal abundance, assess the coherence of MPAs networks and in addition, examine the value of long-term series for MPA robustness. To achieve this aim, the thesis has been divided into five chapters.

In order to collect information about the status of the megafauna community and the mortality caused by several threats, such as bycatch, and contribute to the assessment of the GES within the MSFD, in **Chapter 1**, the impact of the main threats affecting seabirds and cetaceans in the BoB was assessed. Firstly, a quantitative assessment was performed based on seabirds' cause of admissions data collected from Wildlife Recovery Centres along the Cantabrian coast during a 13 years period. Secondly, a qualitative assessment was carried out to identify the main pressures affecting directly or indirectly cetacean and seabird species of the BoB. We synthesized the information from both assessments to identify those threats that need to be urgently managed. The main marine threats for seabirds were cachexia, exposure to crude oil and interaction with fishing gears and the main affected species were the Common guillemot, the Yellow-legged gull, the Northern gannet, the Great cormorant and the Razorbill. The qualitative assessment showed that cetaceans are especially vulnerable to bycatch, vessel collision, and pollution-related threats, whilst seabirds are particularly sensitive to oil spills, bycatch and marine litter. This type of assessment studies can aid in the identification of priority areas and/or species where management measures should be applied to ensure that the goal of the MSFD, sustainable conservation of the marine environment, is reached.

Monitoring schemes, such as multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys, are becoming data integration systems by providing information from multiple system components in the same overall monitoring scheme. Within the Chapter 2, an example of the combination of multiple pelagic components is shown to provide an integral assessment to advance ecosystem-based monitoring. We developed a methodological approach to identify biologically appropriate oceanographic and preyscape predictors to jointly consider both the spatial and vertical dimensions of oceanographic habitats, which can be applied to any marine species. The aim of this work was to understand the 3D environment of pelagic seabirds by assessing the importance of prey fields and mesoscale oceanographic features in driving sooty shearwaters Ardenna grisea and great shearwater A. gravis abundance patterns in the BoB. Abundance patterns were influenced by oceanographic conditions and prey accessibility integrated above the depth of maximum temperature gradient for Sooty shearwaters and at the surface for Great shearwaters, leading to a vertical segregation. Similarly, both species showed a spatial segregation in relation to shelf areas (preferred by Sooty shearwaters associated with upwelling and river discharge) versus oceanic areas (preferred by Great shearwaters). The first abundance estimates for the Sooty and the Great shearwaters during September in the BoB are provided.

The measurement of parameters, such as the Essential Ocean Variables (EOVs), is needed to assess the status, variability and change in marine ecosystems and to inform management decisions for sustainable management of biodiversity, ecosystem goods and services. EOVs shape the environmental envelope of a species (*i.e.* the environmental conditions that a given species may find suitable for living). Consequently, their identification is needed to detect changes in marine megafauna distribution and abundance. Likewise, the location of important areas where individuals or communities aggregate, such as highvalue biodiversity areas (HVBAs) becomes an important study subject due to the consequences that changes in the marine megafauna communities can have on ecosystem dynamics. Furthermore, both EOVs and HVBAs can help to anticipate the vulnerability of species and ecosystems in the face of threats, such as climate change. In Chapter 3, we identified the EOVs that shape the environmental envelope of the North and North-western Spanish seabird and cetacean's community and delineate their HVBAs taking advantage of the sightings collected during annual oceanographic surveys. To delimitate the HVBAs and find the EOVs of the community, we used a spatio-temporal modelling approach using Generalized Additive Models. The sea surface temperature and the chlorophyll-a concentration were identified as EOVs due to their highest relative predictor importance, driving the environmental envelope and shaping the HVBAs. HVBAs were located mainly over the North-western Spanish waters and decreased towards the inner BoB remaining spatially stable over the study period. The use of this information can facilitate the establishment of baseline values to predict and detect the effect of multiple threats on HVBAs, as well as to fulfil the emergent need for sound spatial information to support the implementation of marine spatial planning.

MPAs were not originally designed for highly mobile species, however, their usefulness as management measures to protect highly mobile species is well-established, even though the extension of their suitable habitats and their migration behaviour. The identification of critical areas can inform the establishment of MPAs for these highly mobile species, which may also offer protection to other species. Within this context, **Chapter 4** addresses the difficulty of protecting highly mobile species that cross multiple jurisdictional boundaries and multiple non-specific MPAs, applied to the highly migratory fin whale *Balaenoptera physalus*. Sighting data collected during annual oceanographic surveys was analysed using Distance Sampling and Generalized Additive Models to predict Fin whale relative abundance and to identify critical areas for the species in the BoB during late summer. With this information, we assessed whether the current MPAs network in the area offers protection to the species. The main critical area for Fin whale was located over the

South-eastern part of the BoB, an area that is currently only marginally covered by three MPAs. Based on these results, we proposed a transboundary MPA for this species in the BoB, a MPA which would benefit other megafauna species inhabiting the area.

Systematic Conservation Planning has been recognized as the most robust and transparent approach to design MPAs networks that takes into account the possible conflicts between the ecological, social and economic factors. A Systematic Conservation Planning process needs input information from multiple sources, being the quantity and quality of data available the main factor responsible for the accuracy of conservation planning outcomes since the lack of data can introduce uncertainty into the spatial prioritization process. In Chapter 5, the value of time-series was assessed by exploring whether priority areas for the conservation of megafauna species remain consistent regardless of the time period (*i.e.* number of years) considered. We used the spatial abundance results derived from Chapter 3 and the decision-support tool Marxan in order to develop and compare several conservation plans. For each conservation plan, we used marine megafauna abundance and fishing effort data that covered different years between the period 2007-2016. Fishing effort was included as a proxy for predator-fishery interactions. We provided a method for calculating the minimum number of monitoring years required to establish an effective MPA network, which we recommend for future spatial prioritization for highly mobile species. Furthermore, our results may have special relevance for the configuration of MPA networks in high seas.

The chapters included in this thesis dissertation share a practical goal as they focus on the biodiversity and ecosystem conservation aspects of the EBM, which needs multidisciplinary studies involving different approaches and study techniques. With the aim of operationalising the EBM within the current European legislation, the results of this thesis intend to integrate new ecosystem components such as marine megafauna into EBM to inform conservation and management measures in the context of the MSFD overall aim, which is to enable sustainable use of marine goods and services.

General Introduction

1. Status of marine ecosystems

The world's oceans cover about 71% of the Earth's surface and 90% of the Earth's biosphere (Costello et al., 2010). Marine ecosystems provide essential services to society such as food and energy and play a major role in economic activities. For centuries, it was assumed that marine ecosystems were limitless and immune to human impacts. For example, Huxley wrote in 1884 that several of the most important fisheries in the Northeast Atlantic at the time were "inexhaustible", arguing that the amount of fish caught was insignificant in relation to the number of individual fish and that fishing mortality was unimportant, when compared with the natural mortality suffered by the commercially exploited species. Less than one hundred fifty years later, the most recent studies based on indicators of ecosystem health and on biodiversity trends have evidenced a different picture (IPBES, 2019) with both ecosystem health and biodiversity showing rapid declines due to growing human activities and global change. Anthropogenic activities are impacting the sustainability and resilience of marine environments (Boonstra et al., 2015; Dulvy et al., 2003; Sala and Knowlton, 2006) leading to the loss of unique biota, as well as impacting ecosystem functioning and the provision of services, which are essential for human wellbeing (Cardinale et al., 2012; Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005).





Human exploitation of marine ecosystems has been taking place worldwide for many centuries, but its negative impacts have been especially severe over the past 50 years, when human population doubled, the global economy grew nearly 4-fold and global trade increased 10-fold (Figure 1; Halpern et al., 2015; IPBES, 2019). Main impacts are due to overfishing (Jackson et al., 2001); pollution (with growing concern about plastic and

acoustic contamination; Eriksen et al., 2014; Hildebrand, 2009) and habitat degradation and destruction, especially in coastal areas (Airoldi et al., 2008). Furthermore, climate change-driven processes, such as increasing water temperature, acidification or extreme weather events (Harley, 2011; Harley et al., 2006; Vaughan et al., 2001) are adversely affecting marine ecosystems. To reverse this situation, information on the spatio-temporal patterns of the pressures that affect the marine environment and an assessment of their severity is urgently needed to inform biodiversity and habitats conservation, devise appropriate mitigation measures and advise spatial planning decision processes (Halpern et al., 2015, 2007; Tulloch et al., 2015).

Anthropogenic pressures are causing declines in marine biodiversity and species abundance (Selig et al., 2014), with 23% of marine taxa classified as threatened with extinction (IUCN, 2012). Moreover, extinctions and threats to marine species may have been underestimated (Costello, 2015) and the real figure of threatened marine taxa may be even higher. It has been well established that the largest species are at a higher risk of extinction worldwide (Cardillo et al., 2005; Fisher and Owens, 2004; Gaston and Blackburn, 1995), referring to marine megafauna (namely marine mammals, large teleosts, elasmobranchs, seals, turtles and seabirds) in marine ecosystems (Heithaus et al., 2008). Global assessments of human impacts on marine ecosystems suggest that coastal wildlife and habitats have been more influenced than deep-water or pelagic ecosystems (Halpern et al., 2008). However, marine megafauna inhabits the shelf and oceanic ecosystems where they are becoming subject to an ever-increasing diversity of threats (O'Hara et al., 2019), raising awareness of the need of priority conservation strategies to help ensure their protection (Figure 2).





2. Marine megafauna and their role in the ecosystem

Marine megafauna plays an important role in the marine ecosystem as predators, prey, sources of detritus, and nutrient vectors (Estes et al., 2016). As predators, marine megafauna affects the life history strategies and population dynamics of their prey, as well as those organisms of other trophic levels that with which their prey interact, through topdown processes (Atwood et al., 2015; Pinnegar et al., 2000). Marine megafauna is also involved in other ecosystem pathways, such as bottom-up processes (Roman et al., 2014). These bottom-up processes may occur through the redistribution of nutrients by marine megafauna and they are of particular relevance due to the diversity of reallocation actions involved. These actions can relocate nutrients from: (a) the deep ocean to the surface (i.e., when marine megafauna feeds at or near the thermocline and makes part of these nutrients available at or near the surface via their faeces which are produced when surfacing), (b) offshore into nearshore waters where some species rest, (c) high latitudes to oligotrophic tropical systems through marine megafauna migration between both (see Figure 3), (d) surface to the deep-sea (*i.e.*, when marine megafauna carcasses sink) or (e) sea to land by seabirds or seals (Estes et al., 2016; Malhi et al., 2016; Norris and Dohl, 1980; Roman et al., 2014; Wenny et al., 2011).



Figure 3. Distribution of humpback whales Megaptera novaeangliae in the world. The map shows the migratory connections between summer feeding grounds (blue) and winter breeding grounds (green) as an example of the redistribution of nutrients by marine megafauna from high latitudes to oligotrophic tropical systems. Adapted from GRID-Arendal (www.grida.no).

Marine megafauna plays also a role within the marine megafauna community itself as competitors by the same resources (Ainley et al., 2006) or through mutualistic associations, such as local enhancement or facilitative mechanisms between different megafauna functional groups. For instance, seabirds are known to rely on other seabirds and sub-surface predators (*e.g.* cetaceans and tunas) to locate prey and increase fishing success when they push prey towards the surface (Dill et al., 2003; Fauchald, 2009; Kiszka et al., 2015). Finally, other processes such as the hosting of a variety of commensal or parasitic species, sometimes completely dependent on megafauna through all life stages or using them as definitive hosts, are also important (*e.g. Anisakis*; Kuhn et al., 2016).

When considering fisheries as apex predators of marine ecosystems, marine megafauna may interact with them due to resources overlap (Goetz et al., 2015; Santos et al., 2014), influencing prey availability by direct exploitation with an implicit competition between fisheries and megafauna for forage fish (pelagic fish, crustaceans, and cephalopods) (Cury et al., 2011; Furness, 2006; Grémillet et al., 2018). Prey scarcity can affect marine megafauna life-history traits such as breeding success (Bourgeois and Vidal, 2008; Sommer et al., 2009) and species' survival since low food availability may increase attraction to vessels, and thus, increase bycatch (Laneri et al., 2010; Soriano-Redondo et al., 2016). Fishing activities can also alter interactions within the marine megafauna community by reducing sub-surface predators and therefore reducing the abovementioned foraging facilitation (Rodríguez et al., 2019). In summary, this competition acts as a stressor upon the marine megafauna due to resource scarcity or risk of bycatch rather than being a pressure over fisheries (Breen et al., 2016; Grémillet et al., 2018; Lassalle et al., 2012). Consequently, decreases in marine megafauna richness or abundance is ultimately affecting species composition and abundance at lower trophic levels (Baum and Worm, 2009; Essington et al., 2002) causing a top-down trophic cascade, that could even diminished fisheries target species. Kaschner and Pauly (2005) exemplified the latter with the reduction of toothed whales and other high-level predators. These species feed on desirable fish species but also on various squids, which in turn feed on juvenile groundfish. Therefore, predator abundance decreased has contributed indirectly, through an increase of cephalopod consumption of juvenile fish, to the inhibition of fin fish population recovery. Furthermore, the decline of marine megafauna can threaten ecosystem services such as nutrient cycling, and can reduce overall ecosystem stability and resilience (Selig et al., 2014).

Marine megafauna species must adapt to physical and biological changes integrating the environmental heterogeneity of the habitats they occupy, acting as sentinels of the variability and reorganization of ecosystems (Moore et al., 2014). Moreover, the study of their ecology may help us to understand and track ecosystem changes (Xavier et al.,

2013). For that reason, this group of species have been often proposed as indicators of the status of the marine environment (*e.g.* Einoder, 2009; Santos and Pierce, 2015) and they are considered as a key element for the implementation of conservation strategies due to their intrinsic vulnerability when exposed to anthropogenic pressures due to their large size, high trophic level, slow growth and low fecundity (Ridoux et al., 2010).

3. Conservation of marine megafauna

Marine megafauna is protected by national and international legislation and international conventions such as the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES), the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS), the Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic (OSPAR), the Bern Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Habitats or the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) which aims to conserve and enhance these species through the creation of Ecologically or Biologically Significant Marine Areas (EBSAs). Concerning marine mammals, the Marine Mammal Protected Areas Task Force (MMPATF) aims to protect these species through the designation of Important Marine Mammal Areas (IMMAs). Regarding seabirds, BirdLife International has developed the Important Birds Areas (IBAs) programme to identify the most relevant areas for bird conservation (Arcos et al., 2007; Donald et al., 2019). The identification of IBAs does not guarantee legal protection, but they are intended to guide legal conservation action afterwards. Furthermore, the Agreement on the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels (ACAP) provides a comprehensive framework to achieve and maintain favourable conservation status for albatrosses and petrels through research, monitoring or reduction of incidental mortality in fisheries among other measures (ACAP Interim Secretariat, 2001). Other specific administrative tools to protect marine megafauna species are international shark finning bans and policies adopted by the United Nations General Assembly and most of the Regional Fisheries Management Organizations [e.g. International Commission for the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (ICCAT), Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission (IATTC)] in the case of shark species or the Inter-American Convention (IAC) for the Protection and Conservation of Sea Turtles in the case of sea turtles.

Within the European Union (EU), the Habitats and the Birds Directives (HD 92/43/EEC and BD 79/409/EEC, respectively) aims to promote and maintain biological diversity through the conservation of natural habitats and biodiversity in the EU territory, including the most threatened seabirds, turtles and cetaceans. The HD requires Member States to take measures to reach or maintain the favourable conservation status of natural

habitats and species of wild plants and animals. The HD includes marine mammal species (*e.g.* cetaceans and seals) and sea turtles which must be protected through Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), whilst the BD includes seabird species to be protected through Special Protection Areas (SPAs). Many Member States have designed SPAs on the basis of national IBAs (BirdLife, 2014). The synergy between both, the Habitats and the Birds Directives, constitutes the Natura 2000 network which has become the largest coordinated network of protected areas in the world, covering approximately 11% of the EU's marine territory (European Commission, 2019a). In addition, the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD; 2008/56/EC) aiming at achieving and maintaining the Good Environmental Status (GES) of the EU marine ecosystems by 2020 is the first EU marine legislation that specifically refers to marine biodiversity and reinforces the protection offered by the HD and BD. The MSFD offers a comprehensive and integrated approach to the protection of all EU coasts and marine waters and is a key instrument for marine conservation in EU waters (Santos and Pierce, 2015).

Nowadays, the MSFD has acquired relevance by moving forward from a speciescentred and pressure-by-pressure approach to a holistic approach, *i.e.* an ecosystembased approach (Armsworth et al., 2007; Authier et al., 2018). Within the MSFD, marine megafauna species have been chosen as relevant groups which monitoring and assessment is needed to determine GES of the EU waters (Machado et al., 2019; Santos and Pierce, 2015). In addition, specific agreements adopted under the auspicious of the CMS such as the Agreement on the Conservation of Cetaceans of the Black Seas, Mediterranean and Contiguous Atlantic Area (ACCOBAMS) and the Agreement on the Conservation of Small Cetaceans of the Baltic, North East Atlantic, Irish and North Seas (ASCOBANS) promote close cooperation between EU countries with a view to achieving and maintaining a favourable conservation status for cetaceans.

4. Ecosystem-based management

Conventional approaches for natural resource management may not be able to anticipate the response that is required in the face of exponentially growing pressures. It can be argued that traditional management approaches have indeed failed to achieve sustainable management of natural resources. Faced with this situation, holistic approaches (where an integral vision to understand ecosystem functioning is considered) have emerged. One such an example is the Ecosystem-Based Management (EBM; Arkema et al., 2006; Curtin and Prellezo, 2010). The EBM involves the integrated management of species, natural resources, and humans as components of the larger ecosystem (Christensen et al., 1996; Grumbine, 1994; Larkin, 1996). The main aim of the EBM is to maintain ecosystems in a healthy, clean, productive and resilient condition, so that they can continue to provide humans with services and benefits (McLeod and Leslie, 2009). Thereby, the concept of EBM covers the ecologic, economic, and social aspects of the ecosystem, acknowledging their interaction and aiming at their sustainable management (Figure 4; Laurila-Pant et al., 2015).



Figure 4. Interactions of the different components covered by the concept of ecosystem-based management (EBM), adapted from Laurila-Pant et al. (2015).

Implementing the EBM approach requires: (a) multidisciplinary data collection, including monitoring of the system state, behaviour, and functioning, (b) methods to organize, display, and illustrate the relationships of data collected, such as statistical models and (c) methods of transdisciplinary synthesis of data, multipurpose and integrative, such as integrative targets or indicators in order to implement management measures (Slocombe, 1993). Thus, EBM is made adaptable through monitoring and research based on our best understanding of ecological interactions and processes necessary to sustain ecosystem composition, structure and function (Christensen et al., 1996). The identification of management objectives and indicators is essential to operationalize EBM, and this is recognised in the emphasis put by international policies on the need to develop sustainable strategies for implementing the principles of EBM.

4.1. Tracking ecosystem changes

During the 1980s and 1990s, the World Ocean Circulation Experiment (WOCE) established the largest internationally coordinated oceanographic monitoring programme with the primary goal of obtaining an understanding of the large-scale circulation of the ocean, its time variablity and its impact on climate (Siedler et al., 2001). Nowadays, The Framework for Ocean Observing (FOO; Lindstrom et al., 2012), as one of its major heirs embraces the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) which provides estimates of physical and chemical changes in the ocean by developing an international framework for coordinating, enhancing and supplementing existing monitoring and research programs. This framework is organized around Essential Ocean Variables (EOVs, *i.e.* priority variables for monitoring), rather than any specific observing system, platform, program, or region highlighting the importance of monitoring EOVs to assess the status, variability and change in marine ecosystems, parameters needed to inform management decisions for sustainable management of biodiversity, ecosystem goods and services (Muller-Karger et al., 2018).

The identification of EOVs for each species or community and the establishment of baseline values are needed to detect changes in marine megafauna distribution and abundance. The description and subsequent monitoring of EOVs is important to identify areas of persistent oceanographic processes of particular ecological importance for the species, such as upwelling or transition zones (Louzao et al., 2012), as well as to identify or forecast environmental changes which may affect the distribution or even survival of the species under study (Soldatini et al., 2016). Changes in EOVs values may result in a redistribution of populations or species persistence, as species can move to maintain existing physiological associations with particular environmental conditions, therefore mantaining its ecological niche (Alcaraz-Segura et al., 2017). In this context, the identification of EOVs is crucial in the face of threats such as climate change for scientists and managers to effectively predict spatio-temporal patterns of change to anticipate the vulnerability of species and ecosystems (Dawson et al., 2011). Similarly, changes in EOVs may affect distribution patterns either by changes that affect the species' environmental envelope directly (i.e., the environmental conditions that a given species may find suitable for living, Wiens and Graham, 2005) or through changes in the environmental envelopes of their prey (Goldbogen et al., 2015). The relationship between the environmental conditions shaping the environmental envelope of the species could be further displayed and illustrated using statisticals tools. This information is needed to establish baseline values useful for biodiversity trend interpretation (Constable et al., 2016).

4.2. Identification of important areas

The identification of the EOVs driving the most suitable environmental conditions for a species enables us to understand the habitat requirements of the species and identify its spatio-temporal changes in distribution and/or abundance. However, marine megafauna is highly mobile with complex habitat requirements making difficult the evaluation of the

conservation value of any particular location in isolation (Martin et al., 2007). The identification of important or critical areas is needed to inform management in areas of conservation interest, however, protecting highly mobile species presents a conservation challenge because their distribution and abundance is influenced by geographically separated events, that can even occur during different periods of the year (Edwards et al., 2015; Lambert et al., 2017a; Webster et al., 2002).

The identification of important areas can focus on the location of species-specific or community important areas. Species-specific important or critical areas (Cañadas and Vázquez, 2014; García-Barón et al., 2019a; Hedd et al., 2012) can be classified as essential habitats for the survival of the species (Heupel et al., 2007) or where individuals aggregate either during breeding or foraging (Louzao et al., 2006). These critical areas become a priority when planning any species-specific conservation and management measure (Harwood, 2001). Conversely, High-Value Biodivesiy Areas (HVBAs), where several species can be found (Kuletz et al., 2015; McClellan et al., 2014), becomes an important study subject due to the far-reaching and unexpected consequences that changes in the marine megafauna communities can cause on ecosystem dynamics (Casini et al., 2009; Rey Benayas and De La Montaña, 2003; Trites et al., 2007).

4.3. Spatially-explicit management measures

Marine megafauna has traditionally been used as flagship species for conservation efforts since protection of their large and diverse habitats can also help protect other species (Zacharias and Roff, 2001). EBM has emphasided the need to use ecosystems, communities, and assemblages as the basis for the implementation of conservation measures. This is why marine megafauna has been identified as a key element of spatial management within the EBM framework for which the understanding of species distribution and spatially explicit threats impact is fundamental. In this regard, the implementation of spatial management measures has the potential of implementing this type of holistic approach to provide protection both to the species of concern and to the entire ecosystem, facilitating a mechanism for managing anthropogenic impacts on ecosystems (Hooker and Gerber, 2004).

The most common spatial management measure implemented in the marine environment is the establishment of MPAs. A MPA is defined by the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) as '*any area of intertidal or sub-tidal terrain, together with its overlying water and associated flora, fauna, historical and cultural features, which* has been reserved by law or other effective means to protect part or all of the enclosed environment' (Kelleher, 1999). MPAs were originally designated to regulate and manage food resources (e.g. closing of fishing grounds or crabbing areas) (Johannes, 1978). During the First World Conference on National Parks, held in 1962 in Seattle (Washington, USA), Carlenton Ray presented the only paper on MPAs which included the recommendation to the Governments of all the countries with marine frontiers of urgently examining the possibility of creating marine parks or reserves to defend underwater areas of special significance from all forms of human interference (Ray, 1962). The Ray's appeal resulted in the organization of the Symposium on Marine Parks, organized in 1966 (Committee on Marine Parks, 1966) which triggered many of the global and national initiatives which are underway today (Wells et al., 2016). The next two decades saw the beginning of global programmes, reflecting an increasing awareness of threats to ocean and marine biodiversity. In 1979, the BD came into force in Europe, which requires the creation of SPAs for areas of critical importance for listed birds. This was followed in 1992 by the HD, which requires the establishment of SACs for habitats and species of European importance, both Directives shaping the Natura 2000 network (see section 3).

After decades of global initiatives and designation of protected areas, the Parties to the CBD agreed to adopt the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011–2020 in 2010 and developped the Aichi Biodiversity Targets (CBD, 2010a). Among these targets, the Aichi Target 11 requires that, by 2020, at least '10% of coastal and marine areas, especially areas of particular importance for biodiversity and ecosystem services, are conserved through effectively and equitably managed, ecologically representative and well-connected systems of protected areas and other effective area-based conservation measures' (CBD, 2010a). However, nowadays only the 8% of the ocean is covered by MPAs (Figure 5; UNEP-WCMC and IUCN, 2019) and new targets are needed for a post-2020 protected framework. In this sense, CBD Parties pledged to protect at least 30% of the Earth by 2030 by well-connected systems of protected areas and other effective area-based conservation measures (OECMs) covering sites such as Key Biodiversity Areas (CBD, 2019).

Throughout history, the objective sought with the establishment of MPAs has shifted from the protection of food supplies to the protection of threatened species and ecosystems, conservation of biodiversity and re-establishment of ecosystem integrity, following the holistic view of the EBM. In Europe, the implementation of the Directive 2014/89/EU establishing a framework for marine spatial planning requires the use of an EBM approach that contributes to promote the sustainable development and growth of marine economies



and sustainable use of marine and coastal resources while accounting for the conservation of marine ecosystems (European Commission, 2014).

Figure 5. Official Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) map showing the 7.78% of the global ocean covered by MPAs. National waters represent 39% of the global ocean and 18% of these waters are designated as MPAs at present. In contrast, only 1% of areas beyond national jurisdiction, which makes up the remaining 61% of the global ocean, has been established as MPAs. Adapted from: UNEP-WCMC and IUCN (2019).

The protection of the marine megafauna, is challenging due to the extension of their suitable habitats and their migration behaviour, with individuals sometimes migrating thousands of kilometers twice a year between feeding or breeding areas (*e.g.*, Edwards et al., 2015; Egevang et al., 2010). MPAs were not originally designed for highly mobile species, but nowadays their usefulness as management measures to protect also these highly mobile species is well-established (Daly et al., 2018; Gormley et al., 2012; Hooker et al., 2011; Lascelles et al., 2012; Young et al., 2015). In this regard, areas of high abundance or HVBAs for marine megafauna enable the establishment of MPAs (Bastari et al., 2016; Gaines et al., 2010; O'Leary et al., 2018) as well as critical areas (Cañadas and Vázquez, 2014; Carlucci et al., 2017) which allow to protect complementary species (Bailey and Thompson, 2009; Gaston and Rodrigues, 2003; Reyers et al., 2000).

5. Marine ecosystem-based management in practice

New international policies emphasize the need to develop sustainable strategies for implementing the principles of EBM. In Europe, three main Directives focus on the protection, conservation or enhancement of marine ecosystems: the Water Framework Directive (WFD, 2000/60/EC; European Commission, 2000) covering transitional and

coastal waters up to 1 nm from the continental baseline, the MSFD encompassing all marine waters up to the limit of the Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) and extended continental shelf and, the recent Maritime Spatial Planning Directive (MSPD, 2014/89/EU; European Commission, 2014) covering marine and coastal resources within the maritime boundaries and jurisdiction of the Member States.

Both the WFD and the MSFD Directives aim at ensuring marine uses compatible with the conservation of ecosystems and the maintenance of the good status of waters, habitats and resources. However, the WFD aims to achieve Good Ecological Status (GEcS) in transitional and coastal waters and focuses mainly on the ecological structure of ecological components (e.g., presence, abundance, cover), referred to as biological quality elements (Heiskanen et al., 2004). Whilst the MSFD aims to achieve Good Environmental Status (GES) in marine waters and focuses on the structure, function and processes of marine ecosystems, gathering physical, chemical, physiographic, geographic and climatic factors, and integrates these conditions with anthropogenic impacts and activities carried out in the area of concern (European Commision, 2008). Hence, the MSFD uses the EBM as its framework of reference and describes GES on the basis of eleven descriptors including biological, physico-chemical and pressure indicators (Borja et al., 2013; Santos and Pierce, 2015). Within these descriptors, Descriptors 1 'Biological diversity' and 4 'Food webs' refer to marine megafauna and their role within the ecosystem functioning, respectively (European Commission, 2010). The type of spatial protection measures for the marine environment predefined under the MSFD are subject of the MSPD. The Directive, defines marine spatial planning 'as a process by which the relevant Member State's authorities analyze and organize human activities in marine areas to achieve ecological, economic and social objectives' (European Commission, 2014). Thus, the MSPD is perceived as a tool to support a sustainable use of resources whilst implementing the EBM approach, and achieving the GES required as a part of the MSFD (Fernandes et al., 2018).

5.1. Marine ecosystem monitoring

The first step to implement an EBM approach is the collection of data from the system, which can be operationalised through monitoring programmes. As an EBM approach, the MSFD requires the implementation of monitoring programmes to evaluate and assess the performance of the management measures implemented to achieve GES. Monitoring can be defined as 'the systematic measurement of biotic and abiotic parameters of the marine environment, with predefined spatial and temporal schedule, having the purpose to produce

datasets that can be used for application of assessment methods and derive credible conclusions on whether the desired state is achieved or not and on the trend of changes for the marine area concerned' (Zampoukas et al., 2013). Thus, the primary question underlying monitoring schemes is to assess the actual status of the monitored system and whether they are changing over time and/or space, and if so, the rate of change (Balmford et al., 2005).

Monitoring schemes are essential to inform management and to assess whether the decisions of policymakers and the instruments developed to implement their decisions are effective to achieve the dessired objectives (Schmeller, 2008; Yoccoz et al., 2001). The integration of data monitoring is an essential step in the progress towards a unified, appropriately scaled, adaptive EBM, such as the MSFD (Henry et al., 2008; Laurila-Pant et al., 2015). EBM requires that a large number of ecosystem components are monitored simultaneously in order to disentangle their relationships (Hindell et al., 2003) to obtain a holistic view of the ecosystem. Furthermore, given the connection between marine ecosystems and human communities that depend on them, monitoring and evaluation of socio-economic variables is also needed in this context (McLeod and Leslie, 2009).

Monitoring schemes must ensure that the geographic and temporal coverage of the target components are sufficient and constant over time and should be cost-effective (Ondei et al., 2018). This trade-off between spatial and temporal coverage should ensure that the effects of spatiotemporal variability on the measured components are captured in order to be able to detect changes and to interpret the mechanisms that lead to these changes (Couvet et al., 2011; Dobson, 2005).

5.2. Multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys

Nowadays, monitoring schemes are becoming data integration systems by providing information from multiple system components in the same overall monitoring scheme. This is the case of multidisciplinary oceanographic suveys which, as mobile sampling platforms, significantly reduce barriers for collecting high-quality data on the ocean (Doray et al., 2018; Frolov et al., 2014), allowing the synoptical collection of data on different oceanographic and biological components (Figure 6; Doray et al., 2018; Frolov et al., 2014). Data on several trophic levels such as plankton (*i.e.* phyto and zooplankton), pelagic fish species and megafauna (*i.e.* seabird, cetacean, tuna or shark species) can be collected simultaneously (Louzao et al., 2019a). Oceanographic data, such as conductivity, temperature or salinity can be also sampled to characterize in-situ oceanographic

conditions (Bachiller et al., 2013). Thus, multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys enable the development of integrative studies to better understand the oceanographic conditions to which biological descriptors are related (Louzao et al., 2019a). Furthermore, biological data collected within these monitoring schemes are useful to disentangle the mechanisms underlying the assemblage of the pelagic predator-prey community (Benoit-Bird et al., 2013; Lawrence et al., 2016) describing the community structure and type of associations (Astarloa et al., 2019).



Figure 6. Example of an ecosystem data collection from a multidisciplinary oceanographic survey monitoring the pelagic realm. 1. Fisheries acoustics, 2. Midwater trawl fishing, 3. Support of pair trawlers fishing vessels, 4. Hull-mounted thermosalinometer, 5. Megafauna sightings (e.g. seabirds and cetaceans), 6. Sonde-based hydrobiological sampling, 7. Meso-zooplankton nets. Adapted from Doray et al., 2018.

5.3. Ecological modelling for ecosystem assessment

Ecological modelling has been described as 'the construction and analysis of mathematical models of ecological processes, including both purely biological and combined biophysical models'¹. Ecological modelling is widely used when there is a need to understand the functioning of complex system such as ecosystems (Jørgensen and Bendoricchio, 2001). Ecological modelling is very useful for simulating and analysing long-term dynamics, describing elements and properties of the stability of ecological systems and predicting spatio-temporal changes. Furthermore, it allows the integration of information from different sources. This is particularly important in the context of biodiversity preservation and ecosystem functioning in the face of growing human pressures and changing environmental conditions (Attorre et al., 2013; Rodríguez et al., 2007).

Within the EBM, it is essential to identify the main factors driving species distribution and the functional relationships with the environment to conserve and manage species and ecosystems. In this context, the ecological niche concept is particularly important. Hutchinson (1957) defined the ecological niche as a series of independent environmental variables with simple ranges of suitable conditions defining an '*n*-dimensional hyperspace' within which a species can survive and reproduce. Thus, the ecological niche considers all of the interactions between a species and both biotic (*i.e.* living organisms) and abiotic (*i.e.* non-living physical and chemical elements such as temperature, salinity, ocean currents) environments (Polechová and Storch, 2008).

The spatial distribution of species, as well as their abundances, are often determined by the breadth and position of their ecological niches. Species Distribution Models (SDMs), also named as habitat suitability models or ecological niche models, are statistical tools that can help identify a species' ecological niche (Elith and Leathwick, 2009). Elith and Leathwick (2009) defined a SDM as a model that relates species distribution data (presence or abundance at known locations) with information on the environmental and/or spatial characteristics of those locations. Thus, SDMs can be used not only to understand which biotic or abiotic factors explain the distribution and abundance of a species, but also to predict species distribution and abundance by estimating the similarity of the conditions at any site to the conditions where the species was sighted (Franklin, 2010) (Figure 7).



Figure 7. The concept behind Species Distribution Models (SDMs) is to use environmental information (predictors) either collected in-situ or from satellite imagery and species data to identify species ecological niche, i.e. environmental variables driving suitable conditions for species (illustrated through response curves or environmental envelopes in the case of one or two predictors, respectively). After the ecological niche has been identified, SDMs can be used to predict the spatial distribution and abundance of the species.

SDMs have been used to model the spatial variability in species distribution and abundance, but they usually generate estimates of the probability of ocurrence of a species that use relative or unit-less scales (*e.g.* ranging from 0 to 1) regardless of the effort (*i.e.*, sampled area) or the detectability of the species (Roberts et al., 2016). To consider animal counts, the development of Density Surface Models (DSMs) allows to obtain abundance estimations by relating sampled density to spatially explicit environmental covariates while accounting for the effort and species detectability (Hedley and Buckland, 2004; Miller et al., 2013). Species count data used to develop DSMs can be obtained from dedicated surveys, such as multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys (Section 5.2). These surveys are design-based schemes (*i.e.* the design is predefined) where the presence of the animals is visually detected, allowing to infer the relative spatial density/abundance of individuals (Buckland et al., 2001; Redfern et al., 2006).

The selection of relevant descriptors to be used in DSMs is helped by prior knowledge on potential biophysical processes driving species distribution and abundance. These descriptors can be classified into distal and proximal, being proximal descriptors those variables to which the species is assumed to react more directly than distal descriptors, which usually are those variables describing the environment (Austin, 2007; Guisan and Zimmermann, 2000). It is reasonable to assume that for marine megafauna, as predator species, trophic variables [e.g., related to lower-trophic (phyto and zooplankton) or mid-trophic levels (forage fish)] could act as proximal descriptors as principal and direct drivers of their distribution (Friedlaender et al., 2006; Laidre et al., 2010; Louzao et al., 2019a; Paiva et al., 2008). Conversely, physiographic variables related to bathymetry (e.g. depth, slope, distance to the coast) or oceanographic variables related with water masses (e.g. geostrophic velocity, eddy kinetic ennergy, salinity, sea surface temperature, chlorophyll concentration) could act as distal descriptors, indirectly influencing species' distribution and/or abundance. However, this classification could be more complex when variables considered as distal could act as proximal (e.g., oceanographic fronts as foraging hotspots for marine megafauna; Queiroz et al., 2012; Scales et al., 2015, 2014).

Values of distal descriptors can be obtained in-situ during multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys or from high-resolution satellite imagery (Ferreira et al., 2019; Lehodey et al., 2010; Pettorelli et al., 2016). Proximal descriptors can be also obtained insitu from multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys (*e.g.* prey biomass or preyscapes; (Astarloa et al., 2019; Lehodey et al., 2010; Louzao et al., 2019). However, their sampling in the marine environment is challenging and the use of distal variables instead, as proxies of important ecological processes, could overcome these limiatations (*e.g.* chlorophyll concentration as a proxy of primary productivity) (Druon et al., 2012; García-Barón et al., 2019a).

5.4. Systematic conservation planning

Systematic Conservation Planning (SCP) has been recognized as the most robust and transparent approach to design MPAs networks while taking into account the possible conflicts between the ecological, social and economic factors (Haupt et al., 2017; Margules and Pressey, 2000; Metcalfe et al., 2013). Thus, the SCP framework allows to examine whether the basic requirements for conservation are meet while allowing for a sustainable management of the resources (Pressey and Bottrill, 2009). SCP has several distinctive characteristics such as the need to choose features to be used directly or as surrogates for overall biodiversity in the planning process; it is based on explicit goals, preferably translated into quantitative targets; it recognizes the extent to which conservation goals are met in the priority areas for conservation and it is able to locate and design new priority areas to complement the existing ones (Margules and Pressey, 2000).

A SCP process includes a wide variety of input information from multiple sources, incorporated within a transparent and inclusive process (Pressey and Bottrill, 2009). Nowadays, this information (*i.e.* wildlife abundance distribution and spatially-explicit data on marine human activities) is usually available allowing to conduct a spatial prioritization (B.S. Halpern et al., 2008; Kroodsma et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2010). However, the data often used in the SCP process are those which are readily available, being in many cases, incomplete. Therefore, features indicative of resource hotspots as well as the factors controlling the distributions of threatened and rare species are likely to be missed (Noss, 2004). This can affect the accuracy of conservation planning outcomes and introduce uncertainty into the spatial prioritization process (Rondinini et al., 2006). For that reason, fine-scale and/or long-term data must be a priority in the SCP process, both for the conservation features and the socio-economic data.

Long-term data measuring changes through time are essential. On the one hand, the lack of information on ecological systems, such as background values or rates of changes, can make it difficult to detect anthropogenic impacts (Magurran et al., 2010). On the other hand, insufficient data on socio-economic activities may limit our ability to determine their spatial distribution, frequency, or seasonality. The benefits of long-term monitoring have been well documented (Cheney et al., 2014; Heupel, 2005; Lowerre-

Barbieri et al., 2019; Ojeda-Martinez et al., 2007) and can contribute towards an effective spatial prioritization process, as well as provide wildlife managers and stakeholders with mechanism for optimizing action plans and reduced costs. However, obtaining long-term datasets is expensive and time-consuming (Magurran et al., 2010), highlighting the need for studies to assess the amount of data required to determine spatial and temporal changes in the SCP processes.

6. Rationale for the study

The MSFD and the MSPD required the use of an EBM approach to protect marine ecosystems by managing human activities. Within the MSFD, two main taxonomic groups of marine megafauna (marine mammals and seabirds covered by the HB and BD, respectively) are included for the assessment and reporting under the Descriptor 1 *'Biological Diversity'* (European Commission, 2014). This Descriptor provides a definition of the Good Environmental Status in relation to biological diversity, stating that there should not be further loss of diversity, the deteriorated attributes of biological diversity are restored and the use of the marine environment is sustainable (European Commission, 2014). The assessment of the state is required at three main ecological levels: species, habitats and ecosystems. Some of the criteria included in the Descriptor 1 are related with the population abundance and distributional range of the species, the conditions of the biodiversity habitats and the anthropogenic pressures which may adversely affect the biodiversity considered (European Commission, 2014).

In this context, the North-East Atlantic Ocean is one of the four marine regions considered in the MSFD, and is further divided into ecologically coherent sub-regions, one of which is the 'Bay of Biscay and the Iberian Coast' (Authier et al., 2018) that includes waters under the juridiction of three Member States: Spain, France and Portugal. As part of their obligations under the MSFD, the three countries have described actions related to the creation or expansion of MPAs such as 'spatial protection measures for the marine environment', where Spain included the proposal for the creation of new MPAs and a number of specific regulations to manage human activities (Cavallo, 2018).

6.1. The Bay of Biscay and the Iberian Coast

The Bay of Biscay (hereafter 'BoB') is an open oceanic bay situated in the eastern North Atlantic limited in the south by the West-East oriented Spanish coast and in the eastern part by the French coast with a South-North orientation (Figure 8). The southern sector (*i.e.* the Cantabrian Sea) is characterized by the narrow Northern Iberian continental shelf, which

extends to 15-20 nm (Borja and Collins, 2004; Prego and Vergara, 1998). The French coast, on the contrary is characterized by a wider shelf (reaching its widest points in the Armorica and Aquitaine regions) that extend from 30 to 80 nm increasing in width northwards. The southern part of the Bay of Biscay includes several submarine canyons (*e.g.* Capbreton, Cap-Ferret) with the deepest waters in the area (2000-5000 m; Borja and Collins, 2004; Mulder et al., 2012). Large river discharge is the main source of freshwater into the BoB resulting in a low-salinity gradient from coastal to oceanic waters, occurring mainly in the Northern BoB (Mason et al., 2006).



Figure 8. The main hydrographic features in the Bay of Biscay. Source: reproduced from Koutsikopoulos and Le Cann (1996) and modified by OSPAR Commission (2000).

The circulation in the BoB is complex and depends on bathymetry, tides, densitydriven currents, and wind. There is a weak oceanic circulation flowing southward originating from the North-Atlantic Gyre and a stronger slope current that flows northward along the shelf break (Koutsikopoulos and Le Cann, 1996; Pingree and Garcia-Soto, 2014). The confluence of these opposite flows frequently results in mesoscale eddies that persist in time (Caballero et al., 2014; Pingree and Le Cann, 1992). The sea surface temperature shows a latitudinal gradient in the summer period, being the south-eastern part of the BoB the warmest area (Koutsikopoulos et al., 1998), while the warming of the southem BoB waters can occur in winter due to the *Navidad* current (Borja et al., 2018). Two phytoplankton blooms take place in the Bay of Biscay, one in spring and one in autumn (Pingree and Garcia-Soto, 2014; Varela, 1996). During summer and early autumn the coastal areas of the southern shelf are characterized by the presence of local upwelling events, persistent through the thermal stratification (Botas et al., 1990; Koutsikopoulos and Le Cann, 1996).

Due to the industrialization and urban development of the coastal margin of the BoB over the past 50 years (Borja et al., 2018), the marine environment has suffered increased disturbance triggered by the input of chemical substances, physical perturbation, and direct impacts on biological communities and species (Valdés and Lavín, 2002). These pressures include: (a) extractive activities such as fishing, aquaculture, and farming which can have a direct impact on marine megafauna (e.g. bycatch, entanglement, prey depletion) (Lassalle et al., 2012; Mannocci et al., 2012); (b) polluting industrial activities (e.g. paper milling, petroleum refining); (d) the introduction of non-native species via ballast waters (Butrón et al., 2011; ICES, 2015) and (e) maritime transport with the risk of oil spills, since the BoB is located on the main route of tankers transporting oil from the Middle East and Africa to European harbours (Lavín et al., 2006), also having a high likelihood of collisions with marine mammals. In relation to global change, some studies suggest that the BoB is under a meridionalization process with the establishment of warm-water native species previously restricted to southernmost areas (Punzón et al., 2016). Moreover, there are robust indications of the increase of the intensity and frequency of extreme weather events over the recent decades due to climate change (Cai et al., 2014; Ummenhofer and Meehl, 2017) that can impact on marine biodiversity.

6.2. Marine megafauna within the Bay of Biscay

The marine megafauna community of the BoB is highly diverse, and includes boreal and subtropical species of several taxonomic groups (elasmobranchs, large teleosts, marine mammals, seabirds and seaturtles). The BoB is a dynamic and biologically rich pelagic ecosystem that represents an important seasonal key feeding ground for those species that undertake seasonal feeding migrations into the area (García-Barón et al., 2019a; Lambert et al., 2017a; Lezama-Ochoa et al., 2010). Seabirds (Boué et al., 2013; Fort et al., 2012; Louzao et al., 2015; Stenhouse et al., 2012), cetaceans (Edwards et al., 2015), sharks (Doherty et al., 2017), tuna (Chust et al., 2019), turtles (Avens and Dell'Amico, 2018), sunfish (Sims et al., 2009) use the BoB as a migration corridor, while during spring and summer, various species of seabirds breed in colonies spread along the French coasts of the Northern BoB (Bilan et al., 2006; Cadiou et al., 2010; Cadiou and Monnat, 1996).

Within the megafauna community, this thesis is focused on marine mammals and seabirds. In the BoB, representatives of three very different groups of marine mammals can be found, baleen whales (the most common being the Fin whale *Balaenoptera physalus*), small toothed-cetaceans (the Short-beaked common *Delphinus delphis*, the Risso's *Grampus griseus*, the Striped *Stenella coeruleoalba* and the Bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops truncatus*, the Long-finned pilot whale *Globicephala melas* and the Harbour porpoise *Phocoena phocoena*) and deep-diving cetaceans (with the most common being the Sperm whale *Physeter macrocephalus* but with other species, such as the Cuvier's beaked whale *Ziphius cavirostris* also present).



Figure 9. Most common species of marine mammals inhabiting the Bay of Biscay: (1) Fin whale, (2) Short-beaked common, (3) Risso's dolphin, (4) Bottlenose dolphin, (5) Stripped dolphin, (6) Long-finned pilot whale, (7) Harbour porpoise, (8) Cuvier's beaked whale and (9) Sperm whale. Image courtesy of Joshua G. Herranz (Marine Life Project).

Concerning seabirds, species can be classified depending on the habitat usage being resident (those that breed in the BoB, with the most common being the Yellow-legged *Larus michahellis*, the Lesser black-backed *L. fuscus* and the European herring gulls *L. argentatus*, the European shag *Phalacrocorax aristotelis*, the European storm-petrel *Hydrobates pelagicus*, the Black-legged kittiwake *Rissa tridactyla*, both the Sandwich *Thalasseus sandvicensis* and the Common tern *Sterna hirundo* and the Cory's shearwaters *Calonectris diomedea*) and wintering/migrants (those seabirds not breeding in the BoB, with the most common being the Northern gannet *Morus bassanus*, the Great skua *Stercorarius skua*, the Black-headed *Chroicocephalus ridibundus*, the Sabine's *Xema sabini* and the Mediterranean gulls *Ichthyaetus melanocephalus*, the Common guillemot *Uria aalge*, the

Razorbill *Alca torda*, the Sooty *Ardenna grisea*, the Balearic *Puffinus mauretanicus*, the Manx *P. puffinus* and the Great shearwaters *A. gravis*).



Figure 10. Most common seabird species inhabiting the Bay of Biscay: (1) Sooty shearwater, (2) Great shearwater, (3) Manx shearwater, (4) Cory's shearwater, (5) European storm-petrel, (6) Balearic shearwater, (7) Razorbill, (8) Common guillemot, (9) Northern gannet, (10) Sandwich tern, (11) Common tern, (12) Great skua, (13) European shag, (14) Mediterranean gull, (15) Black-headed gull, (16) Lesser black-backed gull, (17) Black-legged kittiwake, (18) European herring gull, (19) Yellow-legged gull and (20) Sabine's gull. Images have been compiled from www.seo.org and www.hbw.com and edited by Joshua G. Herranz (Marine Life Project).

6.3. Marine protected areas in the Bay of Biscay

In the BoB, the designation and establishment of MPAs is required by national and international (EU) legislation (see Section 3). In Spain, the HD and BD requirements have been transposed into the national legislation with the Ley 42/2007 del Patrimonio Natural y de la. Biodiversidad (in english "Law on the Spanish Natural Heritage and Biodiversity", partially modified in 2015 by the Law 33/2015). This law created the basic legal regime for the conservation, sustainable use, enhancement and restoration of the natural heritage and

biodiversity. Moreover, it incorporates the concept of MPA and the creation of the MPAs networks, in line with EU guidelines, as well as the possibility of creating transboundary protected natural spaces. The law 42/2007 determines that the MPAs will be integrated into the Spanish Marine Protected Areas Network (RAMPE in its Spanish acronym). The RAMPE is regulated under Law 41/2010 on the protection of the marine environment which establishes its objectives, the natural areas that make it up and the mechanisms for its designation and management. This law is the legal instrument which transposed the MSFD requirements to the national territory. In the case of France, the process has been similar with the creation of the Agence des Aires Marines Protégées (in english "Marine Protected Areas Agency") under the Law of 14 April 2006, with the aim of supporting public policy for the creation and management of MPAs across all french public maritime domain and coordinate and manage MPAs network.



Figure 11. Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) designated under the Birds or the Habitats Directive (2009/147/EC and 92/43/EEC, respectively) within the Bay of Biscay.

The BoB is characterized by a broad range of MPAs categories, *e.g.* SACs, SPAs, Protected biotopes, Marine Natural Parks and National Nature Reserves. They have been created as a result of multiple governamental initiatives at local, regional and national levels and under different environmental legislation or sectoral laws. Overall, 71 MPAs are designated integrally in the marine environment (with no territory on land) of wich 16 belong to the Spanish Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) and 55 to the French EEZ (UNEP-WCMC and IUCN, 2019). Under the HD, the SACs were designated *inter alia* to protect cetacean species listed in Appendix II of the HD and their habitats (European Commission, 2007), oftern overlapping with SPAs sites (BD) (Figure 11). The only cetacean species listed in HD's Appendix II are the Harbour porpoise and the Bottlenose dolphin. Regarding SPAs designated under the BD, these MPAs aim to protect all the species listed in Annex I, which do not include all the species occurring in the BoB. However, the BD requires to take similar measures for regularly occurring migratory species not listed in Annex I (European Commission, 2009). As a network, these sites represent a broad range of species diversity, habitats, and ecological regimes in the marine environment of the BoB aiming at reversing the negative impacts of human impacts/stressors.
7. Hypothesis, aim and objectives

7.1. Working hypothesis

The working hypothesis is a "provisional, working means of advancing investigation" which could lead to the discovery of unforeseen, but relevant facts during the progress of the research (Dewey, 1938; Shields and Tajalli, 2006). As such, the working hypothesis has helped to establish the connection between the questions posed for the research and the evidence observed, and it can be constructed as follows:

"The highly diverse marine megafauna community of the Bay of Biscay face several anthropogenic threats, that requires increasing our understanding on their spatio-temporal abundance patterns to develop spatially explicit measures such as the identification of high biodiversity areas, assessment of the coherence of MPA network and estimation of the long-term robustness of MPAs."

7.2. Aim and objectives

The overarching aim of this thesis is to assess the impacts of human activities on marine megafauna in southern European waters by integrating the spatial ecology of this ecosystem component into ecosystem-based management. By focusing on marine megafauna species (*i.e.* seabirds and cetaceans) inhabiting the BoB, we developed an integrative ecological framework based on multidisciplinary approaches to identify threats, develop environmental indicators, establish baseline values, obtain estimates of spatio-temporal abundance, assess the coherence of MPAs networks and in addition, examine the value of long-term series for MPA robustness.

In order to fulfil the general aim, specific research objectives have been defined and summarized below:

- To assess the main threats affecting the marine megafauna community in the Bay of Biscay providing a qualitative and, when possible quantitative, assessment to identify the main pressures affecting directly or indirectly the cetacean and seabird species inhabiting the area. (Chapter 1)
- To develop a methodological approach, applicable to other species, to identify biologically appropriate predictors to jointly consider both the spatial and vertical dimensions of oceanographic habitats. (Chapter 2)

- 3. To locate ecologically meaningful areas for the marine megafauna community through the identification of Essential Ocean Variables shaping their environmental envelopes and driving their spatio-temporal trends. (Chapter 3)
- 4. To identify critical areas for marine megafauna and to assess whether the current Marine Protected Areas network offers protection for species for which it has not been designated. (Chapter 4)
- To explore the temporal stability of spatial prioritization for marine megafauna by assessing the number of years needed to ensure a robust MPA network. (Chapter 5)

All these objectives share a practical goal as they focus on the 'biodiversity and ecosystem conservation' aspect of the EBM which should be supported by multidisciplinary studies involving different approaches and study techniques. With the aim of operationalising the EBM within the current European legislation, this thesis intends to inform conservation and management measures in the context of the MSFD overall aim, which is to enable sustainable use of marine goods and services.

8. Structure of the thesis

The nature of this work and the disparity of the questions and methodologies addressed during the thesis led to the presentation of different research themes separately in different chapters. Each chapter is therefore presented as an individual scientific paper with its own introduction, material and methods, results, and discussion. In this manner, some redundant information has perhaps been inevitably included in the introduction and materials and methods sections.



Which are the main threats affecting the marine megafauna in the Bay of Biscay?

Abstract

The marine environment faces an increasing number of threats, mainly driven by anthropogenic activities, that are causing growing impacts on marine species and processes. In Europe, the EU Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) aims to achieve or maintain Good Environmental Status (GES) of the European waters by 2020. The Directive specifically refers to biodiversity with the first of the eleven qualitative descriptors (proposed to help describe what GES should look like) being Biodiversity is maintained. For this descriptor, the status of several functional groups, including marine megafauna species, need to be assessed using criteria such as population size and condition and mortality due to bycatch in fishing gear that compare current values against agreed thresholds. To contribute to this process, we performed an assessment of the threats affecting the marine megafauna community (*i.e.*, seabirds and marine cetaceans) in the Bay of Biscay synthesizing the available evidences and identifying the main threats affecting the marine megafauna to help prioritise the required management and conservation actions. We analysed 4,023 admissions of seabirds recorded during 2004-2016 from four Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres (WRCs) to obtain an initial quantitative assessment of the pressures exerted on seabirds. The main marine threats identified in the Spanish North Atlantic subregion were cachexia (52.3%), exposure to crude oil (10%) and interaction with fishing gears (5.3%). When considering all threats together, the Common guillemot, the Yellowlegged gull, the Northern gannet, the Great cormorant and the Razorbill were the main affected species. In addition, we summarised the available information to perform an updated qualitative assessment of the severity of the threats faced by seabirds and cetaceans. The qualitative assessment showed that cetaceans are especially vulnerable to bycatch, vessel collision, and pollution-related threats, whilst seabirds are particularly sensitive to oil spills, bycatch and marine litter. This type of assessment studies can aid in the identification of priority areas and/or species where management measures should be applied to ensure that the ultimate goal of the MSFD, sustainable conservation of the marine environment, is reached.

Published as:

García-Barón, I., Santos, M.B., Uriarte, A., Inchausti, J.I., Escribano, J.M., Albisu, J., Fayos, M., Pis-Millán, J.A., Oleaga, Á., Alonso, F.E., Hernández, O., Moreno, O., Louzao, M., 2019. *Which are the main threats affecting the marine megafauna in the Bay of Biscay?* Continental Shelf Research 186, 1–12.

1. Introduction

The marine environment faces an increasing number of threats that are causing growing impacts on marine species and processes; with over a third of the world's oceans estimated to suffer high or very high impacts (Halpern et al., 2008). These threats are mostly driven by anthropogenic activities, such as overexploitation of marine resources, pollution and habitat degradation and destruction (Dulvy et al., 2003; Halpern et al., 2007; IPBES, 2019). In addition, climate change-driven processes such as extreme weather events, increasing temperature and acidification are having serious effects on marine habitats (Descamps et al., 2015; Harley et al., 2006; Vaughan et al., 2001). These threats could have a cumulative effect and therefore the assessment of their spatio-temporal patterns could be of crucial importance (Halpern et al., 2015; Maxwell et al., 2013). In a recent assessment (IPBES, 2019), over 40% of marine ecosystems were highly impacted by climate-driven anthropogenic threats and 66% experienced cumulative impacts.

In Europe, the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD; 2008/56/EC) aims to provide the legal framework to achieve the sustainable use of marine goods and services of European waters by effectively managing human activities and pressures through an ecosystem-based approach. The MSFD requires Member States (MS) to follow a series of steps with the aim of achieving (or maintaining) Good Environmental Status (GES) of their waters by 2020 (see Santos and Pierce, 2015). One of the requirements of the Directive is that MS should define what GES means for their waters, in terms of the eleven qualitative descriptors provided. The Directive defines that GES will be reached when "the overall state of the environment in marine waters provides ecologically diverse and dynamic oceans and seas which are healthy and productive". MS are also required to set environmental targets and develop criteria (with associated thresholds) to reach GES, and to monitor the progress towards GES. The first descriptor of Biodiversity states that GES will be achieved when "Biological diversity is maintained. The quality and occurrence of habitats and the distribution and abundance of species are in line with prevailing physiographic, geographic and climatic conditions". For this descriptor, the guidance provided by the European Commission (Cochrane et al., 2010) suggests a focus at the level of "functional group" (defined as "an ecologically relevant set of species") for assessment and reporting. Highly mobile groups of species such as cetaceans and seabirds are included as two of these functional groups. Cetaceans and seabirds ('marine megafauna' hereafter) have key roles in marine ecosystem functioning, with changes in their abundance and distribution

impacting ecosystem structure, function and resilience (Baum and Worm, 2009; Estes et al., 2011).

The BoB hosts numerous seabird and cetacean species of high conservation value. In the case of seabirds, many species breed in Northern Europe but spend the non-breeding period in this area (Pettex et al., 2017). Among seabirds, there are species classified as "Critically Endangered" (Balearic shearwater *Puffinus mauretanicus*), "Endangered" (Atlantic puffin *Fratercula arctica*), "Vulnerable" (black-legged kittiwake *Rissa tridactyla*) and "Near threatened" (Razorbill *Alca torda*) (IUCN, 2018). Of the common cetacean species, the Fin whale *Balaenoptera physalus* is classified as "Near threatened" and both the sperm whale *Physeter macrocephalus* and the Harbour porpoise *Phocoena* as "Vulnerable" in Europe (IUCN, 2018). At the Spanish level, ten cetacean and four seabird species are listed as "Threatened" in the Royal Decree for the Development of the List of Wild Species in Regime of Special Protection and the Spanish Catalogue of Endangered Species (RD139/2011).

There is an overall lack of knowledge on the severity of the impact of different threats (*e.g.*, climate change, pollution, fishing, habitat-related changes) on seabirds and cetaceans in the BoB. This information is valuable in the context of the MSFD to develop criteria and their associated thresholds to determine if GES is reached. Within this context, we provided the first assessment of the impact of different threats on the marine megafauna community of the BoB based on two complementary approaches. Firstly, we evaluated the quantitative information gathered for seabirds at Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres (WRCs) to provide the basis for an initial assessment. Secondly, we carried out a literature review to (1) identify the main threats affecting both seabird and cetacean species occurring in the BoB and (2) evaluate their potential impact on both taxonomic groups. Both approaches were compared to provide a full assessment of their potential impact on the marine megafauna in the BoB.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Selection of species

The species considered were those listed as present in the North Atlantic sub-region of the Spanish initial evaluation document for the MSFD (MAGRAMA, 2012a, 2012b). The conservation status of the species listed was obtained at the global, European and national level. For global and European level, we used the International Union for Conservation of Nature criteria (IUCN) and checked whether the species was listed in the Annex I of the Birds Directive (BD; Council Directive 79/409/EEC) and/or in the Annex II of the Habitats

Directive (HD; Council Directive 92/43/EEC). At the national level, we used for seabirds the Red Book of the Birds of Spain (Madroño et al., 2004) and for cetaceans the Red Book of Spanish vertebrates (Blanco and González, 1992) and the RD139/2011.

The marine megafauna list was composed by 35 seabird species belonging to nine families (Anatidae, Gaviidae, Procellariidae, Hydrobatidae, Sulidae, Phalacrocoracidae, Stercorariidae, Laridae and Alcidae) and 24 cetacean species belonging to five families (Balaenopteridae, Balaenidae, Delphinidae, Physeteridae and Ziphiidae) (Appendix A, see Table A-1.1 and A-1.2, respectively). Based on the IUCN criteria, six seabird and five cetacean species at the global level and eight seabird and six cetacean species at the global level and eight seabird and six cetacean species at the uropean level were identified as *threatened (i.e.,* vulnerable, endangered or critically endangered). Furthermore, 33 seabird species were included in the Annex I of the BD and two cetacean species were included in the Annex II of the HD. At the national level, nine seabird and eleven cetacean species were listed as *threatened* by the RD139/2011.

2.2. Threats considered

An increasing number of threats could affect seabirds and cetaceans. We grouped the threats into different categories depending on their source: (a) *climate change*; (b) *pollution* which groups together all the threats associated with contamination; (c) *fishing* that includes direct (*e.g.*, bycatch) and indirect (*e.g.*, prey depletion) interactions of megafauna with fishing activities; (d) *habitat-related changes* that includes threats related with habitat degradation, loss and destruction and (e) *others* that include a variety of marine threats such as vessel collision or disturbance due to tourism.

2.3. Impact assessment

a) Quantitative approach

Ethical statement: The rehabilitation programmes of the WRCs were conducted under the authorization of the appropriate departments of each regional government and were consistent with good veterinary practices.

Information of the admissions of marine megafauna species to WRCs were only available for seabirds in the southern BoB (Figure 1.1). Information was gathered for a 13-year period (2004-2016) from the four existing WRCs in the southern BoB located in Gipuzkoa (Arrano Etxea WRC, 2004-2016), Bizkaia (Bizkaia WRC, 2004-2016), Cantabria (Cantabria WRC, 2010-2016) and Asturias (SERIDA, 2009-2016).



Figure 1.1. Locations of the four Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres (WRC) along the southern Bay of Biscay.

The WRCs' protocol (Figure 1.2) involves recording the location, date of collection and admission, cause of admission, clinical evolution, date of release or death and, in the latter case, cause of death for each animal arriving at the WRCs. We coded the causes of admission into four different categories of threats, with a special focus on marine-related threats. *Cachexia (i.e.,* extreme weight loss and muscle wasting) was included into climate change since this cause of admission has been related to extreme climatic events in the study area (Louzao et al. 2019). Similarly, *interaction with fishing gear* and *exposure to crude oil* were included into fishing and pollution, respectively. The remaining causes of admissions were included into the category *others: traumas* (subdivided into *car impact, gunshot, electrocution* and *undefined trauma*), *disease* (subdivided into *parasitic/infectious disease* and *others*), *orphaned, intraspecific interaction, without apparent lesions, other causes* (including *forfeited, poisoning* and *autolytic*) and *undetermined*.

We further analysed the causes of admissions by identifying the main affected seabird families/species and the temporal evolution of the number of individuals affected by each threat, both seasonally and inter-annually, testing whether there were statistically significant differences in seabird families/species and causes of admission using Chi-square tests. Furthermore, we explored the associated variability [*i.e.*, coefficient of variation (CV)] of the percentage of admissions per year and species.



Figure 1.2. The protocol implemented in the Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres (WRCs). The blue box shows the data used to perform the quantitative assessment.

b) Qualitative approach

We carried out a literature review to (a) determine the main threats affecting directly or indirectly the cetacean and seabird species and (b) gather evidence (based on published data) on the likelihood of the impact of different threats. The scoring was based on a categorical codification of low, medium and high impact following the criteria used by the Working Group on Marine Mammal Ecology (WGMME) of the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES) (ICES, 2015). A high score was given when "there were evidences of negative population effects, mediated through effects on individual mortality, health and/or reproduction"; a medium score was given when "there were evidences or strong likelihood of impact at individual level on survival, health or reproduction, but population effects were not clear" and finally low score was given when there were "possible negative impacts on individuals, but weak evidence and/or infrequent occurrence". Finally, the text "No evidence of threat to date in the area" was used for cases where there was no evidence of the impact of the threat in the BoB or it was not considered relevant for the species. The literature review was conducted on the ISI Web of Knowledge using the following key words: cetacean, marine mammal, seabird, threat, pressure, East Atlantic and Bay of Biscay. In addition, relevant reports and publications were accessed including the initial MSFD evaluations of Spain and France, the ICES reports of the Joint Working Group on Seabirds (JWGBIRD) and WGMME, the reports of the Intersessional Correspondence

Group on the Coordination of Biodiversity Assessment and Monitoring (OSPAR ICG-COBAM) expert group and the reports of the International Whaling Commission (IWC) Scientific Committee. Based on the review, we created a matrix of species and marine threats categories.

c) Quantitative versus qualitative assessments

The comparison of the quantitative and qualitative assessments was only possible for seabird species. We compared the number of admissions due to cachexia, exposure to crude oil and interaction with fishing gears in the quantitative assessment with the scoring obtained in the qualitative assessment of extreme weathers events, oil spills and bycatch, respectively. This comparative analysis was based on 26 seabird species included in both assessments. We transformed the number of admissions into impact scores for each species and threat by scoring as *low* when the percentage of the number of admissions for a given threat was <33%. Similarly, scores of *medium* and *high* were assigned when the percentage of the number of admissions for a given threat ranged between 33% and 66% and >66%, respectively. Then, we compared both sets of scores by threat.

3. Results

3.1. Quantitative impact assessment

a) Overall description

Data from a total of 4,023 admissions were available divided between WRCs as follows: 1,616 (40.2%; 2014-2016 period) from the Gipuzkoa WRC, 1,854 (46.1%; 2014-2016 period) from the Bizkaia WRC, 227 (5.6%; 2010-2016 period) from the Cantabria WRC and 326 (8.1%; 2009-2016 period) from the Asturias WRC. The admissions included 29 species belonging to nine families (see Figure 1.3a): Alcidae (41.2% of the total number of admissions), Laridae (38.9%), Sulidae (13.3%), Phalacrocoracidae (3.7%), Procellariidae (0.6%), Anatidae (0.4%), Gaviidae (0.2%) and Stercorariidae (0.07%). The Common guillemot *Uria aalge* was the species most frequently admitted (36.3%, n=1,459), followed by the Yellow-legged gull *Larus michahellis* (26.8%, n=1,078), the Northern gannet *Morus bassanus* (13.3%, n=536), the Black-headed gull *Chroicocephalus ridibundus* (4.87%, n=196), the Geat cormorant *Phalacrocorax carbo* and the Razorbill (both 3%, n=124).

The number of cases and the frequency distribution by cause of admission (summarised in 8 categories as previously explained) is shown in Table A-2.1. The most frequent cause of admission was *cachexia* (51.2%, n=2,061), followed by *exposure to crude*

oil (9.9%, n=397) and *interaction with fishing gears* (5.2%, n=207). The category *others* included 33.8% of the admissions of which *undefined trauma* (12.9%, n=511) and *orphaned* (5.7%, n=224) were the main contributors to the number of admissions (Figure 1.3b).



Figure 1.3. a) Number of admissions at the Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres located in the southern Bay of Biscay (2004-2016) categorized by taxonomic family. The numbers to the right of the bars indicate the number of admissions and the number of species belonging to each family is given between brackets. b) Pie chart of the number of admissions by threats expressed as the percentage of the total number of admissions.

b) Temporal variation of admissions

The most frequently recorded species (see details above) were registered every year, in contrast to those species which were less commonly recorded. Overall inter-annual variability (CV) of the most frequently recorded species ranged between 0.33 (Great cormorants) and 0.66 (Razorbills) (Table A-2.2). By year, the Alcidae family was mainly recorded in 2004 and 2014, whilst the admissions of individuals of the families Laridae, Sulidae and Phalacrocoracidae remained almost constant during the study period (Figure 1.4a). The highest numbers of admissions related to *cachexia* (the most prevalent cause of admission) were recorded in 2007, 2014 and 2016 (χ^2 =1449.5, df = 12, p<0.0001; Figure 1.4b). The most affected families were Alcidae (58.5%), Laridae (22.5%) and Sulidae (13.2%). Significant higher numbers of admissions due to *exposure to crude oil* took place in 2004 and 2007 (χ^2 =1062, df = 12, p<0.0001; Figure 1.4b). The most affected families

were Alcidae (85.1%), Sulidae (8,4%) and Laridae (4.8%). For both threats, the most affected species was the Common guillemot with 51.3% and 77.3% of the total admissions (considering all species together) corresponding to *cachexia* and *exposure to crude oil*, respectively. The number of admissions related to interaction with fishing gears remained almost stable over time (Figure 1.4b). The most affected species were Northern gannets (28.7%), Yellow-legged gulls (8.6%), Great cormorants (4.6%) and Common guillemots (2.7%).



Figure 1.4. Annual admissions of a) the four most frequently admitted seabird families and b) the main marine threats and others recorded at the Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres in the southern Bay of Biscay (2004-2016).

The highest percentage of admissions was recorded in winter (31.4%, n=1,264), followed by spring (23.2%, n=935), summer (23.2%, n=935) and fall (22.1%, n=889). Seasonal admissions of the main families are shown in Figure 5a. The family Alcidae showed more significant admissions in winter and spring (χ^2 =1095.5, df=3, p<0.0001), whereas the family Laridae was the main family admitted in summer and fall (χ^2 =399.89, df=3, p<0.0001). The families Sulidae and Phalacrocoracidae were significantly most frequently admitted in fall than the rest of the year (χ^2 =133.1, df=3, p<0.0001; χ^2 =45.497, df=3, p<0.0001, respectively). The most frequent causes of admission varied among seasons (Figure 1.5b). We detected significant differences in the number of admissions between seasons for all threats, except for the *interaction with fishing gears* (χ^2 =8.16, df=3, p=0.06). In the case of *cachexia* and *exposure to crude oil* (χ^2 =384.04, df=3, p<0.0001; χ^2 =240.99, df=3, p<0.0001, respectively), the highest number of admissions were recorded in winter and during both winter and spring, respectively. Admissions due to *undefined traumas* and



orphaned (χ^2 =121.38, df=3, p<0.0001; χ^2 =388.75, df=3, p<0.0001, respectively) were more numerous in summer and fall.

Figure 1.5. Seasonal admissions of *a*) the four most frequently admitted seabird families and all the admissions and *b*) the main threats and other causes of admission at Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres of the southern Bay of Biscay (2004-2016).

3.2. Qualitative impact assessment

a) Cetaceans

Threats related to climate change were scored as *low* for most of the selected species (31.8%). However, the increase in water temperature was scored as a *medium* for 31.8% of the species (Table 1.1). In relation to pollution, 27.1% of the species scored high or medium due to the potential effect of persistent organic pollutants (e.g., PCBs), considered to be especially dangerous for the Long-finned pilot whale Globicephala melas, the Killer whale Orcinus orca, the Bottlenose dolphin Tursiops truncatus and the Harbour porpoise. Almost 23% of the species scored *medium* for the impact of marine litter (e.g., plastics), whilst ghost fishing scored *medium* for 13.6% of the species. Sixty-eight percent of the species scored medium (40.9%) or high (27.2%) for acoustic pollution (e.g., seismic surveys or mining). Finally, all the species scored low for oil spills. In relation to fishing, bycatch was identified as particularly dangerous for 54.5% of the species (13.6% medium and 40.9% high) while overfishing scored low for all the species. Habitat related threats scored low for all species, except the Harbour porpoise. This species scored medium for impact of coastal urbanization. Regarding other threats, introduction of pathogens scored low for all the species, while the impact of vessel collision was high and medium for the 40.9% and 13.6% of the species, respectively. Finally, tourism scored medium for the Bottlenose dolphin and *low* for the remaining species.

Table 1.1. Threat matrix for cetaceans in the Bay of Biscay. This matrix is an updated version derived from the one developed by the Working Group on Marine Mammal Ecology (WGMME; ICES, 2015) and it is based on the literature reviewed in this chapter. (*) indicates that the evaluation was obtained from the WGMME report; (†) indicates that the threat is referenced for the same species but in another area. Numbers in superscript indicate the reference used to evaluate the effect (references are included in the Appendix C). Colours highlight the effect of the threats as L: low (green), M: medium (yellow) and H: high (red).

		Minke whale	Sei whale	Blue whale	Fin whale	Humpback whale	Common dolphin	Long-finned pilot whale	Short- finned pilot whale	Risso's dolphin	Killer whale	False killer whale	Striped dolphin		
e	Elevated temperatures	M ²	Lı	Lı	Lı	Ľ	M ^{3,5}	L2	Ľ	Ľ	L ²	L1	L1,2		
ang	Ocean acidification	L4	L4	L4	L4	L4	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
te ch	Sea level rise	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
ima	Extreme weather events	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L ⁵	L	L	L	L		
ΰ	Shifts in ocean current patterns	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	Ĺ	L		
	Chemical contamination (e.g. PCB, DDT)	L ⁵	L ^{†,8}	L	L*,5	L	M*,12	H*,5	L ⁵	L*	H*,15	L	M*		
	Marine litter (e.g. plastics, microplastics)	M*,5	L	L ^{†,24}	L*,5	L ⁵	M ⁵	L*,5	L ⁵	L*,5	L*,5	L ⁵	L*		
Ë	Ghost fishing	M ^{5,7}	L	L	L*,5	L †,25,26	L*	L*	L	L*	L*	Ĺ	L*		
llutic	Eutrophication	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
Po	Acoustic pollution (e.g. sonar, seismic surveys)	M* ^{,5,6}	L ^{†,8}	L	M*	M¢	H ^{5,6}	L*	L	M*	L ⁵	L	M*		
	Light pollution	No evidence of threat to date in the area													
	Oil spills	L ^{5,14}	L	L	L ⁵	L	L ^{5,17}	L ^{5,14}	L	L ¹⁴	L ¹⁴	L	L		
ing	Overfishing	۲ç	L	L	۲ę	۲ç	LII	۲¢	L	L*	L*,5	L	L*,11		
Fish	Bycatch	M ²³	L	L	L*	M ⁵	H*,5,7,9,10	H ^{†,5,22,23}	H ⁵	H ^{5,23}	L*	L	M*†,5,22,23		
ted	Habitat los	L	L	L	L*	L	L*	L*	L	L*	L*	L	L*		
-rela Iges	Habitat degradation	L	L	L	L*	L	L*	L*	L	L*	L*	L	L*		
oitat- chan	Invasive species	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
Hat	Coastal urbanization	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
s	Introduction of pathogens (ballast waters)	L ⁵	L ⁵	L	L	L	L*,5	L*	L	L*	L*	L	L*		
ther	Vessel collision	M*, ^{5,6}	H ^{↑,8}	L	H⁵	H ^{5,6}	M⁵	H⁵	H⁵	L*	L*	L	L*		
0	Tourism (e.g. whale/birdwatching)	L*	L	L	L*	L	L*	L*,5	L ⁵	L*	L*	L	L*		

Table 1.1. Continuation

		Bottlenose dolphin	White- beaked dolphin	Harbour porpoise	Pigmy sperm whale	Sperm whale	North Atlantic bottlenose whale	Blainville's beaked whale	True's beaked whale	Sowerby's Beaked whale	Cuviers's beaked whale		
e	Elevated temperatures	Ľ	M ^{1,2}	M۱	U	L1,5	M ^{1,2}	Ľ	M۱	M1	U		
ang	Ocean acidification	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
و م	Sea level rise	L	L	۲ç	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
ima	Extreme weather events	L	L	L	L	L ⁵	L ⁵	L	L	L	L		
σ	Shifts in ocean current patterns	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
	Chemical contamination (e.g. PCB, DDT)	H*, ¹²	L2	H*,12	L	L*,5	L*	L2	L	L*	L ⁵		
	Marine litter (e.g. plastics)	L*	L ⁵	L*,5	L ⁵	M*, ⁵	M*	L ⁵	L ⁵	L †,27	M*,16		
Ë	Ghost fishing	L*	L	L*	L	L*,5	M*	L	L	L	M*		
llutic	Eutrophication	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
Po	Acoustic pollution (e.g. sonar, seismic surveys)	H ^{↑,6}	M ^{5,6}	H ^{†,5,6}	L	M*	M*	H ^{†,5,13}	H ^{+,13}	M ^{* †,13}	H* ^{,5,13}		
	Light pollution	No evidence of threat to date in the area											
	Oil spills	L ¹⁴	L	L ¹⁴	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
ing	Overfishing	L ^{11,19}	۲ę	L11	L	۲ę	L*	L	L	L*	L*		
Fish	Bycatch	H*,5,6,15,21,23	H⁵	H*,5,6,11,15,20	H ⁵	L*,23	L*	L	L	L*	H⁵		
ted	Habitat loss	L*	L	L*	L	L*	L*	L	L	L*	L*		
rela Iges	Habitat degradation	L*	L	L*	L	L*	L*	L	L	L*	L*		
oitat- chan	Invasive species	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
Hak	Coastal urbanization	L	L	Mé	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
s	Introduction of pathogens (ballast waters)	L*	L	L*	L	L	L*	L	L	L*	L*		
ther	Vessel collision	L	L	H ⁵	H ⁵	H*	M ^{†,28}	L	L	L*	H⁵		
Ò	Tourism (e.g. whale/birdwatching)	M*	L	L*	L	L*	L*	L	L	L*	L*		

b) Seabirds

Concerning climate change, 2.7% of the species scored high impact due to the increase of water temperature and 11.1% scored medium due to the occurrence of extreme weather events (both especially importantfor the European storm-petrel Hydrobates pelagicus). The remaining threats related to climate change scored low for all the species. In relation to pollution, persistent organic pollutants scored *medium* for 13.8% of the species and *low* for the remaining species. Impact of marine litter scored medium for 16.6% of the species, high for 11.1% and low for the remaining 71.3% of the species. Impact of ghost fishing scored medium for the Northern gannet and the Great cormorant and low for the remaining species. All the species showed a low impact due to eutrophication. Light pollution scored medium for 11.1% of the species, being especially relevant for the family Procellariidae, and impact of oil spills scored *medium* and *high* for 47.2% and 16.6% of the species, respectively. Regarding the interaction with fishing, overfishing scored low for all the species, whilst 13.8% and 19.4% of the species scored high or medium due to bycatch. For threats associated with habitat change, 5.5% of the species scored medium due to habitat loss and high due to invasive species. However, 5.4% of the species showed a medium or high score due to habitat loss or habitat degradation, respectively. Impact of tourism scored medium or high for only 8.3% and 2.7% of the species, respectively (Table 1.2).

3.3. Quantitative versus qualitative assessments

The comparison of the assessments (Figure 1.6) between the admissions caused by cachexia and the occurrence of extreme weather events showed that the quantitative assessment rated a higher number of species as experiencing *medium* or *high* impact. In the case of the admissions related to the exposure to crude oil (caused mainly by oil spills), the qualitative approach classified the effect of this threat as *low*, *medium* and *high* depending of the species. However, the quantitative approach scored this threat as *low* for all the species. Concerning the interaction with fishing gear, the quantitative approach scored *medium*. Regarding the bycactch in the qualitative approach, the majority of species scored *low*, while the remaining species scored *medium* or *high*.

Table 1.2. Threat matrix based on the literature reviewed in this chapter for seabirds in the Bay of Biscay. (†) indicates that the threat is referenced for the same species but in another area. Numbers in superscript indicate the reference used to evaluate the effect (references are included in the Appendix C). Colours highlight the effect of the threats as L: low (green), M: medium (yellow) and H: high (red).

		Black scoter	Red- breasted merganser	Red- throated loon	Black- throated loon	Common Ioon	Cory's shearwater	Manx shearwater	Great shearwater	Sooty shearwater	Balearic shearwater	Northern fulmar	European- storm petrel		
e	Elevated temperatures	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L ^{†,46,47}	L ^{29,31}	L	H ³⁰		
ang	Ocean acidification	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
te ch	Sea level rise	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
ima	Extreme weather events	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L ⁶⁸	H ³²		
σ	Shifts in ocean current patterns	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
	Chemical contamination (e.g. PCB, DDT)	L ^{†,54}	L	L	L	L	L ^{†,50,56,79}	L ^{†,79}	M ^{†,78}	L †,80	M ³⁵	L	L		
	Marine litter (e.g. plastics)	L	L	L ^{†,86}	L ^{†,88}	L	M ^{†,95}	M ^{†,90}	L ⁷⁷	L ^{†,89}	L ⁷⁷	L77,81,82,83	L ^{†,91}		
Ē	Ghost fishing	L	L	L ^{†,87}	L ^{†,87}	L ^{†,87}	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
llutic	Eutrophication	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
Pol	Acoustic pollution (e.g. sonar, seismic surveys)	No evidence of threat to date in the area													
	Light pollution	L	L	L	L	L	M ^{†,58,72,73}	L ^{†,72}	м	M ^{†,76}	L ^{†,75}	L	L ^{†,72,74,75}		
	Oil spills	M ^{36,104}	M ³⁶	M ³⁶	M ³⁶	M ^{36,104,106}	L ³⁶	L ³⁶	L ^{36,104}	L ³⁶	L ³⁶	L ¹⁰⁶	H ^{43,104}		
ing	Overfishing	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
Fish	Bycatch	L ^{†,98}	L ^{†,85}	L ^{†,85}	L	L ^{†,86}	L ^{+,100,101}	M ²³	M ^{†,65}	H ^{†,63,65}	M ²³	M ^{23,65}	L		
ted	Habitat loss	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	M ¹⁰³	L	M ¹⁰²		
rela Iges	Habitat degradation	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	M ¹⁰³	L	L		
oitat- chan	Invasive species	L	L	L	L	L	H ^{†,99}	L	L	L	L	L	L		
Hak	Coastal urbanization	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	M ^{†,76}	L	L	L		
s	Introduction of pathogens (ballast waters)	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
ther	Vessel collision	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
0	Tourism (e.g. whale/birdwatching)	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		

Table 1.2. Continuation

		Leach's storm- petrel	Band-rumped storm- petrel	Northern gannet	Great cormorant	European shag	Pomarine jaeger	Arctic jaeger	Great skua	Mediterranean gull	Little gull	Sabine's gull	Black- headed gull		
e	Elevated temperatures	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
ang	Ocean acidification	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
le ch	Sea level rise	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
ima	Extreme weather events	L	L	M ⁶⁸	L ₆₈	L ⁶⁸	L	L	L	L	L	L	L ⁶⁸		
σ	Shifts in ocean current patterns	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
	Chemical contamination (e.g. PCB, DDT)	L	L	L ³⁹	L ^{†,51}	L	L	L	L ^{†, 79}	L	L	L	L ^{†,52}		
ç	Marine litter (e.g. plastics)	L ^{†,92}	L	H ⁷⁷	M ⁷⁷	L77	L ^{†, 93}	L	L [†] , 84,95	L ⁷⁷	L	L ^{†,93}	M ⁷⁷		
	Ghost fishing	L	L	M ⁵⁹	M ^{†,65}	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
llutio	Eutrophication	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
Pol	Acoustic pollution (e.g. sonar, seismic surveys)	No evidence of threat to date in the area													
	Light pollution	L†,70	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
	Oil spills	L	L	H ^{36,40}	L ³⁶	H ^{36,40,42,44}	L	L	L ¹⁰⁴	M ³⁶	M ³⁶	M ³⁶	M ^{36,104}		
ing	Overfishing	L	L	L ^{†,48}	L	L	L ^{†,48}	L ^{†,48}	L ^{†,48}	L	L	L	L		
Fish	Bycatch	L	L	M ²³	L ^{+,85}	H ¹⁰⁹	L	L	L	L	L	L	L ⁺ ,85,88		
ted	Habitat loss	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
relat ges	Habitat degradation	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
itat- chan	Invasive species	L	L	L	L	H ¹⁰⁹	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
Hab	Coastal urbanization	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
s	Introduction of pathogens (ballast waters)	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
ther	Vessel collision	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		
Ō	Tourism (e.g. whale/birdwatching)	L	L	L	L	M ¹⁰⁷	L	L	L	L	L	L	L		

Table 1.2. Continuation

		Common gull	Lesser black- backed gull	Yellow- legged gull	Great black-backed gull	Kittiwake	Sandwich tern	Common tern	Arctic tern	Little tern	Common guillemot	Razorbill	Atlantic puffin	
ange	Elevated temperatures	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L ^{†,71}	L	L	
	Ocean acidification	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	
te ct	Sea level rise	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	
lima	Extreme weather events	L	L ⁶⁸	L	L ⁶⁸	M ⁶⁸	L	L	L	L	H ^{67,68}	M ⁶⁸	M ^{68,68}	
σ	Shifts in ocean current patterns	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L ^{†,66}	L	L	
	Chemical contamination (e.g. PCB, DDT)	L	L	M ³⁴	L	L	L	M ^{†,53,57,79}	L	L	L ^{†,54}	M ³³	L ^{†, 79}	
lution	Marine litter (e.g. plastics)	L	L ^{†,85,97}	M ^{†,95,97}	L	M ⁷⁷	L77	L77	L	L ^{†,96}	H ⁷⁷	H ⁷⁷	H ⁷⁷	
	Ghost fishing	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L ^{†,87}	L	L	
	Eutrophication	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	
Ро	Acoustic pollution (e.g. sonar, seismic surveys)	No evidence of threat to date in the area												
	Light pollution	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	M ^{†,110}	
	Oil spills	M ³⁶	M ³⁶	M ^{36,41,45}	M ³⁶	M ^{36,104}	L ³⁶	M ³⁶	M ³⁶	M ³⁶	H ^{36,38,40,104}	H ^{36,37,38}	H ^{36,38,40}	
ing	Overfishing	L	L	L	L	L ^{†,45,69}	L	L	L	L	L	L	L ^{†,55}	
Fish	Bycatch	L	L ^{†,94}	L	L	L ^{+,85}	L ^{†,94}	L	L	L ^{†,96}	H ^{†,60,61,62}	M ^{†,65}	M ²³	
ted	Habitat loss	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	
rela iges	Habitat degradation	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	
oitat- chan	Invasive species	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	
Hab	Coastal urbanization	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	
s	Introduction of pathogens (ballast waters)	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	
ther	Vessel collision	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	
Ò	Tourism (e.g. whale/birdwatching)	L	L106	L	L	M ^{†,108}	L106	L ¹⁰⁶	L	L	M ^{†,108}	L	L	



Figure 1.6. Comparison between the impacts of the threats scored in the qualitative and quantitative assessments (left and right panels, respectively).

4. Discussion

The lack of knowledge on the impact that different threats could have on seabird and cetacean individuals and populations hampers the development of suitable mitigation measures despite the efforts of several expert groups in summarising the existing evidence and categorising these threats. The present study advances our knowledge on the main threats faced by the marine megafauna community in the BoB by providing new (quantitative) evidence of their impact on seabird species (based on WRCs records) and updating the information (qualitative) in relation to the severity of these threats on cetacean species.

4.1. Evaluating threat impacts based on monitoring schemes

The causes of admission to WRCs can be used to evaluate the impact of multiple threats on seabird populations (Sleeman and Clark, 2003). However, long-term studies of seabird admissions to WRCs covering more than a decade are scarce (Haman et al., 2013; Montesdeoca et al., 2017). We compiled data spanning 13 years (from 2004-2016) that corresponds to the longest time series analysed in the study area.

Potential biases in the WRCs data are related to possible differences in the probability (1) of arrival to the coast, (2) of being encountered and (3) of being delivered to

WRCs (M Louzao et al., 2019). However, we considered that these datasets can provide useful information on the prevalence of certain threats, as it is the case of cetacean strandings.

When considering all threats together, the Common guillemot, the Yellow-legged gull, the Northern gannet, the Black-headed gull, the Great cormorant and the Razorbill were the most affected species, since they are the most abundant species in the North Atlantic subregion (MAGRAMA, 2012b). Although cachexia was the main cause of admission for all the above-mentioned species, exposure to crude oil for Common guillemots and Razorbills, and the interaction with fishing gear for northern gannets were the second main causes of admission. However, the second main cause of admission for the Yellow-legged gull was orphaned, for the Black-headed gull undefined trauma and for the Great cormorant gunshot. In the case of the Yellow-legged gull, the location of the breeding grounds and their low dispersion rate along the northern Iberian coast favoured the collection of orphaned individuals (Arizaga et al., 2014, 2010). Regarding the Great cormorants, the admission of individuals with gunshots may be due to the well-known existing conflict of the species with river fishermen (Carss and Marzano, 2005), as Great cormorants are perceived as competitors.

Admitted cachectic individuals, mainly Common guillemots, suffered extreme weakness and starvation in the winters of 2006/2007 and 2013/2014 (present study; Louzao et al., 2019), coinciding with a succession of extreme and persistent weather events in the study area (Morley et al., 2016). Extreme wind conditions, as prolonged stormy weather, can reduce the flight capacity and, consequently, increase the foraging costs for seabirds (Finney et al., 1999; Fort et al., 2009). In the case of exposure to crude oil, the highest number of admissions was reached during late winter - early spring of 2004 and 2007. Crude oil can suffocate seabirds by ingestion and cause the loss of water-proofing, thermal insulation and buoyancy by preventing them from diving or flying and eventually leading to starvation (Troisi et al., 2016). Finally, although the interaction with fishing gears (e.g., bycatch) is considered the most important threat to seabirds (Croxall et al., 2012), this threat represented only 5.3% of the total admissions to WRCs. This could be explained by the low probability of arrival of bycaught seabird carcasses to the coast. However, the higher bycatch incidence among those species known to interact with fisheries (e.g., northern gannet, Yellow-legged gull and Great cormorant) (ICES, 2017; Votier et al., 2013) is well reflected.

4.2. Overall threats to marine megafauna

a) Climate change

It is expected that climate change will impact directly on the populations of cetaceans and seabirds by modifying the physical and chemical characteristics of their environment and indirectly by affecting the distribution, availability and accessibility to their prey (Hemery et al., 2007; Simmonds, 2016). Among the different processes characterising climate change, ocean warming is believed to be forcing range shifts due to the changes in the location of thermal niches (Edwards and Richardson, 2004; Gregory et al., 2009), altering food web dynamics (Hays et al., 2005) and producing a northerly shift of marine megafauna species (Hemery et al., 2007; Macleod, 2009). While ocean acidification could produce trophic cascades (Lassalle et al., 2012; Sydeman et al., 2012) due to changes in primary production (Duarte et al., 2013), the sea level rise could reduce breeding grounds (Croxall et al., 2012). Extreme weather events have increased in frequency and severity (Cai et al., 2014; Ummenhofer and Meehl, 2017) causing seabird mortality events due to starvation, exhaustion and drowning (i.e., cachexia) (Morley et al., 2016), lower breeding success (Zuberogoitia et al., 2016) and more cetacean stranding due to the increased incidence of rough conditions (Simmonds, 2017). This is well reflected on the quantitative assessment, where cachexia was the main cause of seabirds' admissions to WRCs, specially for the Common guillemot and the razorbill.

b) Pollution

There are still high concentrations of organic pollutants in the marine environment that can affect cetacean and seabird reproduction, immunosuppression and increase susceptibility to disease [*i.e.*, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCBs)] (Jepson et al., 2016; Romero-Romero et al., 2017). Increasing levels of chemical pollutants such as nitrogen or phosphorus derived from plant fertilizers can cause harmful and increasingly frequent phytoplankton blooms and eutrophication (Anderson et al., 2012; McCauley et al., 2015). Marine litter has become a concern with increased evidence of the impact of plastics, microplastics and abandoned fishing gears on the marine ecosystems (Gall and Thompson, 2015; OSPAR Commission, 2000). Few studies have examined to what extent seabirds and cetaceans are affected by plastic and microplastics in the BoB. Hernandez-Gonzalez et al. (2017) found microplastics in 100% of the stomachs of Short-beaked common dolphin analysed, while Franco et al. (2019) found microplastics in 12%, 18%, 27% and 33% of the stomachs of Common guillemots, northern gannets, Atlantic puffins and Black-headed gulls,

respectively. Discarded nets and lines (ghost fishing), which can continue to fish, it is becoming a growing problem as new gear materials (particularly synthetic fibers) do not decay and continue to catch non-target species (Macfadyen et al., 2009). Cetaceans are more affected (Stelfox et al., 2016), but seabirds are also impacted when scavenging in the lost gears (Żydelis et al., 2013), as is the case of the Northern gannets, for which Rodríguez et al. (2013) reported a 0.36% entanglement incidence over the Cantabrian and Galician coasts. Noise pollution is produced by vessel traffic, sonars and seismic exploitation among others (Evans, 2006) mainly affecting cetaceans by altering their acoustic communication, distributions patterns, provoking stress responses and impacting foraging behaviours by masking the sound produced by prey movement (Blair et al., 2016; Gomez et al., 2016). Light pollution, mostly affecting seabird species, can originate from both terrestrial (e.g., coastal anthropogenic transformation) or marine (e.g., vessels and offshore oil and gas platforms) sources, inducing attraction and disorientation (Rodríguez et al., 2015b, 2017, 2019) provoking strikes (Merkel and Johansen, 2011; Rodríguez et al., 2015a). Cory's and Balearic shearwaters, Atlantic puffin and Storm-petrels have been reported as the main affected species (Fontaine et al., 2011; Rodríguez et al., 2017, 2015a; Rodríguez and Rodríguez, 2009; Wilhelm et al., 2013).

Finally, the BoB is an area at high-risk of oil spills, in fact, more than 70% of the total oil consumed in the EU is transported through the English Channel (Lavín et al., 2006) with two big oil spills taking place in the BoB in recent years, the "Erika" in 1999, and the "Prestige" in 2002 (Lorance et al., 2009). Seabird populations are particularly vulnerable to oil spill events due to their distribution and foraging behaviour, as is the case of auks, which perform migrations during winter into areas where they are highly vulnerable to these events (Le Rest et al., 2016), such as the BoB. As the results of the quantitative assessment showed, the presence of crude oil represents an importante threat to the seabirds inhabiting the BoB.

c) Fishing

Overfishing, the main cause of declining fish stocks, reduces the resources available for higher-trophic level species (Blyth et al., 2004) and has been linked to declines in predator populations (Lassalle et al., 2012; McCauley et al., 2015). Bycatch can also directly affect seabird and cetacean species causing mortality (Peltier et al., 2016). Gillnets and trawls are the gears where most cetacean bycatch is reported to take place, whilst long-lines represent a bigger threat for seabirds (Bellido et al., 2011). In the BoB, the Shortbeaked common dolphin is the most reported bycatch cetacean species (Peltier et al., 2014; Spitz et al., 2013) although many of the other commonly present species are also affected (Goetz et al., 2015). In the case of seabids, there is no robust data to assess bycatch levels in the area due to low observation effort (ICES, 2017).

d) Habitat-related changes

There are many habitat-related changes taking place in the marine environment, such as habitat loss or degradation (Airoldi et al., 2008). Structurally complex habitats are becoming rarer across temperate marine environments such as the BoB (Lotze et al., 2006) due to habitat degradation (*e.g.*, developing of the coastline, dredging, vessel traffic, seismic surveys or military sonar; Butterworth, 2017) which leads to a biodiversity loss by deacreasing abundances and species richness (Airoldi et al., 2008). Likewise, although there are still unknown consequences of biodiversity loss (Worm et al., 2006), it may lead to a decrease in the foraging success of seabirds and cetaceans by modifying their intra and interspecific interactions difficulting their foraging success (*e.g.*, cetaceans are important for foraging seabirds since they use the presence of hunting individuals to detect prey patches; Henkel, 2009; Veit and Harrison, 2017).

Habitat-related changes may also be associated with the rapid growth of the worlds' population. In many areas, as well as in the BoB, overpopulation has resulted in the development and urbanization of beaches and shores for recreational uses. This has produced an impact upon several cetacean species such as Bottlenose and Short-beaked common dolphins and Harbour porpoises (Gibson, 2005) as well as coastal seabird species such as Yellow-legged and Mediterranean gulls, Great cormorant or European shag (Croxall et al., 2012).

e) Others

Other threats posing a risk to marine megafauna in the BoB are related with the rising demand for tourist activities at sea (*e.g.*, whale- and bird-watching) that can disturb and change the behaviour of cetacean and seabird species with associated temporal or permanent habitat exclusion (Avila et al., 2018). Furthermore, the requirements caused by the growing human population have increased shipping, boosting the likelihood of collisions (particularly affecting baleen whales and large odontocetes such as sperm and Fin whales; ICES, 2015). Shipping is also the cause of a growing threat, the introduction of non-native species through their transport in the ballast waters which can in turn transmit new pathogens to the indigenous species of the BoB (Butrón et al., 2011).

5. Conclusions

The marine megafauna of the BoB faces several threats with species scoring differently under different threats depending on their biology and habitat use. The information collected and summarised in the present chapter can help identify conservation priorities (combination of threats and species requiting the most urgent management measures), work needed in the context of MSFD and other relevant legislation. Our complementary assessment is of special relevance for threatened species inhabiting the BoB for which there are many conservation actions underway or proposed, both in Europe and in the BoB, such as the identification of Important Bird Areas (IBAs; BirdLife International) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs; EU Natura 2000 network), particularly in offshore regions. However, additional management measures are needed and these should include a decrease in the use of artificial lighting, the management of coastal and inland development surrounding important seabird breeding areas, development of rapid and trans-boundary response plans to oil spills, establishment of observer programmes on gillnet fisheries and improvement of the current observer programs in other fisheries to assess bycatch, assessment of resources overexploitation and establishment of long-term research programs to assess population trends regarding climate change and severe weather events (ICES, 2016; IUCN, 2018; Rodríguez et al., 2019). The creation of a coordinated networks between the administration and WRCs to forecast the massive arrival of individuals to the coasts should also be considered.



Understanding the 3D environment of pelagic seabirds from multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys to advance ecosystem-based monitoring

ABSTRACT

Marine predators move through the seascape searching for foraging resources. Prey configuration and oceanographic processes could therefore shape their 3-dimensional (3D) oceanographic habitats. Taking advantage of multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys targeting biomass estimation of pelagic fishes (*i.e.*, JUVENA surveys), observations of 2 highly migratory pelagic seabirds were collected during line-transects: Sooty shearwaters (SOSHs) Ardenna grisea and Great shearwater (GRSHs) A. gravis. Every autumn these species visit the pelagic ecosystem of the BoB. We developed generalised additive models to disentangle the effects of the 3D ocean environment and preyscapes at different depth ranges, in addition to static variables, on driving the spatial abundance of these predators. The species differed in their vertical habitat use, with SOSHs and GRSHs influenced by habitat conditions above the depth of the maximum temperature gradient and at the surface, respectively. SOSHs were more abundant in deeper shelf areas with localised hotspots associated with upwelling and river discharges. In contrast, GRSHs were more abundant in shallow slope areas in the outer BoB sectors, followed by less dense areas with intermediate levels of juvenile anchovy biomass. Therefore, both species integrate marine resources at different vertical and spatial dimensions, influenced by topographic features, oceanographic conditions and preyscapes. Relative abundance estimations provided mean values of 3203 SOSHs (95% CI: 1753–5748) and 12 380 GRSHs (95% CI: 5797–28152) in the BoB during their annual migration; these numbers varied slightly inter-annually. This study provides an example of the combination of multiple pelagic components as a means to provide an integral assessment to advance ecosystem-based monitoring.

Published as:

Louzao, M., García-Barón, I., Rubio, A., Martínez, U., Vázquez, J., Murcia, J., Nogueira, E., Boyra, G., 2019. Understanding the 3D environment of pelagic seabirds from multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys, to advance ecosystem-based monitoring. Marine Ecology Progress Series 617–618, 199–219.

1. Introduction

Marine predators move through the seascape searching for prey that vary spatially across different water masses/regions and vertically through the water column. During migration, predators make stopovers in certain marine regions to refill their energetic reserves in order to complete their annual migratory journey (Stenhouse et al., 2012). These marine regions are frequently characterized by productive waters, where the vertical and horizontal distribution of prey resources is governed by diverse oceanographic processes, and which can be visited recurrently year after year (Block et al., 2011; Louzao et al., 2015; Nur et al., 2011). Therefore, prey configuration and oceanographic processes may shape the 3-dimensional (3D) oceanographic habitats of highly migratory predators, which can be very predictable (Block et al., 2011). The effect of fisheries on the availability of prey for top predators is a long-standing issue (Bertrand et al., 2012; Cury et al., 2011; Sydeman et al., 2017) and critical foraging grounds should be identified to advance their conservation and management to potentially secure prey availability in these areas (Boyd et al., 2015). When critical areas of highly migratory predators are persistent over time the implementation of spatially explicit conservation initiatives is more feasible (Lascelles et al., 2014).

The BoB represents an important non-breeding foraging ground for numerous predators during certain periods of the year (Doherty et al., 2017; Fossette et al., 2010; García-Barón et al., 2019a; Lambert et al., 2017a; Lezama-Ochoa et al., 2010; Pérez-Roda et al., 2016). The seabird population of the BoB is highly diverse due to the visits of different trans-equatorial migrating species (Louzao et al., 2015; Stenhouse et al., 2012). Moreover, the BoB represents both a major flyway for north European breeding seabirds during migration periods and an important wintering ground (Arcos et al., 2009; Fort et al., 2012; Pettex et al., 2017). In this biogeographic area, there is evidence that the spatiotemporal distribution of some fish predators (e.g., Albacore tuna Thunnus alalunga) is driven by early stages (corresponding to young-of-the-year) of the European anchovy Engraulis encrasicolus (Lezama-Ochoa et al., 2010). However, there is no evidence whether other pelagic predators, such as seabirds, exploit similar foraging resources and, therefore, whether their oceanographic habitats could be shaped by early stages (juveniles) of different fish species. The importance of early stages of fish as prey for seabirds has been largely evidenced in other geographic areas such as the North Sea (Daunt et al., 2008), the Barents Sea (Barrett, 2002) and the Bering Sea (Hatch and Sanger, 1992), among others. In the BoB, few studies have related the distribution and abundance of marine predators to that of their prey (but see Certain et al., 2011), given the difficulty in obtaining simultaneous data on both prey and predator distributions. In addition, the relatively low number of seabird breeding colonies in the BoB hinders the study of their foraging ecology.

Annual multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys directed to assessing the stock of commercial pelagic resources provide an ideal platform to simultaneously monitor annual changes of different components of the pelagic ecosystem (Authier et al., 2018; Certain et al., 2011; Irigoien et al., 2009; Santos et al., 2013). In the BoB, the JUVENA oceanographic survey is conducted every year in late summer and has collected concurrent information on pelagic fishes since 2003 (Boyra et al., 2013) and on plankton and marine megafauna observations since 2012 (García-Barón et al., 2019a). These surveys provide information on inter-annual variation in the patterns of spatial distribution and biomass of small pelagic fish (Boyra et al., 2013) as indicators of food availability for pelagic predators (Lezama-Ochoa et al., 2010). Surveys specifically dedicated to the estimation of predator abundance need to cover large areas within the distribution range of predators (*e.g.*, Hammond et al., 2013; Pettex et al., 2017), so are rarely run on an annual basis. In contrast, annual monitoring surveys cover smaller areas (*e.g.*, regions), but at higher frequency. Therefore, large spatial coverage surveys conducted at a lower frequency and regional coverage surveys conducted every approaches (Saavedra et al., 2018).

One of the main advantages of multidisciplinary surveys is the possibility of considering the joint effect of the 3D preyscapes and ocean dynamic environments on driving abundance patterns of highly migratory seabirds. Prey availability depends on abundance, predictability, degree of aggregation, accessibility and depth range (Boyd et al., 2015; Regular et al., 2013; Thaxter et al., 2013). For air-breathing predators such as seabirds, prey availability at shallow depths is particularly important in identifying important foraging grounds (Boyd et al., 2015), since seabirds might be limited by their maximum diving depth. Most studies assessing their oceanographic habitats have been based on surface oceanographic conditions and integrating the vertical range of prey (Boyd et al., 2015), but sub-surface oceanographic processes can be crucial in understanding seabird distribution patterns (Scott et al., 2010). Defining biologically meaningful depth ranges (*e.g.,* considering prey accessibility) to describe 3D preyscape and oceanography can be a critical step in understanding seabird abundance patterns (Cox et al., 2013; Thackeray et al., 2010).

Two highly migratory seabird species, the Sooty shearwater (SOSH) Ardenna grisea and the Great shearwater (GRSH) A. gravis, visit the BoB during the autumn during their annual migratory journey. Both species reproduce on remote islands of the South Atlantic

Ocean and migrate to the North Atlantic Ocean during the non-breeding period. Millions of individuals visit the productive North-western Atlantic waters from June to August (Hedd et al., 2012). Afterwards, they cross to the eastern North Atlantic following prevailing wind patterns at middle latitudes (Hedd et al., 2012). Breeding individuals will continue their migratory journey to their breeding quarters, but many non-breeding individuals will arrive at the BoB between August and October (Hobbs et al., 2003). Their stopover in the BoB depends on climate variability at long timescales (*i.e.*, North Atlantic Oscillation), adjusted by optimal flying conditions and foraging grounds during migration (Louzao et al., 2015). Both species shape their arrival at the BoB by periods of potential minimum flying costs (Louzao et al., 2015). There is a lack of knowledge of pelagic seabird movements and the oceanographic processes driving their abundance at potentially important stopovers such as the BoB. Within this context, we aimed at understanding the pelagic seabird 3D environment from multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys. Specifically, our objectives were to assess the importance of (1) prey fields (preyscapes) and (2) mesoscale oceanographic features in driving SOSH and GRSH abundance patterns, with the ultimate aim of (3) obtaining spatial abundance predictions of these highly pelagic predator species in the BoB. We developed generalized additive models (GAMs) to disentangle the effect of the 3D preyscape, 3D ocean dynamic environment, 2-dimensional (2D) oceanographic predictors and static variables on driving the spatial abundance patterns of these highly migratory predators. We validated the development of 3D predictors that integrate the outputs of ecosystem-based surveys by identifying the biologically meaningful depth ranges linked to the ecology of the predators.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Multidisciplinary surveys

JUVENA surveys cover the shelf-slope areas of the BoB every September (Figure 2.1). The sampling strategy is designed to monitor European anchovy and other small pelagic fish over both Spanish and French continental shelf and slope waters (Boyra et al., 2013). The semi-adaptive sampling scheme is based on across-shelf transect lines from the coast (20 m bottom depth) to beyond the shelf-break. Transects are parallel, regularly spaced and perpendicular to the coast with an inter-transect distance of 15 nautical miles (nmi) (Boyra et al., 2013). The offshore and along-coast extension of transects are conditioned by the distribution of the European anchovy positive area encountered. Two vessels (R/V 'Ramón Margalef' and R/V 'Emma Bardán', hereafter R/V RM and R/V EB, respectively) are used simultaneously to cover the extensive area potentially occupied by the European anchovy.



Figure 2.1. Sooty shearwater (SOSH) and Great shearwater (GRSH) observations during the JUVENA surveys. Circle sizes are proportional to the group size. Survey effort is represented separately for the 2 oceanographic research vessels (EB: 'Emma Bardán'; RM: 'Ramón Margalef'). Isobaths of 200 m (i.e., representing the shelf-break), 1000 m and 2000 m are indicated. Geographical references mentioned in the text are shown.

a) Seabird observations

Line-transect surveys were conducted every September between 2013 and 2016 by a team of 3 experienced observers (2 at a time), who were placed at a height of 7.5 m on board R/V RM. At the beginning of each observation period, observers recorded the meteorological and sea-state conditions that could affect sightings (*i.e.*, wind speed and direction, Beaufort sea-state [a categorical scale that relates wind speed to observed conditions at sea], swell height, glare intensity and visibility). The port observer scanned the water to the front of the boat covering the area from 270-10° on the port side and the starboard observer from 350-90° on the starboard side. In this way, the transect line was well covered while the vessel was navigating at a constant heading and speed during daytime. Observations were performed with the naked eye, while the identification of species and the number of individuals was aided by 10×42 Swarovski binoculars. For each observation, the radial distance to bird clusters (individual birds or groups of birds of the same species; Ronconi and Burger, 2009) and the angle of the cluster sighting with respect to the track-line at first detection were estimated. Distance was recorded using a stick based on the Heinemann (1981) method and the angle based on an angle meter. Additional data collected from each sighting included species, group size (*i.e.*, number of birds), movement direction, behaviour, etc. Observation effort was located geographically based on the vessel GPS, which logged geographic coordinates every 1 minute.

b) 3D preyscapes

Pelagic fish represent 37 and 46% of the average diet of SOSHs and GRSHs during the non-breeding season, respectively (Ronconi et al., 2010a) (Table B-1.1 in Appendix B). Therefore, we obtained 3D spatial biomass patterns of juvenile and adult European anchovy (hereafter as ANEJ and ANEA, respectively) and European pilchard (hereafter as PIL) from both R/V RM and R/V EB, based on trawl-acoustic methodology (Simmonds and MacLennan, 2005). Data on similar prey species have been used to model shearwater abundance in other temperate latitudes (Phillips et al., 2017). The acoustic equipment included Simrad EK60 splitbeam echosounders (Kongsberg Simrad) of 38, 120 and 200 kHz (Boyra et al., 2013). Catches from the fishing hauls and echo-trace characteristics were used to identify fish species and to determine the population size structure. The location of the trawls was selected based on the aggregation structure of the echograms: each time the fish aggregations changed, the acoustic sampling and observations were interrupted to make a trawl. Afterwards, echograms were examined visually with the aid of the species composition of the catch.

For estimation of spatial abundance patterns, the 38 kHz acoustic data were processed by layer echo integration with the Movies+software (Ifremer), using an elementary sampling distance unit of 0.1 nmi. Echoes were thresholded to -60 dB and integrated into appropriate depth layers (of ~10-50 m depth; and of ~50 m below that depth). More details related to pelagic prey abundance estimation is given in Boyra et al. (2013).

Depths down to 200 m were sampled in 2013 and 2014, and down to 300 m in 2015 and 2016, and the different depth intervals were integrated. The 200 m range limit is typical of small pelagic acoustic surveys and is assumed to contain 100% of the European anchovy and European pilchard biomass (*e.g.*, Boyra et al., 2016, 2013; Massé, 1996; Petitgas et al., 2006). Thus, the increase of depth limit to 300 m after 2015 (changed to include information of some mesopelagic species not considered in this chapter) should not have introduced any bias for the prey species considered here. Original biomass values (in tonnes) per 0.1 nmi were laid over a standard grid in the study area (latitudinal range: $43.2-47.7^{\circ}$ N; longitudinal range: $1.3-7.7^{\circ}$ W) consisting of a regular grid with a cell size of $0.1 \times 0.1^{\circ}$ (see Figure 2.2). Original biomasses corresponding to each cell were totalled. A combination of universal kriging and an automatic variogram fitting procedure was applied to obtain small pelagic fish biomass estimations based on the '*automap*' package in R (Hiemstra et al., 2009).

c) 3D oceanographic seascapes

Here, we focused on mesoscale oceanography (referring to physical processes of spatial scales between ~10 and ~100 km and timescales from several days up to 1 month) since these are the scales that can be solved using physical data gathered during the JUVENA surveys. We used 2D and 3D descriptors to characterise the oceanographic habitat of seabirds (Table 2.1). The 3D oceanographic predictors were temperature (TEM; °C), salinity (SAL; psu) and geostrophic velocity (GEO; m s⁻¹), whereas the 2D oceanographic predictors corresponded to depth of maximum temperature gradient (DTG; m), maximum temperature gradient (MTG; °C m⁻¹) and sea surface temperature gradient (SSTG).

CTD casts (using a SBE25 and a SBE911 on the R/V EB and RM, respectively) were used to obtain vertical depth profiles of TEM and SAL at selected stations along transects. Based on these vertical profiles, density values (or specific volume) were obtained and integrated over depth to obtain the dynamic height (DYN). Based on Rubio et al. (2009), DYN was computed relative to the next vertical level and not to a common reference level. Once DYN was interpolated over the study area, GEO values were obtained (further methodological details below).

To characterise water column stability, we estimated DTG, computed by adjusting the vertical profiles of TEM to a logistic function (following methodology used in Caballero et al., 2016). The inflexion point of the logistic function (determined using the maximum of its first derivative) marks out the mean depth of the most intense gradient within the thermocline. MTG was obtained using linear differences in the points adjacent to the DTG, which is an indicator of the strength of the water column stratification.

To obtain horizontal fields of TEM, SAL, DYN, DTG and MTG, we used the optimal statistical interpolation (OSI) scheme described in Gomis et al. (2001) in a regular 33×54 grid, covering all the study area with regular node distances of $0.15 \times 0.15^{\circ}$ (further methodological details in Appendix B – Section 2).

From DYN interpolated fields, GEO was obtained by the first derivative between adjacent grid nodes. To obtain 3D matrix fields, horizontal analyses were performed independently at 5 dbar intervals (except for DTG and MTG, which are 2D fields) from 10 to 200 m (below this level, the information available was poor and did not allow obtaining consistent horizontal fields). The horizontal interpolated fields of all the variables were finally re-sampled with the '*raster*' R-package (Hijmans and van Etten, 2014) to match the standard grid.

Furthermore, we considered an additional variable to describe horizontal TEM changes as a coarse indicator of the presence of oceanographic fronts (Table 2.1). The shallowest TEM interpolated field was used to derive the spatial gradient of sea surface temperature (SSTG) by means of a spatial moving window within an area of 3×3 cells (0.3 $\times 0.3^{\circ}$). This 2D predictor has previously been identified as an important variable to explain seabird distribution patterns (Louzao et al., 2009). More details about the computation of spatial gradients appear in the following section.

d) Static variables

Four different static variables were obtained to define seabird oceanographic habitats: bathymetry (BAT; m) and its spatial gradient (BATG; dimensionless), distance to the coastline (DCO; km) and distance to the shelf-break (DSB; km) (Table 2.1 and Figure B-3.1). Bathymetry was obtained from the topographic data ETOPO1 at 0.016° after removing the land topographic data (Amante and Eakins, 2009). The coastline was obtained from the Coastline Extractor hosted by the NOAA/National Geophysical Data Center

(www.ngdc.noaa.gov/mgg_shorelines/) Static variables were obtained at the spatial scale of the standard grid. Original bathymetric data were overlaid over the standard grid; those values occurring in the same cell size were averaged. Then, a spatial moving window was used to estimate the spatial differences in bathymetric values (*i.e.*, bathymetric spatial gradient [SG]) within an area of 3×3 cells ($0.3 \times 0.3^\circ$) as follows:

$$SG = \frac{\text{maximum value-minimum value}}{\text{maximum value}} \times 100$$

This dimensionless metric expresses the magnitude of change in bathymetric values, scaled to the maximum value (Louzao et al., 2006). An increased variation in the depth in offshore waters (higher bathymetric gradients in slope areas; Figure B-3.1b) can be considered a proxy of the areas where internal waves generate (Scott et al., 2010). In addition to a steep sea-floor slope, strong barotropic tidal forcing and strong stratification gradients are needed for enhanced internal tide formation. In the BoB, maximum internal tide ranges are located over the Armorican slope, where the barotropic tidal forcing is very energetic (Le Cann, 1990; Pairaud et al., 2010; Serpette and Mazé, 1989).

The distances between the centre of each cell and both DCO and DSB (*i.e.*, defined by the isobath of 200 m depth) were estimated based on the '*fields*' R-package (Nychka et al., 2017).

Predictor	Acronym	Dimensions	Source
Prey environment			
Biomass of juveniles of European anchovy (tonnes)	ANEJ	3D	Acoustic and pelagic trawls
Biomass of adults of European anchovy (tonnes)	ANEA	3D	Acoustic and pelagic trawls
Biomass of European pilchard (tonnes)	PIL	3D	Acoustic and pelagic trawls
Ocean dynamic environment			
Salinity (psu)	SAL	3D	CTD casts
Temperature (°C)	TEM	3D	CTD casts
Geostrophic velocity (m s ⁻¹)	GEO	3D	CTD casts
Depth of maximum temperature gradient (m)	DTG	2D	CTD casts
Maximum temperature gradient (°C m ⁻¹)	MTG	2D	CTD casts
Sea surface temperature gradient	SSTG	2D	Derived from TEM ₁₀
Static variables			
Bathymetry (m)	BAT	2D	ETOPO 1
Bathymetric spatial gradient	BATG	2D	Derived from ETOPO 1
Distance to shelf-break (km)	DSB	2D	Derived from Coastline Extractor
Distance to coast (km)	DCO	2D	Derived from Coastline Extractor

Table 2.1. Predictors obtained from annual JUVENA oceanographic surveys and additional static variables. Sea surface temperature gradient is derived from interpolated temperature fields at 10 m depth (i.e., temperature at the shallowest depth; TEM₁₀).
2.2. Characterising the vertical domain

To consider the 3D pelagic environment, we adapted the collected biological and physical information to 3 different depth criteria: (1) surface conditions and integrated conditions limited by (2) the diving capability of the deep diver SOSH and (3) the accessibility of pelagic prey. In the first case, the depth range was set by the shallowest depth layer available in the data set considered, which matches with the diving capabilities of the GRSH (maximum diving depth of 18.9 m; Ronconi et al., 2010b). In the second, the depth limit was set at 70 m given the maximum diving depth of the SOSH (Shaffer et al., 2009), which has been similarly applied in previous work (Phillips et al., 2017). In the third case, the vertical depth was limited by DTG, as the main potential prey (ANEJ) are commonly found above the thermocline (above 50 m depth) (Boyra et al., 2016, 2013). In this way, we summarised oceanographic and prey scape data considering the vertical structure of the water column.

To accommodate ecological predictors of the different vertical criteria, preyscapes were represented by the shallowest biomass between 5 and 15 m depth (indicated by ANEJ₁₀, ANEA₁₀ and PIL₁₀), the sum of biomass from 5 to 70 m depth (indicated by ANEJ₇₀, ANEA₇₀ and PIL₇₀) or the sum of biomass from the surface up to the DTG estimated for each cell and year (indicated by ANEJ_{DTG}, ANEA_{DTG} and PIL_{DTG}). Similarly, oceanographic conditions were described by the shallowest depth (10 m; indicated by SAL₁₀, TEM₁₀ and GEO₁₀) and integrated values conditioned by the 2 depth limits: the median value of SAL, TEM and GEO from the surface to 70 m depth (indicated by SAL₇₀, TEM₇₀ and GEO₇₀,) or the DTG limit (indicated by SAL_{DTG}, TEM_{DTG} and GEO_{DTG}). The 2D oceanographic variables (SSTG, DTG and MTG) and static variables were not modified by any vertical criteria.

To characterise the vertical domain, we explored the relationship between surface environmental conditions (both preyscape and oceanography) and integrated conditions above the DTG and down to 70 m depth. We calculated the non-parametric Spearman rank correlation coefficient between pairwise predictors.

2.3. Seabird detection functions

We applied multiple covariate distance sampling (Marques and Buckland, 2004) to consider the effects of different observational (environmental) conditions affecting seabird detection probability. We developed detection functions based on both SOSH and GRSH sightings for the period 2013 to 2016 in good environmental conditions (*i.e.*, Beaufort sea-state \leq 5, wave height \leq 2 m and overall medium and good conditions; García-Barón et al., 2019). Truncation distances for SOSHs and GRSHs were set to 400 and 600 m, respectively, to eliminate outliers and improve model fitting (Buckland et al., 2001). The elimination of the 5 to 10% of the most distant observations is a common procedure during the exploratory phase (Buckland et al., 1993). For each species, hazard-rate and half-normal models were fitted to perpendicular distances (Laura Mannocci et al., 2014). We assessed the effect of different environmental conditions that could affect the detection probability (group size as a continuous variable, and year, Beaufort sea-state, wave height and cloud cover as factor variables; García-Barón et al., 2019). We selected the detection function that provided the lowest Akaike information criterion (AIC) value, informed by the p-value of the Cramér von Mises goodness-of-fit test (García-Barón et al., 2019a). Then, the effective strip half-width (ESW) was calculated as the perpendicular distance in which the missing detections at lower distances were equal to the recorded detections at greater distances. ESW was used to estimate the effective sampled area ($L \times 2 \times ESW$, where L is the length of the segment in km and ESW is in m). These analyses were conducted with the '*distance*' R-package (Miller, 2017).

2.4. Spatial abundance models

We developed seabird spatial abundance models to explore the effects of the 3D preyscapes (ANEJ, ANEA and PIL), the 3D (SAL, TEM and GEO) and 2D (DTG, MTG and SSTG) ocean dynamic environment and different static environmental variables (BAT, BATG, DSB and DCO) (Table 2.1).

a) Data processing

Before model development, each period of observation was divided into 10 km length segments of the same observation conditions (Lambert et al., 2017a). The geographic position of the centroid of the segment was used to extract both dynamic preyscape and oceanographic conditions, as well as static variables.

b) General modelling framework

We used GAMs developed within the information theoretic approach using the '*mgcv*' R-package (Wood, 2011). The response variable (no. of seabirds-segment⁻¹) was fitted following a negative binomial distribution (the over-dispersion parameter close to 1). The effective sampled area was included as an offset. The smoothing splines were limited to a maximum of 3 degrees of freedom to capture non-linear associations without increasing the complexity of the functions towards unrealistic conclusions (Pérez-Jorge et al., 2015). Seabird observations were fitted to environmental data year by year, and not by combining all years.

c) Selecting the biologically meaningful depth range

We ran different set of GAMs including only preyscapes (ANEA, ANEJ and PIL), only 3D oceanographic predictors (SAL, TEM and GEO), and both together, at different depth ranges for each species. All sets of GAMs were compared based on AIC and explained deviance (ED). When models were within 2 points of AIC (AIC < 2), they were considered statistically equivalent (Williams et al., 2002). Models were first ordered by their AIC value, and between equivalent models the best model was chosen as the one with the highest ED.

d) Identifying non-collinear variables

Explanatory variables at selected depth ranges were standardised, and highly collinear pairwise predictors were identified (Spearman rank correlation coefficient, $rS \ge 0.5$) (Louzao et al., 2011). To keep the most explicative predictors, we compared the AIC values of the GAMs run with each predictor and selected the predictor yielding a model with a lower AIC value.

e) Model-averaging approach

GAMs were developed for a maximum of 4 predictors (Lambert et al., 2017a) to avoid excessive complexity. Afterwards, models were developed for all possible combinations of predictors, and were ranked based on their AIC values and the Akaike weights using the '*MuMIn*' R-package (Barton, 2016). We obtained averaged coefficients and variance estimators from the models included in the 95% confidence set (*i.e.*, including models in which the cumulative sum of Akaike weights was \geq 0.95; Burnham and Anderson, 2002). The relative importance of predictors was measured by summing the Akaike weights for all models containing a specific predictor (Bumham and Anderson, 2002). The ED of the model with the lowest AIC value was used to assess the explanatory power (Pérez-Jorge et al., 2015).

f) Mapping predictions

We mapped the most likely abundance predictions of pelagic seabirds over the standard grid. Whereas static variables were extracted once, dynamic variables were extracted for each year (*i.e.*, every September survey). Averaged models were applied to descriptor grids to obtain spatial predictions of SOSH and GRSH densities (birds·km⁻²) every year.

Pelagic seabird abundance was calculated for each survey by summing the values resulting from multiplying the predicted density for each cell by the cell area (García-Barón et al., 2019a). Furthermore, the 95% confidence interval was calculated assuming a positively skewed distribution of the predicted density (Buckland et al., 2001). Estimated abundances were relative (*i.e.*, uncorrected) due to the absence of available data to correct for perception and availability bias for studied species or from alternative similar studies in the BoB.

3. Results

3.1. Characterization of the vertical domain

We analysed the correlation between preyscapes and oceanography between surface and depth integrated conditions. ANEJ, ANEA and PIL were highly correlated at different depths, but correlations between surface and conditions above the DTG were higher for ANEA and PIL compared to those between the surface and conditions above 70 m depth (Table B-4.1). Correlations between biomasses integrated between the surface and DTG or 70 m depth were high. Likewise, the correlation between oceanographic conditions at the surface and depth-integrated above the DTG or above 70 m depth yielded similar results (Table B-4.2). Globally, shallower oceanographic conditions were more correlated with integrated oceanographic conditions above the DTG than above 70 m depth, even if the correlation was also high for SAL and GEO. In addition, correlations between both integrated oceanographic conditions at different vertical ranges were high. Due to the high correlation between each predictor estimated at different depth ranges, overall preyscape and oceanographic conditions were further described by conditions above the DTG (see Figures 2.2 and 2.3).

3.2. 3D preyscapes

The spatial patterns of biomass of European anchovy showed a clear age-mediated spatial segregation, independent of the year. ANEJ were concentrated in the slope (both Spanish and French areas) and oceanic areas of the inner BoB, as well as over the French continental shelf (Figure 2.2a–d). ANEA occupied a narrow band over the northern coastal French area (south of Brittany), the southern extension of which varied from year to year (Figure 2.2e–h). The spatial extension of the main aggregation areas for the species and ages differed depending on the year considered. While ANEJ extended their distribution to the whole BoB in 2014 (including the oceanic area), ANEA were concentrated in specific

hotspots over the French continental shelf in 2015, coinciding with the maximum total biomass.

In the case of PIL, the main aggregation areas overlapped with ANEA along a narrow band on the French coast (Figure 2.2i–I). Biomasses of ANEA and PIL were highly correlated at all depth ranges considered (Table B-4.1).

3.3. 3D oceanographic environment

The 3D oceanographic predictors showed important inter-annual variability. SAL_{DTG} showed a positive gradient from east to west, with lower values east of $4-5^{\circ}$ W. The lowest SAL_{DTG} gradients were found in 2015, with higher values east of $4-5^{\circ}$ W compared to the remaining years (Figure 2.3a–d). TEM_{DTG} showed a positive gradient from north to south, with higher values south of 45° N, especially in the southeast corner of the BoB (Figure 2.3e–h). Colder waters were also observed near the coast along the Spanish and French shelves, indicating the occurrence of upwelling events. However, inter-annual variability was reflected in lower overall TEM_{DTG} values in 2015 compared to the remaining years (Figure 2.3e–h). In 2013 and 2016, a warm longitudinal band was identified over the Spanish slope, from $6-7^{\circ}$ W to the French coast (Figure 2.3e and h, respectively). Regarding GEO_{DTG}, density fields depicted an anticyclonic tendency (data not shown), with currents intensified over the shelf and slope (Figure 2.3i–l). Different mesoscale structures were observed in each survey and the position and sizes of the eddy-like features were highly variable. 2015 was again the year showing a singular picture, with the less intense GEO_{DTG} values (Figure 2.3k).

Regarding the 2D oceanographic variables, the DTG patterns observed were different between the analysed years (Figure 2.4a–d). The lowest values for the DTG (values over the shelf and slope between 10 and 35 m) and MTG (values over the shelf and slope around 0.28°C m–1) were observed in 2013 and 2016 (Figure 2.4e–h), suggesting the weakest stratification. DTG was significantly deeper in 2015 (values between 20 and 50 m) and MTG was stronger compared to the remaining years (values over the shelf and slope around 0.36°C m–1), although the surface heating of shelf waters at the SE of the domain was less intense (Figure 2.3g). The highest SSTG values were located in shelf-break areas, especially in the southern BoB, which were especially high in 2013 (Figure 2.4i–l).



Figure 2.2. The 3D preyscape represented by the spatial patterns of log-transformed biomass (tonnes) of (a–d) juveniles (ANEJ_{DTG}), and (e–h) adults of European anchovy (ANEA_{DTG}), as well as (i–I) European pilchard (PIL_{DTG}) summed from 5 m depth to the depth of maximum temperature gradient (DTG) during 2013–2016. White solid and dashed lines: annual effort coverage corresponding to the R/Vs 'Emma Bardán' and 'Ramón Margalef', respectively. Isobaths of 200, 1000 and 2000 m are outlined. Geographic references are indicated in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.3. The 3D oceanographic environment represented by median values of (a-d) salinity (SAL_{DTG}; values in psu), (e-h) temperature (TEM_{DTG}; values in °C) and (i-l) geostrophic velocity module (GEO_{DTG}; values in m s⁻¹) integrated between 10 m depth and the depth of maximum temperature gradient (DTG) during 2013–2016. Dots and stars: CTD casts performed by R/Vs 'Emma Bardán' and 'Ramón Margalef', respectively. Isobaths of 200, 1000 and 2000 m are outlined. Geographic references are indicated in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.4. The 2D oceanographic environment represented by (a-d) depth of maximum temperature gradient (DTG; values in m), (e-h) maximum temperature gradient (MTG; values in °C m⁻¹) and (i-l) sea surface temperature gradient (SSTG; non-dimensional) during 2013–2016. Dots and stars: CTD casts performed by *R/Vs* 'Emma Bardán' and 'Ramón Margalef', respectively. Isobaths of 200, 1000 and 2000 m are outlined. Geographic references are indicated in Figure 2.1.

3.4. Seabird sightings and detection function

We observed a total of 360 SOSHs in 206 sightings (mean \pm SD group size = 1.75 \pm 2.74), while 1708 GRSHs were observed in 615 sightings (group size = 2.77 \pm 6.52) for the period 2013 to 2016 (Figure 2.1). After selecting data collected in 'good environmental conditions', we retained 183 and 552 sightings of SOSH and GRSH, respectively. After setting the truncation distance to 400 and 600 m, sightings were reduced to 171 and 523 (truncating at 6 and 5% of observations), respectively. For SOSHs, the detection function with the lowest AIC was the half normal with no covariates and it showed a non-significant Cramér von Mises goodness-of-fit test (Table B-5.1, Figure B-5.1a,b). This detection function estimated an ESW of 195.45 m. For GRSHs, the hazard-rate detection model was selected with Beaufort sea-state as a covariate (Table B-5.2, Figure B-5.1c,d). We estimated the corresponding ESW for GRSH at Beaufort sea-state 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 as 198, 278, 245, 332, 232 and 51 m, respectively.

3.5. Biologically meaningful vertical domain

Environmental conditions above the DTG and surface conditions led to models with lower AIC values for SOSHs and GRSHs, respectively (Table 2.2). Environmental conditions characterising the depth range 10–70 m were within the models with higher AIC values. Therefore, abundance patterns of each species were better explained by integrating preyscape and oceanographic conditions at different depth ranges.

3.6. Pelagic seabird 3D oceanographic habitat and abundance predictions

Among highly correlated predictors for SOSHs (Table B-6.1), ANEA_{DTG}, SAL_{DTG}, BATG and DCO were the least explicative variables (results not shown) and they were not further considered. The 95% confidence set included 76 out of a total of 255 models. The model with the lowest AIC showed an ED of 16.7%. The main variables influencing SOSH abundance were BAT, SSTG, DTG and PIL_{DTG} (Figure 2.5a). BAT influenced SOSH abundance negatively, with a decreasing negative trend up to 3000 m depth (Figure 2.6a), followed by SSTG with an increasingly positively relationship (Figure 2.6b). SOSH abundance showed a weak quadratic relationship with DTG, with higher abundances at approximately 35 m depth over both the Spanish and French shelves (Figure 2.6c). Finally, SOSHs showed a slightly increasing relationship with increasing values of PIL_{DTG} (Figure 2.6d). Globally, SOSH abundance was higher in shallow bathymetric ranges (*i.e.*, over the continental shelf; Figure S3.1a), in areas of higher spatial gradients of sea surface temperature (*i.e.*, in the southern slope of the BoB; Figure 2.4i–I), as well as in areas

associated with medium DTG values (over shelf areas; Figure 2.4a–d) of high PIL_{DTG} biomass (French coastal areas; Figure 2.2i–I).



Figure 2.5. Predictor importance in explaining (a) Sooty and (b) Great shearwater spatial abundance patterns. See Table 2.1 for acronyms.

Table 2.2. Generalized additive model output showing the ranking of candidate models based on their Akaike's information criterion (AIC) value by species (SOSH: Sooty shearwater; GRSH: Great shearwater), variable type (preyscape, oceanography or both types) and depth range considered (DTG: depth of maximum temperature gradient). Models are first ordered by the AIC value, and among equivalent models (i.e., AIC < 2) the best model is the one with the highest explained deviance (ED). Np: number of parameters. Selected models are in bold. See Table 2.1 for acronyms.

Species	Data type	Depth range	Variables	Np	AIC	ED	ΔΑΙϹ
	Preyscape + oceanography	Above DTG	ANEJDTG + ANEJDTG + PILDTG + SALDTG + TEMDTG + GEODTG	7	1239.323	0.127	1.007
	Oceanography	Above DTG	SALdtg + TEMdtg + GEOdtg	4	1238.316	0.112	0
	Oceanography	Surface	SAL ₁₀ + TEM ₁₀ + GEO ₁₀		1243.127	0.102	4.811
	Preyscape + oceanography	Surface	ANEJ10 + ANEJ10 + PIL10 + SAL10 + TEM10 + GEO10		1246.042	0.109	7.726
SOSH	Preyscape + oceanography	10–70 m	ANEJ ₇₀ + ANEJ ₇₀ + PIL ₇₀ + SAL ₇₀ + TEM ₇₀ + GEO ₇₀		1246.303	0.118	7.987
	Oceanography	10–70 m	SAL70 + TEM70 + GEO70	4	1254.377	0.072	16.061
	Preyscape	10–70 m	ANEJ ₇₀ + ANEJ ₇₀ + PIL ₇₀	4	1258.349	0.057	20.033
	Preyscape	Above DTG	ANEJ _{DTG} + ANEJ _{DTG} + PIL _{DTG}		1261.321	0.054	23.005
	Preyscape	Surface	$ANEJ_{10} + ANEJ_{10} + PIL_{10}$		1265.063	0.044	26.747
	Preyscape + oceanography	Surface	ANEJ10 + ANEJ10 + PIL10 + SAL10 + TEM10 + GEO10	7	2154.028	0.122	0
	Oceanography	Surface	SAL ₁₀ + TEM ₁₀ + GEO ₁₀		2162.617	0.088	8.589
	Preyscape + oceanography	Above DTG	ANEJ _{DTG} + ANEJ _{DTG} + PIL _{DTG} + SAL _{DTG} + TEM _{DTG} + GEO _{DTG}	7	2164.189	0.101	10.161
	Oceanography	Above DTG	SALdtg + TEMdtg + GEOdtg	4	2166.962	0.079	12.934
GRSH	Preyscape	Surface	$ANEJ_{10} + ANEJ_{10} + PIL_{10}$	4	2189.718	0.033	35.69
	Preyscape + oceanography	10–70 m	ANEJ70 + ANEJ70 + PIL70 + SAL70 + TEM70 + GEO70		2194.988	0.037	40.96
	Preyscape	10–70 m	ANEJ ₇₀ + ANEJ ₇₀ + PIL ₇₀	4	2195.769	0.018	41.741
	Preyscape	Above DTG	ANEJ _{DTG} + ANEJ _{DTG} + PIL _{DTG}	4	2196.342	0.017	42.314
	Oceanography	10–70 m	SAL ₇₀ + TEM ₇₀ + GEO ₇₀	4	2198.689	0.013	44.661



Figure 2.6. Response plots showing the mean relationship (blue line) between the most influential environmental variables and the predicted spatial abundance of (a-d) Sooty and (e-h) Great shearwaters, considering all models within the 95% confidence set (grey shading). For acronyms see Table 2.1.

Among highly correlated predictors for GRSHs (Table B-6.2), ANEA₁₀, BAT, DCO and DSB were the least explicative variables (results not shown) and they were removed. The 95% confidence set comprised 15 models out of a total of 255. The model with the lowest AIC showed an ED of 17.8%. The main variables driving the spatial abundance patterns of GRSHs were BATG, SAL₁₀, TEM₁₀ and ANEJ10 (Figure 2.5b). Abundance of GRSHs showed a quadratic relationship with BATG, with maximum values at approximately 35% of BATG (Figure 2.6e). SAL₁₀ (ranging between 34 and 36 psu) and TEM₁₀ (ranging between 16 and 24°C) influenced GRSH abundance positively (Figure 2.6f) and negatively (Figure 2.6g), respectively. Finally, intermediate ANEJ₁₀ values were related to higher GRSH abundance (Figure 2.6h). In particular, GRSH abundance was higher at intermediate BATG values (*i.e.*, corresponding to coastal and slope areas; Figure B-3.1b), in areas of higher SAL10 values (*i.e.*, located in the southwestern shelf, slope and oceanic areas; Figure B-7.2a–d). In addition, GRSH abundance was higher in colder TEM₁₀ occurring in the northern French continental shelf (Figure B-7.2e–h) and associated with areas of intermediate ANEJ₁₀ values (Figure B-7.1a–d).

Spatial abundance predictions showed the highest densities of SOSHs over both the Spanish and French continental shelves (Figure 2.7a–d). Overall, higher densities were highlighted within specific marine areas around the main capes of the Spanish continental shelf (*i.e.*, Estaca de Bares, Cabo Peñas, Cabo Ajo and Cabo Matxitxako, from west to east) and in specific coastal areas of the French continental shelf (*e.g.*, the marine area surrounding the Belle-Îleen-Mer in south Brittany, and the area of influence of the Loire and Gironde rivers and the Arcachon Bay, from north to south). However, these areas showed high interannual variability and high-density areas were spread over both continental shelves. The lowest predicted relative densities were identified recurrently every year over the oceanic area of the BoB. Regarding GRSHs, spatial density predictions highlighted important areas in the French and Spanish continental slopes. These areas showed a high inter-annual variability over the Armorican slope (especially high in 2014 and 2016), and over the Cachucho area, an elongated near-shelf seamount (especially high in 2015). Less dense areas were located over the northern sector of the French continental shelf (Figure 2.7e–h).

Predictions of relative density and abundance estimated that SOSHs were less abundant than GRSHs, showing an annual average of 3203 (95% CI: 1753– 5748) and 12 380 (95% CI: 5797–28 152) birds, respectively (Table 2.3). Therefore, the SOSH:GRSH abundance ratio was almost 1:4. Averaged values of predicted relative densities yielded

lower estimates for SOSHs compared to GRSHs (0.09 vs. 0.38 birds km⁻²). Maximum density values were approximately 0.6 and 3.5 birds km⁻² for SOSH and GRSH, respectively (Figure 2.7).

Table 2.3. Abundance estimations of Sooty (SOSH) and Great shearwaters (GRSH) during JUVENA surveys for the 2013–2016 period. Animal density (D in ind. km^{-2}) and its coefficient of variation (CV_D), estimated abundance (N), its 95% confidence interval (95% CI_N) and its coefficient of variation (CV_N).

Species	Year	D	CV_D	Ν	95% Cl _ℕ	CV_{N}
	2013	0.09	0.3	3200	1810–5658	0.3
SOCI	2014	0.10	0.3	3250	1837–5748	0.3
303H	2015	0.09	0.3	3202	1785–5743	0.3
	2016	0.09	0.31	3162	1753–5702	0.31
	2013	0.35	0.35	11263	5797-21881	0.35
Срен	2014	0.37	0.37	12160	6043–24466	0.37
GKSH	2015	0.39	0.42	12830	5847-28152	0.42
	2016	0.41	0.36	13269	6681–26354	0.36





4. Discussion

This study illustrates the integration of predator observations, preyscapes and mesoscale oceanographic fields to assess the importance of foraging grounds for highly migratory pelagic predators. Determining migratory pathways of marine predators can have important implications for conservation strategies and climate change studies. Based on data collected during multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys, we characterised the 3D environment (preyscape plus oceanography) to explain abundance patterns of 2 highly migratory seabirds during their stage in the BoB. The JUVENA survey is featured by being a unique ecosystem-based survey that covers the oceanic area of the BoB. Based on our spatial modelling approach, we provide the first density and abundance values for SOSHs and GRSHs in the BoB.

Defining the 3D oceanographic habitats of marine species is challenging, owing to the difficulty in defining biologically meaningful spatial and vertical ranges at which they are able to integrate marine resources through the seascape. Here, we considered 3 different depth ranges, taking into account (1) surface conditions, (2) diving range (*i.e.*, down to 70 m depth; Shaffer et al., 2009) and (3) accessibility of pelagic prey (Boyra et al., 2016, 2013). Our results highlighted species-specific biologically meaningful vertical domains. Whereas environmental conditions (both oceanography and preyscape) influencing prey accessibility (above the DTG) better explained SOSH observed abundance patterns, surface environmental conditions were better predictors of GRSH abundance patterns. Thus, each pelagic seabird species exploits the vertical habitat that they are able to reach: 70 and 20 m depth for SOSH and GRSH, respectively (Ronconi et al., 2010b; Shaffer et al., 2009). This is especially important for air-breathing predators (Benoit-Bird et al., 2013), since oceanographic covariates should characterise the vertical accessibility of forage fish to seabirds (Passuni et al., 2018). Therefore, both species integrate marine resources in different ways, even if prey and oceanographic conditions were highly correlated between the surface and above both the DTG and 70 m depth.

The 3D environments of both species were primarily influenced by different static, oceanographic and preyscape predictors, shaping a major 3D segregation. Overall, SOSHs were more abundant over the Northern and Southern continental shelves of the BoB, where this species could be regularly observed. Over the Spanish shelf, dense aggregations were located in areas of high SSTG (close to the main capes), probably influenced by summer coastal upwelling (Koutsikopoulos and Le Cann, 1996). Over the French shelf, hotspots of the species were located in areas of low salinity associated with the discharge of the main

rivers. The lowest densities were identified recurrently every year over the oceanic area of the BoB. In contrast, GRSH densities were higher in slope waters of the French (Armorican slope) and Spanish (southwestern slope) sectors, followed by less dense areas over the Northern sector of the French continental shelf. Thus, this species could regularly be observed in the outer slope areas, characterized by high values of both bathymetric gradient and surface salinity. Over the Armorican slope, the generation of energetic internal waves has been reported (Le Cann, 1990; Pairaud et al., 2010; Serpette and Mazé, 1989). An increased variation in depth, which is also related to the generation of internal waves, has been linked to the higher probability of presence and abundance of 7 different species of seabirds and marine mammals in the North Sea (Scott et al., 2010). The formation of internal waves in those slope areas might promote an increase in primary production and aggregation of smaller prey items (Scott et al., 2010). Furthermore, internal waves may influence biological activity (plankton and small pelagic fish) at the sub-mesoscale level (100s of m to km), at a finer spatial scale than the JUVENA mesoscale survey (Bertrand et al., 2008; Grados et al., 2016). The effect of internal waves on mixing and the associated impact on seabirds in other areas of the BoB needs to be quantified and deserves further research.

Concerning preyscapes, abundance patterns of SOSHs and GRSHs were driven, to a certain extent, by the biomass of PIL and ANEJ, respectively. While PIL were located mainly over the French coastal area, intermediate values of ANEJ biomass were located in the southern BoB and in the central French continental shelf (Boyra et al., 2013). The vertical distribution of the biomass of ANEJ show common depth ranges around 14 m depth (Boyra et al., 2013), shallower than the common depth of the PIL (e.g., Zwolinski et al., 2007). Depth ranges for these 2 small pelagic fishes are within the maximum diving depth recorded for the deep SOSH and shallow GRSH divers (Ronconi et al., 2010b; Shaffer et al., 2009). Therefore, this is the first study showing that early life stages of a small pelagic fish can drive the distribution patterns of seabirds in the BoB. However, the most important predictors were not the preyscapes, but the oceanographic ones (Torres et al., 2008). This could be related to (1) the wide spectrum of prey eaten by both species during the nonbreeding period (krill, squid, sand lance and fishing discards) (Ronconi et al., 2010a), (2) the need to develop prey patch predictors (e.g., depth and local density of prey patches) in addition to prey biomass (Benoit-Bird et al., 2013), (3) the importance of considering the scale-dependence of predator-prey relationships (Fauchald et al., 2000; Rose and Leggett, 1990) and (4) the problem of sampling scale in relation to ecosystem-process scales.

Spatial habitat segregation could be a mechanism to avoid inter-specific competition between 2 closely related species (Brown et al., 1981) that perform long-distance transequatorial migrations between the Northern and Southern Hemispheres (Hedd et al., 2012; Huettmann and Diamond, 2000; Shaffer et al., 2006). This has been evidenced not only in the BoB (NE Atlantic), but also in their main non-breeding quarters in the NW Atlantic (Brown et al., 1981). In addition, observed spatial segregation could be partially explained by differences in forage fish depth distribution. In slope areas, where GRSHs concentrated, ANEJ are more abundant at shallower depths than in shelf areas, where they show a deeper vertical range (Boyra et al., 2016). Ultimately, both species differ in their foraging abilities, associated with bill morphology and underwater swimming adaptation (Brown et al., 1981). GRSHs might be adapted to obtain larger and tougher bodied prey such as squid (*Illex* spp.) and mackerel, whereas SOSHs feed preferentially upon euphausiids *Meganyctiphanes norvegica* and soft-bodied fish such as Herring *Clupea harengus* (Brown et al., 1981).

The present study provides the first specific abundance values for both SOSH and GRSH in the BoB during September: 3203 SOSHs (95% CI: 1753-5748) and 12 380 GRSHs (95% CI: 5797-28 152), which vary slightly inter-annually. There are no alternative specific abundance values for SOSHs and GRSHs separately, but a large-sized shearwater group (pooling SOSH, GRSH and Cory's shearwaters) showed an abundance value of 31 980 individuals (95% CI: 21 324-48 776) for summer (mid-May to mid-August) (Pettex et al., 2017). Both studies (Pettex et al., 2017 and this study) provided similar figures and orders of magnitude, but differed in multiple factors such as different platforms (aerial vs. vessel-based surveys), methodologies (strip-transect vs. line-transect), surveyed months (mid-May to mid-August vs. September) and the time period considered (2012 vs. 2013–2016). Coastal counts during migration in the southwestern sector of the study area (Estaca de Bares) yielded an estimation of 54 501 SOSHs (range: 26 652-69 096) and 5898 GRSHs (range: 560-11 867) mainly in September-October in the northwestern tip of the Iberian Peninsula (Arcos et al., 2009; Sandoval et al., 2010). However, the arrival of these species is highly variable (Arcos et al., 2009), influenced by different climatic conditions leading the species into the BoB (Louzao et al., 2015). However, Louzao et al. (2015) provided higher numbers of GRSHs compared to SOSHs based on monthly at-sea surveys in the inner BoB, and the proportion of GRSHs to SOSHs was higher in the main stopover in the NW Atlantic Ocean (Huettmann and Diamond, 2000). The ratio GRSH:SOSH of approximately 4:1 estimated in the present study falls within the observed ratio in the NW Atlantic, ranging from 3:1 to 30:1 (Huettmann and Diamond, 2000).

Understanding the abundance patterns of highly migratory species and the underlying environmental drivers will assist in advancing current efforts to identify conservation targets in the pelagic realm (Game et al., 2009). We found inter-annual variability in both shearwater species' spatial abundance patterns, driven by annual oceanography and preyscapes. In the California Current system, SOSHs show an interannual variability in distribution and aggregation patterns within the shelf-slope area (Adams et al., 2012). However, persistent shearwater hotspots can be found, influenced by mesoscale oceanographic features (e.g., river plumes, oceanographic fronts or upwelling areas), since these areas support a large biomass of small pelagic fish (Adams et al., 2012). Within the non-breeding North Atlantic distribution, SOSHs wintering on the Newfoundland continental shelf are associated with persistent small pelagic fish hotspots (Davoren, 2013). In the BoB, some of the oceanographic features influencing abundance patterns of both shearwater species are predictable (e.g., coastal upwelling, area of influence of river plumes), occurring in similar spatial locations year after year (Llope et al., 2006). In addition, concentrations of small pelagic fish occur in the same overall areas every September (Boyra et al., 2013). Therefore, shearwater foraging locations could be spatially limited to guide conservation actions in the BoB.

The main objective of the JUVENA annual surveys is the assessment of ANEJ for predicting the strength of their recruitment to the adult stock the following year in the BoB (Boyra et al., 2013). Monitoring and management progress have recently been made due to the need for holistic management. Based on requirements established by frameworks such as the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (European Commision, 2008), the JUVENA survey has widened its objectives to provide an integrative assessment of the BoB. The present study is a good example of such an effort by integrating not only other pelagic fish species but also marine megafauna monitoring and oceanographic characterisation in annual oceanographic surveys (Authier et al., 2018; Certain et al., 2011; García-Barón et al., 2019a; Saavedra et al., 2018), in order to guide ecosystem-based management and conservation efforts. The spatial coverage of the JUVENA surveys (e.g., extended to the oceanic domain) is greater than any other monitoring scheme in the BoB (ICES, 2018), but there are certain limitations caused by the use of 2 different research vessels. Predator observers are placed on only one of the vessels, and therefore a spatial modelling approach is necessary to obtain abundance estimations over the entire study area. In addition, a validation process is necessary to merge the data recorded from 2 different CTDs to obtain the oceanographic conditions of the survey. Despite these limitations, the present study illustrates the capabilities of annual oceanographic surveys in simultaneously characterising the 3D environment of different pelagic species, from plankton to marine predators (*e.g.*, Certain et al., 2011).

In the present study, we have developed a methodological approach to identify biologically appropriate oceanographic and preyscape predictors to jointly consider both the spatial and vertical dimensions of oceanographic habitats, that can be applied to any marine species. Further research is necessary to develop integrative studies to understand the foraging strategies developed by predators in relation to prey patches (Benoit-Bird et al., 2013; Boyd et al., 2015). Fine-scale dedicated surveys would help understanding fine-scale interactions of marine megafauna with bio-physical variables, such as sub-surface chlorophyll and internal waves, by repeatedly surveying specific important marine areas (Scott et al., 2013). Other technologies, such as tracking devices, provide a complementary alternative to identify important marine areas for pelagic predators by providing continuous timescale information to evaluate seasonal, non-restricted at-sea distributions (Adams et al., 2012; Hedd et al., 2012; Pérez-Roda et al., 2016). The combination of at-sea surveys and tracking technologies provides complementary perspectives of the spatial ecology of pelagic predators (*e.g.*, Louzao et al., 2009).



Essential dynamic ocean variables shape the environmental envelopes of marine megafauna diversity

ABSTRACT

Effective conservation and management measures are needed to face the unprecedent changes that marine ecosystems, and particularly marine megafauna are suffering. These measures require the identification of high-value biodiversity areas (HVBAs) which in turn require the identification of the essential ocean variables (EOVs) that shape the environmental envelope of communities (i.e., space defined by a set of environmental variables), such as those composed by seabirds and cetaceans. The aim of this study was to delineate and characterize the HVBAs for the North and North-western Spanish seabird and cetacean's community taking advantage of the sightings collected during the annual oceanographic surveys PELACUS (2007-2016). Firstly, we used distance sampling methodology to analyse the species detectability based on environmental conditions. Then, we explored the relationship between the effective strip width and biometry measurements of seabirds, finding an overall positive relationship between both parameters. Finally, to delimitate the HVBAs and find the EOVs defining the environmental envelope of the community we used a spatio-temporal modelling approach using Generalized Additive Models. Overall, the main environmental variables driving species abundance were the sea surface temperature (SST), the distance to the shelf-break and the chlorophyll-a concentration (Chl-a). The SST and Chl-a were identified as the dynamic EOVs due to their highest relative predictor importance, driving the environmental envelope and shaping areas of higher density. HVBAs were located mainly over the North-western Spanish waters and decreased towards the inner Bay of Biscay remaining spatially stable over the study period. By identifying community-level HVBAs, the underlying ecological and oceanographic processes driving the spatio-temporal patterns of biological communities, can be understood. This information would allow the establishment of baseline values to predict and detect the effect of anthropogenic or climate change threats on HVBAs. In addition, the location of HVBAs can help to fulfil the emergent need for sound spatial information to support the implementation of marine spatial planning.

Under review as:

García-Barón, I., Santos, M.B., Saavedra, C., Astarloa, A., Valeiras, J., Barcelona, S.G., Louzao, M. *Essential dynamic ocean variables shape the environmental envelopes of marine megafauna diversity.* Ecological Indicators.

1. Introduction

The accelerated loss of biodiversity that marine ecosystems are suffering is a global concern (IPBES, 2019). Human impacts such as overexploitation, pollution or coastal development (Dulvy et al., 2003; Halpern et al., 2008; IPBES, 2019) and also climate change (IPBES, 2019; Simmonds and Smith, 2009; Sydeman et al., 2012) are causing unprecedented changes at global level. In fact, only 3% of the global ocean was described as free from human pressures in 2014 (IPBES, 2019). Among marine fauna, apex predators are particularly vulnerable to human-related threats (Lascelles et al., 2014) due to their life history characteristics and position at the top of the marine food web. Furthermore, a large proportion of marine megafauna, such as seabirds and cetaceans, seem to have consistent migration pathways (Horton et al., 2017) that difficult their adaptation to bottom-up effects caused by changes in the distribution of their prey (Evans and Bjørge, 2013; Luczak et al., 2011) and to shifts in environmental conditions (Macleod, 2009; Soldatini et al., 2016). Therefore, the provision of the spatial patterns of species distribution to identify their essential habitats is a key factor for guiding conservation and management strategies of these species (Evans and Hammond, 2004; Louzao et al., 2010).

Species-specific oceanographic habitats reflect environmental envelopes (*i.e.*, space defined by a set of environmental variables) critical for the species' survival resulting from their adaptation to a highly variable system where feeding resources vary at multiple spatial and temporal scales (Lambert et al., 2018). When information on preyscapes (*i.e.*, ecological features describing spatial patterns of prey biomass; Louzao et al., 2019) of marine megafauna is not available, environmental predictors have been used as proxies of prey distribution. To do this, habitat modelling techniques can be used to identify areas of high probability of presence and/or abundance of individuals by identifying the environmental conditions driving their ecological niche (Holt, 2009; Redfern et al., 2006). Furthermore, habitat modelling techniques can serve to define the environmental conditions or essential ocean variables (EOVs) that shape the environmental envelope of marine megafauna.

Ideally, habitat modelling would be based on accurate presence data at a range of temporal and spatial scales (Redfern et al., 2006). Marine megafauna monitoring requires dedicated surveys over large areas; however, due to the logistics and costs involved, these large scale surveys have been taking place once every 10 years (Evans and Hammond, 2004), leading to few studies showing the consistency of high-value biodiversity areas (HVBAs) over time (*e.g.*, Kuletz et al., 2015; McClellan et al., 2014). The information

provided by annual surveys is essential to address habitat preferences over time and can complement the less frequent European dedicated at-sea surveys which are not carried out yearly (SCANS surveys, Hammond et al., 2017; SAMM surveys, Laran et al., 2017).

Since 2007, the PELACUS annual oceanographic survey, which is carried out every spring by the Spanish Institute of Oceanography (IEO) covering the North and NW Spanish continental shelf, collects data on a broad community of seabirds and cetaceans which exploits the coastal and shelf waters of the BoB (Saavedra et al., 2018). For numerous seabird species, the BoB represents a key feeding area during certain periods of the year, when they undertake seasonal feeding migrations into the area (Arcos et al., 2009). In the same way, the resource availability and the combination of diverse physiographic characteristics of the environment make the BoB a suitable habitat for several species of cetaceans (Laran et al., 2017). Although several studies have described the oceanographic habitats of cetacean and seabird species along the French waters of the BoB (Authier et al., 2018; Lambert et al., 2018, 2017a; Laran et al., 2017; Pettex et al., 2017), very few studies have been carried out in the North-western (NW) and Northern Iberian shelf waters (Arcos et al., 2009; Louzao et al., 2019b), none of which has characterized the marine megafauna HVBAs.

This chapter aims to better understand the spatio-temporal trends of the marine megafauna community (*i.e.*, seabirds and cetaceans) of the southern BoB in relation to ecosystem dynamic over the last decade (2007-2016). We used a threefold approach: (i) a spatio-temporal modelling of megafauna spatial density, (ii) an identification of HVBAs and, finally, (iii) the characterization of the environmental envelope driving megafauna diversity in our study area. The workflow of the present study is described in Figure 3.1. Our results can serve as a first step to identify ecologically meaningful areas in the southern BoB at the marine megafauna community level, providing the knowledge needed to support management decisions and conservation measures in a marine spatial planning context.



Figure 3.1. Graphical representation of the methodological steps used in this study.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Oceanographic survey and data collection

Since 2007, the IEO has included a standardised observer program for marine megafauna data collection following single platform visual line-transect protocols (Buckland et al., 2001) in its multidisciplinary oceanographic acoustic surveys PELACUS. PELACUS surveys last one month and take place annually in spring (March-April). The study area encompassed the North and Northwest Spanish continental shelf waters covering an area of \approx 42800 km² (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2. Map of the study area showing a) the geographic references mentioned in the text; b) the predefined transects followed during the PELACUS oceanographic acoustic surveys (2007-2016); the sectors in which we have subdivided the study area: south Galicia (SG), north Galicia (NG), western Cantabrian Sea (WC), central Cantabrian Sea (CC) and eastern Cantabrian Sea (EC) based on Santos et al. (2013).

At-sea observations were collected during the period 2007-2012 on board the *R/V Thalassa* (TH) and from 2013-2016 on board the *R/V Miguel Oliver* (MO). The sampling protocol consisted on equidistant parallel transects perpendicular to the coastline separated by 8 nautical miles. Data on megafauna sightings were collected by a team of three trained observers working in turns of two and placed on the highest accessible point of the vessel. This height corresponded approximately to 16 m and 12 m on the TH and MO, respectively. Observers scanned a 180° sector ahead of the vessel (from 270° to 10° on the port side and from 350° to 90° on the starboard side). Observers searched with naked eves, and binoculars (10x42) were only used to aid species identification and to record the group size and/or animals' behaviour (Saavedra et al., 2018). Observers collect data along transects while the vessel is navigating at constant heading and speed (\approx 10 knots) during daytime. Navigation routes between predefined transects that follow a fixed course and constant 10 knots speed were also sampled when possible. Observation effort was georeferenced every minute with the vessel GPS. Surveyed transects were split into observation periods of identical detection conditions (legs). For each leg, observers recorded data on vessel speed, heading, Beaufort sea-state, swell height and direction, wind speed and direction, cloud coverage, visibility, sun glare on each side of the vessel (port or starboard) and an overall subjective assessment of detection conditions of the sightings (good, moderate or bad relative to the detections). For each sighting, observers recorded the time, the species, the group size, the detection distance [using a stick based on the Heinemann (1981) method] and its angle with respect to the track line (using an angle meter). Additional data recorded for each sighting included the animal heading relative to the ship, the behaviour and the presence of calves.

2.2. Species detectability based on environmental conditions and biological traits

We explored the detectability of the marine megafauna community with two different approaches based on the effect of: (1) environmental conditions by modelling the detection function obtaining the effective strip half-width (ESW), and (2) biological traits of each species by exploring the relationship between the ESW and biometry measurements.

a) Detectability based on environmental conditions

Detection functions were estimated independently for each species pooling together the sightings from ten years (2007-2016). Only sightings with wave height ≤ 2 m, Beaufort seastate ≤ 5 and overall medium and good visibility conditions were used following the García-Barón et al. (2019) approach. To avoid overestimation of the density, sightings of animals attracted to the ship or associated with human activities (*i.e.*, individuals following the R/V or scavenging on fishing discards) were systematically excluded from further analyses as Authier et al., (2018) suggested. Finally, ten seabird: Northern gannet *Morus bassanus*, Lesser black-backed *Larus fuscus*, Yellow-legged *L. michahellis and* Mediterranean gulls *lchthyaetus melanocephalus*, Great skua *Stercorarius skua*, Sandwich tern *Thalasseus*

sandvicensis, Razorbill Alca Torda, Common guillemot Uria aalge, Balearic Puffinus mauretanicus and Manx shearwaters *P. puffinus* and three cetacean species: Short-beaked common *Delphinus delphis* and Bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops truncatus* and Long-finned pilot whale *Globicephala melas* with at least 15 sightings over the study period were included in the analysis (Authier et al., 2018).

Detection functions were modelled using both Conventional and a Multiple-Covariate Distance Sampling approaches (CDS and MCDS; Buckland et al., 2001; Margues and Buckland, 2004), with the 'mrds' R-package (Laake, J. et al., 2015) including the effect of detection covariates in the case of the MCDS, in addition to distance, on the detection probability. Covariates tested with the MCDS methodology included Beaufort sea-state, glare intensity, categorized swell height, cloud coverage, visibility, overall detection condition and year. Beaufort sea-state, glare intensity, cloud coverage and visibility were included raw and as categorical covariates in the analyses (Appendix B). MCDS detection functions were fitted using forward stepwise model building based on Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) selection, as well as by inspection of Q-Q plots and Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Cramer-von Mises goodness of fit tests (Thomas et al., 2010). The initial model was fitted without any covariate (i.e., CDS). Then, univariate models were fitted with each covariate on its own (i.e., MCDS). If the addition of a covariate provided a smaller AIC score (difference > 2), models of increasing complexity were built by comparing the score obtained by the addition of each covariate to the previous best model (Mannocci et al., 2015). Then, the process was repeated with the new best model until the addition of a new covariate did not improve the AIC (Barlow et al., 2001). Final detection function selection was made on parsimony grounds (*i.e.*, similar explicative power but less parameters; Arnold, 2010) when the two best detection functions did not show a difference in AIC > 2 (*i.e.*, Δ AIC < 2). After selecting the best detection function, the ESW was calculated. In the case of the models with covariates, the ESW was calculated for each level of the covariate.

b) Detectability based on biological traits

Since the size of the species might influence the ability of observers to detect them, we assessed the potential relationships between the ESW and data on species' biometry based on linear regression models. Due to the small number of cetacean species used in this study, we selected only seabird species for this analysis, using the wingspan and bird size as explanatory variables. Size and wingspan data were obtained from "The Handbook of the Birds of the World Alive" (del Hoyo et al., 2019).

2.3. Spatio-temporal modelling of megafauna abundance

Surveyed *legs* were subdivided into segments of an average of 10 km of homogeneous conditions, so the variability in environmental characteristics was limited within segments (García-Barón et al., 2019a; Virgili et al., 2017). Density surface models were then obtained for the best quality data (*i.e.*, wave height ≤ 2 m, Beaufort sea-state < 5 and overall medium and good visibility conditions). Segments with length ≤ 5 km and segments associated with a depth > 1000 m were removed from the analysis.

Environmental covariates were selected based on biological relevance and data availability (Table C-2.1 in Appendix C). We used four physiographic predictors: logarithm of depth (logBAT), slope (SLOPE), the closest distance to the coast (DistCO) and to the shelf-break (measured as the distance to the 200 m-isobath; DistSB); and three oceanographic predictors: sea surface temperature (SST), logarithm of Chlorophyll *a* concentration (Chl-*a*) as a proxy for phytoplankton biomass and its spatial gradient (Chl-*a*_g). We estimated the Chl-*a*_g by estimating its proportional change within a surrounding 3×3 cell grid following the Louzao et al. (2009) methodology. All oceanographic predictors were calculated by averaging the values over the period surveyed each year (March-April mean value). To eliminate the effect of varying measurements scales, all variables were standardized to a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1 before fitting the model (Zuur et al., 2007). We investigated the co-linearity between predictors by calculating the pairwise Spearman correlation coefficients (r). When variables showed high correlation (above r = [0.7]) they were not used together in the same model (Dormann et al., 2013). None of the pairs of variables tested in our analysis showed high correlation.

Density surface models were fitted independently for each species by applying Generalized Additive Models (GAMs) to identify the most important environmental covariates explaining the distribution of species abundance (*i.e.*, to relate the number of individuals per segment to environmental predictors). We selected a negative binomial distribution and log-link function to account for overdispersion. We used flexible smoothing splines to model the nonlinear functional relationship between the response variable and the covariates and the logarithm of the effective sampled area as an offset. The sampled area associated to each segment was calculated as the length of the segment multiplied by twice the corresponding ESW for each species.

GAMs were implemented following the Information-Theoretic framework to evaluate the competing models by assessing their relative support based on the AIC value corrected for small sample sizes (AICc) and Akaike weight (ω_i) (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). Models were constructed with all possible combinations of covariates and ranked based on their AICc. When the ω_i of the model with lowest AICc was below 0.90, a model averaging procedure was used to account for all models and parameters uncertainty (Burnham and Anderson, 2002; Thiers et al., 2014). To obtain averaged coefficients and variance estimator, we identified the 95% confidence set of models where the cumulative sum of ω_i was ≥ 0.95 , starting with the model with the highest ω_i (Johnson and Omland, 2004). The ω_i were used for the assessment of the relative importance of predictor variables (Burnham and Anderson, 2002; Louzao et al., 2016) and the response plots of the explanatory variables were constructed based on averaged coefficient of the 95% confidence set. Finally, we calculated the spatial-density predictions for each species and year on a 0.04° x 0.04° resolution grid of covariates using the averaged model developed. This procedure provides maps of density per year for each species analysed. GAMs were conducted in R version 3.4.4 (R Core Team, 2018) using the 'mgcv' R-package (Wood, 2011) with additional functions provided by the R-package 'MuMIn' (functions dredge and model.avg; Barton, 2016). Finally, we used a relative quantitative index to validate the models based on the relationship between the number of individuals sightings by means of the encounter rate (*i.e.*, number of individuals sighted per 100 km surveyed) and the predicted density for each species.

2.4. High-value biodiversity areas

High-value biodiversity areas (HVBAs) for the studied megafauna were identified based on a biodiversity richness index (BRI) relying on the marine areas of highest predicted abundance. Areas of highest predicted abundance were calculated for each species and year following the Cañadas and Vázquez (2014) methodology also applied by García-Barón et al. (2019). Firstly, the estimated abundance per cell was calculated by multiplying the predicted density of each cell by the cell area. Then, all the cells were sorted by their estimated abundance in decreasing order classifying them by steps of 10% of the total estimated abundance in the study area. Values > 40% were selected for each species and year layer to delimitate the areas of highest predicted abundance.

In order to find the HVBAs, the number of species areas of highest predicted abundance overlapping each cell was summed up to calculate the BRI, thus we obtained the number of species for which each cell represents the highest predicted abundance area. The HVBAs were mapped separately for seabird and cetacean species and jointly to illustrate the megafauna community HVBAs. Hence, we obtained three layers per year and three layers for the whole study period (2007-2016).

2.5. Environmental envelopes driving megafauna diversity

EOVs were defined by the dynamic variables that showed the highest relative predictor importance within the megafauna community (Constable et al., 2016; Lindstrom et al., 2012). At the community level, the combination of dynamic EOVs would help define the environmental envelope (Wiens and Graham, 2005) that could help describe the characteristics of the HVBAs. However, this would suggest that the underlying oceanographic conditions should differ among geographical areas, at least in relation to the variables we have tested. Therefore, we firstly explored whether baseline oceanographic conditions differ among geographical areas. For that, we divided our study area into five geographical sectors based on Santos et al. (2013): south Galicia (SG), from Portugal to Cape Finisterre; North Galicia (NG) from Cape Fisterra to Cape Estaca de Bares; western Cantabrian Sea (WC) from Cape Estaca de Bares to Cape Peñas; central Cantabrian Sea (CC) from Cape Ajo; and eastern Cantabrian Sea (EC) from Cape Ajo to the eastern end of the study area (see Figure 3.2b).

Abundance of HVBAs were determined by calculating the percentage of cells by sector with high predicted abundance. This analysis was two-fold, by year and by species. To assess geographical patterns in quantitative HVBAs, we used two different approaches: (1) an exploration of the differences in quantitative HVBAs by sector based on dissimilarities calculated using the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity distance using the *metaMDS* function in '*vegan*' R-package (Oksanen et al., 2018) (the examination on a non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) plot of the differences between sectors was assessed using the function *envfit* ('*vegan*' R-package) with 1000 permutations), (2) an analysis of latitudinal gradients in the quantitative HVBAs by sector fitting linear models, using the slope and R².

Finally, to explore whether differences in dynamic environmental envelopes could explain the differences in megafauna richness in the study area we calculated the averaged values of the EOVs (*i.e.*, those dynamic variables that showed the highest relative predictor importance) and the BRI per year and sector. We also plotted the convex hull of the set of mean BRI values per sector. Furthermore, to describe the response of the BRI as function of dynamic environmental envelopes a GAM was fitted with the determined EOVs. Tensor product splines were used for *n*-dimensional effects, depending on the *n* variables considered as EOVs (Chen et al., 2012).

3. Results

3.1. Oceanographic survey data

A total of 20,942 km were surveyed over the ten years of data analysed in this study (2007-2016). After filtering the effort to remove those observations taken under less optimal conditions, 15,003 km remained, representing \approx 72% of the total available effort (Table 3.1). Filtered survey effort ranged from a minimum of 597 km in 2013 to a maximum of 1494 km in 2007 (annual mean ± standard deviation: 1231 ± 318 km). A total of 16,820 individuals were recorded during this period (13,730 seabirds and 3,103 cetaceans). The most often sighted seabird species were the Northern gannet followed by the Yellow-legged and the Lesser black-backed gulls and the Great skua, all of them sighted over the whole study area. The Razorbill, the Sandwich tern, the Mediterranean gull and the Balearic shearwater were sighted mainly over the western and south-western sector of the study area. The least sighted species were the Common guillemot (sighted sparsely over the study area) and the Manx shearwater for which the sightings were mainly concentrated over the western sector. The most often sighted cetacean species was the Short-beaked common and the Bottlenose dolphins followed by the Long-finned pilot whale. These three species were sighted over the whole study area, with the Short-beaked common dolphin being found specially over the western sector and the Bottlenose dolphin mainly over the eastern sector (see figures in Appendix C-Section 1).

Year	Effort (km)	Filtering visibility conditions (km)	Filtering segments < 5 km (km)	Filtering depth > 1000 m (km)	Segments
2007	1695.91	1608.62	1522.95	1494.61	150
2008	2250.15	1506.56	1429.26	1387.16	145
2009	2908.02	2665.37	1786.83	1716.17	189
2010	3286.61	1784.68	977.26	903.29	98
2011	1338.21	1198.50	1153.20	1153.20	121
2012	2063.06	1124.70	1087.53	1087.54	108
2013	1835.80	1036.57	597.93	597.94	61
2014	1836.52	1387.51	1428.43	1397.24	145
2015	1857.08	1427.00	1367.69	1367.69	141
2016	1871.11	1263.52	1217.14	1207.52	130
Total	20942.47	15003.03	12583.24	12312.36	1288

Table 3.1. Total effort, effort on good visibility conditions (Beaufort sea-state ≤ 5 , wave height $\leq 2 m$ and medium to good general conditions), effort after removing segments of length $\leq 5 km$ and effort after removing segments with a depth > 1000 m for each year of the PELACUS survey.

3.2. Species detectability

Detections functions were estimated based on the sightings that remained after filtered for weather conditions. The best model for 4 species did not included any covariate (CDS) and included at least one covariate for 9 species (MCDS). The most selected covariates in the latter models were visibility (n=4) and Beaufort sea-state (n=4) either raw or categorized. Wave height was the next most selected covariate (n=3) followed by year (n=1) and general conditions (n=1) (Table 3.2). The average ESW was 240 m (CV=0.36) for seabird species and 550 m (CV=0.34) for cetacean species (Table 3.2).

The detectability based on biological traits assessed by analysing the relationships between the ESW and the biometry of the species showed a positive correlation between the increase of the ESW and the increase of the two variables tested, wingspan (p-value = 0.03, R² = 0.45) and bird size (p-value = 0.01, R² = 0.55) (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3. Relationships between the effective strip-width (ESW) and seabird species' biometry data a) wingspan and b) bird size. The plots show the result of the linear regression models fitted for each explanatory variable. Acronyms of species are defined in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2. Results of the best fitted detection functions for each species: Sightings (number of sightings used to fit the detection function); Model (type of model used to fit the detection function, MCDS: Multiple-Covariate Distance Sampling or CDS: Conventional Distance Sampling); Key (type of detection function, hr: hazard-rate or hn: half-normal); Detection covariate (environmental covariates used to fit the detection function); w (m) (truncation distance in meters); Pa (averaged detection probability); SE Pa (standard error of the detection probability); Mean ESW (averaged effective strip half-width obtained from the detection function) and CV ESW (coefficient of variation of the ESW).

	Family	Scientific name	Code	Sightings	Model	Key	Covariate	w (m)	Ρα	SE Pa	Mean ESW (m)	CV ESW
Seabird	Sulidae	Morus bassanus	MORBAS	6440	MCDS	hr	visibility categorized general conditions	1000	0.37	0.01	380	0.21
	Laridae	Larus fuscus	LARFUS	1213	MCDS	hr	year visibility	1000	0.20	0.007	325	0.74
		Larus michahellis	LARMIC	1626	MCDS	hr	visibility	500	0.29	0.02	180	0.33
		Ichthyaetus melanocephalus	ICHMEL	45	MCDS	hn	wave height categorized	500	0.53	0.08	340	0.37
	Stercorariidae	Stercorarius skua	STESKU	334	MCDS	hr	Beaufort wave height categorized	600	0.41	0.04	275	0.19
	Sternidae	Thalasseus sandvicensis	THASAN	118	MCDS	hr	Beaufort categorized	800	0.20	0.05	200	0.34
	Alcidae	Alca torda	ALCTOR	128	CDS	hr		500	0.36	0.03	180	-
		Uria aalge	URIAAL	78	CDS	hr		300	0.35	0.09	110	-
	Procellariidae	Puffinus mauretanicus	PUFMAU	96	MCDS	hn	visibility categorized	500	0.44	0.04	230	0.18
		Puffinus	PUFPUF	66	CDS	hn		350	0.50	0.04	180	-
etacean	Delphinidae	Delphinus delphis	DELDEL	74	CDS	hr		1000	0.34	0.07	340	-
		Tursiops truncatus	TURTRU	93	MCDS	hn	Beaufort categorized wave height categorized	1300	0.40	0.07	700	0.34
Ŭ		Globicephala melas	GLOMEL	69	MCDS	hn	Beaufort categorized	1500	0.30	0.07	620	0.13

3.3. Spatio-temporal modelling of marine megafauna

After filtering the effort and excluding segments < 5 km and segments with a depth > 1000m, a total of 1288 segments were used to fit the density surface models (see Table 3.1). The number of models combined to achieve ≥ 0.95 of the cumulative sum of ω_i , starting with the model with the highest ω_{i} ranged from 4 to 78 out of a total of 98. The most important predictors (*i.e.*, environmental covariates with importance > 50% for at least 5 species) describing the spatial abundances of the species were SST (n=7), DistSB (n=5), Chl-a (n=5) and logBAT (n=5) (Figure 3.4 and C-4.1). Those predictors that appear in all the models selected for the modelled species (*i.e.*, 100% importance) were SST (n=4), DistSB (n=2), Chl-a (n=1), logBAT (n=1) and DistCO (n=2). For seabird species, the most important variables describing their spatial abundance were SST, DistSB, logBAT and Chl-a, whilst in the case of cetaceans the main variables were SST, Chl-a, SLOPE and DistSB (Figure C-4.1). The Yellow-legged gull, the Razorbill, the Manx and the Balearic shearwaters showed preference for a strictly coastal habitat whilst the Lesser black-backed gull, the Mediterranean gull and the Great skua (mainly sighted preying on discards or kleptoparasiting other seabirds) showed preference for shelf and slope areas. Other species, such as the Sandwich tern, the Common guillemot, the Northern gannet and the Short-beaked common dolphin were classified as ubiquitous as they were widely dispersed over the whole study area. The Bottlenose dolphin and the Long-finned pilot whale were associated with the slope. Overall, the result of the relative quantitative index used to validate the models showed that the encounter rate and the predicted density were positive related (Figure C-4.2).



Figure 3.4. Boxplot of the relative variable importance for each group of species. Dynamic variables (in green): sea surface temperature (SST), logarithm of Chlorophyll a concentration (Chl-a) and its spatial gradient (Chl-ag) and static variables (in grey): closest distance to the shelf-break (DistSB), closest distance to the coast (DistCO), slope (SLOPE) and logarithm of depth (logBAT).

3.4. High-value biodiversity areas

We identified the HVBAs based on the BRI calculated from the highest 40% of the species predicted abundance (Appendix C-Section 5). For cetaceans, the HVBAs (BRI = 3, *i.e.*, all the cetacean species analysed) were located over the western and NW shelf-break, Avilés and Capbreton canyons (Figure C-5.1). In the case of seabirds, the HVBAs were located over the Rías Baixas, NW coast, Ortegal headland, the Masma Gulf, El Cachucho and Landes Plateau. The seabirds' HVBA with the maximum value of BRI (BRI = 7, *i.e.*, 70% of the seabird species analysed) was located over the Rías Baixas (Figure C-5.2). For the megafauna community (cetacean and seabird species), the HVBAs with the maximum value of BRI (BRI = 8, *i.e.*, 61% of the species analysed) were located over the Rías Baixas and the western and NW shelf-break (Figure C-5.3). The HVBAs were stable over the whole time-series analysed (Figure 3.5) showing that the main habitats for cetaceans were located on the Rías Baixas, the Ártabro and Masma Gulfs (Figure 3.5b). The HVBAs of the whole community (seabirds and cetaceans) were located over the western and NW Spanish waters and the Masma Gulf (Figure 3.5c).

3.5. Environmental envelope

The assessment of the geographical patterns in quantitative HVBAs by means of a nMDS plot (Figure C-5.4) showed three well differentiated groupings: (1) the sectors located on the eastern part of the study area, EC and CC; (2) sectors WC and NG, located on the centre and the NW part of the study area; and (c) sector SG, located on the south-western part of the study area. Results of the linear models showed a negative slope for 9 of the 13 analysed species indicating that quantitative HVBAs decreased from the SG towards the EC sectors.

The spatio-temporal modelling was used to discriminate which dynamic predictors could help explain the variability in biodiversity and could be considered as EOVs. Therefore, we defined as dynamic EOVs for the megafauna community analysed the SST and the Chl*a (i.e.,* relative importance > 50% for at least 5 modelled species). Thus, plotting the mean BRI per sector and year as a function of the EOVs SST and Chl-*a* gave us an overall pattern (see Figure 6a) where higher SST and Chl-*a* corresponded to higher mean BRI. The highest values of mean BRI shaped the convex hull of the SG sector. The other four sectors (NG, WC, EC and CC) and their respective convex hulls revealed a similar pattern and were located together but separated from the SG sector. These four sectors showed less
variability in the SST and Chl-*a* values among years; thus, their convex hulls were smaller than the convex hull defined by the SG sector.

Finally, a GAM was fitted using a tensor-product smooth function of the EOVs identified, *i.e.*, SST and Chl-*a*. The BRI was used as the response variable with a Gaussian link function. The model explained 72.3% of the deviance (approximate significance of smooth terms: edf = 10.8 and p-value < 0.001; AIC 42.5 units lower than the null model). The 3D smoothers obtained (Figure 3.6b) showed that maximum BRI corresponded to higher SST and Chl-*a* values The BRI was lower at mean values of SST and Chl-*a*.



Figure 3.5. Maps showing the high-value biodiversity areas based on the mean biodiversity richness index (BRI) from the time-series 2007-2016 for a) cetaceans, b) seabirds and c) all the species together.



Figure 3.6. Environmental envelope showing: a) mean biodiversity richness index (BRI) per sector and year according to the averaged values of SST and ChI-a per sector and year and b) three-dimensional Generalized Additive Model graphic output with the BRI as a function of SST and ChI-a.

4. Discussion

We have described the spatial and temporal changes of high-value biodiversity areas for the seabird and cetacean community of the Northern and NW Iberian waters. By defining high diversity areas of marine megafauna, we have identified the EOVs shaping their environmental envelopes. This is one of the first studies that develop such an approach in this area, with other long-term studies documenting only the relative abundance of top predators (Authier et al., 2018) or describing their species-specific habitat preferences (Lambert et al., 2018).

4.1. Marine megafauna community and detectability

The Northern and NW Iberian waters are transition waters located between the boreal and subtropical environments where species of different biogeographic range converge (Andonegi et al., 2015; Valdés and Lavín, 2002). This region is a diversity hotspot area for multiple functional groups (Borja et al., 2018). In terms of the megafauna community composition, we considered the most sighted species, which included ten seabird species (ranging from the smaller Manx shearwater to the larger Northern gannet) and three cetacean species (the Short-beaked common dolphin, the Bottlenose dolphin and the Longfined pilot whale). Our spatio-temporal modelling approach applied to marine megafauna abundance was based on the distance sampling methodology that allows to quantify detectability and measure the proportion of individuals that may be missed during line transects (Buckland et al., 2001). Although distance sampling analyses assume that all animals are detected on the transect line, at their initial location and that angle and radial distance are measured without error (Buckland et al., 2015), perfect detection on the transect line is unlikely due to perception, attraction and/or availability bias (e.g., presence of animals below the surface) causing a possible measurement error of the radial distance and the angle (Authier et al., 2018). Additionally, other factors also influence animal detectability, such as the distance from the observer, the environmental conditions (e.g., glare intensity, swell height), the time of day, the year (Gottschalk and Huettmann, 2011; Ronconi and Burger, 2009), the colour or the size of the species (Tasker et al., 1984; Van Der Meer and Camphuysen, 1996), etc. Species-specific detection functions allow us to capture the influence of species-specific biological traits on detection probability (Buckland et al., 2001). Few studies have quantified the relationship between species' biometry and effective sampling area (Barbraud and Thiebot, 2009). Although our models were not corrected for the abovementioned biases (*i.e.*, perception, attraction or availability bias) due

to the absence of correction factors in the area (Certain et al., 2008; Virgili et al., 2018), our results suggest that there was an overall positive relationship between ESW and either the wingspan or the body size of the seabird species considered. Therefore, larger species such as the Northern gannet could be detected within a wider effective sampling area (and during a longer period), while smaller species such as the Manx and Balearic shearwaters, Mediterranean gulls, Razorbills and Common guillemots could only be detected within a smaller effective sampling area (and for a shorter period).

4.2. Environmental envelopes

Defining EOVs for a community implies identifying the most important overall predictors of distribution and abundance of the species that form that community. In our case, both physiographic and oceanographic descriptors were important drivers of the distribution patterns of the species considered. Specifically, the SST and the Chl-a concentration were the most important dynamic covariates, while the distance to the shelf-break was the most important physiographic descriptor. The importance of SST and Chl-a driving marine ecosystem functioning can be explained because they indicate the provision of nutrient-rich deep waters to the surface (i.e., upwelling systems), planktonic productivity and phytoplankton blooms (Bode et al., 2009; Friedland et al., 2012). Variation in the SST and the Chl-a concentration are likely associated with prey retention, highlighting dense prey patches available to predators (Yen et al., 2004). Thus, these EOVs can shape the marine ecosystem from plankton, to mid-trophic level fish, up to apex predators such as seabirds and cetaceans (Lehodey et al., 2010). The response of the organisms to these EOVs differs across trophic levels, whilst lower-trophic levels (plankton) may be directly influenced by the SST and the Chl-a concentration, mid- and upper-trophic levels (from small pelagic fishes to apex predators) may respond to changes in prey caused by changes in the EOVs. Hence, the SST and the Chl-a concentration were highlighted as EOVs in line with results from other studies which have shown their importance in driving the large-scale patterns of marine megafauna (Grémillet et al., 2008; Whitehead et al., 2008).

Overall, marine megafauna abundance was positively influenced by both dynamic variables which define the environmental envelope shaping areas of higher density. Thus, HVBAs were associated with higher values of SST and Chl-*a* concentration shaping the specific environmental envelopes for the study period. These HVBAs were mainly located in the Western and NW area (SG and NG sectors) and decreased towards the inner BoB (from SG to EC sectors). The waters of the SG sector are highly productive due to a large phytoplankton bloom that develops over the shelf between March–April, starting gradually

in coastal waters and progressively extending to the outer shelf and oceanic regions (Bode et al., 2003; Figueiras et al., 2002) caused by persistent northerly wind forcing. In addition, the strongest rivers runoffs that transport inland nutrients further offshore coincide with the onset of these northerly winds (Picado et al., 2016; Teles-Machado et al., 2016) increasing the Chl-a concentration over the area and creating a highly attractive and temporally stable oceanographic feature. Over our study period these areas showed a highly diverse marine megafauna community. Although upwelling areas are characterized by colder waters, the SST values of our study period (March-April) reached the highest values in the SG sector and decreased towards the eastern BoB (WC, CC and EC sectors). This phenomenon may be explained by the influence of the "Navidad" current, a prolongation of the poleward current, which inflows into the BoB around Cape Fisterra supplying warm waters along the NW shelf and slope. The influence of the "Navidad" current is evident until April (Pingree, 1994; Sánchez and Gil, 2000; Torres, 2003).

Secondly, HVBAs also extend into the NG sector over the shelf-break. This result is in line with previous studies which indicated that continental shelf-breaks appear to be highly productive habitats, which frequently support high densities of marine predators (Certain et al., 2008; Lambert et al., 2017a). Due to the site-specific oceanographic features over these areas, zooplankton often aggregates close to the surface making prey available to diving predators (Certain et al., 2008; Croll et al., 1998). Both, the SG and NG sectors showed higher values of biodiversity concurring with the fishing grounds of a large bottom-trawling fleet operating in the shelf and upper slopes (Valeiras, 2003). This fishing activity provides also food for many seabird species (Depestele et al., 2016; Valeiras, 2003).

4.3. Implications of the EOVs for the conservation of the HVBAs

The underlying relationship between EOVs and specific biological communities could justify the long-term monitoring of EOVs (Constable et al., 2016). Analysis of temporal and spatial variability in EOVs could help identify areas of persistent dynamic oceanographic features (Louzao et al., 2012) that create relatively stable habitat associations of upper-trophic marine predators and serve to locate HVBAs (Lambert et al., 2018). Monitoring EOVs will therefore support spatially dynamic ocean management (Hobday et al., 2014).

An additional advantage of the monitoring of EOVs would be the detection of changes resulting from specific anthropogenic pressures (Constable et al., 2016) or the forecasting of the response of the species or communities in the face of climate change. In fact, the location of the primary HVBAs matches with the area which has the highest number

of fishing vessels (≈ 4200 to date; https://www.pescadegalicia.gal/rexbuque/) and where the highest amount of their catches is landed, making the area one of the main fishing regions at European and worldwide scales (Vázquez-Rowe et al., 2011). Most of the fishing gears used in this area, such as pelagic or bottom trawl nets, gillnets or longlines, pose a risk of bycatch for large marine vertebrates, such as seabirds and cetaceans (Goetz et al., 2015; Rodríguez et al., 2013; Saavedra et al., 2018). HVBAs could help identify areas with the highest risks of interactions guiding where to concentrate management and conservation efforts especially aimed at marine megafauna.

This study provides an example of the monitoring of EOVs and the biodiversity of marine megafauna communities along with the extent of HVBAs. Studies like ours will assist scientists, managers and policy makers forecast and prepare for a possible redistribution of species due to climate change or other pressures and its ecological, social and economic consequences (Miloslavich et al., 2018). In addition, the identification of a quantitative index such as the HVBAs is crucial in order to quantify gaps in the coverage of the present protected areas network as recent works has demonstrated (García-Barón et al., 2019a; Lambert et al., 2017b). HVBAs may help to identify whether the current network of protected areas (*e.g.*, Natura 2000 network) need to be expanded, particularly in the context of climate change. These types of studies are important to fulfil the emergent need on sound spatial information to support marine spatial planning approaches and are needed to improve the management and conservation of the marine megafauna species and/or communities at their key areas (IPBES, 2019).



Modelling the spatial abundance of a migratory predator: a call for transboundary marine protected areas

Abstract

During their migration, highly mobile species cross multiple jurisdictional boundaries and multiple not-specific marine protected areas (MPAs). When identifying the critical habitats where individuals aggregate, these areas can be ideal candidates for MPAs. This study was focused on the endangered Fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus) for which there is little knowledge on its distribution and abundance in non-breeding temperate latitudes. Firstly, we modelled the relative abundance of Fin whales in the Bay of Biscay by means of generalized additive models (GAMs) using data collected on the PELACUS (2007–2008) and JUVENA (2013-2016) oceanographic surveys during late summer. Secondly, we evaluated the reliability of the predictions by distinguishing environmental extrapolations and interpolations. Finally, we identified critical areas of highest predicted abundance and we assessed whether existing MPAs comprised within the Natura 2000 network and designated for other species offer protection to Fin whales in the Bay of Biscay. Fin whales were especially abundant in deep offshore waters, mainly associated with intermediate temperature water values in the inner part of the Bay of Biscay. The years with the highest relative predicted abundances (an average of 1,500 whales) matched with years when warmer sea surface temperature extended into larger areas. In colder years, the average predicted abundance dropped to 400 whales. The main critical area for Fin whales (defined by the highest 40% of abundance) was common for both surveys, and it was located in the south-eastern part of the Bay of Biscay. Our study contributes to the identification of important concentration areas of Fin whales during late summer, based on reliable spatial predictions. The assessment of the current Natura 2000 network highlights the fact that only three MPAs marginally covered the critical area we have identified for Fin whales. We propose a transboundary potential MPA to aid the conservation of the species in the Bay of Biscay.

Published as:

García-Barón, I., Authier, M., Caballero, A., Vázquez, J.A., Santos, M.B., Louzao, M., 2019. *Modelling the spatial abundance of a migratory predator: a call for transboundary marine protected areas.* Diversity and Distributions 25, 346–360.

1. Introduction

Wide-ranging animals perform annual migratory movements in search of foraging areas to overcome energetic limitation during certain periods of the year (Edwards et al., 2015; Silva et al., 2013). Migratory species use environmental cues to locate prey fields, and interannual differences in distribution and abundance patterns are a consequence of environmental variability (Stern, 2009). The marine environment is a highly dynamic system where different oceanographic processes influence the distribution of prey and their predators (Mann and Lazier, 2013; Sims et al., 2008). Specifically, mesoscale oceanographic features such as fronts, eddies and upwelling events are important processes that can drive the foraging locations of highly migratory oceanic species (*e.g.*, Bost et al., 2009).

The management and conservation of highly migratory species faces particular challenges since animals cross multiple jurisdictional boundaries (Lascelles et al., 2014). One initial step to advance in their conservation and management would be to delineate candidate protected marine areas for highly migratory species, by identifying high abundance areas that are visited every year (Lascelles et al., 2014). Statistical tools such as habitat modelling can help identify areas with the highest presence probability or higher abundance of a species during critical periods (Maite Louzao et al., 2011; Pérez-Jorge et al., 2015). The dynamic nature of the marine environment needs to be considered when designing and implementing Marine Protected Areas (MPAs): understanding how oceanographic processes influence marine vertebrate distribution is essential for effective conservation (Hooker et al., 2011). MPAs delimited by fixed geographical boundaries might not have the capacity to cover the habitat requirements of the species (Lascelles et al., 2012), and consequently a flexible design approach adapted to overlap the life history traits of the species and the pelagic environment will require implementing dynamic MPAs (Hooker et al., 2011).

Among highly migratory species, baleen whales are of special conservation and management interest since they were commercially hunted until almost forty years ago (Stoett, 2011). For instance, Fin whale *Balaenoptera physalus* populations were reduced by 70% during the commercial whaling era (Brownell and Yablokov, 2009; Buckland et al., 1992). Since the International Whaling Commission's (IWC) moratorium on commercial whaling (Stoett, 2011), Fin whale populations have increased (Víkingsson et al., 2009). However, they remain classified as Endangered (IUCN, 2013) in need of appropriate management measures to ensure the recovery of the populations (Edwards et al., 2015).

In Europe, the Habitats Directive (HD, Council Directive 92/43/EEC) requires that each Member State set up Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) for those species listed under Annex II which for cetaceans includes only Harbour porpoise, Phoconea phocoena and the Bottlenose dolphin Tursiops truncatus. Together, these areas, will constitute a network of protected sites across the European Union (EU), called the Natura 2000 network (Trouwborst, 2011). However, the HD Annex II is insufficiently representative of marine species in need of conservation (Trouwborst and Dotinga, 2011). The Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD, 2008/56/EC), which aims at achieving and maintaining the Good Environmental Status (GES) of EU marine ecosystems by 2020, addresses some shortcomings of the HD (Trouwborst and Dotinga, 2011). MSFD requires Member States to monitor progress towards GES and set up appropriate measures to restore GES if needed. Such measures may include setting up MPAs for species not listed under the HD Annex II (Trouwborst and Dotinga, 2011), such as the Fin whale which is endangered (IUCN, 2013) worldwide and have been listed in the Annex IV of the HD as species of Community interest. Besides, Fin whales are listed in the Appendix I of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES¹), Appendix I and II of the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS²) Appendix II of the Bern Convention and they are recognized by the Ecologically or Biologically Significant Marine Areas (EBSAs³) under the criteria of threatened, endangered or declining species. Since Fin whales requires strict protection, the designation of MPAs that include appropriate management measures to minimise/eliminate the anthropogenic threats whales are facing is required although the species is not specifically listed in the Annex II of the HD.

Fin whales are widely distributed in the North Atlantic (NA), spending the summer in high-latitude feeding grounds and breeding in middle and low-latitudes during winter (Edwards et al., 2015). Their migratory patterns remain unclear and not all individuals migrate seasonally: some individuals remain in higher latitudes during colder months and in lower latitudes during warmer months (Edwards et al., 2015). Lack of detailed knowledge about their migratory patterns partly stems from most research taking place in non-breeding high latitudes areas, while temperate latitudes have been less studied (Mizroch et al., 2009). Fin whale population structure in the NA is similarly poorly known, though recent studies suggest the existence of two subpopulations (Vighi et al., 2015). Fin whales present in the BoB are part of the British Isles-Spain-Portugal subpopulation, with an estimated abundance of 17,400 individuals in Aguilar and García-Vernet, 2017. Presumably, Fin whales occupy the

BoB during the spring-autumn period, but only sparse information is available on their distribution and abundance in this temperate biogeographic area.

Given the oceanic habitat of the species, dedicated surveys are costly and logistically difficult to organise; thus, their periodicity to date has been decadal (*e.g.*, SCANS; Hammond et al., 2017 and CODA; Hammond et al., 2009). Marine mammal sightings can also be obtained from other non-dedicated monitoring schemes, such as oceanographic surveys directed at assessing the status of the stocks of commercial fish species, which cover the same geographic area every year with standardised methodology (Lambert et al., 2018; Saavedra et al., 2018). Within this framework, we took advantage of JUVENA (Boyra et al., 2013) and PELACUS (ICES, 2009) annual multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys that every September monitor the pelagic environment of the BoB.

The main objective of the present chapter was to obtain relative spatial abundance estimates of the endangered Fin whale to assess critical conservation areas in the BoB. Specifically, (1) we explored the oceanographic and physiographic features explaining the observed patterns of Fin whale abundance, (2) we obtained spatial predictions of Fin whale density, (3) we identified critical areas within the 6-years study period and (4) we assessed the relevance of the Natura 2000 network for Fin whales of both Spanish and French waters. Our spatial modelling approach relies on Generalized Additive Models to predict marine mammal spatial abundance and on Model Averaging to account for model uncertainty, a rarely used method to model marine mammal spatial abundance. In addition, we assessed the reliability of predictions by carefully distinguishing environmental extrapolations and interpolations. The present study exemplifies a methodological approach to obtain spatial abundance estimates of marine animals sampled following non-dedicated line-transect surveys and provides an assessment of the importance of existing MPAs for the protection of an endangered highly migratory predator.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Data collection

At-sea observations were collected during PELACUS and JUVENA multidisciplinary surveys that took place in the BoB yearly during late summer (September) in 2007-2008 on board *R/V Thalassa* (TH) and 2013-2016 on board *R/V Ramón Margalef* (RM), respectively (Figure 4.1). Visual line-transect protocols (Buckland et al., 2001) were followed during all surveys. For each sighting, top predator observers recorded detection distance using a stick based

on the Heinemann (1981) method and the angle based on an angle meter and measured with respect to the track line. Additional data recorded for each sighting was the time, species, group size, animal heading relative to the ship, behaviour and the presence of calves. The surveys' protocol and a schematic workflow of the entire analytical process are included in the Appendix D-Section 1 and 2, respectively.

2.2. Detection function modelling

Detection functions were estimated pooling Fin whale sightings from the six years. Only sightings with a Beaufort sea-state \leq 5, wave height \leq 2 m and overall medium and good visibility conditions were used. Perpendicular distances were truncated to exclude sightings beyond 4000 m (around 5% of the individuals detected at the longest distances; Buckland et al., 2001). We used Conventional Distance Sampling (CDS) and Multiple-Covariate Distance Sampling (MCDS; Margues and Buckland, 2004) using the 'mrds' R-package (Laake et al., 2015). Covariates tested in the MCDS analyses included group size as continuous variable and Beaufort sea-state, cloud cover, year, wave height and type of vessel as factor variables. The long period that Fin whales remain at the surface and the high visibility of their blows make them easily detectable. This fact justifies the assumption that detection on the track line is close to 100%, *i.e.*, g(0) = 1 (Hammond et al., 2017) however, we have not formally corrected for availability and perception bias and consequently the abundance estimates should be considered relative. We selected the model specification that resulted in the smallest value of the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and by comparing the p-value of the Cramér-von Mises goodness of fit test statistics (Thomas et al., 2010). Detection function selection was made on parsimony grounds (*i.e.*, similar explicative power but less parameters; Arnold, 2010) when the two best detection functions remained within a difference of AIC of 2 (Δ AIC < 2). Once the best detection function was selected, the effective strip half-width (ESW) was calculated for each level of the covariate as the perpendicular distance in which the missing detections at lower distances were equal to the recorded detections at higher distances.

2.3. Data processing

Surveyed transects were split into legs of identical detection conditions, then each leg was subdivided in 10 km-long segments, so the variability in environmental characteristics was limited within segments (Mannocci et al., 2014; Virgili et al., 2017). To fit the models on the best quality data, we kept only segments with a Beaufort sea-state \leq 5, wave height \leq 2 m and overall medium and good visibility conditions. For every segment we summed up the

group size of each Fin whale sightings (Table 4.1). The mid-point of each segment was used to assign the environmental data to the segments.



Figure 4.1. Map of the study area showing (a) geographical names and line -transect surveys (grey lines) with Fin whale sightings by size and year during (b) PELACUS and (c) JUVENA surveys.

Table 4.1. Effort, filtered effort (Beaufort sea -state \leq 5, wave height \leq 2 m and medium to good general conditions), number of sightings, number of individuals, mean group size and coefficient of variation, encounter rate, total number of segments and number of segments with sightings of Fin whales for each survey and year.

Survey	Year	Effort (km)	Filtered effort (km)	Sightings	Individuals	Mean group size (CV)	Encounter rate (ind•km ⁻¹)	Segments	Sightings' segments
PELACUS	2007	3315	2310	11	12	1.09 (27%)	0.005	206	8
	2008	2265	1560	4	6	1.50 (66%)	0.004	370	
JUVENA	2013	2166	1555	4	11	2.75 (86%)	0.007		78
	2014	2630	1845	19	25	1.32 (44%)	0.010	0/0	
	2015	2550	2261	44	59	1.34 (40%)	0.020	962	
	2016	2286	2170	55	74	1.37 (47%)	0.025		

2.4. Density surface models

Density surface models were fitted using Generalized Additive Models (GAMs) to identify the most important environmental variables explaining Fin whale abundance patterns (*i.e.*, to relate the number of Fin whales per segment to environmental covariates; Table 4.2). To account for overdispersion in the data, we selected a negative binomial distribution. The logarithm of the effective sampled area (L*2*ESW where L is the length of the segment in km) was included as an offset. To limit the scope for over-fitting the data, smoothers in the models were constrained to a maximum of 3 degrees of freedom (k=4) and a maximum number of four covariates was used (Lambert et al., 2017a). Prior to modelling, all variables were standardized to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1 due to differing ranges of variables (Zuur et al., 2007). To avoid co-linearity problems, we calculated pairwise Spearman correlation coefficients (r) between all pairs of variables and did not include variables with |r| > |0.7| (Dormann et al., 2013). We selected the 'non-correlated' predictors using the lowest Akaike Information Criteria (AIC) from univariate models of the two predictor variables. This analysis led to the removal of the closest distance to the 1000 misobath and the modulus of the geostrophic currents (w), correlated to 2000 m-isobath and Eddy Kinetic Energy (EKE), respectively (Table D5.1).

GAMs were implemented following the Information-Theoretic framework using the *dredge* command of the '*MuMln*' R-package (Barton, 2016). We then ranked the models using their AIC value corrected for small sample sizes (AICc) and we calculated the Akaike weight (ω_i) for each model (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). Incorporating all possible explanatory variables produce a large number of models: if no clear top model was identified (*i.e.*, $\omega_i > 0.90$) a model averaging procedure was used instead to account for all models and parameters uncertainty (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). Therefore, to obtain averaged coefficients and variance estimator, we used a model averaging approach from the top set of models where the cumulative sum of ω_i was ≥ 0.95 , starting with the model with the highest ω_i (Johnson and Omland, 2004). Finally, we measured the relative variable importance as the sum of the ω_i of the models in which the predictor was included (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). We used the resulting averaged model to compute the spatial predictions for each year on a $0.04^\circ \times 0.04^\circ$ resolution grid of covariates. This procedure provided maps of Fin whale density per year.

Overall Fin whale relative abundance (N) was calculated for each year by summing the values resulting of multiplying the predicted density for each cell (\hat{D}) by the cell area (A)

over the whole study area (Eq. 1). Furthermore, 95% confidence interval was calculated assuming a positively skewed distribution of \widehat{D} following the equations 2, 3 and 4.

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{N} &= \sum_{i}^{\mathsf{n}} \widehat{\mathsf{D}}_{i} \mathsf{A}_{i} \qquad (Eq. \ 1) \\ &(\widehat{\mathsf{D}}/_{\mathsf{C}} \ , \ \widehat{\mathsf{D}} \cdot \mathsf{C} \) \qquad (Eq. \ 2) \end{split}$$
 where:
$$\mathsf{C} &= \exp\left[1.96 \cdot \sqrt{\widehat{\mathsf{var}}(\log_{\mathsf{e}} \widehat{\mathsf{D}})}\right] \ (Eq. \ 3) \\ &\text{and: } \widehat{\mathsf{var}}(\log_{\mathsf{e}} \widehat{\mathsf{D}}) = \log_{\mathsf{e}}\left[1 + \frac{\widehat{\mathsf{var}}(\widehat{\mathsf{D}})}{\widehat{\mathsf{D}}^{2}}\right] \qquad (Eq. \ 4) \end{split}$$

Table 4.2. Environmental covariates used for spatial density modelling of Fin whales in the Bay of Biscay, their units, resolution and source. ETOPO1 (Amante and Eakins, 2009, https://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/) was used to compute all the physiographic variables. Aqua MODIS satellite products from the web source ERDDAP (Simons, 2016) were used to compute SST and Chl-a and their gradients. The AVISO product from Copernicus Marine Environment Monitoring Service (http://marine.copernicus.eu/) was used to compute the Geostrophic current modulus, Eddy Kinetic Energy and Sea Level Anomalies.

Туре	Environmental covariate	Units	Acronyms	Resolution	Source
	Depth	m	BAT		etopo1
Physiographic	Slope	degrees	BATg		
	Closest distance to the coast	m	DisCO		
	Closest distance to the self-break	m	DisSB	0.04°	
	Closest distance to the 1000 m-isobath	m	Dist 1		
	Closest distance to the 2000 m-isobath	m	Dist2		
	Mean SST	°C	SST	0.04°	Aqua MODIS
Oceanographic	Mean gradient SST	°C	SSTg	0.04°	Aqua MODIS
	Modulus of the Geostrophic currents	cm/s	w	0.25°	AVISO
	Eddy Kinetic Energy	cm²/s²	EKE	0.25°	AVISO
	Sea Level Anomalies	m	SLA	0.25°	AVISO
	Mean Chlorophyll a	mg/m³	Chl-a	0.04°	Aqua MODIS
	Chlorophyll a mean gradient	mg/m³	Chl-ag	0.04°	Aqua MODIS

2.5. Spatial prediction reliability

We assessed spatial prediction reliability by quantifying whether a prediction was an interor an extrapolation in environmental space, which amounts to testing whether the combination of environmental variable values associated with the prediction lies inside or outside the smallest convex hull defined by the environmental variables used when calibrating (*i.e.*, estimating) the model (Authier et al., 2017; King and Zeng, 2006). Importantly, assessing convex hulls does not require any model fitting: the definition of an environmental variables, a convex hull is the polygon with vertices at the extreme points of the data (see Appendix S6). When a prediction falls outside the convex hull, it is an extrapolation *stricto sensu*, but can be still informed by any data point lying within a given radius of the prediction here chosen as one geometric mean Gower's distance of all pairs of available data points (King and Zeng, 2007).

Since we used model averaging, extrapolation was estimated as the average frequency across models included the 95% confidence set with which each prediction was an extrapolation *stricto sensu*. For each prediction, its neighbourhood (in percentage) was estimated as the average proportion of calibration data points in environmental space lying within one geometric mean Gower's distance (Gower, 1971; King and Zeng, 2007). Reliable predictions (less model-dependent) were defined by a low percentage of extrapolation and a high percentage of neighbourhood (defined as the percentage of calibration data used to inform neighbouring cells), whilst a high percentage of extrapolation and a low percentage of neighbourhood indicate that predictions are less trustworthy. Reliability thus defined reflects how much a prediction that is informed by a lot of data than in a prediction that is not, although both may tum out to be correct if the model used for the prediction captures accurately the underlying relationships between the covariates and the response variable (whale abundance in our case). We used the R-package '*Whatlf*' (Stoll et al., 2014) to calculate the convex hull and Gower's distances.

2.6. Critical areas of Fin whales in the Bay of Biscay

Since this species requires strict protection, we assessed whether existing MPAs within the Natura 2000 network could be relevant to aid in their conservation in the BoB. MPA designation should be accompanied by the implementation of appropriate management measures that minimise/eliminate the anthropogenic threats faced by the species in the

area, but to carry out this exercise, we followed the thresholds proposed by the European Commission (Hab. 97/2 rev. 4 18/11/97): a site was considered relevant if encompasses more than 1% of the national population. Whether a national protected area network contains less than 20% of the national population (*i.e.*, individuals belonging to the focal species present within the national territory) is considered *inadequate*, whilst a network which covers more than 60% of the national population would be considered sufficient. Lastly, a network that covers between 20% and 60% of the national population is considered adequate, although they are to be subjected to further expert judgement (European Commission, 2007). Although, our study area only covers the Northern Spanish and Western French waters of the BoB, we still used the term 'national population' because it is the one used by the European Commission to apply the thresholds to assess the Natura 2000 network. Furthermore, this term does not consider the importance of biogeographical populations or conservations units as it is the case of our study area which includes the British Isles-Spain-Portugal Fin whale subpopulation (IWC, 2007). Therefore, the term 'national population' of the present study refers separately to Spanish and French sectors of the BoB.

We first identified marine areas of highest predicted abundance estimates as critical areas. Areas of highest abundances were calculated based on the averaged abundance values predicted for each survey and, therefore, different years were considered (PELACUS: 2007-2008 and JUVENA 2013-2016). For each survey, we sorted all grid cells by their decreasing estimate of mean abundance. We then transformed the numerical estimated averaged abundance in a relative index of abundance in terms of percentage by steps of 10%, ranging from the minimum value (0) to the maximum value over the study period (100%) over the whole study area (Cañadas and Vázquez, 2014). Critical areas comprising the highest abundance were defined by the highest 40% of predicted abundance. Secondly, we overlapped the average Fin whale abundance per survey with the location of existing MPAs included in both Spanish and French Special Areas of Conservation. The location of current MPAs was obtained from the World Database on Protected Areas (UNEP-WCMC and IUCN, 2017). We identified an additional Large Offshore Sector belonging to the French Economic Exclusive Zone (EEZ), which at the time of conducting this study was under designation process (Agence des Aires Marines Protégées, 2016).

3. Results

3.1. Detection function modelling

We estimated detection functions based on 137 Fin whale sightings after filtering for weather conditions. The hazard-rate function with no adjustment terms and vessel identity as covariate was selected as the best-fitting detection function (Figure D-6.1). Although this was not the model with the lowest AIC value (all the models tested are shown in Table D-6.1), it remained within a difference of AIC of 2 (Δ AIC < 2) and it was preferred on parsimony grounds. From the detection function selected, we calculated the corresponding effective strip half-widths (ESW) for Fin whales as 2050 m (CV=7%) for the RM (JUVENA) and 2680 m (CV=13%) for the TH (PELACUS).

3.2. Density surface models

After excluding segments with missing environmental predictors, a total of 1 252 segments of which 85 segments included 183 individual Fin whales were used to fit density surface models (Table 4.1). The number of models combined to achieve the 95% confidence set was 26 out of a total of 561 (Table D-7.1.). Explained deviances ranged between 32.3 and 37.4%. Effective degrees of freedom of smooth terms in the confidence set of models show that the relationship between the explanatory variables and the Fin whale density were nonlinear (estimated degrees of freedom > 1). BAT, SST, SLA and Chl-a_g were the most important variables describing the spatial abundance of Fin whales and those included in the top ranked GAM as explanatory variables (Figure 4.2a). Densities of Fin whale increased at depths (BAT) higher than 1000 m with maximum values around 2000 m depth, that is beyond the continental shelf (Figure 4.2b). The SST ranged between 16°C and 24°C, showing the highest densities around 20°C, whereas densities increased within a positive SLA range (Figure 4.2b). Chl-a_g values showed a negative effect, since Fin whale densities decreased as the Chl-a_g values increased (Figure 4.2b).

Estimated relative density predictions were higher in the south-eastern part of the BoB (SE-BoB) within the Capbreton and Cap-Ferret canyons, and off the French and Spanish continental slopes associated with deeper waters (Figure 4.3). Whilst in 2013, 2014 and 2016 the highest relative densities of Fin whales were found in the abyssal plain, in 2007, 2008 and 2015 the highest densities were concentrated in the SE-BoB. The lowest predicted relative densities were identified recurrently every year over both the French and Spanish continental shelves.

The averaged relative estimated density varied from $7 \cdot 10^{-4}$ to $4 \cdot 10^{-3}$ Fin whales km⁻², with total predicted relative abundances ranging from 291 to 1735 Fin whales. Annual density and abundance estimates are shown in Table 4.3. When the predicted high abundance habitats included the abyssal plain (2013, 2014 and 2016), relative abundance values were higher than 1200 whales (1241 - 1600). The remaining years the abundance values were much lower, ranging between 291 and 610 animals.



Figure 4.2. Main environmental variables driving Fin whale abundance patterns characterized by means of (a) relative variable importance and (b) smoothed fits of the main covariates. The x-axis shows the predictor variable values. The y-axis represents the centred smooth term contribution to the model on the scale of the linear predictor. Grey shaded area indicates approximate 95% confidence bounds. See Table 4.2 for variable description.



Figure 4.3. Fin whale spatial density predictions in the Bay of Biscay during PELACUS (2007–2008) and JUVENA (2013–2016) surveys. Geographical references are located in Figure 4.1.

Table 4.3. Abundance estimates for Fin whales in the Bay of Biscay for the 6-years study period. Averaged animal density (D, individuals·km⁻²) and its coefficient of variation (CV_D), estimated abundance (N) and its 95% Confidence Interval (95% CI_N).

Year	D	CV_D	Ν	95% Cl _N
2007	0.0007	0.89	291	65 – 1,310
2008	0.0010	0.66	387	118 – 1,267
2013	0.0030	0.63	1,241	395 – 3,901
2014	0.0045	0.54	1,735	638 - 4,718
2015	0.0010	0.61	610	201 – 1,853
2016	0.0040	0.58	1,600	551 – 4,641





3.3. Spatial predictions reliability

Environmental extrapolation and neighbourhood maps showed that across years, predictions were reliable (that it is less model-dependent) on the continental shelf, and partially covering the oceanic area. Predicted Fin whale abundances on the shelf and shelf-break areas of the BoB were informed by at least 30% of the calibration data (Figure 4.4b): these areas of high neighbourhood percentages were located mainly over Spanish and French continental shelves and extended to deeper waters in the former case.

3.4. Suitability of Marine Protected Areas in the Bay of Biscay for Fin whales

By overlapping the spatial location of existing and projected MPAs under the Natura 2000 network with the averaged abundance for each survey (Figure 4.5 and 4.6), we observed that only the French MPAs were *adequate (i.e.,* covering > 20% but less than 60% of the national population) by covering the 39.3% and 41.1% of the French population for PELACUS and JUVENA surveys. When considering only the Large off-shore sector the 25.7% and 35.1% of the French Fin whale population for PELACUS and JUVENA surveys respectively would be protected. However, the Spanish MPAs did not achieve the threshold to consider a network as *adequate* covering only the 4.8% and 3.3% of the Spanish Fin whale population (Figure 4.6).

The area comprising the highest 40% of the fin wale abundance in the study area was selected as critical area for each survey. This selection was done after exploring the highest 30% to 60%. The highest 40% was selected to incorporate most of the sightings and based on the approximate limit of the 4000 m-isobath. The critical areas had an average density of 0.006 animals/km² (CV = 0.21) and 0.010 animals/km² (CV = 0.13) for the PELACUS and JUVENA survey respectively. These critical areas (Figure 4.5) included Capbreton and Cap-Ferret canyons in both surveys. Furthermore, the critical area was smaller and located off the central Spanish continental slope for PELACUS, whereas the JUVENA critical area covered also the area off the southern French continental slope.

By delimiting the common critical area (we define critical areas as the areas of highest predicted abundance which comprise the highest 40% of the predicted abundance), for Fin whales based on the results from both surveys, we identified an important marine area for the conservation of a highly migratory predator in the BoB (Figure 4.5). This area, located in the SE-BoB, was delimited following the 1000-m isobath in the south and eastern part and until the 4000-m isobath to define the Northern boundary and represents an area of 4090 nmi². In summer, this marine area encompasses 31.4% and

20.2% of Spanish national population of Fin whales based on the PELACUS and JUVENA estimations, respectively. Regarding the French EEZ, this marine area would comprise 7% and 3.4% of the French Fin whale population estimated based on PELACUS and JUVENA surveys respectively. Regarding the whole network along with this important marine area, 36.2% and 23.5% of the Spanish Fin whale population for PELACUS and JUVENA respectively would be protected implying the Spanish network is *adequate*, whilst in the case of French population the network would cover 46.3% and 44.5% and would continue to be *adequate* (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.5. Map showing the different areas covered by the highest percentages of abundance for (a) PELACUS and (b) JUVENA critical areas (created by selecting the highest 40% of the averaged predicted abundance for each survey). Existing relevant MPAs are (A) Sistema de cañones submarinos de Avilés, (B) El Cachucho and (C) Tête de Canyon Du Cap Ferret. A projected MPA is included within the Large Sector. The dashed line shows the location of the potential MPA based on the results for this study. Geographical references are located in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.6. Proportion of the Fin whales' national predicted population (i.e., all individuals present within the national territory) for each survey (PELACUS in blue and JUVENA in grey) covered by those MPAs belonging to the Natura 2000 Network which include at least some proportion of the national populations. The Spanish network comprises El Cachucho (Cachucho) and Sistema de cañones submarinos de Avilés (Avilés C.), while the French network comprises Tête de Canyon Du Cap Ferret (C. Ferret) and a projected MPA included within the Large offshore Sector (LS). MPA-SP and MPA-FR refer to the Spanish and French proportion of the Fin whales' population included in the potential MPA. C. SP-Nw and C. FR-Nw refer to the current Natura 2000 network in Spain and France, respectively, while P. SP-Nw and P. FR-Nw refer to the current Natura 2000 network MPAs in addition with the potential MPA for Spain and France, respectively. The dashed lines set the levels of adequacy: less than 20% inadequate, between 20% and 60% adequate and more than 60% sufficient.

4. Discussion

The protection of highly migratory species faces multiple challenges due to the difficulty of data collection and the implementation of effective conservation measures, among others, mainly due to the range of pressures they encounter during their extensive movements (Lascelles et al., 2014). Despite the recovery of baleen whale populations after the IWC's moratorium on commercial whaling, Fin whales are still classified as Endangered by the IUCN (2013). The present study advances the conservation of Fin whales by providing relative abundance estimates in a temperate non-breeding area. We also assessed the adequacy of the existing and projected network of MPAs for Fin whale conservation and concluded the need to include an additional marine area to encompass the identified Fin whale critical areas in the BoB.

4.1. Spatial abundance of Fin whales in the Bay of Biscay

Within their annual migratory journey, North Atlantic Fin whales visit high-latitude areas for foraging (Edwards et al., 2015). The BoB is presumably one of the foraging grounds exploited by the British Isles-Spain-Portugal subpopulation outside polar and subpolar

feeding grounds, as it is the case of other areas (e.g., Azores; Silva et al., 2013). Here, our effective strip half-width results were consistent to those previously reported for Fin whales (Barlow and Forney, 2007; Moore and Barlow, 2011). Within the BoB, Fin whale abundance was driven by both physiography and oceanography. Depth was the most important physiographic parameter as Fin whales were found predominantly in deep off-shore waters of the BoB at depths beyond 1000 m, in accordance with previous studies (e.g., Laran et al., 2017). Additionally, SST had an important role with preferred Fin whale habitat occupying intermediate temperature waters (20 °C). Despite the inter-annual variability in SST spatial patterns, Fin whale abundance was better explained by the spatial distribution of SST values, which were intermediate and concentrated over the abyssal plain of the SE-BoB, shaping Fin whale abundance patterns. Densities increased with SLA, being highest around 15-20 cm: these values coincide with those near the core of anticyclonic eddies typical of off-shore areas of the SE-BoB during this period (e.g., Caballero et al., 2014). As has been reported by other studies, we found a negative relationship between the spatial patterns of Fin whales abundance and Chl-a_q (Cotté et al., 2009; Panigada et al., 2008). In the BoB the highest values of Chl-a were found near the coast (Figure D.4.2.f) due to the presence of local upwelling events (Koutsikopoulos and Le Cann, 1996) which explains why the highest Chl-a_a were also located in these areas (Figure D.4.2.g). This oceanographic feature would explain the negative relationship between the whale predicted densities and the Chl-a_g as the highest whale densities were found predominantly in off-shore waters where the lowest Chl-a_q values are found.

This marked Fin whale off-shore distribution and abundance may be driven by food resources. There are no studies on Fin whale diet in the inner part of the BoB, but their diet off North-western Spanish waters is constituted by krill (mainly euphausiids) and small pelagic fish (Aguilar, 2009). Fin whales are reported to rely on krill when available and to prey on small pelagic fish otherwise (Vighi et al., 2015). In the BoB, plankton blooms take place in spring and late autumn, whereas in summer and winter this area reaches minimum plankton biomass (Pingree and Garcia-Soto, 2014). In this area, higher Fin whale abundances could occur with a time lag of some months after the onset of the spring phytoplankton bloom as suggest by Visser et al. (2011). These authors found that baleen whale peak abundance in the Azores archipelago occurred three months later than the onset of the spring phytoplankton bloom. Although a study conducted during our survey period confirmed that the zooplankton detected in the area was predominantly composed by euphausiids (Lezama-Ochoa et al., 2010), the absence of high biomass of zooplankton support the hypothesis that Fin whales feed mainly on small pelagic fish during the late

summer in the BoB. In fact, from early August onwards, off-shore French waters support a high biomass of age 0 fish (*i.e.*, juveniles) of the European anchovy *Engraulis encrasicolus* (Boyra et al., 2016, 2013). This small pelagic fish could constitute the main food resource for Fin whales during this period in the BoB as has been demonstrated for other areas such as the Celtic Sea, where Fin whales feed on age 0 Sprat *Sprattus* and Herring *Clupea harengus* (Vighi et al., 2015).

Abundance predictions produced by our spatial models should be carefully considered, since they are relative abundances due to the absence of available data to correct for perception and availability bias for ship-based surveys in the BoB (Certain et al., 2008). However, the environmental extrapolation analysis showed that the main predicted areas of the highest Fin whale abundance were interpolations *stricto sensu* (inside the convex hull) and they were informed by at least (on average) 25% of the data. Relative abundance estimates for Fin whales were shaped by SST patterns during the study period. Estimates were higher (> 1,200 individuals) in those years when warmer SST extended over the oceanic areas of the BoB. On the contrary, in years when temperate SST values were restricted to the inner part of the BoB the predicted relative abundances were lower (< 600 individuals). Our abundance estimates are consistent with previous studies carried out in summer in the BoB such as CODA (Hammond et al., 2009) and SAMM (Suivi Aérien de la Megafaune Marine 2012; Laran et al., 2017), despite the different extension of the sampling areas.

4.2. Critical areas for oceanic species

Under the United Nation Convention on Biological Diversity, the EU has committed to ensure the conservation of 10% of its coastal and marine areas by 2020 following the 11th Aichi Biodiversity Target of the Convention (CBD, 2010b). Usually, marine zoning strategies are based on geographically fixed features to define the extent of the (MPAs) contours (Louzao et al., 2006). However, oceanographic habitats are highly dynamic and many pelagic species (*e.g.*, cetaceans) are highly migratory covering extensive areas annually (*e.g.*, Silva et al., 2013) with the location of their aggregations and migratory routes depending on oceanographic features. For these reasons, the efficiency of static MPAs to conserve highly mobile species are still discussed (Wilson, 2016) but the need to develop dynamic MPAs that can be adapted to deal with this variability within and between years is gaining momentum (Game et al., 2009). Despite the large-scale movements of many pelagic predators, the protection of specific zones where individuals aggregate either during breeding or foraging (Louzao et al., 2006) or during their migration routes (Víkingsson and

Heide-Jørgensen, 2015) can help their conservation if appropriate management and conservation measures are in place to ensure that the anthropogenic threats are reduced/eliminated (*i.e.*, overfishing causing food resources depletion or maritime traffic increasing the probability of collision of cetacean species; Avila et al., 2018). Detailed information on the distribution and abundance of cetaceans is paramount to assess critical areas of conservation interest. However, obtaining these data for oceanic cetaceans is a difficult task due to the costs and logistics involved in developing dedicated surveys. Additionally, platforms of opportunity such as ecosystem-based surveys usually do not cover oceanic areas (*e.g.*, Authier et al., 2018). The oceanic sampling of JUVENA and PELACUS surveys is exceptional in this respect. It is therefore important to take advantage of the non-dedicated monitoring programs already in place to conduct long-term monitoring studies of cetacean populations.

In the BoB, multiple MPAs are designated under the provision of the HD and Birds Directive (Council Directive 79/409/EEC) either in the French or Spanish EEZs. Even though the Natura 2000 network was not designated specifically for most marine mammal species (which are not listed under HD Annex II), it is well known that the implementation of ecologically and economically sustainable management practices can benefit these species if accompanied by appropriate management measures. As Lambert et al. (2017b) suggests for the French network in the case of most of the cetacean species inhabiting the BoB (Bottlenose, Short-beaked common Delphinus delphis and Striped Stenella coeruleoalba dolphins, Long-finned pilot whale Globicephala melas and Risso's dolphin Grampus griseus), the current Spanish MPA network does not reach the less stringent threshold proposed by the European Commission (2007) and is inadequate (*i.e.*, encompassing less than 20% of the national population of interest). The Large off-shore Sector (still in the process of designation) is the most important area for Fin whales due to their location in offshore waters where the predicted abundance is higher. This result was in line with Lambert et al. (2017b) who demonstrated that this area is highly relevant for cetaceans in summer. Thus, even if Fin whales and other cetacean species are not considered under the Annex II of the HD and therefore they are not candidates for SACs within the Natura 2000 network at the European level, additional legislation (e.g., CITES, CMS, EBSAs) specifically recognises the need to account for threatened species in need of management measures to recover or maintain their population. Therefore, Fin whales as an endangered species should be the focus of specific protection and management measures.

The main critical area for Fin whales was common for both surveys, located in the SE-BoB. Previous studies showed that this area is also important for other cetacean species such as Long-finned pilot whales, Risso's, Short-beaked common and Striped dolphins (Lambert et al., 2017a). Based on the critical areas defined by this study, we propose a potential MPA in the area of the Capbreton and Cap Ferret canyons and the Landes plateau. Although the French area covered by the potential MPA has a small contribution it is important to include this area inside the French EEZ to ensure that all the critical area for Fin whales are included to ensure MPAs connectivity, which improves the protection of such an important area for cetaceans in the BoB. This potential MPA would be similar in spirit to the Pelagos Sanctuary in the Mediterranean Sea (Notarbartolo-Di-Sciara et al., 2008) in that it would involve transboundary collaboration between neighbouring countries to agree on conservation measures that would benefit the marine species inhabiting this MPA.

Furthermore, as many other cetacean species, Fin whales are facing many threats which disregard for jurisdictional boundaries (di Sciara et al., 2016) such as climate change, underwater noise and other forms of pollution (*e.g.*, litter consisting of plastics or derived from fishing activities; Butterworth, 2017). Besides, it is well known that the BoB supports a significantly high level of maritime traffic and fishing activity (OSPAR, 2000) increasing the possibility of ship strikes and entanglement in fishing gears which along with the vulnerability of this species to seismic surveys (ICES, 2015) contribute to the importance of taking appropriate management measures for the protection of this species, such as the creation of transboundary MPAs (Edwards et al., 2015; Lascelles et al., 2014). Thus, this potential MPA would not only cover critical areas for Fin whales in summer, but also it could be useful for the conservation of many other cetacean species.

4.3. Futures perspectives

Not all Fin whales perform seasonal migrations (Edwards et al., 2015) and the migration routes from the summer to the wintering grounds in the NA are poorly known (Vighi et al., 2015). Likewise, it is unknown whether the BoB corresponds to a stop-over site or hosts a resident population of Fin whales. Tracking studies, such as those performed in middle latitudes of the NA (Silva et al., 2013), as well as the development of habitat and abundance models for the whole year are necessary to assess the importance of the BoB for Fin whales. For that purpose, additional dedicated surveys as well as expanding the sampling area of the existing non-dedicated surveys are necessary to monitor cetacean oceanic species in the BoB; dedicating surveys covering off-shore waters are currently only carried out every ten years (Hammond et al., 2017).

The analysis of critical areas along with the assessment of the adequacy of existent MPAs reveals that further studies are necessary to improve the management and conservation of oceanic populations at their key areas. Furthermore, as we show in the present chapter, critical areas can encompass more than one EEZ, hence transboundary collaboration and agreements between governments are necessary to implement and manage new high seas MPAs (Chin et al., 2017; Kark et al., 2015). In the case of the EU, the MSFD encourages transboundary initiatives through existing conservation instruments, such as Regional Sea Conventions; but leaves much discretion to Member States. Although it is the responsibility of individual EU Member States to develop and implement the MSFD in the waters under their jurisdiction, the success of monitoring strategies and conservation measures at broad scales will require policy coordination at a regional level to facilitate and guide the cooperation between EU Member States, a role led by OSPAR for the Northeast Atlantic through the "OSPAR Regional Implementation Framework for the MSFD".



The value of time-series for conservation planning

ABSTRACT

Protected areas (PAs) are increasingly been used worldwide for the conservation and management of wildlife. Systematic conservation planning (SCP) aims at ensuring species persistence while minimizing the threats faced by the species and the economic costs related to protection. To account for spatio-temporal interactions between species and human threats, spatial prioritization of mobile wildlife requires the long-term monitoring of both system components, a process that is costly and technically challenging. Therefore, assessments of the number of years needed to ensure a cost-effective PAs network are crucial. We demonstrated with this chapter the value of time-series in conservation planning by implementing SCP to identify priority conservation areas for highly mobile marine megafauna in relation to their main threat: fishing activity. Ten reserve-design scenarios were run in Marxan following two different approaches forcing the inclusion or not of current MPAs in the planning solutions. Then, planning scenarios were statistically compared using the Cohen's Kappa test. Furthermore, we assessed differences in spatial similarity among and within scenarios using the Wilcoxon non-parametric test and a hierarchical cluster analysis, respectively. Our study highlights the importance of time-series on species abundance and human activities for the robust selection of conservation areas. Spatially explicit conservation plans based on a period equal or greater than three years provided similar marine reserve configurations, showing analogous areas of high irreplaceability and spatial prioritization. We provided a method for calculating the minimum number of years of monitoring required to establish an effective PAs network, which we recommend for future spatial prioritizations for highly mobile species. Our results may have special relevance for the configuration of a Marine PAs network in high seas where many species of conservation interest present high mobility.

Submitted as:

García-Barón, I., Giakoumi, S, Santos, M.B., Granado, I., Louzao, M., 2019. *The value of time-series for conservation planning.* Journal of Applied Ecology.

1. Introduction

As the pressures to biodiversity increase and more species become threatened, the need for an effective management of species and habitats increases (Lascelles et al., 2014; Le Saout et al., 2013). Progress has been made in implementing policy responses and actions to conserve biodiversity, but not enough to stem the direct and indirect factors causing nature deterioration (IPBES, 2019). It is recognized that protected areas (PAs) are a cornerstone of the efforts to ameliorate the negative impacts and to effectively manage and conserve habitats and biodiversity (Chape et al., 2008; Gray et al., 2016). The Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) is committed to increase the area under protection by 2020 (Aichi Target 11; CBD, 2010) and the view for the post 2020 framework propose to protect at least 30% of the Earth by 2030 by well-connected systems of PAs and other effective area-based conservation measures (OECMs) (CBD, 2019). In the European Union (EU), the Natura 2000 network is the largest coordinated network of PAs in the world covering approximately 18% and 11% of the EU's terrestrial and marine territories (European Commission, 2019a, 2018). However, many threatened species are not effectively covered by this large network due to planning inefficiencies (*e.g.*, Giakoumi et al., 2019; Hermoso, Clavero et al., 2017).

Systematic conservation planning (SCP) has been used extensively as a robust and transparent approach for spatial planning to improve conservation benefits and outcomes (Margules and Pressey, 2000). Within this approach, species-level information could be incorporated to prioritize areas for protection that meet conservation objectives (Pressey and Bottrill, 2009), including both spatial and temporal abundance patterns of species and communities. However, the assessment of temporal patterns of biodiversity for SCP have received much less attention than spatial approaches (Magurran et al., 2010) even though the importance of long-term monitoring schemes to account for temporal changes in biodiversity (Proença et al., 2017). Time-series are particularly important since many ecological processes operate on a broad time scale, as in the case of trend detection related to climate change (Parr et al., 2002). Furthermore, time-series become essential for conservation planning in the marine environment due to the highly mobile nature of many marine species and the high dynamism of oceanographic processes (Hoyt, 2018; McClellan et al., 2014).

Although Marine PA (MPA) networks have been frequently focused on sessile and sedentary organisms and their utility for the protection of highly mobile species has been

questioned (Breen et al., 2015; Game et al., 2009), recently the designation of MPAs has been attempted also for highly mobile marine megafauna such as seabirds or cetaceans (Gormley et al., 2012; Young et al., 2015) mainly due to the availability of data from ongoing long-term monitoring programmes.

Monitoring of threats is needed to evaluate the trade-offs between human uses and protection of the ecosystems (Halpern et al., 2008; Tulloch et al., 2015). SCP must also consider the spatial and temporal distribution of threats so that possible conflicts can be minimised while conservation goals are meet (Rondinini et al., 2005). In the marine environment, fishing activity is one the main threats to marine megafauna (Clay et al., 2019; Dias et al., 2019) which requires accounting for its spatial distribution, frequency, or seasonality to include it in SCP

Data requirements on spatial prioritization will depend on features such as the reserve objectives and the scale of management as well as the availability of data. Several studies have demonstrated the implications of using data of different resolution and type (*e.g.*, Ban, 2009; Peckett et al., 2014; Stevens et al., 2007). However, there has been limited assessment of the sensitivity of conservation planning outcomes to the temporal extent considered for spatial prioritization. Thus, the aim of this chapter was to explore the value of time-series (and thus long-term monitoring) in conservation planning by exploring the temporal stability of spatial prioritization for marine megafauna (for which conservation targets were set) by assessing the number of years needed to ensure a consistently cost-effective PAs network. More specifically, we produced ten conservation plan scenarios that covered different time periods (from one up to ten years of monitoring) and examined whether there was a threshold above which the planning solutions (or conservation plans) would not change significantly. Our results can contribute toward an effective management of monitoring schemes and provide wildlife managers and stakeholders with mechanism for optimizing action plans, reducing their costs.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Protected areas and conservation features

The study area was situated in the North and North-western Spanish continental shelf and comprised a total surface of approximately 42800 km² (Figure 1). We divided the study area into a standard grid of 2770 planning units (PUs) of 4x4 km each. Currently, the study area includes 11 MPAs, ten of which belong to the Natura 2000 network and were designated under the EU Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC) and Birds Directive (79/409/EEC) (Figure 1).

The remaining MPA was designated under regional legislation as a Protected Biotype (Decree 34/2009).

We identified as conservation features, *i.e.*, species of conservation interest, ten seabird and three cetacean species whose populations are listed as protected under national and international legislation (García-Barón et al., 2019b). The seabird species included: the Yellow-legged *Larus michahellis*, the Lesser black-backed *L. fuscus* and the Mediterranean gulls *lchthyaetus melanocephalus*, the Sandwich tern *Thalasseus sandvicensis*, the Balearic *Puffinus mauretanicus* and the Manx shearwaters *P. puffinus*, the Razorbill *Alca torda*, the Common guillemot *Uria aalge*, the Great skua *Stercorarius skua* and the Northern gannet *Morus bassanus*. The cetacean species were the c *Delphinus delphis* and the Bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops truncatus*, as well as the Long-finned pilot whale *Globicephala melas*. Not all our conservation features were included as target species for the designation of the current MPAs. However, most of them are referenced in the conservation objectives and management guidelines of the MPAs benefiting from the protection provided by current MPA network (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1. Map of the North and North-western Spanish continental shelf showing the study area delimited by a red polygon and the MPAs within the study area either designated under the EU Habitats Directive (orange polygons), the Birds Directive (grey polygons) or under the regional legislation as a Protected Biotype (green polygon).

Species spatial distribution and abundance over a ten-year period (2007-2016) were obtained from the chapter 3. In this previous chapter, we estimated the yearly spatial density during spring (March-April) based on sightings data (PELACUS monitoring platform; Saavedra et al., 2018). Species data were analysed by means of Generalized Additive Models following the Information-Theoretic framework for the identification of the most important dynamic and static variables explaining the spatio-temporal patterns of the density of marine megafauna species (Chapter 3). In the present chapter, the spatial density

predictions were re-projected into the WGS84/UTM zone 30N coordinate system and resampled from their original spatial resolutions to the resolution of the PUs. Finally, the abundance value of each conservation feature per PU was obtained by multiplying the area of the PU and the predicted density of each species in each PU (Appendix E-Section 1).

We set conservation targets for the 13 conservation features based on European guidelines (as in Giakoumi et al., 2013) and considering the conservation status of the species according to the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List of Threatened Species in Europe (IUCN, 2018), as well as the level of occurrence of the species in the study area (MAGRAMA, 2012b, 2012a). Thus, the conservation targets varied between 20% for species categorized as of "least concern" and with an "abundant" level of occurrence to 60% for species categorized as "critically endangered" and with an "abundant" level of occurrence (Table 1 and E-2.1).

Table 5.1. Conservation targets set for each species. The table shows the IUCN category in Europe for each species (DD: data deficient; LC: Least concern; NT: Near threatened; VU: Vulnerable; EN: Endangered and CR: Critically Endangered), the level of occurrence in the area (MAGRAMA, 2012a, 2012b) and the final conservation target selected.

Group	Species	IUCN	Occurrence	Conservation target (%)
	Yellow-legged gull	LC	Abundant	20
	Lesser black-backed gull	LC	Abundant	20
	Mediterranean gull	LC	Common	30
	Sandwich tern	LC	Common	30
C Istala	Balearic shearwater	CR	Abundant	60
Seabiras	Manx shearwater	LC	Abundant	20
	Razorbill	NT	Common	40
	Common guillemot	NT	Common	40
	Great skua	LC	Common	30
	Northern gannet	LC	Abundant	20
	Short-beaked common dolphin	DD	Common	50
Cetaceans	Bottlenose dolphin	DD	Common	50
	Long-finned pilot whale	DD	Common	50

2.2. Threat spatio-temporal distribution

Trawl and gillnet fishing were considered the most important threats for our conservation features in the area due to bycatch (Goetz et al., 2015; Peltier et al., 2012). Due to the importance of considering such activities when planning for the conservation of seabirds and cetaceans in the area, we used Vessel Monitoring System (VMS) to obtain spatial
quantitative descriptors of the fishing pressure exerted by trawl and gillnet fisheries in the study area (as in Giakoumi et al., 2012). The VMS satellite-based positional tracking system is currently used successfully to monitor the distribution and intensity of the fishing activity providing a long time-series of data to inform the design of MPAs (Game et al., 2009). VMS data provide information on the identity, position, speed, and heading of the vessels over 12 m (European Commission, 2011) and were obtained from the *Spanish Secretary-General for Fisheries* for the period 2007-2016.

We used the spatio-temporal distribution of trawl and gillnet fishing as a proxy for the level of pressure posed by these activities on our conservation features assuming that the pressure is higher where the fishing activity is greater. Thereby, the threat level was estimated as the intensity of fishing activity (measured in hours) per PU. We processed the VMS data using the '*vmstools*' R-package (Hintzen et al., 2017). Firstly, we removed duplicated or pseudo-duplicated data (we considered pseudo-duplicated data those records for which interval time was < 5 minutes), records located on land or in ports, and records associated with high unusual speeds for fishing and non-fishing activity (*i.e.,* when the vessel speed range to discriminate between fishing and non-fishing activity (*i.e.,* when the vessel was only on route). The range set for trawlers was 2-4 knots and for gillnets 0-3 knots (Fernandes et al., 2018). All the records with speeds included within the speed ranges were considered fishing activity and were included to compute the threat layer. Finally, the fishing intensity (*i.e.,* threat level) per year was mapped by summing the fishing effort per PU of both trawling and gillnet and rescaled on a scale from 0-100 (Figure 5.2).

2.3. Conservation planning scenarios

We used Marxan software (Ball et al., 2009) to produce alternative conservation plans depending on the temporal scale (*i.e.*, number of years) considered. Marxan uses a simulated annealing algorithm to find a range of near-optimal solutions to achieve the predetermined conservation targets minimizing the cost (Possingham et al., 2000). Here, we tried to achieve the targets set for our conservation features minimizing the risk posed by fishing.

We followed two approaches to identify potential areas for conservation under ten plausible planning scenarios to investigate the value of new spatial information to meet our conservation targets: a) *Approach 1*: the selection of PUs included in the existing PAs was forced in the Marxan solutions (*i.e.*, the existing MPAs remain in the reserve network throughout the analysis and in the final solution) and b) *Approach 2*: the selection of PUs included in existing PAs is free, so these PUs may be not included, partially included or totally included in Marxan solutions.



Figure 5.2. Maps of threat level for the ten planning scenarios. The threat level was calculated by summing the fishing effort (in hours) per planning unit obtained from the analysis of the Vessel Monitoring System data of trawl and gillnet fisheries and rescaled from 0-100.

Within each approach, we run ten different scenarios integrating different amount of data from the time-series:

- Scenario2016: created using the conservation features and the threat data of the year 2016;
- Scenario2016-2015: created by calculating the mean abundance per cell of each conservation feature and the mean threat level per cell for the years 2015 and 2016;
- Scenario2016-2014: as the previous scenario but integrating information for the years 2014, 2015 and 2016;
- Scenarios 2016-2013, 2016-2012, 2016-2011, 2016-2010, 2016-2009, 2016-2008 were similarly obtained;
- Scenario2016-2007: included the whole time-series of data (from 2007 to 2016).

To evaluate the influence of the longitude of the time-series (*i.e.*, the number of years) on the conservation solutions, we kept constant the number of iterations (100 runs) and the Boundary Length Modifier (BLM) was set to zero. The BLM parameter is used to set the desired level of compactness of the MPA network. Here, we did not adjust this parameter because the aim of our study was not to produce an MPA network, but to investigate changes in conservation priorities depending on the longitude of the time series (see Mazor et al., 2014 for similar approach). Thus, we obtained a near-optimal solution, referred to as *best solution* hereafter, which is the solution with the lowest cost (Ball et al., 2009) and a summed solution, referred to as *selection frequency* hereafter, which is the number of times that a planning unit is selected as part of a near-optimal solution (with values ranging from 0 to 100) (Ball et al., 2009). The resulting spatial conservation priorities were illustrated by mapping the *best solution* and the *selection frequency* of each scenario and approach. Finally, to test the sensitivity of our results to the level of conservation targets set, we produced conservation plans where all the targets were set to 20%. In this case the selection of PUs included in the existing MPAs was free.

2.4. Comparison of planning scenarios

The planning scenarios were compared in three ways: (1) we used the Cohen's Kappa statistic (K; Fielding and Bell, 1997) to make pairwise comparisons of the best solution of each scenario; (2) we assessed differences in overlap of selection frequency between scenarios calculating the Wilcoxon non-parametric pair-difference test (Ferrari et al., 2018); and (3) we compared the spatial similarity among and within scenarios by means of an hierarchical cluster analysis using the *hclust* function using all solutions as samples (100 samples per scenario) following Harris et al., (2014) methodology. This analysis was based

on a Jaccard resemblance matrix built using the *vegdist* function (*'vegan'* R-package; Oksanen et al., 2018). To complement the hierarchical analysis, we also displayed a nonmetric multidimensional scaling plot (nMDS) of the solutions set per scenario using the *metaMDS* function (*'vegan'* R-package), based on the Jaccard resemblance matrix. For all analyses, the *Scenario2016-2007* was used as the baseline against which the alternative scenarios were compared to.

3. Results

All analyses performed showed similar results regardless of the approach used. Overall, our results showed that conservation plans based on data covering a period equal to or greater than three years provided similar spatial prioritization results. More specifically, the Cohen's Kappa pairwise comparisons between the best solution of each scenario and the *Scenario2016-2007* (which includes all the time-series data, Figure 5.3a) showed that with three years of monitoring (*i.e.*, from the *Scenario2016-2013* onwards) the best solutions had a statistically almost perfect agreement in the case of *Approach 1* (K > 0.8; p-value < 2.2e-16), whilst the *Approach 2* showed an almost perfect agreement on best solutions after including at least four years of monitoring.

The Wilcoxon-test between the selection frequency of each scenario and the *Scenario2016-2007* (Figure 5.3b) found no significant differences from the scenario with three or more years of monitoring in both approaches (*Approach 1:* W-range = 3802643-3849175, p-value-range = 0.53-1; *Approach 1:* W-range = 3804757-3836450, p-value-range = 0.55-1; Table S3.1).

The hierarchical cluster analysis of the full set of solutions per scenario showed three major splits both in the *Approach 1* or *2* (Figure 5.4a and Figure 5.4c, respectively). The first cluster was composed by *Scenario2016* and *Scenario2016-2015* which were the most dissimilar compared to the remaining scenarios. Furthermore, note that in the *Approach 2*, all the solutions of the abovementioned scenarios were identical as the nMDS plot, where a unique point can be distinguished within each scenario (Figure 5.4d). The second cluster was composed by *Scenario2016-2014*, *Scenario2016-2013* and *Scenario2016-2012* and the third cluster included *Scenario2016-2011*, *Scenario2016-2010*, *Scenario2016-2009*, *Scenario2016-2008*, and *Scenario2016-2007*. The nMSD plot of the *Approach 1* (Figure 4b) showed a clear grouping of all the scenarios but the *Scenario2016* and *Scenario2016-2016*, a pattern less clear in the case of the *Approach 2* (Figure 4d). Both nMDS plots showed how similarity increases as more years are added to the scenarios. Similar results

were obtained when we lowered the targets for all conservation features to 20% (Appendix E-Section 4).



Figure 5.3. (a) Pairwise comparison of planning scenarios using the Cohen's Kappa statistics (K) for the Marxan best solution of each scenario and approach. For each comparison it is represented the value of K with their confidence interval. Colours highlighting the judgement for K about the extent of agreement in a < 0 - 1 scale (from red to green; Landis and Koch, 1977); (b) Wilcoxon rank sum tests to assess differences in percentage of overlap of selection frequency of each scenario and approach. Dotted line shows the limit of significance for the test (p-value = 0.05) and * indicate p-value < 2.2e-16; Both analyses were based on the Scenario 2016-2007.

For both approaches, similar areas of high irreplaceability (*i.e.*, high percentage of selection frequency) become apparent as the number of years included in each scenario increased (Figure 5.5). The same applies to the resulting conservation priorities areas that showed similar best solutions as the years of monitoring included in the scenario increased (Figure 5.6). Furthermore, the spatial prioritization identified as best solutions met all the conservation targets of all the conservation features considered.



Figure 5.4. Relationships among solutions of the ten scenarios of the Approach 1 (top panels) and Approach 2 (bottom panels). Left panels (a-c) show the dendrograms from a complete hierarchical cluster analysis and right panels (b-d) the nMDS plots based on a Jaccard resemblance matrix.

The hierarchical cluster analysis of the full set of solutions per scenario showed three major splits both in the *Approach 1* or *2* (Figure 5.4a and Figure 5.4c, respectively). The first cluster was composed by *Scenario2016* and *Scenario2016-2015* which were the most dissimilar compared to the remaining scenarios. Furthermore, note that in the *Approach 2*, all the solutions of the abovementioned scenarios were identical as the nMDS plot, where a unique point can be distinguished within each scenario (Figure 5.4d). The second cluster was composed by *Scenario2016-2014*, *Scenario2016-2013* and *Scenario2016-2012* and the third cluster included *Scenario2016-2017*, *Scenario2016-2010*, *Scenario2016-2009*, *Scenario2016-2008*, and *Scenario2016-2007*. The nMSD plot of the *Approach 1* (Figure 4b) showed a clear grouping of all the scenarios but the *Scenario2016* and *Scenario2016*.

2015, a pattern less clear in the case of the *Approach 2* (Figure 4d). Both nMDS plots showed how similarity increases as more years are added to the scenarios. Similar results were obtained when we lowered the targets for all conservation features to 20% (Appendix E-Section 4).

For both approaches, similar areas of high irreplaceability (*i.e.*, high percentage of selection frequency) become apparent as the number of years included in each scenario increased (Figure 5.5). The same applies to the resulting conservation priorities areas that showed similar best solutions as the years of monitoring included in the scenario increased (Figure 5.6). Furthermore, the spatial prioritization identified as best solutions met all the conservation targets of all the conservation features considered.

4. Discussion

This study highlights the value of time-series in the spatial planning of PA networks for highly mobile species reducing the risk of exposure to threats. We present a method to assess the minimum temporal monitoring (*i.e.*, number of years) required for the spatial planning of a consistent network of PAs. Our results showed that after the incorporation of a minimum of three years, within either of the two different approaches applied, the selection of PUs was robust enough for the planning of an MPA network. We obtained similar results using different statistical analyses demonstrating the robustness of our results. Besides, setting all conservation targets to 20% and obtaining similar results proved that changes in conservation targets had minor influence in the results being the temporal coverage of the monitoring included in the scenarios the driver of the spatial prioritization result.

The method we are presenting, that allows the determination of the required temporal coverage for the spatial planning of a consistent network of MPAs, can be developed into a useful tool for conservation management, usually hampered by limited resources (Palareti et al., 2016). Managers must decide between further investment in surveys to improve spatial prioritization versus investment in the maintenance and management of planned areas which have been selected based on the best data available. Determining the temporal coverage of monitoring influencing on the prioritization outcomes will ensure an informed investment in spatial conservation planning. Our results show that relying on a few years entails the risk of determining priority conservation areas that are too restricted or inappropriate for the conservation of the species. In our example, this was the case for planning scenarios that integrated only one or two years of marine megafauna sightings. Once three or more years of monitoring were added, the resulting spatial planning



Selection Frequency (%) 🗌 0 📕 1 - 12 📕 13 - 25 📕 26 - 38 📕 39 - 50 📕 51 - 62 📕 63 - 75 📕 76 - 98 📙 99 - 100

Figure 5.5. Maps of the ten planning scenarios showing the selection frequency of the planning units (PUs) (the percentage of times a PU was selected when run in Marxan 100 times) for the (a) Approach 1 (the selection of PUs included in the existing PAs was forced in the Marxan solutions and (b) Approach 2 (the selection of PUs included in existing PAs is free in the Marxan solutions).



Figure 5.6. Maps of the ten planning scenarios showing the Marxan best solution (the reserve configuration that best reduces risk of threat and meets biodiversity targets from 100 Marxan runs) for the (a) Approach 1 (the selection of planning units (PUs) included in the existing PAs was forced in the Marxan solutions and (b) Approach 2 (the selection of PUs included in existing PAs is free in the Marxan solutions). Blue shaded PUs represent the best solution.

solutions identified priority conservation areas that were missed in the scenarios run with shorter temporal coverage.

This study highlights not only the value of time series of conservation features, but also of threats. However, gathering information on both system components requires setting up appropriate long-term monitoring schemes. Monitoring schemes must ensure that the geographic coverage of target biodiversity components is sufficient and constant over time. However most current monitoring programmes do not meet these requirements, with geographic coverage usually being insufficient and uneven (Pereira et al., 2010). In fact, the most important gaps identified by systematic conservation planning is the insufficient geographic coverage of most threatened high-biodiversity areas (Álvarez-Romero et al., 2018) and the lack of good distributional data (Giakoumi et al., 2013). These shortcomings prevent more sophisticated analyses, such as modelling habitat suitability or identification of key areas at large scales (Kaschner et al., 2006).

Besides incomplete spatial coverage, another major shortcoming is the lack of adequate temporal coverage. Long-term programs of biodiversity monitoring are needed to establish baseline values for applied research such as to identify changes through time and to distinguish between the influence of both anthropogenic and natural factors on community turnover (Magurran et al., 2010; Ondei et al., 2018). Thus, designing and implementing a long-term monitoring scheme is a trade-off between the geographic and the temporal coverage, with few existing time-series meeting both criteria due to lack of funding (Mascia et al., 2014). Owing to the widespread under-funding of conservation science, conservation managers and planners must decide where the investment is needed, whether in the biodiversity monitoring or the enforcement of the actual management measures. In this sense, we demonstrated that time-series data are required in SCP but also recommended test for robustness in the spatial prioritization regarding the number of years of monitoring included to decide where to cost-effectively invest.

In addition to species distribution data, time series of socio-economic and/or threatsrelated data are also needed. Failing to integrate this information in the spatial prioritization can cause the implementation of conservation plans to be ineffective and the failure of conservation strategies (Polasky, 2008). As Bode et al. (2008) showed, conservation priorities are more sensitive to variation in the degree of threats the area is facing than to changes in how biodiversity data is measured. Relatively little effort has been devoted to improve threats or costs maps in contrast with the large amount of effort spent in improving statistical tools to obtain more accurate species data (Armsworth, 2014). Poor quality threat or cost data could be problematic, especially if they are used in spatial prioritisation (Bode et al., 2008). For example, one of the limitations of VMS data is related to the fishing fleet covered. In Europe, VMS is only mandatory for fishing vessels with an overall length > 12 m, however 85% of the fishing vessels are not larger than 12 m long (European Commission, 2019b). Moreover, VMS is not mandatory for vessels with an overall length between 12 and 15 m, if the fishing activity occurs only in EEZ areas or the fishing trips duration is less than 24h (EC 1224/2009). This might lead to underestimating the level of threat posed by fishing and misidentification of the areas with the highest fishing pressure.

In this study, we have focused on fisheries, being identified as one of the main threats to the conservation of cetacean and seabirds in Europe. Including data on fishing effort is an essential factor for the design of MPA networks to minimize the negative impacts on both biodiversity and fisheries themselves (Klein et al., 2008). The spatial resolution of fishing pressure has to be fine enough to differentiate areas to be used in spatial prioritization (Ban and Klein, 2009), but must also have a minimum temporal coverage to take into account their dynamics and long-term spatial changes (Giakoumi et al., 2015). Our results confirmed the importance of including time-series VMS data in spatial planning to track the spatial and temporal changes of fishing and identify more accurately priority areas for conservation (*e.g.*, Bertrand et al., 2008; Gloaguen et al., 2015; Walker and Bez, 2010).

The high dynamism of the marine ecosystem and the related high mobility of the marine megafauna, as well as the spatio-temporal dynamic of human activities require long-term monitoring schemes to inform effective marine spatial conservation planning. Further methodological improvements should consider applying our approach to larger areas and/or oceanographically more dynamic to test the robustness and general applicability of our method to assess the cost-effectivity of stable MPA networks. Our findings may have special relevance in high seas where the establishment and continuation of long-term monitoring is difficult because such programs require international agreement and cooperation, as the established by the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS) or the International Whaling Commission (IWC), which is also needed to designate and implement effective MPAs for migratory species.



The first objective of this thesis was: "to provide a qualitative and, when possible quantitative, assessment of the main threats affecting the marine megafauna community in the Bay of Biscay" (Chapter 1). The main conclusions in relation to this objective are:

- The quantitative assessment for seabirds, the first long time-series (13 years) analysis of the causes of admission to rehabilitation centers in the area, showed that cachexia, exposure to crude oil and interaction with fishing gear were the most common treats faced by seabirds. Of all the seabird community, individuals from the families Alcidae, Laridae, Sulidae and Phalacrocoracidae were the most affected.
- 2. The qualitative assessment showed that the risks faced by cetaceans and seabirds depend on the biology and habitat use of the species. Particularly dangerous threats for cetaceans were those related with pollution (*e.g.* organic pollutants, plastics, acoustic pollution), bycatch and vessel collision, whilst for seabirds main threats were oil spills, bycatch, and those also related with pollution such as the presence of plastics or ghost fishing.
- 3. Both types of assessments are of special relevance for threatened species and provide useful information on the prevalence of certain threats, which can help to identify conservation priorities and inform management measures needed in the context of the Marine Strategy Framework Directive and other relevant legislation.

The second objective was: "to develop a methodological approach, applicable to other species, to identify biologically appropriate predictors to jointly consider both the spatial and vertical dimensions of oceanographic habitats" (Chapter 2). The main conclusions from this objective are:

- 4. The methodological approach developed allows the identification of oceanographic and preyscape predictors to jointly consider the spatial and vertical dimensions of oceanographic habitats and it is applicable to any marine species. This approach revealed the importance of integrating monitoring of pelagic fish, oceanographic descriptors and marine megafauna species during fine-scale integrated oceanographic surveys to guide ecosystem-based management and conservation efforts.
- 5. Abundance patterns of pelagic seabirds were influenced by oceanographic conditions and prey accessibility (*i.e.* sardine and juvenile anchovy biomass) integrated above the depth of maximum temperature gradient for Sooty shearwaters and at the surface for Great shearwaters, leading to a vertical segregation. Similarly,

both species showed a spatial segregation in relation to shelf (preferred by Sooty shearwaters associated with upwelling and river discharge) versus oceanic areas (preferred by Great shearwaters).

 The first abundance estimates are provided for Sooty (3,203 individuals; 95% CI: 1753–5748) and Great shearwaters (12,380 individuals; 95% CI: 5797–28 152) in September for the Bay of Biscay.

The third objective was: "to locate ecologically meaningful areas for the marine megafauna community through the identification of Essential Ocean Variables shaping their environmental envelopes and driving their spatio-temporal trends" (Chapter 3). The main conclusions from this chapter are:

- 7. Sea surface temperature and chlorophyll-a concentration were the Essential Ocean Variables (EOVs) driving the spatial patterns of the megafauna community. Higher values of both EOVs shape the High-Value Biodiversity Areas (HVBAs), which were mainly located in the Western and North-western Iberian coast. The location of HVBAs (associated to higher productivity) overlaps with fishing grounds, increasing the risk of by-catch for both seabirds and cetaceans.
- 8. These results highlight the importance of EOVs monitoring to detect changes resulting from specific anthropogenic pressures and/or climate change and to forecast the response of the species or communities.
- 9. This study contributes to the provision of sound spatial information needed to support marine spatial planning approaches and to improve the management and conservation of the marine megafauna species and/or communities in the context of the Marine Strategy Framework Directive and the Maritime Spatial Planning Directive.

From the fourth objective, "to identify critical areas for marine megafauna and to assess whether the current Marine Protected Areas network offers protection for species for which it has not been designated" (Chapter 4), the main conclusions are:

- 10. Density surface models developed for the highly migratory endangered Fin whale revealed that the species was especially abundant in deep offshore waters of the inner Bay of Biscay, when warmer sea surface temperature extended into larger areas.
- 11. The main critical area determined for the species, located in the South eastern Bay of Biscay, is not included within the current Natura 2000 network. Thereby, we

propose a new MPA, which would require transboundary collaboration between Spain and France to ensure connectivity across the network, while improving the protection for Fin whales and other megafauna species.

12. Additional dedicated surveys, as well as expanding the sampling area of the existing non-dedicated surveys, are necessary to monitor oceanic megafauna species in the Bay of Biscay to inform measures for their management and conservation at critical areas.

The fifth objective was: "to explore the temporal stability of spatial prioritization for marine megafauna by assessing the number of years needed to ensure a robust MPA network" (Chapter 5). The main conclusions from this chapter are:

- 13. We demonstrated the value of time-series in spatial conservation prioritization by implementing systematic conservation planning to identify the minimum number of years required to establish an effective and robust MPA network, applied to highly mobile marine megafauna in relation to their main threat: fishing activity.
- 14. Spatially explicit conservation plans based on a period equal or greater than three years provide similar MPAs configurations, showing analogous areas of high irreplaceability and spatial prioritization.
- 15. We recommend the use of this method for future spatial prioritizations for highly mobile species, in particular for the configuration of MPAs in high seas, an area of special interest for many highly mobile species of conservation interest.

Thesis

The specific results obtained on this thesis dissertation allowed working towards the validation of the enunciated working hypothesis, being the thesis that:

"The distribution and abundance of the multiple species conforming the marine megafauna assemblage of the Bay of Biscay are affected by human threats, as well as by environmental variability independently of the years and geographic coverage considered. Long-term time series of both, megafauna distribution and abundance and threats need to be considered for the development of spatially explicit measures. In addition, the ecological coherence of the current Marine Protected Area network needs to be assessed to ascertain whether the critical areas of marine megafauna are included, as we have shown is not the case for some species. These actions are needed in order to inform the management and conservation of the marine megafauna species in the context of the Marine Strategy Framework Directive and other relevant legislation"



- ACAP Interim Secretariat, 2001. Agreement on the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels. 29 January-2 February 2001. Cape Town, South Africa.
- Adams, J., MacLeod, C., Suryan, R.M., David Hyrenbach, K., Harvey, J.T., 2012. Summer-time use of west coast US National Marine Sanctuaries by migrating sooty shearwaters (*Puffinus griseus*). Biol. Conserv. 156, 105–116.
- Aguilar, A., 2009. Fin whale, *Balaenoptera physalus*, in: Perrin, W., Würsig, B., Thewissen, J. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Academic Press, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pp. 433– 437.
- Aguilar, A., García-Vernet, R., 2018. Fin Whale, in: Würsig, B., Thewissen, J.G.M., Kovacs, K.M. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Academis Press, pp. 368–371.
- Ainley, D.G., Ballard, G., Dugger, K.M., 2006. Competition among penguins and cetaceans reveals trophic cascades in the western Ross Sea, Antarctica. Ecology 87, 2080–2093.
- Airoldi, L., Balata, D., Beck, M.W., 2008. The Gray Zone: Relationships between habitat loss and marine diversity and their applications in conservation. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 366, 8–15.
- Alcaraz-Segura, D., Lomba, A., Sousa-Silva, R., Nieto-Lugilde, D., Alves, P., Georges, D., Vicente, J.R., Honrado, J.P., 2017. Potential of satellite-derived ecosystem functional attributes to anticipate species range shifts. Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf. 57, 86–92.
- Álvarez-Romero, J.G., Mills, M., Adams, V.M., Gurney, G.G., Pressey, R.L., Weeks, R., Ban, N.C., Cheok, J., Davies, T.E., Day, J.C., Hamel, M.A., Leslie, H.M., Magris, R.A., Storlie, C.J., 2018. Research advances and gaps in marine planning: towards a global database in systematic conservation planning. Biol. Conserv. 227, 369–382.
- Amante, C., Eakins, B.W., 2009. ETOPO1 1 arc-minute global relief model: procedures, data sources, and analysis. Tech Rep NESDIS NGDC-24.
- Anderson, D.M., Cembella, A.D., Hallegraeff, G.M., 2012. Progress in Understanding Harmful Algal Blooms: Paradigm Shifts and New Technologies for Research, Monitoring, and Management. Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci. 4, 143–176.
- Andonegi, E., Llope, M., Freire de Carvalho Souza, G., 2015. Comparison of trophic control dynamics between two areas of the western European Shelf Seas, the Bay of Biscay and Gulf of Cadiz.
- Arcos, J.M., Bécares, J., Rodriguez, B., Ruiz, A., 2009. Important areas for the conservation of seabirds in Spain. Sociedad Española de Ornitología (SEO/BirdLife). Madrid, Spain.
- Arcos, J.M., Bécares, J., Rodríguez, B., Ruiz, A., Louzao, M., Hyrenbach, K.D., 2007. Marine Important Bird Areas (IBAs): towards the effective protection of seabirds at sea, in: European MPA Symposium 2007.
- Arizaga, J., Aldalur, A., Herrero, A., Cuadrado, J.F., Díez, E., Crespo, A., 2014. Foraging distances of a resident yellow-legged gull (*Larus michahellis*) population in relation to refuse management on a local scale. Eur. J. Wildl. Res. 60, 171–175.
- Arizaga, J., Herrero, A., Galarza, A., Hidalgo, J., Aldalur, A., Cuadrado, J.F., Ocio, G., 2010. First-Year Movements of Yellow-Legged Gull (Larus michahellis lusitanius) from the Southeastern Bay of Biscay. Waterbirds 33, 444–450.
- Arkema, K., Abramson, S., Dewsbury, B., 2006. Marine ecosystem-based management: from characterization to implementation. Front. Ecol. Environ. 4, 525–532.
- Armsworth, P.R., 2014. Inclusion of costs in conservation planning depends on limited datasets and hopeful assumptions. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1322, 61–76.
- Armsworth, P.R., Chan, K.M.A., Daily, G.C., Ehrlich, P.R., Kremen, C., Ricketts, T.H., Sanjayan, M.A., 2007. Ecosystem-service science and the way forward for conservation. Conserv. Biol. 21, 1383–1384.

- Arnold, T.W., 2010. Uninformative Parameters and Model Selection Using Akaike's Information Criterion. J. Wildl. Manage. 74, 1175–1178.
- Astarloa, A., Louzao, M., Boyra, G., Irigoien, X., Hui, F.K.C., Chust, G., Martinez, U., Rubio, A., 2019. Identifying main interactions in marine predator-prey networks of the Bay of Biscay. ICES J. Mar. Sci. (In press).
- Attorre, F., De Sanctis, M., Farcomeni, A., Guillet, A., Scepi, E., Vitale, M., Pella, F., Fasola, M., 2013. The use of spatial ecological modelling as a tool for improving the assessment of geographic range size of threatened species. J. Nat. Conserv. 21, 48–55.
- Atwood, T.B., Connolly, R.M., Ritchie, E.G., Lovelock, C.E., Heithaus, M.R., Hays, G.C., Fourqurean, J.W., Macreadie, P.I., 2015. Predators help protect carbon stocks in blue carbon ecosystems. Nat. Clim. Chang. 5, 1038–1045.
- Austin, M., 2007. Species distribution models and ecological theory: A critical assessment and some possible new approaches. Ecol. Modell. 200, 1–19.
- Authier, M., Dorémus, G., Van Canneyt, O., Boubert, J.J., Gautier, G., Doray, M., Duhamel, E., Massé, J., Petitgas, P., Ridoux, V., Spitz, J., 2018. Exploring change in the relative abundance of marine megafauna in the Bay of Biscay, 2004-2016. Prog. Oceanogr. 166, 159–167.
- Authier, M., Saraux, C., Péron, C., 2017. Variable selection and accurate predictions in habitat modelling: a shrinkage approach. Ecography. 40, 549–560.
- Avens, L., Dell'Amico, F., 2018. Evaluating viability of sea turtle foraging populations at high latitudes: Age and growth of juveniles along the French Atlantic coast. Endanger. Species Res. 37, 25– 36.
- Avila, I.C., Kaschner, K., Dormann, C.F., 2018. Current global risks to marine mammals: Taking stock of the threats. Biol. Conserv. 221, 44–58.
- Bachiller, E., Cotano, U., Boyra, G., Irigoien, X., 2013. Spatial distribution of the stomach weights of juvenile anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus* L.) in the Bay of Biscay. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 70, 362– 378.
- Bailey, H., Thompson, P.M., 2009. Using marine mammal habitat modeling to identify priority conservation zones within a marine protected area. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 378, 279–287.
- Ball, I.R., Possingham, H.P., Watts, M.E., 2009. Marxan and Relatives: Software for Spatial Conservation Prioritization, Spatial conservation prioritisation: quantitative methods and computational tools. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Balmford, A., Bennun, L., ten Brink, B., Cooper, D., Côté, I.M., Crane, P., Dobson, A., Dudley, N., Dutton, I., Green, R.E., Gregory, R.D., Harrison, J., Kennedy, E.T., Kremen, C., Leader-Williams, N., Lovejoy, T.E., Mace, G., May, R., Mayaux, P., Morling, P., Phillips, J., Redford, K., Ricketts, T.H., Rodriguez, J.P., Sanjayan, M., Schei, P.J., van Jaarsveld, A.S., Walther, B.A., 2005. The convention on biological diversity's 2010 target. Science. 307, 212–213.
- Ban, N.C., 2009. Minimum data requirements for designing a set of marine protected areas, using commonly available abiotic and biotic datasets. Biodivers. Conserv. 18, 1829–1845.
- Ban, N.C., Klein, C.J., 2009. Spatial socioeconomic data as a cost in systematic marine conservation planning. Conserv. Lett. 2, 206–215.
- Barbraud, C., Thiebot, J.B., 2009. On the importance of estimating detection probabilities from atsea surveys of flying seabirds. J. Avian Biol. 40, 584–590.
- Barlow, J., Forney, K.A., 2007. Abundance and population density of cetaceans in the California Current ecosystem. Fish. Bull. 105, 509–526.
- Barlow, J., Gerodette, T., Forcada, J., 2001. Factors affecting perpendicular sighting distances on shipboard line-transect surveys for cetaceans. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 3, 201–212.

- Barrett, R.T., 2002. Atlantic puffin *Fratercula arctica* and common guillemot *Uria aalge* chick diet and growth as indicators of fish stocks in the Barents Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 230, 275–287.
- Barton, K., 2016. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.15.6.
- Bastari, A., Micheli, F., Ferretti, F., Pusceddu, A., Cerrano, C., 2016. Large marine protected areas (LMPAs) in the Mediterranean Sea: The opportunity of the Adriatic Sea. Mar. Policy 68, 165–177.
- Baum, J.K., Worm, B., 2009. Cascading top-down effects of changing oceanic predator abundances. J. Anim. Ecol. 78, 699–714.
- Bellido, J.M., Santos, M.B., Pennino, M.G., Valeiras, X., Pierce, G.J., 2011. Fishery discards and bycatch: Solutions for an ecosystem approach to fisheries management? Hydrobiologia 670, 317–333.
- Benoit-Bird, K.J., Battaile, B.C., Heppell, S.A., Hoover, B., Irons, D., Jones, N., Kuletz, K.J., Nordstrom, C.A., Paredes, R., Suryan, R.M., Waluk, C.M., Trites, A.W., 2013. Prey patch patterns predict habitat use by top marine predators with diverse foraging strategies. PLoS One 8, e53348.
- Bertrand, A., Gerlotto, F., Bertrand, S., Gutiérrez, M., Alza, L., Chipollini, A., Díaz, E., Espinoza, P., Ledesma, J., Quesquén, R., Peraltilla, S., Chavez, F., 2008. Schooling behaviour and environmental forcing in relation to anchoveta distribution: An analysis across multiple spatial scales. Prog. Oceanogr. 79, 264–277.
- Bertrand, S., Díaz, E., Lengaigne, M., 2008. Patterns in the spatial distribution of Peruvian anchovy (Engraulis ringens) revealed by spatially explicit fishing data. Prog. Oceanogr. 79, 379–389.
- Bertrand, S., Joo, R., Arbulu Smet, C., Tremblay, Y., Barbraud, C., Weimerskirch, H., 2012. Local depletion by a fishery can affect seabird foraging. J. Appl. Ecol. 49, 1168–1177.
- Bilan, F., Suivi, D.E.A.N.S.D.E., Colonies, D.E.S., Adiou, B.C., Ésou, P.Y., 2006. Évolution des populations de goélands bruns, argentés et marins Larus fuscus, L. Argentatus, L. Marinus dans l'archipel de Molène (Bretagne, France): bilan de 50 ans de suivi des colonies. Rev. d'écologie 61, 159–174.
- BirdLife, 2014. Natura 2000 at sea: good progress but more to do. Presented as part of the BirdLife State of the world's birds website. [WWW Document]. URL http://datazone.birdlife.org/sowb/casestudy/natura-2000-at-sea:-good-progress-but-more-todo (accessed 10.1.19).
- Blair, H.B., Merchant, N.D., Friedlaender, A.S., Wiley, D.N., Parks, S.E., 2016. Evidence for ship noise impacts on humpback whale foraging behaviour. Biol. Lett. 12, 20160005.
- Blanco, J.C., González, J.L., 1992. Libro Rojo de los Vertebrados de España. ICONA, Madrid, Spain.
- Block, B.A., Jonsen, I.D., Jorgensen, S.J., Winship, A.J., Shaffer, S.A., Bograd, S.J., Hazen, E.L., Foley, D.G., Breed, G.A., Harrison, A.-L., Ganong, J.E., Swithenbank, A., Castleton, M., Dewar, H., Mate, B.R., Shillinger, G.L., Schaefer, K.M., Benson, S.R., Weise, M.J., Henry, R.W., Costa, D.P., 2011. Tracking apex marine predator movements in a dynamic ocean. Nature 475, 86–90.
- Blyth, R.E., Kaiser, M.J., Edwards-Jones, G., Hart, P.J.B., 2004. Implications of a zoned fishery management system for marine benthic communities. J. Appl. Ecol. 41, 951–961.
- Bode, A., Alvarez-Ossorio, M.T., Cabanas, J.M., Miranda, A., Varela, M., 2009. Recent trends in plankton and upwelling intensity off Galicia (NW Spain). Prog. Oceanogr. 83, 342–350.
- Bode, A., Carrera, P., Lens, S., 2003. The pelagic foodweb in the upwelling ecosystem of Galicia (NW Spain) during spring: Natural abundance of stable carbon and nitrogen isotopes. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 60, 11–22.

- Bode, M., Wilson, K.A., Brooks, T.M., Turner, W.R., Mittermeier, R.A., McBride, M.F., Underwood, E.C., Possingham, H.P., 2008. Cost-effective global conservation spending is robust to taxonomic group. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 6498–6501.
- Boonstra, W.J., Ottosen, K.M., Ferreira, A.S.A., Richter, A., Rogers, L.A., Pedersen, M.W., Kokkalis, A., Bardarson, H., Bonanomi, S., Butler, W., Diekert, F.K., Fouzai, N., Holma, M., Holt, R.E., Kvile, K.?., Malanski, E., Macdonald, J.I., Nieminen, E., Romagnoni, G., Snickars, M., Weigel, B., Woods, P., Yletyinen, J., Whittington, J.D., 2015. What are the major global threats and impacts in marine environments? Investigating the contours of a shared perception among marine scientists from the bottom-up. Mar. Policy 60, 197–201.
- Borja, A., Amouroux, D., Anschutz, P., Gómez-Gesteira, M., Uyarra, M.C., Valdés, L., 2018. The Bay of Biscay, in: Sheppard, C. (Ed.), World Seas: An Environmental Evaluation. Volume I: Europe, The Americas and West Africa. Academic Press, pp. 113–151.
- Borja, A., Collins, M., 2004. Oceanography and Marine Environment in the Basque Country, Elsevier Oceanography Series. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Borja, A., Elliott, M., Andersen, J.H., Cardoso, A.C., Carstensen, J., Ferreira, J.G., Heiskanen, A.S., Marques, J.C., Neto, J.M., Teixeira, H., Uusitalo, L., Uyarra, M.C., Zampoukas, N., 2013. Good Environmental Status of marine ecosystems: What is it and how do we know when we have attained it? Mar. Pollut. Bull. 76, 16–27.
- Bost, C.A., Cotté, C., Bailleul, F., Cherel, Y., Charrassin, J.B., Guinet, C., Ainley, D.G., Weimerskirch, H., 2009. The importance of oceanographic fronts to marine birds and mammals of the southern oceans. J. Mar. Syst. 78, 363–376.
- Botas, J.A., Fernandez, E., Bode, A., Anadon, R., 1990. A persistent upwelling off the Central Cantabrian Coast (Bay of Biscay). Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 30, 185–199.
- Boué, A., Louzao, M., Arcos, J.M., Delord, K., Weimerskirch, H., Cortés, V., Barros, N., Guilford, T., Muñoz Arroyo, G., Oro, D., Andrade, J., Garcia, D., Dalloyau, S., González-Solís, J., Wynn, R., Micol, T., 2013. Recent and current research on Balearic shearwater on colonies and in Atlantic and Mediterranean areas, in: First Meeting of the Population and Conservation Status Working Group. pp. 1–19.
- Bourgeois, K., Vidal, E., 2008. The endemic Mediterranean yelkouan shearwater *Puffinus yelkouan*: distribution, threats and a plea for more data. Oryx 42, 187–194.
- Boyd, C., Castillo, R., Hunt, G.L., Punt, A.E., Vanblaricom, G.R., Weimerskirch, H., Bertrand, S., 2015. Predictive modelling of habitat selection by marine predators with respect to the abundance and depth distribution of pelagic prey. J. Anim. Ecol. 84, 1575–1588.
- Boyra, G., Martínez, U., Cotano, U., Santos, M., Irigoien, X., Uriarte, A., 2013. Acoustic surveys for juvenile anchovy in the Bay of Biscay: Abundance estimate as an indicator of the next year's recruitment and spatial distribution patterns. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 70, 1354–1368.
- Boyra, G., Peña, M., Cotano, U., Irigoien, X., Rubio, A., Nogueira, E., 2016. Spatial dynamics of juvenile anchovy in the Bay of Biscay. Fish. Oceanogr. 25, 529–543.
- Breen, P., Brown, S., Reid, D., Rogan, E., 2016. Modelling cetacean distribution and mapping overlap with fisheries in the northeast Atlantic. Ocean Coast. Manag. 134, 140–149.
- Breen, P., Posen, P., Righton, D., 2015. Temperate Marine Protected Areas and highly mobile fish: A review. Ocean Coast. Manag. 105, 75–83.
- Brown, R.G.B., Barker, S.P., Gaskin, D.E., Sandeman, M.R., 1981. The foods of great and sooty shearwaters *Puffinus gravis* and *P. griseus* in eastern Canadian waters. Ibis. 123, 19–30.
- Brownell, R., Yablokov, A., 2009. Whaling illegal and pirate, in: Perrin, W., Wursig, B., Thewissen, J. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Academic Press, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pp. 1235–1239.

- Buckland, S.T., Anderson, D.R., Burnham, K.P., Laake, J.L., 1993. Distance sampling: estimation of biological populations. Chapman & Hall, New York.
- Buckland, S.T., Anderson, D.R., Burnham, K.P., Laake, J.L., Borchers, D.L., Thomas, L., 2001. Introduction to distance sampling: estimating abundance of biological populations. Oxford University Press. Oxford.
- Buckland, S.T., Cattanach, K.L., Lens, S., 1992. Fin whale abundance in the eastern north atlantic, estimated from Spanish NASS-89 data. Rep. Int. Whal. Comm. 42, 457–460.
- Buckland, S.T., Rexstad, E.A., Marques, T.A., Oedekoven, C.S., 2015. Distance Sampling: Methods and Applications. Springer, New York, USA.
- Burnham, K., Anderson, D., 2002. Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical informationtheoretic approach, 2nd ed. Springer, New York, NewYork, Springer.
- Butrón, A., Orive, E., Madariaga, I., 2011. Potential risk of harmful algae transport by ballast waters: The case of Bilbao Harbour. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62, 747–757.
- Butterworth, A., 2017. Marine mammal welfare: behaviour judge ambiguous cues more optimistically. Human induced change in the marine environment. Springer Nature, Cham, Switzerland.
- Caballero, A., Ferrer, L., Rubio, A., Charria, G., Taylor, B.H., Grima, N., 2014. Monitoring of a quasistationary eddy in the Bay of Biscay by means of satellite, in situ and model results. Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 106, 23–37.
- Caballero, A., Rubio, A., Ruiz, S., Le Cann, B., Testor, P., Mader, J., Hernández, C., 2016. South-Eastern Bay of Biscay eddy-induced anomalies and their effect on chlorophyll distribution. J. Mar. Syst. 162, 57–72.
- Cadiou, B., Bioret, F., Chenesseau, D., 2010. Response of breeding European Storm Petrels *Hydrobates pelagicus* to habitat change. J. Ornithol. 151, 317–327.
- Cadiou, B., Monnat, J.Y., 1996. Parental attendance and squatting in the Kittiwake *Rissa tridactyla* during the rearing period. Bird Study 43, 164–171.
- Cai, W., Borlace, S., Lengaigne, M., Van Rensch, P., Collins, M., Vecchi, G., Timmermann, A., Santoso, A., Mcphaden, M.J., Wu, L., England, M.H., Wang, G., Guilyardi, E., Jin, F.F., 2014. Increasing frequency of extreme El Niño events due to greenhouse warming. Nat. Clim. Chang. 4, 111–116.
- Cañadas, A., Vázquez, J.A., 2014. Conserving Cuvier's beaked whales in the Alboran Sea (SW Mediterranean): Identification of high density areas to be avoided by intense man-made sound. Biol. Conserv. 178, 155–162.
- Cardillo, M., Mace, G.M., Jones, K.E., Bielby, J., Bininda-emonds, O.R.P., Sechrest, W., Orme, C.D.L., Purvis, A., 2005. Multiple causes of high extinction risk in large mammal species. Science. 309, 1239–1241.
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A., Kinzig, A.P., Daily, G.C., Loreau, M., Grace, J.B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D.S., Naeem, S., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature 486, 59–67.
- Carlucci, R., Ricci, P., Cipriano, G., Fanizza, | Carmelo, 2017. Abundance, activity and critical habitat of the striped dolphin Stenella coeruleoalba in the Gulf of Taranto (northern Ionian Sea, central Mediterranean Sea). Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 28, 324–336.
- Carss, D.N., Marzano, M., 2005. Reducing the Conflict Between Cormorantsand Fisheries on a Pan-European Scale: REDCAFE - Summary and National Overviews., CEH Projec. ed. NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology.
- Casini, M., Hjelm, J., Molinero, J.-C., Lövgren, J., Cardinale, M., Bartolino, V., Belgrano, A., Kornilovs,

G., 2009. Trophic cascades promote threshold-like shifts in pelagic marine ecosystems. PNAS 106, 197–202.

- Cavallo, M., 2018. Analysis of the implementation of the European Marine Strategy Framework Directive in the North-East Atlantic region. Doctoral dissertation. Universidade de Vigo (Programa de Doutoramento en Ciencias Mariñas, Tecnoloxía e Xestión (RD 99/2011)).
- CBD, 2019. Second synthesis of views of parties and observers on the scope and content of the post-2020 global biodiversity framework (CBD/POST2020/PREP/1/INF/2).
- CBD, 2010a. Decision X/2, The strategic plan for biodiversity 2011-2020 and the Aichi Biodiversity Targets. Nagoya, Japan.
- CBD, 2010b. Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011–2020, Including the Aichi Biodiversity Targets. Montreal (Canada).
- Certain, G., Masse, J., Van Canneyt, O., Petitgas, P., Doremus, G., Santos, M.B., Ridoux, V., 2011. Investigating the coupling between small pelagic fish and marine top predators using data collected from ecosystem-based surveys. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 422, 23–39.
- Certain, G., Ridoux, V., van Canneyt, O., Bretagnolle, V., 2008. Delphinid spatial distribution and abundance estimates over the shelf of the Bay of Biscay. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 65, 656–666.
- Chape, S., Spalding, M., Jenkins, M.D., 2008. The World's protected areas: status, values and prospects in the 21st century. University of California Press, Berkeley, USA.
- Chen, B., Landry, M.R., Huang, B., Liu, H., 2012. Does warming enhance the effect of microzooplankton grazing on marine phytoplankton in the ocean? Limnol. Oceanogr. 57, 519–526.
- Cheney, B., Corkrey, R., Durban, J.W., Grellier, K., Hammond, P.S., Islas-Villanueva, V., Janik, V.M., Lusseau, S.M., Parsons, K.M., Quick, N.J., Wilson, B., Thompson, P.M., 2014. Long-term trends in the use of a protected area by small cetaceans in relation to changes in population status. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 2, 118–128.
- Chin, A., Simpfendorfer, C.A., White, W.T., Johnson, G.J., McAuley, R.B., Heupel, M.R., 2017. Crossing lines: a multidisciplinary framework for assessing connectivity of hammerhead sharks across jurisdictional boundaries. Sci. Rep. 7, 46061.
- Christensen, N.L., Bartuska, A.M., Brown, J.H., Carpenter, S., D'Antonio, C., Francis, R., Franklin, J.F., MacMahon, J.A., Noss, R.F., Parsons, D.J., Peterson, C.H., Turner, M.G., Woodmansee, R.G., 1996. The report of the Ecological Society of America committee on the scientific basis for ecosystem management. Ecol. Appl. 6, 665–691.
- Chust, G., Goikoetxea, N., Ibaibarriaga, L., Sagarminaga, Y., Arregui, I., Fontán, A., Irigoien, X., Arrizabalaga, H., 2019. Earlier migration and distribution changes of albacore in the Northeast Atlantic. Fish. Oceanogr. 28, 505–516.
- Clay, T.A., Small, C., Tuck, G.N., Pardo, D., Carneiro, A.P.B., Wood, A.G., Croxall, J.P., Crossin, G.T., Phillips, R.A., 2019. A comprehensive large-scale assessment of fisheries bycatch risk to threatened seabird populations. J. Appl. Ecol. 56, 1365-2664.13407.
- Cochrane, S.K.J., Connor, W., Nilsson, P., Mitchell, I., Reker, J., Franco, J., Valavanis, V., Moncheva, S., Ekebom, J., Nygaard, K., Serrão Santos, R., Naberhaus, I., Packeiser, T., Bund, W. van de, Cardoso, A.C., 2010. Marine Strategy Framework Guidance on the interpretation and application of Descriptor 1: Biological diversity. Luxembourg.
- CODA, 2009. CODA (Cetacean Abundance and Distribution in Offshore European Atlantic Waters) final report.
- Committee on Marine Parks, 1966. Papers presented at the Special Symposium on Marine Parks at the Eleventh Pacific Congress in Japan, 4–9 September. Marine Parks Centre of Japan, Tokyo.

- Constable, A.J., Costa, D.P., Schofield, O., Newman, L., Urban, E.R., Fulton, E.A., Melbourne-Thomas, J., Ballerini, T., Boyd, P.W., Brandt, A., de la Mare, W.K., Edwards, M., Eléaume, M., Emmerson, L., Fennel, K., Fielding, S., Griffiths, H., Gutt, J., Hindell, M.A., Hofmann, E.E., Jennings, S., La, H.S., McCurdy, A., Mitchell, B.G., Moltmann, T., Muelbert, M., Murphy, E., Press, A.J., Raymond, B., Reid, K., Reiss, C., Rice, J., Salter, I., Smith, D.C., Song, S., Southwell, C., Swadling, K.M., Van de Putte, A., Willis, Z., 2016. Developing priority variables ("ecosystem Essential Ocean Variables" eEOVs) for observing dynamics and change in Southern Ocean ecosystems. J. Mar. Syst. 161, 26–41.
- Costello, M.J., 2015. Biodiversity: The known, unknown, and rates of extinction. Curr. Biol. 25, R368– R371.
- Costello, M.J., Cheung, A., De Hauwere, N., 2010. Topography statistics for the surface and seabed area, volume, depth and slope, of the world's seas, oceans and countries. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44, 8821–8828.
- Cotroneo, Y., Aulicino, G., Ruiz, S., Pascual, A., Budillon, G., Fusco, G., Tintoré, J., 2016. Glider and satellite high resolution monitoring of a mesoscale eddy in the algerian basin: Effects on the mixed layer depth and biochemistry. J. Mar. Syst. 162, 73–88.
- Cotté, C., Guinet, C., Taupier-Letage, I., Mate, B., Petiau, E., 2009. Scale-dependent habitat use by a large free-ranging predator, the Mediterranean fin whale. Deep. Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 56, 801–811.
- Couvet, D., Devictor, V., Jiguet, F., Julliard, R., 2011. Scientific contributions of extensive biodiversity monitoring. Comptes Rendus Biol. 334, 370–377.
- Cox, S.L., Scott, B.E., Camphuysen, C.J., 2013. Combined spatial and tidal processes identify links between pelagic prey species and seabirds. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 479, 203–221.
- Croll, D.A., Tershy, B.R., Hewitt, R.P., Demer, D.A., Fiedler, P.C., Smith, S.E., Armstrong, W., Popp, J.M., Kiekhfer, T., Lopez, V.R., Urban, J., Gendron, D., 1998. An integrated approch to the foraging ecology of marine birds and mammals. Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 45, 1353–1371.
- Croxall, J., Butchart, S., Lascelles, B., Stattersfield, A., Sullivan, B., Symes, A., Taylor, P., 2012. Seabird conservation status, threats and priority actions: a global assessment. Bird Conserv. Int. 22, 1–34.
- Curtin, R., Prellezo, R., 2010. Understanding marine ecosystem based management: A literature review. Mar. Policy 34, 821–830.
- Cury, P.M., Boyd, I.L., Bonhommeau, S., Anker-Nilssen, T., Crawford, R.J.M., Furness, R.W., Mills, J.A., Murphy, E.J., Österblom, H., Paleczny, M., Piatt, J.F., Roux, J.P., Shannon, L., Sydeman, W.J., 2011. Global seabird response to forage fish depletion - One-third for the birds. Science. 334, 1703–1706.
- Daly, R., Wetherbee, B.M., Daly, R., Smale, M.J., Singh, S., Anders, D., Shivji, M., Daly, C.A.K., Lea, J.S.E., Sousa, L.L., Sheaves, M., Barnett, A., 2018. Refuges and risks: Evaluating the benefits of an expanded MPA network for mobile apex predators. Divers. Distrib. 24, 1217–1230.
- Daunt, F., Wanless, S., Greenstreet, S.P.R., Jensen, H., Hamer, K.C., Harris, M.P., 2008. The impact of the sandeel fishery closure on seabird food consumption, distribution, and productivity in the northwestern North Sea. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 65, 362–381.
- Davoren, G.K., 2013. Distribution of marine predator hotspots explained by persistent areas of prey. Mar. Biol. 160, 3043–3058.
- Dawson, T.P., Jackson, S.T., House, J.I., Prentice, I.C., Mace, G.M., 2011. Beyond predictions: biodiversity conservation in a changing climate. Science. 332, 53–58.
- del Hoyo, J., Elliott, A., Sargatal, J., Christie, D.A., & de Juana, E., 2019. Handbook of the Birds of

the World (HBW) [WWW Document]. URL https://www.hbw.com (accessed 1.25.19).

- Depestele, J., Rochet, M.-J., Dorémus, G., Laffargue, P., Stienen, E.W.M., 2016. Favorites and leftovers on the menu of scavenging seabirds: modelling spatiotemporal variation in discard consumption. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 73, 1446–1459.
- Descamps, S., Tarroux, A., Varpe, Ø., Yoccoz, N.G., Tveraa, T., Lorentsen, S.H., 2015. Demographic effects of extreme weather events: Snow storms, breeding success, and population growth rate in a long-lived Antarctic seabird. Ecol. Evol. 5, 314–325.
- Dewey, J., 1938. Logic: The theory of inquiry. Holt, Rinehart, & Winston, New York.
- di Sciara, G.N., Hoyt, E., Reeves, R., Ardron, J., Marsh, H., Vongraven, D., Barr, B., 2016. Placebased approaches to marine mammal conservation. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 26, 85–100.
- Dias, M.P., Martin, R., Pearmain, E.J., Burfield, I.J., Small, C., Phillips, R.A., Yates, O., Lascelles, B., Borboroglu, P.G., Croxall, J.P., 2019. Threats to seabirds: A global assessment. Biol. Conserv. 237, 525–537.
- Dill, L.M., Heithaus, M.R., Walters, C.J., 2003. Behaviorally mediated indirect interactions in marine communities and their conservation implications. Ecology 84, 1151–1157.
- Dobson, A., 2005. Monitoring global rates of biodiversity change: Challenges that arise in meeting the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) 2010 goals. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 360, 229–241.
- Doherty, P.D., Baxter, J.M., Gell, F.R., Godley, B.J., Graham, R.T., Hall, G., Hall, J., Hawkes, L.A., Henderson, S.M., Johnson, L., Speedie, C., Witt, M.J., 2017. Long-term satellite tracking reveals variable seasonal migration strategies of basking sharks in the north-east Atlantic. Sci. Rep. 7, 42837.
- Donald, P.F., Fishpool, L.D.C., Ajagbe, A., Bennun, L.A., Bunting, G., Burfield, I.J., Butchart, S.H.M., Capellan, S., Crosby, M.J., Dias, M.P., Diaz, D., Evans, M.I., Grimmett, R., Heath, M., Jones, V.R., Lascelles, B.G., Merriman, J.C., O'brien, M., Ramírez, I., Waliczky, Z., Wege, D.C., 2019. Important Bird and Biodiversity Areas (IBAs): the development and characteristics of a global inventory of key sites for biodiversity. Bird Conserv. Int. 29, 177–198.
- Doray, M., Petitgas, P., Romagnan, J.B., Huret, M., Duhamel, E., Dupuy, C., Spitz, J., Authier, M., Sanchez, F., Berger, L., Dorémus, G., Bourriau, P., Grellier, P., Massé, J., 2018. The PELGAS survey: Ship-based integrated monitoring of the Bay of Biscay pelagic ecosystem. Prog. Oceanogr. 166, 15–29.
- Dormann, C., Elith, J., Bacher, S., 2013. Collinearity: a review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. Ecography. 36, 27–46.
- Druon, J.N., Panigada, S., David, L., Gannier, A., Mayol, P., Arcangeli, A., Cañadas, A., Laran, S., Méglio, N. Di, Gauffier, P., 2012. Potential feeding habitat of fin whales in the western Mediterranean Sea: An environmental niche model. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 464, 289–306.
- Duarte, C.M., Hendriks, I.E., Moore, T.S., Olsen, Y.S., Steckbauer, A., Ramajo, L., Carstensen, J., Trotter, J.A., McCulloch, M., 2013. Is Ocean Acidification an Open-Ocean Syndrome? Understanding Anthropogenic Impacts on Seawater pH. Estuaries and Coasts 36, 221–236.
- Dulvy, N.K., Sadovy, Y., Reynolds, J.D., 2003. Extinction vulnerability in marine populations. Fish Fish. 4, 25–64.
- Dussurget, R., Birol, F., Morrow, R., Mey, P. De, 2011. Fine resolution altimetry data for a regional application in the Bay of Biscay. Mar. Geod. 34, 447–476.
- Edwards, E.F., Hall, C., Moore, T.J., Sheredy, C., Redfern, J. V, 2015. Global distribution of fin whales *Balaenoptera physalus* in the post-whaling era (1980-2012). Mamm. Rev. 45, 197–214.

- Edwards, M., Richardson, A.J., 2004. Impact of climate change on marine pelagic phenology and trophic mismatch. Nature 430, 881–884.
- Egevang, C., Stenhouse, I.J., Phillips, R.A., Petersen, A., Fox, J.W., Silk, J.R.D., 2010. Tracking of Arctic terns Sterna paradisaea reveals longest animal migration. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107, 2078–2081.
- Einoder, L.D., 2009. A review of the use of seabirds as indicators in fisheries and ecosystem management. Fish. Res. 95, 6–13.
- Elith, J., Leathwick, J.R., 2009. Species Distribution Models: Ecological Explanation and Prediction Across Space and Time. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 40, 677–697.
- Eriksen, M., Lebreton, L.C.M., Carson, H.S., Thiel, M., Moore, C.J., Borerro, J.C., Galgani, F., Ryan, P.G., Reisser, J., 2014. Plastic pollution in the world's oceans: more than 5 trillion plastic pieces weighing over 250,000 tons afloat at sea. PLoS One 9, e111913.
- Essington, T.E., Schindler, D.E., Olson, R.J., Kitchell, J.F., Boggs, C., Hilborn, R., 2002. Alternative fisheries and the predation rate of yellowfin tuna in the eastern Pacific Ocean. Ecol. Appl. 12, 724–734.
- Estes, J.A., Heithaus, M., McCauley, D.J., Rasher, D.B., Worm, B., 2016. Megafaunal impacts on structure and function of ocean ecosystems. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 41, 83–116.
- Estes, J.A., Terborgh, J., Brashares, J.S., Power, M.E., Berger, J., Bond, W.J., Carpenter, S.R., Essington, T.E., Holt, R.D., Jackson, J.B.C., Marquis, R.J., Oksanen, L., Oksanen, T., Paine, R.T., Pikitch, E.K., Ripple, W.J., Sandin, S.A., Scheffer, M., Schoener, T.W., Shurin, J.B., Sinclair, A.R.E., Soulé, M.E., Virtanen, R., Wardle, D.A., 2011. Trophic downgrading of planet earth. Science. 333, 301–306.
- European Commision, 2008. Directive 2008/56/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 June 2008 establishing a framework for community action in the field of environmental policy (Marine Strategy Framework Directive).
- European Commission, 2019a. Key drivers of success for Natura 2000, Natura 2000 Nature and Biodiversity Newsletter (ISSN 2443-7727) Number 45, February 2019.
- European Commission, 2019b. Evaluation of the Entry/Exit scheme in accordance with Article 23(3) of Regulation (EU) 1380/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the Common Fisheries Policy. Brussels (Belgium).
- European Commission, 2018. Natura 2000 Nature and Biodiversity Newsletter. Luxemburg.
- European Commission, 2014. Directive 2014/89/EU of the European Parliment and of the Council of 23 July 2014 establishing a framework for maritime spatial planning, Offical Journal of the European Union.
- European Commission, 2011. Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) no. 404/2011. Laying down detailed rules for the implementation of Council Regulation EC No 1224/2009 establishing a community control system for ensuring compliance with the rules of the Common Fisheries Policy, Official Journal of the European Union, L 112/1.
- European Commission, 2010. Commission Decision of 1 September 2010 on criteria and methodological standards on good environmental status of marine waters (notified under document C(2010) 5956)(2010/477/EU).
- European Commission, 2009. Directive2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November 2009 on the conservation of wild birds.
- European Commission, 2007. Guidelines for the establishment of the Natura 2000 network in the marine environment. *Application of the Habitats and Birds Directives*.

European Commission, 2000. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council

of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for community action in the field of water policy.

- Evans, P., Bjørge, A., 2013. Impacts of climate change on marine mammals. MCCIP Sci. Rev. 134– 148. https://doi.org/10.5822/978-1-61091-480-2_3
- Evans, P.G.H., 2006. Conservation of Cetaceans, in: Sixth European Seminar on Marine Mammals: Biology and Conservation. Valencia (Spain).
- Evans, P.G.H., Hammond, P.S., 2004. Monitoring cetaceans in European waters. Mamm. Rev. 34, 131–156.
- Fauchald, P., 2009. Spatial interaction between seabirds and prey: Review and synthesis. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 391, 139–151.
- Fauchald, P., Erikstad, K.E., Skarsfjord, H., 2000. Scale-dependent predator-prey interactions: The hierarchical spatial distribution of seabirds and prey. Ecology 81, 773–783.
- Fernandes, J.A., Granado, I., Kroodsma, D., Santiago, J., Zarauz, L., Mugerza, E., Arregi, L., Galparsoro, I., Iriondo, A., Basurko, O.C., Uriarte, A., Grande, M., Andonegi, E., Quincoces, I., Arrizabalaga, H., Murua, H., Irigoien, X., 2018. Comparison of actual fishing effort with AIS estimate: a case study from the Bay of Biscay and potential applications., in: Committee of Fisheries 33rd Session. Rome, Italy.
- Fernandes, M. da L., Quintela, A., Alves, F.L., 2018. Identifying conservation priority areas to inform maritime spatial planning: A new approach. Sci. Total Environ. 639, 1088–1098.
- Ferrari, R., Malcolm, H., Neilson, J., Lucieer, V., Jordan, A., Ingleton, T., Figueira, W., Johnstone, N., Hill, N., 2018. Integrating distribution models and habitat classification maps into marine protected area planning. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 212, 40–50.
- Ferreira, A., Garrido-Amador, P., Brito, A.C., 2019. Disentangling environmental drivers of phytoplankton biomass off Western Iberia. Front. Mar. Sci. 6, 1–17.
- Fielding, A.H., Bell, J.F., 1997. A review of methods for the assessment of prediction errors in conservation presence/absence models. Environ. Conserv. 24, 38–49.
- Figueiras, F.G., Labarta, U., Fernández Reiriz, M.J., 2002. Coastal upwelling, primary production and mussel growth in the Rías Baixas of Galicia. Hydrobiologia 484, 121–131.
- Finney, S., Wanless, S., Harris, M.P., 1999. The Effect of Weather Conditions on the Feeding Behaviour of a Diving Bird, the Common Guillemot *Uria aalge*. J. Avian Biol. 30, 23–30.
- Fisher, D.O., Owens, I.P.F., 2004. The comparative method in conservation biology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 19, 391–398.
- Fontaine, R., Gimenez, O., Bried, J., 2011. The impact of introduced predators, light-induced mortality of fledglings and poaching on the dynamics of the Cory's shearwater (*Calonectris diomedea*) population from the Azores, northeastern subtropical Atlantic. Biol. Conserv. 144, 1998–2011.
- Fort, J., Pettex, E., Tremblay, Y., Lorentsen, S.H., Garthe, S., Votier, S., Pons, J.B., Siorat, F., Furness, R.W., Grecian, W.J., Bearhop, S., Montevecchi, W.A., Grémillet, D., 2012. Metapopulation evidence of oriented chain migration in northern gannets (*Morus bassanus*). Front. Ecol. Environ. 10, 237–242.
- Fort, J., Porter, W.P., Gremillet, D., 2009. Thermodynamic modelling predicts energetic bottleneck for seabirds wintering in the northwest Atlantic. J. Exp. Biol. 212, 2483–2490.
- Fossette, S., Hobson, V.J., Girard, C., Calmettes, B., Gaspar, P., Georges, J.Y., Hays, G.C., 2010. Spatio-temporal foraging patterns of a giant zooplanktivore, the leatherback turtle. J. Mar. Syst. 81, 225–234.
- Franco, J., Fort, J., García-Barón, I., Loubat, P., Louzao, M., del Puerto, O., Zorita, I., 2019. Incidence

of plastic ingestion in seabirds from the Bay of Biscay (Southwestern Europe). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 146, 387–392.

- Franklin, J., 2010. Mapping species distributions: Spatial inference and prediction, Mapping Species Distributions: Spatial Inference and Prediction. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK
- Friedlaender, A.S., Halpin, P.N., Qian, S.S., Lawson, G.L., Wiebe, P.H., Thiele, D., Read, A.J., 2006. Whale distribution in relation to prey abundance and oceanographic processes in shelf waters of the Western Antarctic Peninsula. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 317, 297–310.
- Friedland, K.D., Stock, C., Drinkwater, K.F., Link, J.S., Leaf, R.T., Shank, B. V., Rose, J.M., Pilskaln, C.H., Fogarty, M.J., 2012. Pathways between primary production and fisheries yields of large marine ecosystems. PLoS One 7, e28945. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028945
- Frolov, S., Garau, B., Bellingham, J., 2014. Can we do better than the grid survey: Optimal synoptic surveys in presence of variable uncertainty and decorrelation scales. J. Geophys. Res. Ocean. 119, 5071–5090.
- Furness, R.W., 2006. How many fish should we leave in the sea for seabirds and marine mammals?, in: Conservation Biology Series-Cambridge. Cambridge: Press Syndicate of the University of Cambridge, p. 211.
- Gaines, S.D., White, C., Carr, M.H., Palumbi, S.R., 2010. Designing marine reserve networks for both conservation and fisheries management. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107, 18286–18293.
- Gall, S.C., Thompson, R.C., 2015. The impact of debris on marine life. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 92, 170– 179.
- Game, E.T., Grantham, H.S., Hobday, A.J., Pressey, R.L., Lombard, A.T., Beckley, L.E., Gjerde, K., Bustamante, R., Possingham, H.P., Richardson, A.J., 2009. Pelagic protected areas: the missing dimension in ocean conservation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 360–369.
- García-Barón, I., Authier, M., Caballero, A., Vázquez, J.A., Santos, M.B., Louzao, M., 2019a. Modelling the spatial abundance of a migratory predator: a call for transboundary marine protected areas. Divers. Distrib. 25, 346–360.
- García-Barón, I., Santos, M.B., Uriarte, A., Inchausti, J.I., Escribano, J.M., Albisu, J., Fayos, M., Pis-Millán, J.A., Oleaga, Á., Alonso, F.E., Hernández, O., Moreno, O., Louzao, M., 2019b. Which are the main threats affecting the marine megafauna in the Bay of Biscay? Cont. Shelf Res. 186, 1–12.
- Gaston, K., Blackburn, T., 1995. Birds, body size and the threat of extinction. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London B Biol. Sci. 347, 205–212.
- Gaston, K.J., Rodrigues, A.S.L., 2003. Reserve selection in regions with poor biological data. Conserv. Biol. 17, 188–195.
- Giakoumi, S., Brown, C.J., Katsanevakis, S., Saunders, M.I., Possingham, H.P., 2015. Using threat maps for cost-effective prioritization of actions to conserve coastal habitats. Mar. Policy 61, 95–102.
- Giakoumi, S., Hermoso, V., Carvalho, S.B., Markantonatou, V., Dagys, M., Iwamura, T., Probst, W.N., Smith, R.J., Yates, K.L., Almpanidou, V., Novak, T., Ben-Moshe, N., Katsanevakis, S., Claudet, J., Coll, M., Deidun, A., Essl, F., García-Charton, J.A., Jimenez, C., Kark, S., Mandić, M., Mazaris, A.D., Rabitsch, W., Stelzenmüller, V., Tricarico, E., Vogiatzakis, I.N., 2019. Conserving European biodiversity across realms. Conserv. Lett. 12, 1–9.
- Giakoumi, S., Katsanevakis, S., Vassilopoulou, V., Panayotidis, P., Kavadas, S., Issaris, Y., Kokkali, A., Frantzis, A., Panou, A., Mavrommati, G., 2012. Could European marine conservation policy benefit from systematic conservation planning? Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 22, 762–775.
- Giakoumi, S., Sini, M., Gerovasileiou, V., Mazor, T., Beher, J., Possingham, H.P., Abdulla, A., Çinar,

M.E., Dendrinos, P., Gucu, A.C., Karamanlidis, A.A., Rodic, P., Panayotidis, P., Taskin, E., Jaklin, A., Voultsiadou, E., Webster, C., Zenetos, A., Katsanevakis, S., 2013. Ecoregion-Based Conservation Planning in the Mediterranean: Dealing with Large-Scale Heterogeneity. PLoS One 8, e76449.

- Gibson, L., 2005. A critical evaluation of the Bay of Biscay as a candidate for a Marine Protected Area. Doctoral dissertation, MsC thesis. University of Wales. Bangor.
- Gloaguen, P., Mahévas, S., Rivot, E., Woillez, M., Guitton, J., Vermard, Y., Etienne, M.P., 2015. An autoregressive model to describe fishing vessel movement and activity. Environmetrics 26, 17– 28.
- Goetz, S., Read, F.L., Ferreira, M., Portela, J.M., Santos, M.B., Vingada, J., Siebert, U., Marçalo, A., Santos, J., Araújo, H., Monteiro, S., Caldas, M., Riera, M., Pierce, G.J., 2015. Cetacean occurrence, habitat preferences and potential for cetacean-fishery interactions in Iberian Atlantic waters: Results from cooperative research involving local stakeholders. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 25, 138–154.
- Goldbogen, J.A., Hazen, E.L., Friedlaender, A.S., Calambokidis, J., DeRuiter, S.L., Stimpert, A.K., Southall, B.L., 2015. Prey density and distribution drive the three-dimensional foraging strategies of the largest filter feeder. Funct. Ecol. 29, 951–961.
- Gomez, C., Lawson, J.W., Wright, A.J., Buren, A.D., Tollit, D., Lesage, V., 2016. A systematic review on the behavioural responses of wild marine mammals to noise: the disparity between science and policy. Can. J. Zool. 94, 801–819.
- Gomis, D., Ruiz, S., Pedder, M.A., 2001. Diagnostic analysis of the 3D ageostrophic circulation from a multivariate spatial interpolation of CTD and ADCP data. Deep. Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 48, 269–295.
- Gormley, A.M., Slooten, E., Dawson, S., Barker, R.J., Rayment, W., Du Fresne, S., Bräger, S., 2012. First evidence that marine protected areas can work for marine mammals. J. Appl. Ecol. 49, 474–480.
- Gottschalk, T.K., Huettmann, F., 2011. Comparison of distance sampling and territory mapping methods for birds in four different habitats. J. Ornithol. 152, 421–429.
- Gower, J.C., 1971. A General Coefficient of Similarity and Some of Its Properties. Biometrics 27, 857.
- Grados, D., Bertrand, A., Colas, F., Echevin, V., Chaigneau, A., Gutiérrez, D., Vargas, G., Fablet, R., 2016. Spatial and seasonal patterns of fine-scale to mesoscale upper ocean dynamics in an Eastern Boundary Current System. Prog. Oceanogr. 142, 105–116.
- Gray, C.L., Hill, S.L.L., Newbold, T., Hudson, L.N., Boïrger, L., Contu, S., Hoskins, A.J., Ferrier, S., Purvis, A., Scharlemann, J.P.W., 2016. Local biodiversity is higher inside than outside terrestrial protected areas worldwide. Nat. Commun. 7, 12306.
- Gregory, B., Christophe, L., Martin, E., 2009. Rapid biogeographical plankton shifts in the North Atlantic Ocean. Glob. Chang. Biol. 15, 1790–1803.
- Grémillet, D., Lewis, S., Drapeau, L., Lingen, C.D. Van Der, Huggett, J.A., Coetzee, J.C., Verheye, H.M., Daunt, F., Wanless, S., Ryan, P.G., 2008. Spatial match–mismatch in the Benguela upwelling zone: should we expect chlorophyll and sea-surface temperature to predict marine predator distributions? Wiley Online Libr. 45, 610–621.
- Grémillet, D., Ponchon, A., Paleczny, M., Palomares, M.L.D., Karpouzi, V., Pauly, D., 2018. Persisting Worldwide Seabird-Fishery Competition Despite Seabird Community Decline. Curr. Biol. 28, 4009–4013.

Grumbine, R.E., 1994. What is ecosystem management? Conserv. Biol. 8, 27–38.

Guisan, A., Zimmermann, N.E., 2000. Predictive habitat distribution models in ecology. Ecol. Modell. 135, 147–186.

- Halpern, B.S., Frazier, M., Potapenko, J., Casey, K.S., Koenig, K., Longo, C., Lowndes, J.S., Rockwood, R.C., Selig, E.R., Selkoe, K.A., Walbridge, S., 2015. Spatial and temporal changes in cumulative human impacts on the world's ocean. Nat. Commun. 6, 7615.
- Halpern, B.S., Selkoe, K.A., Micheli, F., Kappel, C. V, 2007. Evaluating and ranking the vulnerability of global marine ecosystems to anthropogenic threats. Conserv. Biol. 21, 1301–1315.
- Halpern, B.S., Walbridge, S., Selkoe, K.A., Kappel, C.V., Micheli, F., D'Agrosa, C., Bruno, J.F., Casey, K.S., Ebert, C., Fox, H.E., Fujita, R., Heinemann, D., Lenihan, H.S., Madin, E.M.P., Perry, M.T., Selig, E.R., Spalding, M., Steneck, R., Watson, R., 2008. A global map of human impact on marine ecosystems. Science. 319, 948–952.
- Halpern, B. S., Walbridge, S., Selkoe, K.A., Kappel, C. V., Micheli, F., D'Agrosa, C., Bruno, J.F., Casey, K.S., Ebert, C., Fox, H.E., Fujita, R., Heinemann, D., Lenihan, H.S., Madin, E.M.P., Perry, M.T., Selig, E.R., Spalding, M., Steneck, R., Watson, R., 2008. A Global Map of Human Impact on Marine Ecosystems. Science. 319, 948–952.
- Haman, K.H., Norton, T.M., Ronconi, R.A., Nemeth, N.M., Thomas, A.C., Courchesne, S.J., Segars, A., Keel, M.K., 2013. Great shearwater (*Puffinus gravis*) mortality events along the eastern coast of the United States. J. Wildl. Dis. 49, 235–245.
- Hammond, P., Lacey, C., Gilles, A., Viquerat, S., Börjesson, P., Herr, H., MacLeod, K., Ridoux, V., Santos, M., Scheidat, M., Teilmann, J., Vingada, J., Øien, N., 2017. Estimates of cetacean abundance in European Atlantic waters in summer 2016 from the SCANS-III aerial and shipboard surveys. Wageningen Marine Research.
- Hammond, P.S., Macleod, K., Berggren, P., Borchers, D.L., Burt, L., Cañadas, A., Desportes, G., Donovan, G.P., Gilles, A., Gillespie, D., Gordon, J., Hiby, L., Kuklik, I., Leaper, R., Lehnert, K., Leopold, M., Lovell, P., Øien, N., Paxton, C.G.M., Ridoux, V., Rogan, E., Samarra, F., Scheidat, M., Sequeira, M., Siebert, U., Skov, H., Swift, R., Tasker, M.L., Teilmann, J., Van Canneyt, O., Vázquez, J.A., 2013. Cetacean abundance and distribution in European Atlantic shelf waters to inform conservation and management. Biol. Conserv. 164, 107–122.
- Hammond, P.S., Macleod, K., Gillespie, D., Swift, R., Winship, A., Burt, M.L., Cañadas, A., Vázquez, J.A., Ridoux, V., Certain, G., Van Canneyt, O., Lens, S., Santos, M.B., Rogan, E., Uriarte, A., Hernández, C., Castro, R., 2009. Cetacean offshore distribution and abundance in the European Atlantic (CODA). Final report to the European Commission. University of St. Andrews. Saint Andrews, Scotland.
- Harley, C.D.G., 2011. Climate change, keystone predation, and biodiversity loss. Science. 334, 1127–1127.
- Harley, C.D.G., Randall Hughes, A., Hultgren, K.M., Miner, B.G., Sorte, C.J.B., Thornber, C.S., Rodriguez, L.F., Tomanek, L., Williams, S.L., 2006. The impacts of climate change in coastal marine systems: Climate change in coastal marine systems. Ecol. Lett. 9, 228–241.
- Harris, L.R., Watts, M.E., Nel, R., Schoeman, D.S., Possingham, H.P., 2014. Using multivariate statistics to explore trade-offs among spatial planning scenarios. J. Appl. Ecol. 51, 1504–1514.
- Harwood, J., 2001. Marine Mammals and Their Environment in the Twenty-First Century. J. Mammal. 82, 630–640.
- Hatch, S.A., Sanger, G.A., 1992. Puffins as samplers of juvenile pollock and other forage fish in the Gulf of Alaska. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 80, 1–14.
- Haupt, P.W., Lombard, A.T., Goodman, P.S., Harris, J.M., 2017. Accounting for spatiotemporal dynamics in conservation planning for coastal fish in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Biol. Conserv. 209, 289–303.
- Hays, G.C., Richardson, A.J., Robinson, C., 2005. Climate change and marine plankton. Trends Ecol. Evol. 20, 337–344.

- Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Otley, H., Phillips, R.A., Fifield, D.A., 2012. Trans-equatorial migration and habitat use by sooty shearwaters *Puffinus griseus* from the South Atlantic during the nonbreeding season. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 449, 277–290.
- Hedley, S.L., Buckland, S.T., 2004. Spatial models for line transect sampling. J. Agric. Biol. Environ. Stat. 9, 181–199.
- Heinemann, D., 1981. A rangefinder for pelagic bird censusing. J. Wildl. Manage. 45, 489–493.
- Heiskanen, A.S., van de Bund, W., Cardoso, A.C., Nõges, P., 2004. Towards good ecological status of surface waters in Europe - Interpretation and harmonisation of the concept. Water Sci. Technol. 49, 169–177.
- Heithaus, M.R., Frid, A., Wirsing, A.J., Worm, B., 2008. Predicting ecological consequences of marine top predator declines. Trends Ecol. Evol. 23, 202–210.
- Hemery, G., D'Amico, F., Castege, I., Dupont, B., D'Elbee, J., Lalanne, Y., Mouches, C., 2007. Detecting the impact of oceano-climatic changes on marine ecosystems using a multivariate index: the case of the Bay of Biscay (North Atlantic - European Ocean). Glob. Chang. Biol. 14, 1–12.
- Henkel, L.A., 2009. Co-occurrence and aggregation of marine birds and mammals in Monterey Bay, California, USA. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 387, 295–303.
- Henry, P.Y., Lengyel, S., Nowicki, P., Julliard, R., Clobert, J., Čelik, T., Gruber, B., Schmeller, D.S., Babij, V., Henle, K., 2008. Integrating ongoing biodiversity monitoring: Potential benefits and methods. Biodivers. Conserv. 17, 3357–3382.
- Hermoso, V., Clavero, M., Villero, D., Brotons, L., 2017. EU's Conservation Efforts Need More Strategic Investment to Meet Continental Commitments. Conserv. Lett. 10, 231–237.
- Hernandez-Gonzalez, A., Saavedra, C., Gago, J., Covelo, P., Santos, M.B., Hernandez-Gonzalez, A., Saavedra, C., Gago, J., Covelo, P., Santos, M.B., 2017. Analysis and Quantification of Microplastics in the Stomachs of Common Dolphin (*Delphinus delphis*) Stranded on the Galician Coasts (NW Spain), in: Baztan, J., Jorgensen, B., Pahl, S., Thompson, R.C., Vanderlinden, J.P. (Eds.), Fate and Impact of Microplastics in Marine Ecosystems. Elsevier, pp. 123–124.
- Heupel, M.R., 2005. Using acoustic monitoring to evaluate MPAs for shark nursery areas: The importance of long-term data. Mar. Technol. Soc. J. 39, 10–18.
- Heupel, M.R., Carlson, J.K., Simpfendorfer, C.A., 2007. Shark nursery areas: concepts, definition, characterization and assumptions. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 337, 287–297.
- Hiemstra, P.H., Pebesma, E.J., Twenhöfel, C.J.W., Heuvelink, G.B.M., 2009. Real-time automatic interpolation of ambient gamma dose rates from the Dutch radioactivity monitoring network. Comput. Geosci. 35, 1711–1721.
- Hijmans, R.J., van Etten, J., 2014. raster: geographic data analysis and modeling. R package version 2: 15.
- Hildebrand, J.A., 2009. Anthropogenic and natural sources of ambient noise in the ocean. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 395, 5–20.
- Hindell, M., Bradshaw, C., Harcourt, R., Guinet, C., 2003. Ecosystem monitoring: Are seals a potential tool for monitoring change in marine systems? Mar. Mammals. Fish. Tour. Manag. Issues 2006, 330–343.
- Hintzen, N., Bastardie, F., Beare, D., 2017. vmstools: For analysing fisheries VMS (Vessel Monitoring System) data. R package version 0.75.
- Hobbs, M.J., Brereton, T., Weir, C., Williams, A., 2003. Baseline monitoring data on Procellariformes (shearwaters) in the Bay of Biscay. Ornis Hungarica 12–13, 115–125.

- Hobday, A.J., Maxwell, S.M., Forgie, J., Mcdonald, J., Darby, M., Sesto, K., Bailey, H., Bograd, S.J., Briscoe, D.K., Costa, D.P., Cowder, L.B., Dunn, D.C., Fossette, S., Halpin, P.N., Hartog, J.R., Hazen, E.L., Lascelles, B.G., Lewison, R.L., Poulos, G., Powers, A., 2014. Dynamic Ocean Management: Integrating scientific and technological capacity with law, policy and management. Stanford Environ. Law J. 33, 125–165.
- Holt, R.D., 2009. Bringing the Hutchinsonian niche into the 21st century: ecological and evolutionary perspectives. Natl. Acad Sci. 106, 19659–19665.
- Hooker, S.K., Cañadas, A., Hyrenbach, K.D., Corrigan, C., Polovina, J.J., Reeves, R.R., 2011. Making protected area networks effective for marine top predators. Endanger. Species Res. 13, 203–218.
- Hooker, S.K., Gerber, L.R., 2004. Marine Reserves as a Tool for Ecosystem-Based Management: The Potential Importance of Megafauna. Bioscience 54, 27.
- Horton, T.W., Hauser, N., Zerbini, A.N., Francis, M.P., Domeier, M.L., Andriolo, A., Costa, D.P., Robinson, P.W., Duffy, C.A.J., Nasby-Lucas, N., Holdaway, R.N., Clapham, P.J., 2017. Route fidelity during marine megafauna migration. Front. Mar. Sci. 4, 422.
- Hoyt, E., 2018. Marine Protected Areas, in: Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Academic Press, pp. 569–580.
- Huettmann, F., Diamond, A.W., 2000. Seabird migration in the Canadian northwest Atlantic Ocean: Moulting locations and movement patterns of immature birds. Can. J. Zool. 78, 624–647.
- Hutchinson, G.E., 1957. Concluding remarks: The demographic symposium as a heterogeneous unstable population. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 22, 415–427.
- Huxley, T.H., 1884. The Fisheries Exhibition. Literature 4, 1–22.
- ICES, 2018. Report of the Working Group on Acoustic and Egg Surveys for Sardine and Anchovy in ICES Areas 7, 8 and 9 (WGACEGG)., ICES Document CM. 19-23 November. Nantes, France.
- ICES, 2017. Report of the Working Group on Bycatch of Protected Species (WGBYC), ICES CM 2017. Woods Hole, Massachusetts, USA.
- ICES, 2016. Working Group on Bycatch of Protected Species (WGBYC), Ices Cm 2016/Acom:27. ICES HQ, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- ICES, 2015. Report of the Working Group on Marine Mammal Ecology (WGMME). London, UK.
- ICES, 2009. Report of the Working Group on Acoustic and Egg Surveys for Sardine and Anchovy in ICES Areas VIII and IX (WGACEGG), 16–20 November 2009. Lisbon, Portugal.
- IPBES, 2019. Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. IPBES Secretariat, Bonn, Germany.
- Irigoien, X., Fernandes, J.A., Grosjean, P., Denis, K., Albaina, A., Santos, M., 2009. Spring zooplankton distribution in the Bay of Biscay from 1998 to 2006 in relation with anchovy recruitment. J. Plankton Res. 31, 1–17.
- IUCN, 2018. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2018-2. http://www.iucnredlist.org. Downloaded on 14 November 2018.
- IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature), 2013. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. *Balaenoptera physalus*.
- IWC, 2007. Report of the Subcommittee on the revised management procedure. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 9, 88–128.
- Jackson, J.B.C., Kirby, M.X., Berger, W.H., Bjorndal, K.A., Botsford, L.W., Bourque, B.J., Bradbury, R.H., Cooke, R., Erlandson, J., Estes, J.A., Hughes, T.P., Kidwell, S., Lange, C.B., Lenihan,

H.S., Pandolfi, J.M., Peterson, C.H., Steneck, R.S., Tegner, M.J., Warner, R.R., 2001. Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. Science. 293, 629–637.

- Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R., Barber, J.L., Aguilar, À., Borrell, A., Murphy, S., Barry, J., Brownlow, A., Barnett, J., Berrow, S., Cunningham, A.A., Davison, N.J., Ten Doeschate, M., Esteban, R., Ferreira, M., Foote, A.D., Genov, T., Giménez, J., Loveridge, J., Llavona, Á., Martin, V., Maxwell, D.L., Papachlimitzou, A., Penrose, R., Perkins, M.W., Smith, B., De Stephanis, R., Tregenza, N., Verborgh, P., Fernandez, A., Law, R.J., 2016. PCB pollution continues to impact populations of orcas and other dolphins in European waters. Sci. Rep. 6, 18573.
- Johannes, R.E., 1978. Traditional marine conservation methods in Oceania and Their Demise. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 9, 349–364.
- Johnson, J.B., Omland, K.S., 2004. Model selection in ecology and evolution. Trends Ecol. Evol. 19, 101–108.
- Jørgensen, S.E., Bendoricchio, G., 2001. Fundamentals of ecological modelling. Elsevier.
- Kark, S., Tulloch, A., Gordon, A., Mazor, T., Bunnefeld, N., Levin, N., 2015. Cross-boundary collaboration: Key to the conservation puzzle. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 12, 12–24.
- Kaschner, K., Pauly, D., 2005. Competition between marine mammals and fisheries: Food for Thought, in: Salem, D.J., Rowan, A.N. (Eds.), The State of Animals III. Human Society Press, Washington, DC, pp. 95–117.
- Kaschner, K., Watson, R., Trites, A.W., Pauly, D., 2006. Mapping world-wide distributions of marine mammal species using a relative environmental suitability (RES) model. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 316, 285–310.
- Kelleher, G. (Ed), 1999. Guidelines for marine protected areas, IUCN. Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK.
- King, G., Zeng, L., 2007. When can history be our guide? The pitfalls of counterfactual inference. Polit. Anal. 14, 131–159.
- King, G., Zeng, L., 2006. The dangers of extreme counterfactuals. Polit. Anal. 14, 131–159.
- Kiszka, J.J., Heithaus, M.R., Wirsing, A.J., 2015. Behavioural drivers of the ecological roles and importance of marine mammals. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 523, 267–281.
- Klein, C.J., Steinback, C., Scholz, A.J., Possingham, H.P., 2008. Effectiveness of marine reserve networks in representing biodiversity and minimizing impact to fishermen: a comparison of two approaches used in California. Conserv. Lett. 1, 44–51.
- Koutsikopoulos, C., Beillois, P., Leroy, C., Taillefer, F., 1998. Temporal trends and spatial structures of the sea surface temperature in the Bay of Biscay. Oceanol. Acta 21, 335–344.
- Koutsikopoulos, C., Le Cann, B., 1996. Physical processes and hydrological structures related to the Bay of Biscay anchovy. Sci. Mar. 60, 9–19.
- Kroodsma, D.A., Mayorga, J., Hochberg, T., Miller, N.A., Boerder, K., Ferretti, F., Wilson, A., Bergman, B., White, T.D., Block, B.A., Woods, P., Sullivan, B., Costello, C., Worm, B., 2018. Tracking the global footprint of fisheries. Science. 359, 904–908.
- Kuhn, T., Cunze, S., Kochmann, J., Klimpel, S., 2016. Environmental variables and definitive host distribution: A habitat suitability modelling for endohelminth parasites in the marine realm. Sci. Rep. 6, 1–14.
- Kuletz, K.J., Ferguson, M.C., Hurley, B., Gall, A.E., Labunski, E.A., Morgan, T.C., 2015. Seasonal spatial patterns in seabird and marine mammal distribution in the eastern Chukchi and western Beaufort seas: Identifying biologically important pelagic areas. Prog. Oceanogr. 136, 175–200.

Laake, J., Borchers, D., Thomas, L., Miller, D., Bishop, J., 2015. mrds: Mark-Recapture Distance

Sampling. R package version 2.1.14.

- Laidre, K.L., Heide-Jørgensen, M.P., Heagerty, P., Cossio, A., Bergström, B., Simon, M., 2010. Spatial associations between large baleen whales and their prey in West Greenland. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 402, 269–284.
- Lambert, C., Authier, M., Doray, M., Dorémus, G., Spitz, J., Ridoux, V., 2018. Decadal stability in top predator habitat preferences in the Bay of Biscay. Prog. Oceanogr. 166, 109–120.
- Lambert, C., Pettex, E., Dorémus, G., Laran, S., Stéphan, E., Van Canneyt, O., Ridoux, V., 2017a. How does ocean seasonality drive habitat preferences of highly mobile top predators? Part II: The eastern North-Atlantic. Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 141, 31–40.
- Lambert, C., Virgili, A., Pettex, E., Delavenne, J., Toison, V., Blanck, A., Ridoux, V., 2017b. Habitat modelling predictions highlight seasonal relevance of Marine Protected Areas for marine megafauna. Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 141, 262–274.
- Landis, J.R., Koch, G.G., 1977. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics 33, 159.
- Laneri, K., Louzao, M., Martínez-Abraín, A., Arcos, J.M., Belda, E.J., Guallart, J., Sánchez, A., Giménez, M., Maestre, R., Oro, D., 2010. Trawling regime influences longline seabird bycatch in the Mediterranean: New insights from a small-scale fishery. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 420, 241–252.
- Laran, S., Authier, M., Blanck, A., Doremus, G., Falchetto, H., Monestiez, P., Pettex, E., Stephan, E., Van Canneyt, O., Ridoux, V., 2017. Seasonal distribution and abundance of cetaceans within French waters- Part II: The Bay of Biscay and the English Channel. Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 141, 31–40.
- Larkin, P.A., 1996. Concepts and issues in marine ecosystem management.pdf. Rev. fish Biol. Fish. 6, 139–164.
- Lascelles, B., Notarbartolo Di Sciara, G., Agardy, T., Cuttelod, A., Eckert, S., Glowka, L., Hoyt, E., Llewellyn, F., Louzao, M., Ridoux, V., Tetley, M.J., 2014. Migratory marine species: Their status, threats and conservation management needs. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 24, 111– 127.
- Lascelles, B.G., Langham, G.M., Ronconi, R.A., Reid, J.B., 2012. From hotspots to site protection: Identifying Marine Protected Areas for seabirds around the globe. Biol. Conserv. 156, 5–14.
- Lassalle, G., Gascuel, D., Le Loch, F., Lobry, J., Pierce, G.J., Ridoux, V., Santos, M.B., Spitz, J., Niquil, N., 2012. An ecosystem approach for the assessment of fisheries impacts on marine top predators: The Bay of Biscay case study. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 69, 925–938.
- Laurila-Pant, M., Lehikoinen, A., Uusitalo, L., Venesjärvi, R., 2015. How to value biodiversity in environmental management? Ecol. Indic. 55, 1–11.
- Lavín, A., Valdés, L., Sánchez, F., Abaunza, P., Forest, A., Boucher, J., Lazure, P., Jegou, A.-M., 2006. The Bay of Biscay: the encountering of the ocean and the shelf, in: The Sea Volume 14B: The Global Coastal Ocean. Interdisciplinary Regional Studies and Syntheses. Harvard University Press, pp. 933–1001.
- Lawrence, J.M., Armstrong, E., Gordon, J., Lusseau, S.M., Fernandes, P.G., 2016. Passive and active, predator and prey: Using acoustics to study interactions between cetaceans and forage fish. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 73, 2075–2084.
- Le Cann, B., 1990. Barotropic tidal dynamics of the Bay of Biscay shelf: observations, numerical modelling and physical interpretation. Cont. Shelf Res. 10, 723–758.
- Le Rest, K., Certain, G., Debétencourt, B., Bretagnolle, V., 2016. Spatio-temporal modelling of auk abundance after the Erika oil spill and implications for conservation. J. Appl. Ecol. 53, 1862– 1870.

- Le Saout, S., Hoffmann, M., Shi, Y., Hughes, A., Bernard, C., Brooks, T.M., Bertzky, B., Butchart, S.H.M., Stuart, S.N., Badman, T., Rodrigues, A.S., 2013. Protected Areas and Effective Biodiversity Conservation. Science. 342, 803–805.
- Lee, J., South, A.B., Jennings, S., 2010. Developing reliable, repeatable, and accessible methods to provide high-resolution estimates of fishing-effort distributions from vessel monitoring system (VMS) data. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 67, 1260–1271.
- Lehodey, P., Murtugudde, R., Senina, I., 2010. Bridging the gap from ocean models to population dynamics of large marine predators: A model of mid-trophic functional groups. Prog. Oceanogr. 84, 69–84.
- León, P., Blanco, J.M., Flexas, M. del M., Gomis, D., Reul, A., Rodríguez, V., Jiménez-Gómez, F., Allen, J.T., Rodríguez, J., 2015. Surface mesoscale pico–nanoplankton patterns at the main fronts of the Alboran Sea. J. Mar. Syst. 143, 7–23.
- Lezama-Ochoa, A., Boyra, G., Goñi, N., Arrizabalaga, H., Bertrand, A., 2010. Investigating relationships between albacore tuna (*Thunnus alalunga*) CPUE and prey distribution in the Bay of Biscay. Prog. Oceanogr. 86, 105–114.
- Lindstrom, E., Gunn, J., Fischer, A., McCurdy, A., Glover, L.K., Members, T.T., 2012. A Framework for Ocean Observing. By theTask Team for an Integrated Framework for Sustained ocean Observing., UNESCO 2012, IOC/INF-1284.
- Llope, M., Anadón, R., Viesca, L., Quevedo, M., González-Quirós, R., Stenseth, N.C., 2006. Hydrography of the southern Bay of Biscay shelf-break region: Integrating the multiscale physical variability over the period 1993-2003. J. Geophys. Res. Ocean. 111, C09021.
- Lorance, P., Bertrand, J. a., Brind'Amour, A., Rochet, M.-J., Trenkel, V.M., 2009. Assessment of impacts from human activities on ecosystem components in the Bay of Biscay in the early 1990s. Aquat. Living Resour. 22, 409–431.
- Lotze, H.K., Lenihan, H.S., Bourque, B.J., Bradbury, R.H., Cooke, G., Kay, M.C., Kidwell, S.M., Kirby, M.X., Peterson, C.H., Jackson, J.B.C., 2006. Depletion, Degredation, and Recovery Potential of Estuaries and Coastal Seas. Science. 312, 1806–1809.
- Louzao, M., Afán, I., Santos, M., Brereton, T., 2015. The role of climate and food availability on driving decadal abundance patterns of highly migratory pelagic predators in the Bay of Biscay. Front. Ecol. Evol. 3.
- Louzao, M., Anadón, N., Arrontes, J., Álvarez-Claudio, C., Fuente, D.M., Ocharan, F., Anadón, A., Acuña, J.L., 2010. Historical macrobenthic community assemblages in the Avilés Canyon, N Iberian Shelf: Baseline biodiversity information for a marine protected area. J. Mar. Syst. 80, 47–56.
- Louzao, M., Bécares, J., Rodríguez, B., Hyrenbach, K.D., Ruiz, A., Arcos, J.M., 2009. Combining vessel-based surveys and tracking data to identify key marine areas for seabirds. Mar. Ecol. 197, 183–197.
- Louzao, M., Delord, K., García, D., Boué, A., Weimerskirch, H., 2012. Protecting Persistent Dynamic Oceanographic Features: Transboundary conservation efforts are needed for the critically endangered balearic shearwater. PLoS One 7, e35728.
- Louzao, M, Gallagher, R., García-Barón, I., Chust, G., Intxausti, I., Albisu, J., Brereton, T., Fontán, A., 2019. Threshold responses in bird mortality driven by extreme wind events. Ecol. Indic. 99, 183–192.
- Louzao, M., García-Barón, I., Rubio, A., Martínez, U., Vázquez, J.A., Murcia, J.L., Nogueira, E., Boyra, G., 2019a. Understanding the 3D environment of pelagic seabirds from multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys to advance ecosystem-based monitoring. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 617– 618, 199–219.

- Louzao, M., Hyrenbach, K.D., Arcos, J.M., Abelló, P., Sola, L.G. De, Oro, D., 2006. Oceanographic habitat of an endangered mediterranean procellariiform: implications for marine protected areas. Ecol. Appl. 16, 1683–1695.
- Louzao, M., Navarro, J., Delgado-Huertas, A., de Sola, L.G., Forero, M.G., 2016. Surface oceanographic fronts influencing deep-sea biological activity: Using fish stable isotopes as ecological tracers. Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 140, 117–126.
- Louzao, M., Navarro, J., Forero, M.G., Igual, J.M., Genovart, M., Hobson, K.A., Oro, D., 2011. Exploiting the closest productive area: Geographical segregation of foraging grounds in a critically endangered seabird. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 429, 291–301.
- Louzao, Maite, Pinaud, D., Péron, C., Delord, K., Wiegand, T., Weimerskirch, H., 2011. Conserving pelagic habitats: Seascape modelling of an oceanic top predator. J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 121–132.
- Louzao, M., Valeiras, J., Garcia-Barcelona, S., González-Quirós, R., Nogueira, E., Iglesias, M., Bode, A., Vázquez, J.A., Murcia, J.L., Saavedra, C., Pierce, G.J., Fernández, R., García-Barón, I., Santos, M.B., 2019b. Marine megafauna niche coexistence and hotspot areas in a temperate ecosystem. Cont. Shelf Res. 186, 77–87.
- Lowerre-Barbieri, S.K., Catalán, I.A., Frugård Opdal, A., Jørgensen, C., 2019. Preparing for the future: Integrating spatial ecology into ecosystem-based management. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 76, 467–476.
- Luczak, C., Beaugrand, G., Jaffre, M., Lenoir, S., 2011. Climate change impact on Balearic shearwater through a trophic cascade. Biol. Lett. 7, 702–705.
- Macfadyen, G., Huntington, T., Cappell, R., 2009. Abandoned, lost or otherwise discarded fishing gear, FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper 523.
- Machado, I., Costa, J.L., Leal, M.C., Pasquaud, S., Cabral, H., 2019. Assessment level and time scales of biodiversity indicators in the scope of the Marine Strategy Framework Directive - A case study for the NE Atlantic. Ecol. Indic. 105, 242–253.
- Macleod, C.D., 2009. Global climate change, range changes and potential implications for the conservation of marine cetaceans: a review and synthesis. Endanger. Species Res. 7, 125–136.
- Madroño, A., González, C., Atienza, J.C., 2004. Libro Rojo de las Aves de España. Dirección General para la Biodiversidad-SEO/BirdLife, Madrid, Spain.
- MAGRAMA, 2012a. Estrategias Marinas. Grupo Aves. Evaluación inicial y buen estado ambiental. Ministerio de Agricultura, Alimentación y Medio Ambiente: 296 pp. https://www.mapama.gob.es/es/costas/temas/proteccion-mediomarino/
- MAGRAMA, 2012b. Estrategias Marinas. Mamíferos marinos, evaluación inicial y buen estado ambiental. Ministerio de Agricultura, Alimentación y Medio Ambiente: 445 pp. https://www.mapama.gob.es/es/costas/temas/proteccion-medio-marino/0_Documento grupo mamiferos marinos def_tcm30-130952.pdf
- Magurran, A.E., Baillie, S.R., Buckland, S.T., Dick, J.M.P., Elston, D.A., Scott, E.M., Smith, R.I., Somerfield, P.J., Watt, A.D., 2010. Long-term datasets in biodiversity research and monitoring: Assessing change in ecological communities through time. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25, 574–582.
- Malhi, Y., Doughty, C.E., Galetti, M., Smith, F.A., Svenning, J.C., Terborgh, J.W., 2016. Megafauna and ecosystem function from the Pleistocene to the Anthropocene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 113, 838–846.
- Mann, K., Lazier, J., 2013. Dynamics of Marine Ecosystems: Biological-Physical Interactions in the Oceans (3rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Mannocci, L, Catalogna, M., Dorémus, G., Laran, S., Lehodey, P., 2014. Predicting cetacean and seabird habitats across a productivity gradient in the South Pacific gyre. Prog. Oceanogr. 120,
383-398.

- Mannocci, L., Dabin, W., Augeraud-Véron, E., Dupuy, J.F., Barbraud, C., Ridoux, V., 2012. Assessing the impact of bycatch on dolphin populations: The case of the common dolphin in the Eastern North Atlantic. PLoS One 7, e32615.
- Mannocci, Laura, Laran, S., Monestiez, P., Dor??mus, G., Van Canneyt, O., Watremez, P., Ridoux, V., 2014. Predicting top predator habitats in the southwest indian ocean. Ecography. 37, 261– 278.
- Mannocci, L., Monestiez, P., Spitz, J., Ridoux, V., 2015. Extrapolating cetacean densities beyond surveyed regions: Habitat-based predictions in the circumtropical belt. J. Biogeogr. 42, 1267-1280.
- Margules, C.R., Pressey, R.L., 2000. Systematic conservation planning. Nature 405, 243–253.
- Margues, F.F.C., Buckland, S.T., 2004. Covariate models for the detection function, in: Buckland, S.T., Anderson, D.R., Burnham, K.P., Thomas, L. (Eds.), Advanced Distance Sampling. Oxford University Press, Oxford., pp. 31-47.
- Martin, T.G., Chadès, I., Arcese, P., Marra, P.P., Possingham, H.P., Norris, D.R., 2007. Optimal Conservation of Migratory Species. PLoS One 2, e751.
- Mascia, M.B., Pailler, S., Thieme, M.L., Rowe, A., Bottrill, M.C., Danielsen, F., Geldmann, J., Naidoo, R., Pullin, A.S., Burgess, N.D., 2014. Commonalities and complementarities among approaches to conservation monitoring and evaluation. Biol. Conserv. 169, 258–267.
- Mason, E., Coombs, S., Oliveira, P.B., 2006. An overview of the literature concerning the oceanography of the eastern North Atlantic region. Relatórios Científicos e Técnicos IPIMAR, Série Digit. 33, 58.
- Massé, J., 1996. Acoustic observations in the Bay of Biscay: Schooling, vertical distribution, species assemblages and behaviour. Sci. Mar. 60, 227-234.
- Maxwell, S.M., Hazen, E.L., Bograd, S.J., Halpern, B.S., Breed, G.A., Nickel, B., Teutschel, N.M., Crowder, L.B., Benson, S., Dutton, P.H., Bailey, H., Kappes, M.A., Kuhn, C.E., Weise, M.J., Mate, B., Shaffer, S.A., Hassrick, J.L., Henry, R.W., Irvine, L., McDonald, B.I., Robinson, P.W., Block, B.A., Costa, D.P., 2013. Cumulative human impacts on marine predators. Nat. Commun. 4, 1–9.
- Mazor, T., Giakoumi, S., Kark, S., Possingham, H.P., 2014. Large-scale conservation planning in a multinational marine environment: Cost matters. Ecol. Appl. 24, 1115–1130.
- McCauley, D.J., Pinsky, M.L., Palumbi, S.R., Estes, J.A., Joyce, F.H., Warner, R.R., 2015. Marine defaunation: Animal loss in the global ocean. Science. 347, 1255641-1255641.
- McClellan, C.M., Brereton, T., Dell'Amico, F., Johns, D.G., Cucknell, A.-C., Patrick, S.C., Penrose, R., Ridoux, V., Solandt, J.-L., Stephan, E., Votier, S.C., Williams, R., Godley, B.J., 2014. Understanding the Distribution of Marine Megafauna in the English Channel Region: Identifying Key Habitats for Conservation within the Busiest Seaway on Earth. PLoS One 9, e89720.
- McLeod, K., Leslie, H., 2009. Why ecosystem-based management, in: McLeod, K.L., Leslie, H.. (Eds.), Ecosystem-Based Management for the Oceans. Island Press, Washington, D.C., pp. 3– 12.
- Merkel, F.R., Johansen, K.L., 2011. Light-induced bird strikes on vessels in Southwest Greenland. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62, 2330-2336.
- Metcalfe, K., Roberts, T., Smith, R.J., Harrop, S.R., 2013. Marine conservation science and governance in North-West Europe: Conservation planning and international law and policy. Mar. Policy 39, 289-295.

Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: General Synthesis.

Island press, Washington, DC.

- Miller, D.L., 2017. Distance: distance sampling detection function and abundance estimation. R package version 0.9.7.
- Miller, D.L., Burt, M.L., Rexstad, E.A., Thomas, L., 2013. Spatial models for distance sampling data: Recent developments and future directions. Methods Ecol. Evol. 4, 1001–1010.
- Miloslavich, P., Bax, N.J., Simmons, S.E., Andersen Garcia, M., Batten, S.D., Benedetti-Cecchi, L., Checkley Jr., D.M., Chiba, S., Emmett Duffy, J., Dunn, D.C., Fischer, A., Gunn, J., Kudela, R., Marsac, F., Muller-Karger, F.E., Obura, D., Shin, Y.-J., 2018. Essential ocean variables for global sustained observations of biodiversity and ecosystem changes. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 2416–2433.
- Mizroch, S.A., Rice, D.W., Zwiefelhofer, D., Waite, J., Perryman, W.L., 2009. Distribution and movements of fin whales in the North Pacific Ocean. Mamm. Rev. 39, 193–227.
- Montesdeoca, N., Calabuig, P., Corbera, J.A., Orós, J., Underhill, L., Parsons, N., 2017. A long-term retrospective study on rehabilitation of seabirds in Gran Canaria Island, Spain (2003-2013). PLoS One 12, e0177366.
- Moore, J.E., Barlow, J., 2011. Bayesian state-space model of fin whale abundance trends from a 1991-2008 time series of line-transect surveys in the California Current. J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 1195–1205.
- Moore, S.E., Logerwell, E., Eisner, L., Farley Jr., E.V., Harwood, L.A., Kuletz, K., Lovvorn, J., Murphy, J.R., Quakenbush, L.T., 2014. Marine Fishes, Birds and Mammals as Sentinels of Ecosystem Variability and Reorganization in the Pacific Arctic Region, in: Grebmeier, J.M., Malowski, W. (Eds.), The Pacific Arctic Region: Ecosystem Status and Trends in a Rapidly Changing Environment. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 337–392.
- Morley, T.I., Fayet, A.L., Jessop, H., Veron, P., Veron, M., Clark, J., Wood, M.J., 2016. The seabird wreck in the Bay of Biscay and Southwest Approaches in 2014 : A review of reported mortality. Seabird 29, 22–38.
- Mulder, T., Zaragosi, S., Garlan, T., Mavel, J., Cremer, M., Sottolichio, A., Sénéchal, N., Schmidt, S., 2012. Present deep-submarine canyons activity in the Bay of Biscay (NE Atlantic). Mar. Geol. 295–298, 113–127.
- Muller-Karger, F.E., Miloslavich, P., Bax, N.J., Simmons, S., Costello, M.J., Sousa Pinto, I., Canonico, G., Turner, W., Gill, M., Montes, E., Best, B.D., Pearlman, J., Halpin, P., Dunn, D., Benson, A., Martin, C.S., Weatherdon, L. V., Appeltans, W., Provoost, P., Klein, E., Kelble, C.R., Miller, R.J., Chavez, F.P., Iken, K., Chiba, S., Obura, D., Navarro, L.M., Pereira, H.M., Allain, V., Batten, S., Benedetti-Checchi, L., Duffy, J.E., Kudela, R.M., Rebelo, L.-M., Shin, Y., Geller, G., 2018. Advancing Marine Biological Observations and Data Requirements of the Complementary Essential Ocean Variables (EOVs) and Essential Biodiversity Variables (EBVs) Frameworks. Front. Mar. Sci. 5, 211.
- Norris, K.S., Dohl, T.P., 1980. Behavior of the Hawaiian Spinner Dolphin, Stenella Longirostris. Fish. Bull. 77, 821–849.
- Noss, R.F., 2004. Conservation targets and information needs for regional conservation planning. Nat. Areas J. 24, 223–231.
- Notarbartolo-Di-Sciara, G., Agardy, T., Hyrenbach, D., Scovazzi, T., Van Klaveren, P., 2008. The Pelagos Sanctuary for Mediterranean marine mammals. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 18, 367–391.
- Nur, N., Jahncke, J., Herzog, M.P., Howar, J., Hyrenbach, K.D., Zamon, J.E., Ainley, D.G., Wiens, J. a., Morgan, K., Balance, L.T., Stralberg, D., 2011. Where the wild things are: Predicting hotspots of seabird aggregations in the California Current System. Ecol. Appl. 21, 2241–2257.

Nychka, D., Furrer, R., Paige, J., Sain, S., 2017. fields: tools for spatial data. R package version 9.6.

- O'Hara, C.C., Villaseñor-Derbez, J.C., Ralph, G.M., Halpern, B.S., 2019. Mapping status and conservation of global at-risk marine biodiversity. Conserv. Lett. 12, e12651.
- O'Leary, B.C., Ban, N.C., Fernandez, M., Friedlander, A.M., García-Borboroglu, P., Golbuu, Y., Guidetti, P., Harris, J.M., Hawkins, J.P., Langlois, T., McCauley, D.J., Pikitch, E.K., Richmond, R.H., Roberts, C.M., 2018. Addressing Criticisms of Large-Scale Marine Protected Areas. Bioscience 68, 359–370.
- Ojeda-Martinez, C., Bayle-Sempere, J.T., Sánchez-Jerez, P., Forcada, A., Valle, C., 2007. Detecting conservation benefits in spatially protected fish populations with meta-analysis of long-term monitoring data. Mar. Biol. 151, 1153–1161.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, H., Szoecs, E., Wagner, H., 2018. vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-2.
- Ondei, S., Brook, B.W., Buettel, J.C., 2018. Nature's untold stories: An overview on the availability and type of on-line data on long-term biodiversity monitoring. Biodivers. Conserv. 27, 2971–2987.
- OSPAR Commission, 2000. Quality Status Report 2000: Region IV–Bay of Biscay and Iberian Coast. London.
- Pairaud, I.L., Auclair, F., Marsaleix, P., Lyard, F., Pichon, A., 2010. Dynamics of the semi-diurnal and quarter-diurnal internal tides in the Bay of Biscay. Part 2: Baroclinic tides. Cont. Shelf Res. 30, 253–269.
- Paiva, V.H., Ramos, J. a., Martins, J., Almeida, A., Carvalho, A., 2008. Foraging habitat selection by Little Terns Sternula albifrons in an estuarine lagoon system of southern Portugal. Ibis. 150, 18– 31.
- Palareti, G., Legnani, C., Cosmi, B., Antonucci, E., Erba, N., Poli, D., Testa, S., Tosetto, A., 2016. Comparison between different D-Dimer cutoff values to assess the individual risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism: Analysis of results obtained in the DULCIS study. Int. J. Lab. Hematol. 38, 42–49.
- Panigada, S., Zanardelli, M., MacKenzie, M., Donovan, C., Mélin, F., Hammond, P.S., 2008. Modelling habitat preferences for fin whales and striped dolphins in the Pelagos Sanctuary (Western Mediterranean Sea) with physiographic and remote sensing variables. Remote Sens. Environ. 112, 3400–3412.
- Parr, T.W., Ferretti, M., Simpson, I.C., Forsius, M., Kovács-Láng, E., 2002. Towards a long-term integrated monitoring programme in Europe: Network design in theory and practice. Environ. Monit. Assess. 78, 253–290.
- Passuni, G., Barbraud, C., Chaigneau, A., Bertrand, A., Oliveros-Ramos, R., Ledesma, J., Castillo, R., Bouchon, M., Bertrand, S., 2018. Long-term changes in the breeding seasonality of Peruvian seabirds and regime shifts in the Northern Humboldt Current System. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 597, 231–242.
- Peckett, F.J., Glegg, G.A., Rodwell, L.D., 2014. Assessing the quality of data required to identify effective marine protected areas. Mar. Policy 45, 333–341.
- Peltier, H., Authier, M., Deaville, R., Dabin, W., Jepson, P.D., van Canneyt, O., Daniel, P., Ridoux, V., 2016. Small cetacean bycatch as estimated from stranding schemes: The common dolphin case in the northeast Atlantic. Environ. Sci. Policy 63, 7–18.
- Peltier, H., Dabin, W., Daniel, P., Van Canneyt, O., Dorémus, G., Huon, M., Ridoux, V., 2012. The significance of stranding data as indicators of cetacean populations at sea: Modelling the drift of cetacean carcasses. Ecol. Indic. 18, 278–290.

- Peltier, H., Jepson, P.D., Dabin, W., Deaville, R., Daniel, P., Van Canneyt, O., Ridoux, V., 2014. The contribution of stranding data to monitoring and conservation strategies for cetaceans: Developing spatially explicit mortality indicators for common dolphins (*Delphinus delphis*) in the eastern North-Atlantic. Ecol. Indic. 39, 203–214.
- Pereira, H.M., Belnap, J., Brummit, N., 2010. Global biodiversity monitoring. Front. Ecol. Environ. 8, 459–460.
- Pérez-Jorge, S., Pereira, T., Corne, C., Wijtten, Z., Omar, M., Katello, J., Kinyua, M., Oro, D., Louzao, M., 2015. Can static habitat protection encompass critical areas for highly mobile marine top predators? Insights from coastal East Africa. PLoS One 10, 1–16.
- Pérez-Roda, A., Delord, K., Bou??, A., Arcos, J.M., Garc??a, D., Micol, T., Weimerskirch, H., Pinaud, D., Louzao, M., 2016. Identifying Important Atlantic Areas for the conservation of Balearic shearwaters: Spatial overlap with conservation areas. Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 141, 285–293.
- Petitgas, P., Masse, J., Bourriau, P., Beillois, P., Bergeron, J.P., Delmas, D., Herbland, A., Koueta, N., Froidefond, J.M., Santos, M., 2006. Hydro-plankton characteristics and their relationship with sardine and anchovy distributions on the French shelf of the Bay of Biscay, in: Scientia Marina. pp. 161–172.
- Pettex, E., Laran, S., Authier, M., Blanck, A., Dorémus, G., Falchetto, H., Lambert, C., Monestiez, P., Stéfan, E., Van Canneyt, O., Ridoux, V., 2017. Using large scale surveys to investigate seasonal variations in seabird distribution and abundance. Part II: The Bay of Biscay and the English Channel. Deep Sea Res. 141, 86–101.
- Pettorelli, N., Wegmann, M., Skidmore, A., Mücher, S., Dawson, T.P., Fernandez, M., Lucas, R., Schaepman, M.E., Wang, T., O'Connor, B., Jongman, R.H.G., Kempeneers, P., Sonnenschein, R., Leidner, A.K., Böhm, M., He, K.S., Nagendra, H., Dubois, G., Fatoyinbo, T., Hansen, M.C., Paganini, M., de Klerk, H.M., Asner, G.P., Kerr, J.T., Estes, A.B., Schmeller, D.S., Heiden, U., Rocchini, D., Pereira, H.M., Turak, E., Fernandez, N., Lausch, A., Cho, M.A., Alcaraz-Segura, D., McGeoch, M.A., Turner, W., Mueller, A., St-Louis, V., Penner, J., Vihervaara, P., Belward, A., Reyers, B., Geller, G.N., 2016. Framing the concept of satellite remote sensing essential biodiversity variables: challenges and future directions. Remote Sens. Ecol. Conserv. 2, 122– 131.
- Phillips, E.M., Horne, J.K., Zamon, J.E., 2017. Predator-prey interactions influenced by a dynamic river plume. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 74, 1375–1390.
- Picado, A., Lorenzo, M.N., Alvarez, I., deCastro, M., Vaz, N., Dias, J.M., 2016. Upwelling and Chl-a spatiotemporal variability along the Galician coast: dependence on circulation weather types. Int. J. Climatol. 36, 3280–3296.
- Pingree, R.D., 1994. Winter warming in the southern bay of biscay and lagrangian eddy kinematics from a deep-drogued argos buoy. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. United Kingdom 74, 107–128.
- Pingree, R.D., Garcia-Soto, C., 2014. Plankton blooms, ocean circulation and the European slope current: Response to weather and climate in the Bay of Biscay and W English Channel (NE Atlantic). Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 106, 5–22.
- Pingree, R.D., Le Cann, B., 1992. Three anticyclonic slope water oceanic eDDIES (SWODDIES) in the Southern Bay of Biscay in 1990. Deep Sea Res. Part A, Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 39, 1147–1175.
- Pinnegar, J.K., Polunin, N.V.C., Francour, P., Badalamenti, F., Chemello, R., Harmelin-Vivien, M.-L., Hereu, B., Milazzo, M., Zabala, M., D'Anna, G., Pipitone, C., 2000. Trophic cascades in benthic marine ecosystems: lessons for fisheries and protected-area management. Environ. Conserv. 27, 179–200.
- Polasky, S., 2008. Why conservation planning needs socioeconomic data. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 6505–6506.

- Polechová, J., Storch, D., 2008. Ecological Niche, in: Jørgensen, S., Fath, B. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Ecology, Vol. 2. Elsevier, pp. 1088–1097.
- Possingham, H., Ball, I., Andelman, S., 2000. Mathematical Methods for Identifying Representative Reserve Networks, in: Quantitative Methods for Conservation Biology. Springer-Verlag, New York, pp. 291–306.
- Prego, R., Vergara, J., 1998. Nutrient fluxes to the Bay of Biscay from Cantabrian rivers (Spain). Oceanol. acta 21, 271–278.
- Pressey, R.L., Bottrill, M.C., 2009. Approaches to landscape- and seascape-scale conservation planning: Convergence, contrasts and challenges. Oryx 43, 464–475.
- Proença, V., Martin, L.J., Pereira, H.M., Fernandez, M., McRae, L., Belnap, J., Böhm, M., Brummitt, N., García-Moreno, J., Gregory, R.D., Honrado, J.P., Jürgens, N., Opige, M., Schmeller, D.S., Tiago, P., van Swaay, C.A.M., 2017. Global biodiversity monitoring: From data sources to Essential Biodiversity Variables. Biol. Conserv. 213, 256–263.
- Punzón, A., Serrano, A., Sánchez, F., Velasco, F., Preciado, I., González-Irusta, J.M., López-López, L., 2016. Response of a temperate demersal fish community to global warming. J. Mar. Syst. 161, 1–10.
- Queiroz, N., Humphries, N.E., Noble, L.R., Santos, A.M., Sims, D.W., 2012. Spatial dynamics and expanded vertical niche of blue sharks in oceanographic fronts reveal habitat targets for conservation. PLoS One 7, e32374.
- R Core Team, 2018. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- Ray, C., 1962. Inshore marine conservation, in: Adams, A.B. (Ed.), First World Conference on National Parks. National Parks Service, US Department of the Interior: Washington, DC, pp. 77–87.
- Redfern, J., Ferguson, M., Becker, E., 2006. Techniques for cetacean–habitat modeling. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 310, 271–295.
- Regular, P.M., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., 2013. Must marine predators always follow scaling laws? Memory guides the foraging decisions of a pursuit-diving seabird. Anim. Behav. 86, 545– 552.
- Rey Benayas, J.M., De La Montaña, E., 2003. Identifying areas of high-value vertebrate diversity for strengthening conservation. Biol. Conserv. 114, 357–370.
- Reyers, B., Jaarsveld, A.S. Van, Kriger, M., 2000. Complementarity as a biodiversity indicator strategy. Proc. R. Soc. London. Ser. B Biol. Sci. 267, 505–513.
- Ridoux, V., Certain, G., Doremus, G., Laran, S., Van Canneyt, O., Watremez, P., 2010. Mapping diversity and relative density of cetaceans and other pelagic megafauna across the tropics : general design and progress of the REMMOA aerial surveys conducted in the French EEZ and adjacent waters, in: Paper SC/62/E14 Submitted to the 62nd Annual Meeting of the Scientific Committee of the International Whaling Commission.
- Roberts, J.J., Best, B.D., Mannocci, L., Fujioka, E., Halpin, P.N., Palka, D.L., Garrison, L.P., Mullin, K.D., Cole, T.V.N., Khan, C.B., McIellan, W.A., Pabst, D.A., Lockhart, G.G., 2016. Habitatbased cetacean density models for the U.S. Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico. Nat. Publ. Gr. 6, 22615.
- Rodríguez, A., Arcos, J.M., Bretagnolle, V., Dias, M.P., Holmes, N.D., Louzao, M., Provencher, J., Raine, A.F., Ramírez, F., Rodríguez, B., Ronconi, R.A., Taylor, R.S., Bonnaud, E., Borrelle, S.B., Cortés, V., Descamps, S., Friesen, V.L., Genovart, M., Hedd, A., Hodum, P., Humphries, G.R.W., Le Corre, M., Lebarbenchon, C., Martin, R., Melvin, E.F., Montevecchi, W.A., Pinet, P., Pollet, I.L., Ramos, R., Russell, J.C., Ryan, P.G., Sanz-Aguilar, A., Spatz, D.R., Travers, M., Votier, S.C., Wanless, R.M., Woehler, E., Chiaradia, A., 2019. Future Directions in Conservation

Research on Petrels and Shearwaters. Front. Mar. Sci. 6, 1–27.

- Rodríguez, A., García, D., Rodríguez, B., Cardona, E., Parpal, L., Pons, P., 2015a. Artificial lights and seabirds: Is light pollution a threat for the threatened Balearic petrels? J. Ornithol. 156, 893– 902.
- Rodríguez, A., Holmes, N.D., Ryan, P.G., Wilson, K.J., Faulquier, L., Murillo, Y., Raine, A.F., Penniman, J.F., Neves, V., Rodríguez, B., Negro, J.J., Chiaradia, A., Dann, P., Anderson, T., Metzger, B., Shirai, M., Deppe, L., Wheeler, J., Hodum, P., Gouveia, C., Carmo, V., Carreira, G.P., Delgado-Alburqueque, L., Guerra-Correa, C., Couzi, F.X., Travers, M., Corre, M. Le, 2017. Seabird mortality induced by land-based artificial lights. Conserv. Biol. 31, 986–1001.
- Rodríguez, A., Rodríguez, B., 2009. Attraction of petrels to artificial lights in the Canary Islands: Effects of the moon phase and age class. Ibis. 151, 299–310.
- Rodríguez, A., Rodríguez, B., Negro, J.J., 2015b. GPS tracking for mapping seabird mortality induced by light pollution. Sci. Rep. 5, 1–11.
- Rodríguez, B., Bécares, J., Rodríguez, A., Arcos, J.M., 2013. Incidence of entanglements with marine debris by northern gannets (*Morus bassanus*) in the non-breeding grounds. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 75, 259–263.
- Rodríguez, J.P., Brotons, L., Bustamante, J., Seoane, J., 2007. The application of predictive modelling of species distribution to biodiversity conservation. Divers. Distrib. 13, 243–251.
- Roman, J., Estes, J.A., Morissette, L., Smith, C., Costa, D., McCarthy, J., Nation, J.B., Nicol, S., Pershing, A., Smetacek, V., 2014. Whales as marine ecosystem engineers. Front. Ecol. Environ. 12, 377–385.
- Romero-Romero, S., Herrero, L., Fernández, M., Gómara, B., Acuña, J.L., 2017. Biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in a deep-sea, temperate food web. Sci. Total Environ. 605–606, 589–597.
- Ronconi, R.A., Burger, A.E., 2009. Estimating seabird densities from vessel transects: Distance sampling and implications for strip transects. Aquat. Biol. 4, 297–309.
- Ronconi, R.A., Koopman, H.N., McKinstry, C.A.E., Wong, S.N.P., Westgate, A.J., 2010a. Inter-annual variability in diet of non-breeding pelagic seabirds *Puffinus spp.* at migratory staging areas: evidence from stable isotopes and fatty acids. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 419, 267–282.
- Ronconi, R.A., Ryan, P.G., Ropert-Coudert, Y., 2010b. Diving of great shearwaters (*Puffinus gravis*) in cold and warm water regions of the South Atlantic Ocean. PLoS One 5, e15508.
- Rondinini, C., Stuart, S., Boitani, L., 2005. Habitat Suitability Models and the Shortfall in Conservation Planning for African Vertebrates. Conserv. Biol. 19, 1488–1497.
- Rondinini, C., Wilson, K.A., Boitani, L., Grantham, H., Possingham, H.P., 2006. Tradeoffs of different types of species occurrence data for use in systematic conservation planning. Ecol. Lett. 9, 1136–1145.
- Rose, G.A., Leggett, W.C., 1990. The importance of scale to predator-prey spatial correlations: an example of Atlantic fishes. Ecology 71, 33–43.
- Rubio, A., Gomis, D., Jordà, G., Espino, M., 2009. Estimating geostrophic and total velocities from CTD and ADCP data: Intercomparison of different methods. J. Mar. Syst. 77, 61–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2008.11.009
- Saavedra, C., Gerrodette, T., Louzao, M., Valeiras, J., García, S., Cerviño, S., Pierce, G.J., Santos, M.B., 2018. Assessing the environmental status of the short-beaked common dolphin (Delphinus delphis) in North-western Spanish waters using abundance trends and safe removal limits. Prog. Oceanogr. 166, 66–75.
- Sala, E., Knowlton, N., 2006. Global Marine Biodiversity Trends. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 31, 93–

122.

- Sánchez, F., Gil, J., 2000. Hydrographic mesoscale structures and Poleward Current as a determinant of hake (Merluccius merluccius) recruitment in southern Bay of Biscay. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 57, 152–170.
- Sandoval, A., Hevia, R., Fernández, D., Valderas, A., 2010. Boletín de la Estación Ornitológica de Estaca de Bares. Número 2 Año 2009.
- Santos, M.B., González-Quirós, R., Riveiro, I., Iglesias, M., Louzao, M., Pierce, G.J., 2013. Characterization of the pelagic fish community of the north-western and northern Spanish shelf waters. J. Fish Biol. 83, 716–738.
- Santos, M.B., Pierce, G.J., 2015. Marine mammals and good environmental status: science, policy and society; challenges and opportunities. Hydrobiologia 750, 13–41.
- Santos, M.B., Saavedra, C., Pierce, G.J., 2014. Quantifying the predation on sardine and hake by cetaceans in the Atlantic waters of the Iberian Peninsula. Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 106, 232–244.
- Scales, K.L., Miller, P.I., Hawkes, L.A., Ingram, S.N., Sims, D.W., Votier, S.C., 2014. On the front line: Frontal zones as priority at-sea conservation areas for mobile marine vertebrates. J. Appl. Ecol. 51, 1575–1583.
- Scales, K.L., Miller, P.I., Varo-Cruz, N., Hodgson, D.J., Hawkes, L.A., Godley, B.J., 2015. Oceanic loggerhead turtles Caretta caretta associate with thermal fronts: Evidence from the Canary Current Large Marine Ecosystem. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 519, 195–207.
- Schmeller, D.S., 2008. European species and habitat monitoring: Where are we now? Biodivers. Conserv. 17, 3321–3326.
- Scott, B.E., Sharples, J., Ross, O.N., Wang, J., Pierce, G.J., Camphuysen, C.J., 2010. Sub-surface hotspots in shallow seas: Fine-scale limited locations of top predator foraging habitat indicated by tidal mixing and sub-surface chlorophyll. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 408, 207–226.
- Scott, B.E., Webb, A., Palmer, M.R., Embling, C.B., Sharples, J., 2013. Fine scale bio-physical oceanographic characteristics predict the foraging occurrence of contrasting seabird species; Gannet (*Morus bassanus*) and storm petrel (*Hydrobates pelagicus*). Prog. Oceanogr. 117, 118–129.
- Selig, E.R., Turner, W.R., Troëng, S., Wallace, B.P., Halpern, B.S., Kaschner, K., Lascelles, B.G., Carpenter, K.E., Mittermeier, R.A., 2014. Global priorities for marine biodiversity conservation. PLoS One 9, 1–11.
- Serpette, A., Mazé, R., 1989. Internal tides in the Bay of Biscay: a two-dimensional model. Cont. Shelf Res. 9, 795–821.
- Shaffer, S.A., Tremblay, Y., Weimerskirch, H., Scott, D., Thompson, D.R., Sagar, P.M., Moller, H., Taylor, G.A., Foley, D.G., Block, B.A., Costa, D.P., 2006. Migratory shearwaters integrate oceanic resources across the Pacific Ocean in an endless summer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 12799–12802.
- Shaffer, S.A., Weimerskirch, H., Scott, D., Pinaud, D., Thompson, D.R., Sagar, P.M., Moller, H., Graeme, A.T., Foley, D.G., Tremblay, Y., Costa, D.P., 2009. Spatiotemporal habitat use by breeding sooty shear waters *Puffinus griseus*. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 391, 209–220.
- Shields, P.M., Tajalli, H., 2006. Intermediate Theory: The Missing Link in Successful Student Scholarship. J. Public Aff. Educ. 12, 313–334.
- Siedler, G., Gould, J., A, C.J., 2001. Ocean circulation and climate: observing and modelling the global ocean. Academic Press, London, UK.
- Silva, M.A., Prieto, R., Jonsen, I., Baumgartner, M.F., Santos, R.S., 2013. North Atlantic Blue and Fin

Whales Suspend Their Spring Migration to Forage in Middle Latitudes: Building up Energy Reserves for the Journey? PLoS One 8, e76507.

- Simmonds, J., MacLennan, D., 2005. Fishery acoustic theory and practice. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford (UK).
- Simmonds, M.P., 2017. Evaluating the Welfare Implications of Climate Change for Cetaceans, in: Marine Mammal Welfare: Human Induced Change in the Marine Environment and Its Impacts on Marine Mammal Welfare. Springer, Cham, pp. 125–135.
- Simmonds, M.P., 2016. Cetaceans and global warming, in: Laffoley, D., Baxter, J. (Eds.), Explaining Ocean Warming: Causes, Scale, Effects and Consequences. Full Report. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN, pp. 303–320.
- Simmonds, M.P., Smith, V., 2009. Cetaceans and Climate Change Assessing the Risks. Rep. Int. Whal. Comm. 1–25.
- Simons, R.A., 2016. ERDDAP-The Environmental Research Division's Data Access Program. available at: http://coastwatch.pfeg.noaa.gov/erddap.
- Sims, D.W., Queiroz, N., Doyle, T.K., Houghton, J.D.R., Hays, G.C., 2009. Satellite tracking of the World's largest bony fish , the ocean sun fish (*Mola mola* L .) in the North East Atlantic. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 370, 127–133.
- Sims, D.W., Southall, E.J., Humphries, N.E., Hays, G.C., Bradshaw, C.J.A., Pitchford, J.W., James, A., Ahmed, M.Z., Brierley, A.S., Hindell, M.A., Morritt, D., Musyl, M.K., Righton, D., Shepard, E.L.C., Wearmouth, V.J., Wilson, R.P., Witt, M.J., Metcalfe, J.D., 2008. Scaling laws of marine predator search behaviour. Nature 451, 1098–1102.
- Sleeman, J.M., Clark, E.E., 2003. Clinical Wildlife Medicine : A New Paradigm for a New Century. J. 17, 33–37.
- Slocombe, D.S., 1993. Implementing ecosystem-based management Development of theory, practice, and research for planning and managing a region. Bioscience 43, 612–622.
- Soldatini, C., Albores-Barajas, Y.V., Massa, B., Gimenez, O., 2016. Forecasting ocean warming impacts on seabird demography: A case study on the European storm petrel. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 552, 255–269.
- Sommer, E., Bradfield, P., DUnlop, K., Harrow, G., Morrisey, M., Walford, D., Cuthbert, R., 2009. Population trends, breeding success and predation rates of Hutton's shearwater (Puffinus huttoni): a 20 year assessment. Notornis 56, 144–153.
- Soriano-Redondo, A., Cortés, V., Reyes-González, J.M., Guallar, S., Bécares, J., Rodríguez, B., Arcos, J.M., González-Solís, J., 2016. Relative abundance and distribution of fisheries influence risk of seabird bycatch. Sci. Rep. 6, 37373.
- Spitz, J., Chouvelon, T., Cardinaud, M., Kostecki, C., Lorance, P., 2013. Prey preferences of adult sea bass Dicentrarchus labrax in the northeastern Atlantic: implication for bycatch of common dolphin *Delphinus delphis*. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 70, 452–461.
- Stelfox, M., Hudgins, J., Sweet, M., 2016. A review of ghost gear entanglement amongst marine mammals, reptiles and elasmobranchs. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 111, 6–17.
- Stenhouse, I.J., Egevang, C., Phillips, R. a., 2012. Trans-equatorial migration, staging sites and wintering area of Sabine's Gulls Larus sabini in the Atlantic Ocean. Ibis. 154, 42–51.
- Stern, S.J., 2009. Migration and movement patterns, in: Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. pp. 726– 730.
- Stevens, T., Rodwell, L., Beaumont, K., Lewis, T., Smith, C., Stehfest, K., 2007. Surveys for marine spatial planning in Lyme Bay, University of Plymouth: Report to Devon Wildlife Trust by the Marine Institute.

- Stoett, P., 2011. Irreconcilable differences: The International Whaling Commission and cetacean futures. Rev. Policy Res. 28, 631–634.
- Stoll, H., King, G., Zeng, L., 2014. Whatlf: Software for Evaluating Counterfactuals. R package version 1.5-6.
- Sydeman, W.J., Thompson, S.A., Anker-Nilssen, T., Arimitsu, M., Bennison, A., Bertrand, S., Boersch-Supan, P., Boyd, C., Bransome, N.C., Crawford, R.J.M., Daunt, F., Furness, R.W., Gianuca, D., Gladics, A., Koehn, L., Lang, J.W., Logerwell, E., Morris, T.L., Phillips, E.M., Provencher, J., Punt, A.E., Saraux, C., Shannon, L., Sherley, R.B., Simeone, A., Wanless, R.M., Wanless, S., Zador, S., 2017. Best practices for assessing forage fish fisheries-seabird resource competition. Fish. Res. 194, 209–221.
- Sydeman, W.J., Thompson, S.A., Kitaysky, A., 2012. Seabirds and climate change: Roadmap for the future. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 454, 107–117.
- Tasker, M.L., Jones, P.H., Dixon, T., Blake, B.F., 1984. Counting seabirds at sea from ships: A review of methods employed and a suggestion for a standardized aproach. Auk 101, 567–577.
- Teles-Machado, A., Peliz, Á., McWilliams, J.C., Couvelard, X., Ambar, I., 2016. Circulation on the Northwestern Iberian Margin: Vertical structure and seasonality of the alongshore flows. Prog. Oceanogr. 140, 134–153.
- Thackeray, S.J., Sparks, T.H., Frederiksen, M., Burthe, S., Bacon, P.J., Bell, J.R., Botham, M.S., Brereton, T.M., Bright, P.W., Carvalho, L., Clutton-Brock, T., Dawson, A., Edwards, M., Elliott, J.M., Harrington, R., Johns, D., Jones, I.D., Jones, J.T., Leech, D.I., Roy, D.B., Scott, W.A., Smith, M., Smithers, R.J., Winfield, I.J., Wanless, S., 2010. Trophic level asynchrony in rates of phenological change for marine, freshwater and terrestrial environments. Glob. Chang. Biol. 16, 3304–3313.
- Thaxter, C.B., Daunt, F., Grémillet, D., Harris, M.P., Benvenuti, S., Watanuki, Y., Hamer, K.C., Wanless, S., 2013. Modelling the effects of prey size and distribution on prey capture rates of two sympatric marine predators. PLoS One 8, e79915.
- Thiers, L., Louzao, M., Ridoux, V., Corre, M. Le, Jaquemet, S., Weimerskirch, H., 2014. Combining methods to describe important marine habitats for top predators: Application to identify biological hotspots in tropical waters. PLoS One 9, 1–23.
- Thomas, L., Buckland, S.T., Rexstad, E.A., Laake, J.L., Strindberg, S., Hedley, S.L., Bishop, J.R.B., Marques, T.A., Burnham, K.P., 2010. Distance software: Design and analysis of distance sampling surveys for estimating population size. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 5–14.
- Torres, A.P., Reglero, P., Balbin, R., Urtizberea, A., Alemany, F., 2011. Coexistence of larvae of tuna species and other fish in the surface mixed layer in the NW Mediterranean. J. Plankton Res. 33, 1793–1812.
- Torres, L.G., Read, A.J., Halpin, P., 2008. Fine-scale habitat modeling of a top marine predator: Do prey data improve predictive capacity? Ecol. Appl. 18, 1702–1717.
- Torres, R., 2003. Spatial patterns of wind and sea surface temperature in the Galician upwelling region. J. Geophys. Res. 108, 1–14.
- Trites, A.W., Deecke, V.B., Gregr, E.J., Ford, J.K.B., Olesiuk, P.F., 2007. Killer whales, whaling, and sequential megafaunal collapse in the North Pacific: A comparative analysis of the dynamics of marine mammals in Alaska and British Columbia following commercial whaling. Mar. Mammal Sci. 23, 751–765.
- Troisi, G., Barton, S., Bexton, S., 2016. Impacts of oil spills on seabirds: Unsustainable impacts of non-renewable energy. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 41, 16549–16555.
- Trouwborst, A., 2011. Conserving European biodiversity in a changing climate: The bern convention, the European Union Birds and Habitats directives and the adaptation of nature to climate

change. Rev. Eur. Community Int. Environ. Law 20, 62-77.

- Trouwborst, A., Dotinga, H.M., 2011. Comparing european instruments for marine nature conservation: The OSPAR convention, the bern convention, the birds and habitats directives, and the added value of the marine strategy framework directive. Eur. Energy Environ. Law Rev. 20, 129–149.
- Tulloch, V.J.D., Tulloch, A.I.T., Visconti, P., Halpern, B.S., Watson, J.E.M., Evans, M.C., Auerbach, N.A., Barnes, M., Beger, M., Chadès, I., Giakoumi, S., McDonald-Madden, E., Murray, N.J., Ringma, J., Possingham, H.P., 2015. Why do We map threats? Linking threat mapping with actions to make better conservation decisions. Front. Ecol. Environ. 13, 91–99.
- Ummenhofer, C.C., Meehl, G.A., 2017. Extreme weather and climate events with ecological relevance: A review. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 372, 20160135.
- UNEP-WCMC, IUCN, 2019. Marine Protected Planet [On-line], [October, 2019]. Cambridge, UK.
- Valdés, L., Lavín, A., 2002. Dynamics and human impact in the Bay of Biscay: An ecological perspective, in: Sherman, K., Skjoldal, H. (Eds.), Large Marine Ecosystems Series: Large Marine Ecosystems of the North Atlantic: Changing States and Sustainability. Elsevier, pp. 293– 320.
- Valeiras, J., 2003. Attendance of scavenging seabirds at trawler discards off Galicia, Spain. Sci. Mar. 67, 77–82.
- Van Der Meer, J., Camphuysen, J., 1996. Effect of observer differences on abundance estimates of seabirds from ship-based strip transect surveys. Ibis. 138, 433–437.
- Varela, M., 1996. Phytoplankton ecology in the Bay of Biscay. Sci. Mar. 60, 45–53.
- Vaughan, D.G., Marshall, J., Connolley, W.M., King, J.C., Mulvaney, R., 2001. Devil in the detail. Science. 293, 1777–1779.
- Vázquez-Rowe, I., Moreira, M.T., Feijoo, G., 2011. Estimating global discards and their potential reduction for the Galician fishing fleet (NW Spain). Mar. Policy 35, 140–147.
- Veit, R.R., Harrison, N.M., 2017. Positive Interactions among Foraging Seabirds, Marine Mammals and Fishes and Implications for Their Conservation. Front. Ecol. Evol. 5, 121.
- Vighi, M., Borrell, A., Aguilar, A., 2015. Stable isotope analysis and fin whale subpopulation structure in the eastern North Atlantic. Mar. Mammal Sci. 32, 535–551.
- Vikingsson, G. a, Pike, D.G., Desportes, G., Øien, N., Gunnlaugsson, T., Bloch, D., 2009. Distribution and abundance of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) in the Northeast and Central Atlantic as inferred from the North Atlantic Sightings Surveys 1987-2001. NAMMCO Sci. Publ. 7, 49–72.
- Vikingsson, G.A., Heide-Jørgensen, M.P., 2015. First indications of autumn migration routes and destination of common minke whales tracked by satellite in the North Atlantic during 2001– 2011. Mar. Mammal Sci. 31, 376–385.
- Virgili, A., Authier, M., Boisseau, O., Cañadas, A., Claridge, D., Cole, T., Corkeron, P., Dorémus, G., David, L., Di-Méglio, N., Dunn, C., Dunn, T.E., García-Barón, I., Laran, S., Lauriano, G., Lewis, M., Louzao, M., Mannocci, L., Martínez-Cedeira, J., Palka, D., Panigada, S., Pettex, E., Roberts, J.J., Ruiz, L., Saavedra, C., Santos, M.B., Van Canneyt, O., Vázquez Bonales, J.A., Monestiez, P., Ridoux, V., 2018. Combining multiple visual surveys to model the habitat of deep-diving cetaceans at the basin scale. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 38, 300–314.
- Virgili, A., Lambert, C., Pettex, E., Dorémus, G., Van Canneyt, O., Ridoux, V., 2017. Predicting seasonal variations in coastal seabird habitats in the English Channel and the Bay of Biscay. Deep. Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 141, 212–223.
- Visser, F., Hartman, K.L., Pierce, G.J., Valavanis, V.D., Huisman, J., 2011. Timing of migratory baleen whales at the azores in relation to the north atlantic spring bloom. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 440,

267-279.

- Votier, S.C., Bicknell, A., Cox, S.L., Scales, K.L., Patrick, S.C., 2013. A Bird's Eye View of Discard Reforms: Bird-Borne Cameras Reveal Seabird/Fishery Interactions. PLoS One 8, e57376.
- Walker, E., Bez, N., 2010. A pioneer validation of a state-space model of vessel trajectories (VMS) with observers' data. Ecol. Modell. 221, 2008–2017.
- Webster, M.S., Marra, P.P., Haig, S.M., Bensch, S., Holmes, R.T., 2002. Links between worlds: Unraveling migratory connectivity. Trends Ecol. Evol. 17, 76–83.
- Wells, S., Ray, G.C., Gjerde, K.M., White, A.T., Muthiga, N., Bezaury Creel, J.E., Causey, B.D., McCormick-Ray, J., Salm, R., Gubbay, S., Kelleher, G., Reti, J., 2016. Building the future of MPAs - lessons from history. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 26, 101–125.
- Wenny, D.G., DeVault, T.L., Johnson, M.D., Kelly, D., H. Sekercioglu, C., Tomback, D.F., Whelan, C.J., 2011. The need to quantify ecosystem services provided by birds. Auk 128, 1–14.
- Whitehead, H., McGill, B., Worm, B., 2008. Diversity of deep-water cetaceans in relation to temperature: Implications for ocean warming. Ecol. Lett. 11, 1198–1207.
- Wiens, J.J., Graham, C.H., 2005. Niche Conservatism: Integrating Evolution, Ecology, and Conservation Biology. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 36, 519–539. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00408-009-9147-5
- Wilhelm, S.I., Schau, J.J., Schau, E., Dooley, S.M., Wiseman, D.L., Hogan, H.A., 2013. Atlantic Puffins are Attracted to Coastal Communities in Eastern Newfoundland. Northeast. Nat. 20, 624–630.
- Williams, B.K., Nichols, J.D., Conroy, M.J., 2002. Analysis and management of animal populations: modeling, estimation, and decision making. Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- Wilson, B., 2016. Might marine protected areas for mobile megafauna suit their proponents more than the animals? Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 26, 3–8.
- Wood, S.N., 2011. Fast stable restricted maximum likelihood and marginal likelihood estimation of semiparametric generalized linear models. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. B (Statistical Methodol. 73, 3– 36.
- Worm, B., Barbier, E.B., Beaumont, N., Duffy, J.E., Folke, C., Halpern, B.S., Jackson, J.B.C., Lotze, H.K., Micheli, F., Palumbi, S.R., Sala, E., Selkoe, K.A., Stachowicz, J.J., Watson, R., 2006. Impacts of Biodiversity Loss on Ocean Ecosystem Services. Science. 314, 787–790.
- Xavier, J.C., Louzao, M., Thorpe, S.E., Ward, P., Hill, C., Roberts, D., Croxall, J.P., Phillips, R.A., 2013. Seasonal changes in the diet and feeding behaviour of a top predator indicate a flexible response to deteriorating oceanographic conditions. Mar. Biol. 160, 1597–1606.
- Yen, P.P.W., Sydeman, W.J., Hyrenbach, K.D., 2004. Marine bird and cetacean associations with bathymetric habitats and shallow-water topographies: Implications for trophic transfer and conservation. J. Mar. Syst. 50, 79–99.
- Yoccoz, N.G., Nichols, J.D., Boulinier, T., 2001. Monitoring of biological diversity in space and time. Trends Ecol. Evol. 16, 446–453.
- Young, H.S., Maxwell, S.M., Conners, M.G., Shaffer, S.A., 2015. Pelagic marine protected areas protect foraging habitat for multiple breeding seabirds in the central Pacific. Biol. Conserv. 181, 226–235.
- Zacharias, M.A., Roff, J.C., 2001. Use of focal species in marine conservation and management: A review and critique. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 11, 59–76.
- Zampoukas, N., Piha, H., Bigagli, E., Hoepffner, N., Hanke, G., Cardoso, A.C., 2013. Marine monitoring in the European Union: How to fulfill the requirements for the marine strategy

framework directive in an efficient and integrated way. Mar. Policy 39, 349–351.

Zuberogoitia, I., Zabala, J., Etxezarreta, J., Crespo, A., Burgos, G., Arizaga, J., 2016. Assessing the impact of extreme adverse weather on the biological traits of a European storm petrel colony. Popul. Ecol. 58, 303–313.

Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N., Smith, G.M., 2007. Analysing Ecological Data. Springer, New York.

- Zwolinski, J., Morais, A., Marques, V., Stratoudakis, Y., Fernandes, P.G., 2007. Diel variation in the vertical distribution and schooling behaviour of sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*) off Portugal. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 64, 963–972.
- Žydelis, R., Small, C., French, G., 2013. The incidental catch of seabirds in gillnet fisheries: A global review. Biol. Conserv. 162, 76–88.



CHAPTER 1 – APPENDIX A

Which are the main threats affecting the marine megafauna in the Bay of Biscay?

Appendix A – Section 1: Species data

Table A-1.1. Species of seabirds listed in the Bay of Biscay (North Atlantic demarcation) and frequency of occurrence. Adapted from MAGRAMA, 2012a. The table also shows the status of the species at global and European scale given by the IUCN, the status in Spain based on the Red Book of the Birds of Spain (Madroño et al., 2004) and the Royal Decree 139/2011 for The Development Of The List Of Wild Species In Regime Of Special Protection And The Spanish Catalogue Of Endangered Species (RD 139/2011). DD: data deficient; LC: Least concern; NT: Near threatened; VU: Vulnerable; EN: Endangered; CR: Critically Endangered; EX?: not sure if is Extinct; NE: not evaluated.

FAMILY	SPECIES	COMMON NAME		IUCN GLOBAL	IUCN EUROPE	RED BOOK SPAIN	RD 139/2011
Anatidae	Melanitta nigra	Black scoter	Common	NE	NE	NE	*
	Mergus serrator	Red-breasted merganser	Rare	LC	NT	NE	*
Gaviidae	Gavia stellata	Red-throated loon	Rare	LC	LC	NE	*
	Gavia arctica	Black-throated loon	Rare	LC	LC	NE	*
	Gavia immer	Common loon	Rare	LC	VU	VU	*
Procellariidae	Calonectris diomedea	Cory's shearwater	Abundant	LC	LC	VU	VU*
	Puffinus	Manx shearwater	Common	LC	LC	EN	VU*
	Ardenna gravis	Great Shearwater	Abundant	LC	NE		
	Ardenna grisea	Sooty shearwater	Abundant	NT	NE		*
	Puffinus mauretanicus	Balearic shearwater	Abundant	CR	CR	CR	CR*
Hydrobatidae	Hydrobates pelagicus	European storm-petrel	Abundant	LC	LC	VU	*
	Oceanodroma leucorhoa	Leach's storm-petrel	Rare	VU	LC		*
	Oceanodroma castro	Band-rumped storm-petrel	Rare	LC	LC	EN	VU*
Sulidae	Morus bassanus	Northern gannet	Abundant	LC	LC	NE	*
Phalacrocoracidae	Phalacrocorax carbo	Great cormorant	Abundant	LC	LC	NE	*
	Phalacrocorax aristotelis	European shag	Abundant	LC	LC	EN	*
Stercorariidae	Stercorarius pomarinus	Pomarine jaeger	Common	LC	LC	NE	*
	Stercorarius parasiticus	Arctic jaeger	Common	LC	LC	NE	*
	Stercorarius skua	Great skua	Common	LC	LC	NE	*

* Species for which Special Protection Areas (SPAs) should be considered under the Birds Directive (Annex I and migratory species).

Table A-1.1. Continuation

FAMILY	SPECIES	COMMON NAME	OCCURENCE	IUCN GLOBAL	IUCN EUROPE	RED BOOK SPAIN	RD 139/2011
Laridae	Ichthyaetus melanocephalus	Mediterranean gull	Common	NE	NE	NE	*
	Hydrocoloeus minutus	Little gull	Rare	LC	NT	NE	*
	Larus sabini	Sabine's gull	Common	LC	LC		
	Chroicocephalus ridibundus	Black-headed gull	Common	LC	LC	NE	*
	Larus canus	Common gull	Rare	LC	LC	NE	*
	Larus fuscus	Lesser black-backed gull	Abundant	LC	LC	LC	*
	Larus michahellis	Yellow-legged gull	Abundant	LC	LC	NE	*
	Larus marinus	Great black-backed Gull	Rare	LC	LC	NE	*
	Rissa tridactyla	Kittiwake	Common	VU	VU	VU	*
	Thalasseus sandvicensis	Sandwich tern	Common	LC	LC	NT	*
	Sterna hirundo	Common tern	Common	LC	LC	NT	*
	Sterna paradisaea	Arctic tern	Common	LC	LC	NE	*
	Sternula albifrons	Little tern	Common	LC	LC	NT	*
Alcidae	Uria aalge	Common guillemot	Common	LC	NT	CR	*
	Alca torda	Razorbill	Common	NT	NT	NE	*
	Fratercula arctica	Atlantic puffin	Rare	VU	EN	NE	*

* Species for which Special Protection Areas (SPAs) should be considered under the Birds Directive (Annex I and migratory species).

Table A-1.2. Species of marine mammals listed in the Bay of Biscay (North Atlantic demarcation) and frequency of occurrence. Adapted from MAGRAMA, 2012b. The table also shows the status of the species at global and European scale given by the IUCN, the status in Spain based on the categories of the Red Book of Spanish vertebrates (Blanco and González, 1992) and the Royal Decree 139/2011 for The Development Of The List Of Wild Species In Regime Of Special Protection And The Spanish Catalogue Of Endangered Species (RD 139/2011). DD: data deficient; LC: Least concern; NT: Near threatened; VU: Vulnerable; EN: Endangered; CR: Critically Endangered; EX?: not sure if is Extinct; NE: not evaluated.

FAMILY	SPECIES		OCCURENCE	IUCN GLOBAL	IUCN EUROPE	RED BOOK SPAIN	RD 139/2011
Balaenopteridae	Balaenoptera acutorostrata	Minke whale	Occasional	LC	LC	VU	VU
	Balaenoptera borealis	Sei whale	Occasional	EN	EN	VU	VU
	Balaenoptera musculus	Blue whale	Rare	EN	EN	EN	VU
	Balaenoptera physalus	Fin whale	Common	EN	NT	VU	VU
	Megaptera novaeangliae	Humpback whale	Occasional	LC	LC	EN	VU
Balaenidae	Eubalaena glacialis	North Atlantic right whale	Extinct?	EN	CR	EX5	CR
Delphinidae	Delphinus delphis	Common dolphin	Common	LC	DD	DD	SP
	Globicephala melas	Long-finned pilot whale	Common	DD	DD	DD	SP
	Globicephala macrorhynchus	Short-finned Pilot Whale	Rare	DD	NE	NE	VU
	Grampus griseus	Risso's dolphin	Common	LC	DD	NE	SP
	Orcinus orca	Killer whale	Rare	DD	DD	DD	SP
	Pseudorca crassidens	False killer whale	Rare	DD	NE	NE	SP
	Stenella coeruleoalba	Striped dolphin	Common	LC	DD	DD	SP
	Tursiops truncatus	Bottlenose dolphin	Common	LC	DD	DD	VU**
	Lagenorhynchus albirostris	White-beaked dolphin	Rare	LC	LC	NE	SP*
	Lagenorhynchus acutus	Atlantic white-sided dolphin	Rare	LC	LC	NE	SP*
Phocoenidae	Phocoena	Harbour porpoise	Common	LC	VU	VU	VU**

 * Species not included, by default it means that the category is SP.

** Species included in the Annex II of the Habitats Directive which it is required the establishment of Special Areas of conservation (SACs).

Table A-1.2. Continuation

FAMILY	SPECIES		OCCURENCE	IUCN GLOBAL	IUCN EUROPE	RED BOOK SPAIN	RD 139/2011
Physeteridae	Kogia breviceps	Pygmy sperm whale	Occasional	DD	NE	NT	SP
	Physeter macrocephalus	Sperm whale	Common	VU	VU	VU	VU
Ziphiidae	Hyperoodon ampullatus	North Atlantic bottlenose whale	Rare	DD	DD	NE	SP
	Mesoplodon densirostris	Blainville's beaked whale	Rare	DD	DD	NT	SP
	Mesoplodon mirus	True's beaked whale	Rare	DD	DD	NT	SP
	Mesoplodon bidens	Sowerby's beaked whale	Rare	DD	DD	NT	SP*
	Ziphius cavirostris	Cuvier's beaked whale	Occasional	LC	DD	NE	SP

 * Species not included, by default it means that the category is SP.

** Species included in the Annex II of the Habitats Directive which it is required the establishment of Special Areas of conservation (SACs).

Appendix A – Section 2: Seabird admissions

Table A-2.1. Seabird causes of admission (n=4,023) to the Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres of the Cantabrian coast during the years 2004-2016.

GROUP	CAUSE OF ADMISSION	FAMILY	ALCIDAE			FAMILY LARIDAE											
		Alca torda	Alle alle	Fratercula arctica	Uria aalge	Chroicocephalus ridibundus	Hydrocoloeus minutus	Larus argentatus	Larus cachinnans	Larus canus	Larus fuscus	Larus michahellis	Larus sp.	Rissa tridactyla	Sterna hirundo	Sterna paradisaea	Thalasseus sandvicensis
CLIMATE CHANGE	Cachexia	89	4	55	1057	103	1	27	39	2	6	254	5	12	6	0	9
FISHING	Fishing gear interaction	4	0	0	11	10	0	5	2	0	0	34	0	1	0	0	0
POLLUTION	Crude oil	21	0	10	307	2	1	0	1	0	1	11	0	0	3	0	0
	Traumas:																
	Car impact	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	1	1	0	0	0
	Gunshot	0	0	0	0	5	0	4	5	0	1	33	3	0	1	0	0
	Electrocution	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Undefined Trauma	2	0	1	10	53	1	6	32	0	6	318	21	2	2	0	0
	Forfeited	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
	Poisoning	3	0	3	8	0	1	0	5	0	0	25	2	0	1	0	0
	Autolytic	0	0	1	4	1	0	0	0	0	2	5	0	0	0	0	0
	Orphaned	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	5	0	0	182	19	0	0	0	0
OTHERS	Intraspecific interaction	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
	Disease:																
	Parasitic/Infectious disease	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	1	0	0	21	22	0	0	0	0
	Others	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	12	4	0	0	0	0
	Other causes:																
	Without apparent lesions	4	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Undetermined	1	0	1	62	6	0	0	1	0	3	47	2	0	3	1	0
	Others	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	2	0	3	123	3	0	0	0	0
	Total	124	4	72	1459	196	4	43	91	2	19	955	79	16	16	1	9
	%	3.08	0.10	1.79	36.27	4.87	0.10	1.07	2.26	0.05	0.47	23.74	1.96	0.40	0.40	0.02	0.22

Table A-2.1. Continuation

GROUP	CAUSE OF ADMISSION	FAMILY SULIDAE	FAMILY PHALAC	ROCORACIDAE	FAMILY HID	OBATIDAE	FAMILY PRO	OCELLARIDA	λE		FAMILY GAVIIDAE	
		Morus bassanus	Phalacrocorax aristotelis	Phalacrocorax carbo	Hydrobates pelagicus	Oceanodroma Ieucorhoa	Calonectris diomedea	Fulmarus glacialis	Puffinus mauretanicus	Puffinus puffinus	Gavia arctica	Gavia immer
CLIMATE CHANGE	Cachexia	273	10	38	34	9	1	17	1	1	0	1
FISHING	Fishing gear interaction	114	6	18	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
POLLUTION	Crude oil	33	0	3	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
	Traumas:											
	Car impact	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Gunshot	1	0	19	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Electrocution	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Undefined Trauma	34	2	15	2	0	0	1	0	0	1	1
	Forfeited	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Poisoning	2	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
	Autolytic	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Orphaned	11	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
OTHERS	Intraspecific interaction	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Disease:											
	Parasitic/Infectious disease	2	4	3	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Others	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Other causes:											
	Without apparent lesions	42	9	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
	Undetermined	11	4	22	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Others	4	2	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
	Total	532	38	124	37	9	2	19	1	1	2	5
	%	13.22	0.94	3.08	0.92	0.22	0.05	0.47	0.02	0.02	0.05	0.12

Table A-2.1. Continuation

GROUP						
		Melanitta nigra	Catharacta skua	Total	%	
CLIMATE CHANGE	Cachexia	5	2	2061	51.3	
FISHING	Fishing gear interaction	0	0	207	5.15	
POLLUTION	Crude oil	3	0	397	9.87	
	Traumas:					
	Car impact	0	0	13	0.32	
	Gunshot	0	0	72	1.79	
	Electrocution	0	0	2	0.05	
	Undefined Trauma	1	0	511	12.8	
	Forfeited	0	0	6	0.15	
	Poisoning	1	1	57	1.42	
	Autolytic	0	0	15	0.37	
	Orphaned	0	0	224	5.57	
OTHERS	Intraspecific interaction	0	0	2	0.05	
	Disease:					
	Parasitic/Infectious disease	0	0	58	1.44	
	Others	0	0	24	0.60	
	Other causes:					
	Without apparent lesions	2	0	62	1.54	
	Undetermined	3	0	167	4.15	
	Others	0	0	146 3.6		
	Total	15	3	4,023		
	%	0.37	0.07			

														_
						% a	dmission	s /year						
Species	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	cv
Alca torda	2.60	1.69	0.62	7.22	0.93	1.10	3.56	2.49	4.81	3.86	2.76	1.85	5.81	0.66
Alle					0.47	1.65								2.86
Calonectris diomedea												0.74	0.29	2.70
Catharacta skua							0.44		0.48		0.13			2.13
Fratercula arctica	1.20	1.13	0.31	0.34		1.10	2.67	7.47	0.48	1.40	3.15	1.11	0.87	1.20
Fulmarus glacialis	0.20	1.13		1.03	2.79	0.55		0.41	0.96				0.87	1.29
Gavia arctica													0.58	3.61
Gavia immer					0.47	0.55		0.83			0.13			1.83
Hydrocoloeus minutus						1.65			0.48					2.84
Hydrobates pelagicus	0.40	0.56	3.72	1.37	2.33	1.65	1.33	0.83			0.13	1.85		1.02
Larus argentatus	1.60	2.26	0.93	5.84		3.30		1.24		0.70				1.42
Larus cachinnans	0.40	1.69	7.12	3.78			2.67	2.07	4.81	6.67	1.84			1.06
Larus canus				0.69										3.61
Larus fuscus			2.17			0.55	0.44	1.24	0.48	1.75	0.13	1.11		1.22
Larus michahellis	32.00	26.55	20.74	19.59	23.26	31.32	36.44	25.31	24.52	25.61	12.60	52.59	39.24	0.36
Chroicocephalus ridibundus	2.00	6.21	4.95	3.78	7.91	8.24	6.67	6.64	6.73	6.67	3.67	5.93	3.78	0.33
Larus sp.					12.56	4.95	3.56	7.88	8.65	0.35				1.47
Melanita nigra	0.20	2.82	0.31		0.47	0.55		1.24			0.26		0.29	1.66
Oceanodroma leucorhoa						0.55	0.89	0.41		0.70		0.74	0.29	1.24
Phalacrocorax aristotelis	0.20				0.93	0.55	2.67	2.90	1.92	0.35	1.44	1.11	1.16	0.97
Phalacrocorax carbo	2.40	3.95	3.72	2.06	4.65	7.14	6.22	3.32	4.33	4.91	0.92	2.22	2.03	0.48
Puffinus mauretanicus						0.55								3.61
Puffinus							0.44							2.50
Rissa tridactyla						4.95				0.35	0.13	0.37	1.16	2.55
Sterna hirundo	0.40	2.26	1.55	0.69	0.47						0.13		0.29	1.57
Sterna paradisaea		0.56												3.61
Sterna sandvicensis	1.20			0.34			0.89							2.12
Morus bassanus	5.40	14.12	4.33	12.71	15.35	15.38	20.00	24.48	21.15	22.46	6.43	20.00	16.57	0.43
Uria aalae	49.80	35.03	49.54	40.55	27.44	13.74	11.11	11.20	20.19	24.21	66.14	10.37	26.45	0.59

Table A-2.2. Number of seabird admissions per year (expressed as percentage of the total number of admissions) to the Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres of the Cantabrian coast during the years 2004-2016. The table also shows the overall inter-annual variability (CV) of the admissions per species.

Figure A-2.1. Total number of seabird admissions by month to the Wildlife Rehabilitation Centres of the Cantabrian coast during the years 2004-2016 diagnosed as a) cachexia, b) presence of crude oil and c) interaction with fishing.



Appendix A – Section 3: List of references

Table A-3.1. List of references used to create the threat matrix both, for marine mammals and seabirds (Tables 1.1 and 1.2 of the Chapter 1 respectively).

Code	Reference
	Macleod, C.D., 2009. Global climate change, range changes and potential implications
1	for the conservation of marine cetaceans: a review and synthesis. Endanger. Species Res. 7, 125–136.
2	Lambert, E., Pierce, G.J., Hall, K., Brereton, T., Dunn, T.E., Wall, D., Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R., Macleod, C.D., 2014. Cetacean range and climate in the eastern North Atlantic: Future predictions and implications for conservation. Glob. Chang. Biol. 20, 1782–1793.
3	Lambert, E., MacLeod, C., Hall, K., Brereton, T., Dunn, T., Wall, D., Jepson, P., Deaville, R., Pierce, G., 2011. Quantifying likely cetacean range shifts in response to global climatic change: implications for conservation strategies in a changing world. Endanger. Species Res. 15, 205–222.
4	Thomas, P.O., Reeves, R.R., Brownell, R.L., 2016. Status of the world's baleen whales. Mar. Mammal Sci. 32, 682–734.
5	Avila, I.C., Kaschner, K., Dormann, C.F., 2018. Current global risks to marine mammals: Taking stock of the threats. Biol. Conserv. 221, 44–58.
6	Alter, S.E., Simmonds, M.P., Brandon, J.R., 2010. Forecasting the consequences of climate-driven shifts in human behavior on cetaceans. Mar. Policy 34, 943–954.
7	OSPAR, 2000. Quality Status Report 2000: Region IV–Bay of Biscay and Iberian Coast, OSPAR Commission, London.
8	Prieto, R., Janiger, D., Silva, M.A., Waring, G.T., Gonçalves, J.M., 2012. The forgotten whale: A bibliometric analysis and literature review of the North Atlantic sei whale <i>Balaenoptera borealis</i> . Mamm. Rev.
9	Mannocci, L., Dabin, W., Augeraud-Véron, E., Dupuy, J.F., Barbraud, C., Ridoux, V., 2012. Assessing the impact of bycatch on dolphin populations: The case of the Common dolphin in the Eastern North Atlantic. PLoS One 7, e32615.
10	Peltier, H., Jepson, P.D., Dabin, W., Deaville, R., Daniel, P., Van Canneyt, O., Ridoux, V., 2014. The contribution of stranding data to monitoring and conservation strategies for cetaceans: Developing spatially explicit mortality indicators for Common dolphins (<i>Delphinus delphis</i>) in the eastern North-Atlantic. Ecol. Indic. 39, 203–214.
11	Lassalle, G., Gascuel, D., Le Loch, F., Lobry, J., Pierce, G.J., Ridoux, V., Santos, M.B., Spitz, J., Niquil, N., 2012. An ecosystem approach for the assessment of fisheries impacts on marine top predators: The Bay of Biscay case study. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 69, 925–938.
12	Méndez-Fernandez, P., Webster, L., Chouvelon, T., Bustamante, P., Ferreira, M., González, A.F., López, A., Moffat, C.F., Pierce, G.J., Read, F.L., Russell, M., Santos, M.B., Spitz, J., Vingada, J. V, Caurant, F., 2014. An assessment of contaminant concentrations in toothed whale species of the NW Iberian Peninsula: Part II. Trace element concentrations. Sci. Total Environ. 484, 206–217.
13	Dolman, S.J., Evans, P.G.H., Notarbartolo-di-Sciara, G., Frisch, H., 2011. Active sonar, beaked whales and European regional policy. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 63, 27–34.
14	Alonso Farré, J.M., López Fernandez, A., 2002. Informe preliminar del impacto del vertido del petrolero "Prestige" en tortugas y mamíferos de las aguas gallegas. Vigo, Spain.

15	Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R., Barber, J.L., Aguilar, À., Borrell, A., Murphy, S., Barry, J., Brownlow, A., Barnett, J., Berrow, S., Cunningham, A.A., Davison, N.J., Ten Doeschate, M., Esteban, R., Ferreira, M., Foote, A.D., Genov, T., Giménez, J., Loveridge, J., Llavona, Á., Martin, V., Maxwell, D.L., Papachlimitzou, A., Penrose, R., Perkins, M.W., Smith, B., De Stephanis, R., Tregenza, N., Verborgh, P., Fernandez, A., Law, R.J., 2016. PCB pollution continues to impact populations of orcas and other dolphins in European waters. Sci. Rep. 6.
16	Poncelet, E., Van Canneyt, O., Boubert, J.J., 2000. Considerable amount of plastic debris in the stomach of a Cuvier's beaked whale (<i>Ziphius cavirostris</i>) washed ashore on the French Atlantic coast. Eur. Res. Cetaceans 14, 44–47.
17	Ridoux, V., Lafontaine, L., Bustamante, P., Caurant, F., Dabin, W., Delcroix, C., Hassani, S., Meynier, L., Pereira da Silva, V., Simonin, S., 2004. The impact of the "Erika" oil spill on pelagic and coastal marine mammals: Combining demographic, ecological, trace metals and biomarker evidences. Aquat. Living Resour. 17, 379–387.
18	Goetz, S., Read, F.L., Ferreira, M., Portela, J.M., Santos, M.B., Vingada, J., Siebert, U., Marçalo, A., Santos, J., Araújo, H., Monteiro, S., Caldas, M., Riera, M., Pierce, G.J., 2015. Cetacean occurrence, habitat preferences and potential for cetacean-fishery interactions in Iberian Atlantic waters: Results from cooperative research involving local stakeholders. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 25, 138–154.
19	Lassalle, G., Lobry, J., Le Loc'h, F., Bustamante, P., Certain, G., Delmas, D., Dupuy, C., Hily, C., Labry, C., Le Pape, O., Marquis, E., Petitgas, P., Pusineri, C., Ridoux, V., Spitz, J., Niquil, N., 2011. Lower trophic levels and detrital biomass control the Bay of Biscay continental shelf food web: Implications for ecosystem management. Prog. Oceanogr. 91, 561–575.
20	Dolman, S., Baulch, S., Evans, P.G.H., Read, F., Ritter, F., 2016. Towards an EU Action Plan on Cetacean Bycatch. Mar. Policy 72, 67–75.
21	Morizur, Y., Berro, S., Tregenza, N., Couperus, A., Pouvreau, S., 1999. Incidental catches of marine mammals in pelagic trawl fisheries of the northeast Atlantic. Fish. Res. 41, 297–307.
22	Young, N.M., ludicello, S., 2007. An evaluation of the most significant threats to cetaceans, the affected species and the geographic areas of high risk, and the recommended actions from various independent institutions. NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS 276. https://doi.org/NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-OPR-36
23	Rogan, E., Mackey, M., 2007. Megafauna bycatch in drift nets for albacore tuna (<i>Thunnus alalunga</i>) in the NE Atlantic. Fish. Res. 86, 6–14.
24	Baxter, A., 2009. Report on the Blue Whale Stranding Northwest Coast of the South Island, New Zealand, May 2009. Nelson, New Zealand.
25	Mate, B.R., 1985. Incidents of marine mammal encounters with debris and active fishing gear, in: Proceedings of the Workshop on the Fate and Impact of Marine Debris. p. 29.
26	Waring, G.T., Quintal, J.M., Fairfield, C.P., Maze-Foley, K., Cabana, N., 2004. US Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico marine mammal stock assessments 2003., NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE 182.
27	Deaville, R., Jepson, P.D., Brownlow, A., Reid, R.J., Smith, B., Duffel, E.L., Sabin, R.C., Penrose, R., Perkins, M., 2010. Final Report for the period 1st January 2005–31st December 2010. CSIP Stranding report to Defra.
28	Hooker, S.K., Whitehead, H., Gowans, S., 1999. Marine protected area design and the spatial and temporal distribution of cetaceans in a submarine canyon. Conserv. Biol. 13, 592–602.

29	Luczak, C., Beaugrand, G., Jaffre, M., Lenoir, S., 2011. Climate change impact on Balearic shearwater through a trophic cascade. Biol. Lett. 7, 702–705.
30	Soldatini, C., Albores-Barajas, Y.V., Massa, B., Gimenez, O., 2016. Forecasting ocean warming impacts on seabird demography: A case study on the European storm petrel. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 552, 255–269.
31	Wynn, R.B., Josey, S.A., Martin, A.P., Johns, D.G., Yésou, P., 2007. Climate-driven range expansion of a critically endangered top predator in northeast Atlantic waters. Biol. Lett. 3, 529–532.
32	Zuberogoitia, I., Zabala, J., Etxezarreta, J., Crespo, A., Burgos, G., Arizaga, J., 2016. Assessing the impact of extreme adverse weather on the biological traits of a European storm petrel colony. Popul. Ecol. 58, 303–313.
33	Espín, S., Martínez-López, E., María-Mojica, P., and García-Fernández, A. J. (2012). Razorbill (<i>Alca torda</i>) feathers as an alternative tool for evaluating exposure to organochlorine pesticides. Ecotoxicology 21, 183–190.
34	Vizuete, J., Hernández-Moreno, D., Fidalgo, L.E., Bertini, S., Andreini, R., Soler, F., Míguez-Santiyán, M.P., López-Beceiro, A., Pérez-López, M., 2018. Concentrations of chlorinated pollutants in adipose tissue of Yellow-legged gulls (<i>Larus michahellis</i>) from Spain: Role of gender and age. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 164, 493–499.
35	Costa, R.A., Torres, J., Vingada, J. V., Eira, C., 2016. Persistent organic pollutants and inorganic elements in the Balearic shearwater <i>Puffinus mauretanicus</i> wintering off Portugal. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 108, 311–316.
36	Cadiou, B., Chenesseau, D., Joslain, H., 2002. The inmediate impact of the Erika oil spill on seabirds, in: Walmsley, J.G. (Ed.), Oil Pollution and Conservation of Biodiversity. Porto Torres (Sardinia), pp. 11–31.
37	Lloyd, C., 1974. Movement and survival of british razorbills. Bird Study 21, 102–116.
37 38	Lloyd, C., 1974. Movement and survival of british razorbills. Bird Study 21, 102–116. Pérez-López, M., Cid, F., Oropesa, A.L., Fidalgo, L.E., Ana López Beceiro, Soler, F., 2006. Heavy metal and arsenic content in seabirds affected by the Prestige oil spill on the Galician coast (NW Spain). Sci. Total Environ. 359, 209–220.
37 38 39	Lloyd, C., 1974. Movement and survival of british razorbills. Bird Study 21, 102–116. Pérez-López, M., Cid, F., Oropesa, A.L., Fidalgo, L.E., Ana López Beceiro, Soler, F., 2006. Heavy metal and arsenic content in seabirds affected by the Prestige oil spill on the Galician coast (NW Spain). Sci. Total Environ. 359, 209–220. Romero-Romero, S., Herrero, L., Fernández, M., Gómara, B., Acuña, J.L., 2017. Biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in a deep-sea, temperate food web. Sci. Total Environ. 605–606, 589–597.
37 38 39 40	 Lloyd, C., 1974. Movement and survival of british razorbills. Bird Study 21, 102–116. Pérez-López, M., Cid, F., Oropesa, A.L., Fidalgo, L.E., Ana López Beceiro, Soler, F., 2006. Heavy metal and arsenic content in seabirds affected by the Prestige oil spill on the Galician coast (NW Spain). Sci. Total Environ. 359, 209–220. Romero-Romero, S., Herrero, L., Fernández, M., Gómara, B., Acuña, J.L., 2017. Biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in a deep-sea, temperate food web. Sci. Total Environ. 605–606, 589–597. Penela-Arenaz, M., Bellas, J., Vázquez, E., 2010. Effects of the prestige oil spill on the biota of NW Spain. 5 years of learning. Adv. Mar. Biol. 56, 365–396.
37 38 39 40 41	 Lloyd, C., 1974. Movement and survival of british razorbills. Bird Study 21, 102–116. Pérez-López, M., Cid, F., Oropesa, A.L., Fidalgo, L.E., Ana López Beceiro, Soler, F., 2006. Heavy metal and arsenic content in seabirds affected by the Prestige oil spill on the Galician coast (NW Spain). Sci. Total Environ. 359, 209–220. Romero-Romero, S., Herrero, L., Fernández, M., Gómara, B., Acuña, J.L., 2017. Biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in a deep-sea, temperate food web. Sci. Total Environ. 605–606, 589–597. Penela-Arenaz, M., Bellas, J., Vázquez, E., 2010. Effects of the prestige oil spill on the biota of NW Spain. 5 years of learning. Adv. Mar. Biol. 56, 365–396. Alonso-Alvarez, C., Munilla, I., López-Alonso, M., Velando, A., 2007. Sublethal toxicity of the Prestige oil spill on Yellow-legged gulls. Environ. Int. 33, 773–781.
37 38 39 40 41 42	 Lloyd, C., 1974. Movement and survival of british razorbills. Bird Study 21, 102–116. Pérez-López, M., Cid, F., Oropesa, A.L., Fidalgo, L.E., Ana López Beceiro, Soler, F., 2006. Heavy metal and arsenic content in seabirds affected by the Prestige oil spill on the Galician coast (NW Spain). Sci. Total Environ. 359, 209–220. Romero-Romero, S., Herrero, L., Fernández, M., Gómara, B., Acuña, J.L., 2017. Biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in a deep-sea, temperate food web. Sci. Total Environ. 605–606, 589–597. Penela-Arenaz, M., Bellas, J., Vázquez, E., 2010. Effects of the prestige oil spill on the biota of NW Spain. 5 years of learning. Adv. Mar. Biol. 56, 365–396. Alonso-Alvarez, C., Munilla, I., López-Alonso, M., Velando, A., 2007. Sublethal toxicity of the Prestige oil spill on Yellow-legged gulls. Environ. Int. 33, 773–781. Martínez-Abraín, A., Velando, A., Oro, D., Genovart, M., Gerique, C., Bartolomé, M.A., Villuendas, E., Sarzo, B., 2006. Sex-specific mortality of European shags after the Prestige oil spill: Demographic implications for the recovery of colonies. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 318, 271–276.
37 38 39 40 41 42 43	 Lloyd, C., 1974. Movement and survival of british razorbills. Bird Study 21, 102–116. Pérez-López, M., Cid, F., Oropesa, A.L., Fidalgo, L.E., Ana López Beceiro, Soler, F., 2006. Heavy metal and arsenic content in seabirds affected by the Prestige oil spill on the Galician coast (NW Spain). Sci. Total Environ. 359, 209–220. Romero-Romero, S., Herrero, L., Fernández, M., Gómara, B., Acuña, J.L., 2017. Biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in a deep-sea, temperate food web. Sci. Total Environ. 605–606, 589–597. Penela-Arenaz, M., Bellas, J., Vázquez, E., 2010. Effects of the prestige oil spill on the biota of NW Spain. 5 years of learning. Adv. Mar. Biol. 56, 365–396. Alonso-Alvarez, C., Munilla, I., López-Alonso, M., Velando, A., 2007. Sublethal toxicity of the Prestige oil spill on Yellow-legged gulls. Environ. Int. 33, 773–781. Martínez-Abraín, A., Velando, A., Oro, D., Genovart, M., Gerique, C., Bartolomé, M.A., Villuendas, E., Sarzo, B., 2006. Sex-specific mortality of European shags after the Prestige oil spill: Demographic implications for the recovery of colonies. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 318, 271–276. Azkona, A., Zuberogoitia, I., Martinez, J.A., Etxezarreta, J., Iraeta, A., Castillo, I., Zabala, J., Hidalgo, S., 2006. Short-term effects of the prestige oil spill on a colony of European storm-petrels <i>Hydrobates pelagicus</i>. Acta Zool. Sin. 52, 1042–1048.
37 38 39 40 41 42 43 43	 Lloyd, C., 1974. Movement and survival of british razorbills. Bird Study 21, 102–116. Pérez-López, M., Cid, F., Oropesa, A.L., Fidalgo, L.E., Ana López Beceiro, Soler, F., 2006. Heavy metal and arsenic content in seabirds affected by the Prestige oil spill on the Galician coast (NW Spain). Sci. Total Environ. 359, 209–220. Romero-Romero, S., Herrero, L., Fernández, M., Gómara, B., Acuña, J.L., 2017. Biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in a deep-sea, temperate food web. Sci. Total Environ. 605–606, 589–597. Penela-Arenaz, M., Bellas, J., Vázquez, E., 2010. Effects of the prestige oil spill on the biota of NW Spain. 5 years of learning. Adv. Mar. Biol. 56, 365–396. Alonso-Alvarez, C., Munilla, I., López-Alonso, M., Velando, A., 2007. Sublethal toxicity of the Prestige oil spill on Yellow-legged gulls. Environ. Int. 33, 773–781. Martínez-Abraín, A., Velando, A., Oro, D., Genovart, M., Gerique, C., Bartolomé, M.A., Villuendas, E., Sarzo, B., 2006. Sex-specific mortality of European shags after the Prestige oil spill: Demographic implications for the recovery of colonies. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 318, 271–276. Azkona, A., Zuberogoitia, I., Martinez, J.A., Etxezarreta, J., Iraeta, A., Castillo, I., Zabala, J., Hidalgo, S., 2006. Short-term effects of the prestige oil spill on a colony of European storm-petrels <i>Hydrobates pelagicus</i>. Acta Zool. Sin. 52, 1042–1048. Velando, A., Munilla, I., Leyenda, P.M., 2005. Short-term indirect effects of the Prestige oil spill on a marine top predator: changes in prey availabilty for European shags. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 302, 1–22.

46	Grémillet, D., Boulinier, T., 2009. Spatial ecology and conservation of seabirds facing
	global climate change: A review. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 391, 121–137.
47	Veit, R.R., McGowan, J.A., Ainley, D.G., Wahl, T.R., Pyle, P., 1997. Apex marine
47	Change Dial 2, 22, 29
	Chang. Biol. 3, 23–28.
48	Clease
	Glasgow.
	Acampora, H., White, P., Lyasnevska, O., O Connor, I., 2018. Contrasting congener
49	promes for persistent organic polititants and PAH monitoring in European storm petres
	(<i>Hydrobates pelagicus</i>) breeding in relatio. a preen oil versus reathers approach.
	Ronzoni A. Focardi S. Fossi C. Loonzio C. Mayol L. 1986 Comparison between
	concentrations of mercury and other contaminants in ergs and tissues of Convis
50	shearwater Calonectris diomedea collected on Atlantic and Mediterranean islands
	Environ Pollution Ser A Ecol Biol $40.17-35$
	Markert B.A. Breure A.M. 2003 Bioindicators and Biomonitors. Elsevier Sci. Ltd.6
51	305–307.
	Lewis, S.A., Furness, R.W., 1991. Mercury accumulation and excretion in laboratory
52	reared Black-headed gull Larus ridibundus chicks. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 21,
	316–320.
50	Becker, P.H., Schuhmann, S., Koepff, C., 1993. Hatching failure in common terns
53	(Sterna hirundo) in relation to environmental chemicals. Environ. Pollut. 79, 207–213.
	Joiris, C.R., Tapia, G., Holsbeek, L., 1997. Increase of organochlorines and mercury
54	levels in common guillemots Uria aalge during winter in the southern North Sea. Mar.
	Pollut. Bull. 34, 1049–1057.
	Hislop, J.R.G., Harris, M.P., 1985. Recent changes in the food of young Puffins
55	Fratercula arctica on the Isle of May in relation to fish stocks. Ibis (Lond. 1859). 127,
	234–239.
50	Roscales, J.L., González-Solís, J., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Jiménez, B., 2011. Geographic
56	and trophic patterns of OCs in pelagic seabirds from the NE Atlantic and the
	Mediterranean: A multi-species/multi-locality approach. Chemosphere 85, 432–440.
57	Acampora, H., While, P., Lyashevska, O., O Connor, I., 2017. Presence of persistent
57	Environ Sci. Pollut. Pos. 24, 13025, 13035
	Environ. Sci. Foliut. Res. 24, 13023–13033. Rodríguez A. Rodríguez R. Curbolo Á I. Pároz A. Marroro S. Nogro, I. I. 2012
58	Factors affecting mortality of shearwaters stranded by light pollution. Anim. Conserv. 15
00	519–526
	Rodríguez, B., Bécares, J., Rodríguez, A., Arcos, J.M., 2013, Incidence of
59	entanglements with marine debris by northern gannets (<i>Morus bassanus</i>) in the non-
	breeding grounds. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 75, 259–263.
	Melvin, E.F., Parrish, J.K., Conquest, L.L., 1999. Novel tools to reduce seabird bycatch
60	in coastal gillnet fisheries. Conserv. Biol. 13, 1386–1397.
	Vader, W., Barrett, R.T., Erikstad, K.E., Strann, K.B., 1990. Differential responses of
61	common and thick-billed murres to a crash in the capelin stock in the southern Barents
	Sea. Stud. Avian Biol. 14, 175–180.
62	Strann, K.B., Vader, W., Barrett, R., 1991. Auk mortality in fishing nets in north Norway.
02	Seabird 22–29.
63	DeGange, A.R., Day, R.H., Takekawa, J.E., Mendenhall, V.M., 1993. Losses of seabirds
00	in gill nets in the North Pacific. status, Ecol. Conserv. Mar. birds North Pacific 204–211.

	Montevecchi, W.A., 2002. Interactions between fisheries and seabirds, in: Schreiber,						
64	E.A., Burger, J. (Eds.), Biology of Marine Birds. CRC press, Boca Raton, Florida, pp.						
65	527–557.						
	Tasker, M.L., Camphuysen, M.C.J., Cooper, J., Garthe, S., Montevecchi, W.A., Blaber,						
	S.J.M., 2000. The impacts of fishing on marine birds, in: ICES Journal of Marine						
	Science. pp. 531–547.						
	Votier, S.C., Hatchwell, B.J., Beckerman, A., McCleery, R.H., Hunter, F.M., Pellatt, J.,						
	Trinder, M., Birkhead, T.R., 2005. Oil pollution and climate have wide-scale impacts on						
67	seabird demographics. Ecol. Lett. 8, 1157–1164.						
	Louzao, M., Gallagher, R., García-Barón, I., Chust, G., Intxausti, I., Albisu, J., Brereton,						
	T., Fontán, A., 2019. Threshold responses in bird mortality driven by extreme wind						
	events. Ecol. Indic. 99, 183–192.						
	Morley, T.I., Fayet, A.L., Jessop, H., Veron, P., Veron, M., Clark, J., Wood, M.J., 2016.						
68	The seabird wreck in the Bay of Biscay and Southwest Approaches in 2014: A review of						
	reported mortality. Seabird 29, 22–38.						
	Frederiksen, M., Wanless, S., Harris, M.P., Rothery, P., Wilson, L.J., 2004. The role of						
69	Industrial fisheries and oceanographic change in the decline of North Sea black-legged						
	KITTIWAKES, J. Appl. ECOI. 41, 1129–1139.						
70	moonlight on potrols at St Kilda, Bird Study 57, 244, 251						
	Votier S.C. Birkhead T.R. Oro D. Trinder M. Grantham M.L. Clarck, I.A.						
71	McCleery R H. Hatchwell B.J. 2008 Recruitment and survival of immature seabirds in						
	relation to oil spills and climate variability. J. Anim. Ecol. 77, 974–983.						
70	Rodríguez, A., Rodríguez, B., 2009. Attraction of petrels to artificial lights in the Canary						
72	Islands: Effects of the moon phase and age class. Ibis (Lond. 1859). 151, 299–310.						
	Fontaine, R., Gimenez, O., Bried, J., 2011. The impact of introduced predators, light-						
70	induced mortality of fledglings and poaching on the dynamics of the Cory's shearwater						
13	(Calonectris diomedea) population from the Azores, northeastern subtropical Atlantic.						
	Biol. Conserv. 144, 1998–2011.						
	Oro, D., De León, A., Minguez, E., Furness, R.W., 2005. Estimating predation on						
74	breeding European storm-petrels (<i>Hydrobates pelagicus</i>) by Yellow-legged gulls (<i>Larus</i>						
	<i>michahellis</i>). J. Zool. 265, 421–429.						
	Rodríguez, A., García, D., Rodríguez, B., Cardona, E., Parpal, L., Pons, P., 2015.						
75	Artificial lights and seabirds: Is light pollution a threat for the threatened Balearic petrels?						
	J. Ornithol. 156, 893–902.						
	Cianchetti-Benedetti, M., Becciu, P., Massa, B., Dell'Omo, G., 2018. Conflicts between						
76	touristic recreational activities and breeding shearwaters: short-term effect of artificial						
	Ight and sound on chick weight. Eur. J. Wildt. Res. 64.						
77	Plastic litter indested by seabirds in the Southeastern Bay of Biscay: ELL management						
	implications in: COAST Bordoaux, Systemic and Biodiversity Evolution of Marine						
	Coastal Ecosystems under the Pressure of Climate Change, Natural and Anthropogenic						
	Local Factors, Bordeaux, p. 131.						
	Rvan, P.G., Connell, A.D., Gardner, B.D., 1988. Marine Pollution Bulletin Plastic						
78	Ingestion and PCBs in Seabirds: Is There a Relationship? Mar. Pollut. Bull. 19, 174–176.						
	Thompson, D.R., Furness, R.W., Monteiro, L.R., 1998. Seabirds as biomonitors of						
79	mercury inputs to epipelagic and mesopelagic marine food chains. Sci. Total Environ.						
	213, 299–305.						

	Ochoa-Acuña, H., Sepúlveda, M.S., Gross, T.S., 2002. Mercury in feathers from Chilean							
80	80 birds: Influence of location, feeding strategy, and taxonomic affiliation. Mar. Pollut. E 44, 340–345.							
	Van Franeker, J.A., Blaize, C., Danielsen, J., Fairclough, K., Gollan, J., Guse, N.,							
81	Hansen, P.L., Heubeck, M., Jensen, J.K., Le Guillou, G., Olsen, B., Olsen, K.O.,							
	Pedersen, J., Stienen, E.W.M., Turner, D.M., 2011. Monitoring plastic ingestion by the							
	northern fulmar <i>Fulmarus glacialis</i> in the North Sea. Environ. Pollut. 159, 2609–2615.							
	Trevail, A.M., Gabrielsen, G.W., Kühn, S., Van Franeker, J.A., 2015. Elevated levels of							
82	ingested plastic in a high Arctic seabird, the northern fulmar (<i>Fulmarus glacialis</i>). Polar Biol. 38, 975–981.							
	Trevail, A.M., Gabrielsen, G.W., Kühn, S., Van Franeker, J.A., 2015. Elevated levels of							
83	ingested plastic in a high Arctic seabird, the northern fulmar (<i>Fulmarus glacialis</i>). Polar Biol. 38, 975–981.							
84	Hammer, S., Nager, R.G., Johnson, P.C.D., Furness, R.W., Provencher, J.F., 2016.							
	Plastic debris in Great skua (Stercorarius skua) pellets corresponds to seabird prey							
	species. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 103, 206–210.							
85	Camphuysen, C.J., 2008. Entanglement of Seabirds in Marine Litter and Fishing Gear. Sula 21, 88–92.							
	Good, T.P., June, J.A., Etnier, M.A., Broadhurst, G., 2010. Derelict fishing nets in Puget							
86	Sound and the Northwest Straits: Patterns and threats to marine fauna. Mar. Pollut. Bull.							
	60, 39–50.							
07	Good, T.P., June, J.A., Etnier, M.A., Broadhurst, G., 2009. Ghosts of the Salish Sea:							
87	I hreats to marine birds in puget sound and the northwest straits from derelict fishing							
	Hong S Loo L lang V C Kim V L Kim H L Han D Hong S H Kang D Shim							
88	W L 2012 Impacts of marine debrie on wild enimals in the seastel area of Karea. Mar							
00	TW J ZUTS INDACIS OF NAME OPDIS OF WID ADMAIS IN THE COASIALAREA OF KOREA. MAR							
00	Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124.							
00	Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L.,							
80	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of marine debris of wild animals in the coastal area of Rorea. War. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, 							
89	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of marine debris off wild animals in the coastal area of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine 							
89	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of marine debris off wild animals in the coastal area of Rorea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. 							
89	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of marine debris off wild animals in the coastal area of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion 							
89	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of marine debris of wild animals in the coastal area of Rolea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. 							
89 90 91	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of mallife debris off wild animals in the coastal area of Rolea. Mal. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. 							
89 90 91	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of malifie debris off wild animals in the coastal area of Rolea. Mal. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, 							
89 90 91 92	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of marine debris off wild animals in the coastal area of Rolea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, Courchesne, S.J., Gilchrist, H.G., Jamieson, S.E., Merkel, F.R., Falk, K., Durinck, J., 							
89 90 91 92	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of marine debris on wild animals in the coastal area of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, Courchesne, S.J., Gilchrist, H.G., Jamieson, S.E., Merkel, F.R., Falk, K., Durinck, J., Mallory, M.L., 2014. Prevalence of marine debris in marine birds from the North Atlantic. 							
89 90 91 92	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of marine debris on wild animals in the coastal area of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, Courchesne, S.J., Gilchrist, H.G., Jamieson, S.E., Merkel, F.R., Falk, K., Durinck, J., Mallory, M.L., 2014. Prevalence of marine debris in marine birds from the North Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 84, 411–417. 							
89 90 91 92 93	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of manne debris of wild animals in the coastal area of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, Courchesne, S.J., Gilchrist, H.G., Jamieson, S.E., Merkel, F.R., Falk, K., Durinck, J., Mallory, M.L., 2014. Prevalence of marine debris in marine birds from the North Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 84, 411–417. Moser, M.L., Lee, D.S., 2006. A Fourteen-Year Survey of Plastic Ingestion by Western 							
89 90 91 92 93	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of manne debris on wild animals in the coastal area of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, Courchesne, S.J., Gilchrist, H.G., Jamieson, S.E., Merkel, F.R., Falk, K., Durinck, J., Mallory, M.L., 2014. Prevalence of marine debris in marine birds from the North Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 84, 411–417. Moser, M.L., Lee, D.S., 2006. A Fourteen-Year Survey of Plastic Ingestion by Western North Atlantic Seabirds. Colon. Waterbirds 15, 83. 							
89 90 91 92 93 94	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of mathe debris on wild animals in the coastal area of Korea. Mat. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, Courchesne, S.J., Gilchrist, H.G., Jamieson, S.E., Merkel, F.R., Falk, K., Durinck, J., Mallory, M.L., 2014. Prevalence of marine debris in marine birds from the North Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 84, 411–417. Moser, M.L., Lee, D.S., 2006. A Fourteen-Year Survey of Plastic Ingestion by Western North Atlantic Seabirds. Colon. Waterbirds 15, 83. Onions, C., Rees, G., 1992. An Assessment of the environmental impacts of carriers discarded in the marine environment and the benefits derived from those fabricated from 							
89 90 91 92 93 94	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of marine debris of wild animals in the coastal area of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine marmal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, Courchesne, S.J., Gilchrist, H.G., Jamieson, S.E., Merkel, F.R., Falk, K., Durinck, J., Mallory, M.L., 2014. Prevalence of marine debris in marine birds from the North Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 84, 411–417. Moser, M.L., Lee, D.S., 2006. A Fourteen-Year Survey of Plastic Ingestion by Western North Atlantic Seabirds. Colon. Waterbirds 15, 83. Onions, C., Rees, G., 1992. An Assessment of the environmental impacts of carriers discarded in the marine environment and the benefits derived from those fabricated from a photodegradable plastic giving enhanced degradability. The Tidy Britain Group. Wigan. 							
89 90 91 92 93 94	 W.J., 2015. Impacts of manne debris on wild animals in the coastal area of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, Courchesne, S.J., Gilchrist, H.G., Jamieson, S.E., Merkel, F.R., Falk, K., Durinck, J., Mallory, M.L., 2014. Prevalence of marine debris in marine birds from the North Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 84, 411–417. Moser, M.L., Lee, D.S., 2006. A Fourteen-Year Survey of Plastic Ingestion by Western North Atlantic Seabirds. Colon. Waterbirds 15, 83. Onions, C., Rees, G., 1992. An Assessment of the environmental impacts of carriers discarded in the marine environment and the benefits derived from those fabricated from a photodegradable plastic giving enhanced degradability. The Tidy Britain Group, Wigan. Codina-García, M., Militão, T., Moreno, J., González-Solís, J., 2013. Plastic debris in 							
89 90 91 92 93 94 95	 W.J., 2015. Impacts of manne debris on wild animals in the coastal area of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, Courchesne, S.J., Gilchrist, H.G., Jamieson, S.E., Merkel, F.R., Falk, K., Durinck, J., Mallory, M.L., 2014. Prevalence of marine debris in marine birds from the North Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 84, 411–417. Moser, M.L., Lee, D.S., 2006. A Fourteen-Year Survey of Plastic Ingestion by Western North Atlantic Seabirds. Colon. Waterbirds 15, 83. Onions, C., Rees, G., 1992. An Assessment of the environmental impacts of carriers discarded in the marine environment and the benefits derived from those fabricated from a photodegradable plastic giving enhanced degradability. The Tidy Britain Group, Wigan. Codina-García, M., Militão, T., Moreno, J., González-Solís, J., 2013. Plastic debris in Mediterranean seabirds. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 77, 220–226. 							
89 90 91 92 93 94 95 06	 W.J., 2013. Impacts of maine debits of wild animals in the coastal area of Rofea. Mail. Pollut. Bull. 66, 117–124. Moore, J.E., Cox, T.M., Lewison, R.L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., McDonald, S.L., Crowder, L.B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-Hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C.N.S., Solarin, B., Kiszka, J., 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biol. Conserv. 143, 795–805. Colabuono, F.I., Barquete, V., Domingues, B.S., Montone, R.C., 2009. Plastic ingestion by Procellariiformes in Southern Brazil. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 93–96. Van Franeker, J.A., 1983. Plastics-een bedreiging voor zeevogels. Nieuwsbr. NSO 14, 41–61. Provencher, J.F., Bond, A.L., Hedd, A., Montevecchi, W.A., Muzaffar, S. Bin, Courchesne, S.J., Gilchrist, H.G., Jamieson, S.E., Merkel, F.R., Falk, K., Durinck, J., Mallory, M.L., 2014. Prevalence of marine debris in marine birds from the North Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 84, 411–417. Moser, M.L., Lee, D.S., 2006. A Fourteen-Year Survey of Plastic Ingestion by Western North Atlantic Seabirds. Colon. Waterbirds 15, 83. Onions, C., Rees, G., 1992. An Assessment of the environmental impacts of carriers discarded in the marine environment and the benefits derived from those fabricated from a photodegradable plastic giving enhanced degradability. The Tidy Britain Group, Wigan. Codina-García, M., Militão, T., Moreno, J., González-Solís, J., 2013. Plastic debris in Mediterranean seabirds. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 77, 220–226. Ceccarelli, D.M., 2009. Impacts of Plastic Debris on Australian Marine Wildlife, in: C&R 							

	Basto, M.N., Nicastro, K.R., Tavares, A.I., McQuaid, C.D., Casero, M., Azevedo, F.,
97	Zardi, G.I., 2019. Plastic ingestion in aquatic birds in Portugal. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 138, 19–24.
98	Gianuca, D., Phillips, R.A., Townley, S., Votier, S.C., 2017. Global patterns of sex- and
	age-specific variation in seabird bycatch. Biol. Conserv. 205, 60–76.
99	Fontaine, R., Gimenez, O., Bried, J., 2011. The impact of introduced predators, light-
	Induced mortality of fledglings and poaching on the dynamics of the Cory's shearwater
	(Calonectris diomedea) population from the Azores, nonneastern subtropical Atlantic.
	Valoiras I. Caminas I.A. 2003 The incidental capture of soabirds by Spanish drifting
100	Iongline fisheries in the western Mediterranean Sea, Sci, Mar, 67, 65–68
	Laneri K. Louzao M. Martínez-Abraín A. Arcos J.M. Belda E.J. Guallart J
	Sánchez A. Giménez M. Maestre R. Oro D. 2010. Trawling regime influences
101	longline seabird bycatch in the Mediterranean. New insights from a small-scale fishery
	Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 420, 241–252.
102	Cadiou, B., Bioret, F., Chenesseau, D., 2010. Response of breeding European Storm
	Petrels Hydrobates pelagicus to habitat change. J. Ornithol. 151, 317–327.
	Boué, A., Louzao, M., Arcos, J.M., Delord, K., Weimerskirch, H., Cortés, V., Barros, N.,
	Guilford, T., Muñoz Arroyo, G., Oro, D., Andrade, J., Garcia, D., Dalloyau, S., González-
103	Solís, J., Wynn, R., Micol, T., 2013. Recent and current research on Balearic shearwater
	on colonies and in Atlantic and Mediterranean areas, in: First Meeting of the Population
	and Conservation Status Working Group. pp. 1–19.
104	Camphuysen, K.C., Heubeck, M., Cox, S.L., Bao, R., Humple, D., Abraham, C.,
	Sandoval, A., 2002. The Prestige oil spill in Spain. Atl. Seabirds 4, 131–140.
105	Balseiro, A., Espí, A., Márquez, I., Pérez, V., Ferreras, M.C., Marín, J.F.G., Prieto, J.M.,
105	2005. Pathological features in marine birds affected by the prestige's oil spill in the North
	of Spain. J. Wildi. DIS. 41, 371–378.
106	Le Corre, N., Gellhaud, G., Brigand, L., 2009. Bird disturbance on conservation sites in Pritteny (France): The standpoint of geographere. J. Coast. Concerv. 12, 100, 118
	Volando, A. Munilla, L. 2011. Disturbanco to a foraging soabird by soa based tourism:
107	Implications for reserve management in marine protected areas Biol Conserv 144
	1167–1174
	Beale, C.M., Monaghan, P., 2005, Modeling the effects of limiting the number of visitors
108	on failure rates of seabird nests. Conserv. Biol. 19, 2015–2019.
109	MAGRAMA, 2012a. Estrategias Marinas. Grupo Aves. Evaluación inicial y buen estado
	ambiental. Ministerio de Agricultura, Alimentación y Medio Ambiente: 296 pp.
	https://www.mapama.gob.es/es/costas/temas/proteccion-mediomarino/
110	Wilhelm, S.I., Schau, J.J., Schau, E., Dooley, S.M., Wiseman, D.L., Hogan, H.A., 2013.
	Atlantic Puffins are Attracted to Coastal Communities in Eastern Newfoundland.
	Northeast. Nat. 20, 624–630.

CHAPTER 2 – APPENDIX B

Understanding the 3D environment of pelagic seabirds from multidisciplinary oceanographic surveys to advance ecosystem-based monitoring

Appendix B – Section 1: Non-breeding diet of pelagic seabirds

Table B-1.1. Non-breeding diet of highly pelagic seabirds in the Northwest Atlantic Ocean extracted from Ronconi et al. (2010).

Species	n	Krill	Herring	Squid	Mackerel	Sandlance	Pollock livers
Great shearwater	231	0.19	0.36	0.135	0.105	0.125	0.08
Sooty shearwater	22	0.265	0.305	0.17	0.065	0.13	0.05

Appendix B – Section 2: Horizontal fields of oceanographic descriptors

To obtain horizontal fields of temperature (TEM, °C), salinity (SAL, p.s.u.), dynamic height (DYN), depth of maximum temperature gradient (DTG, m) and maximum temperature gradient (MTG, °C m⁻¹), we used the Optimal Statistical Interpolation (OSI) scheme described in Gomis et al. (2001) in a regular 33×54 grid, covering all the study area with regular node distances of 0.15° × 0.15°. Since this scheme analyses observation increments (Gomis et al., 2001), we used a local 1st order degree polynomial least-square fit to the observations to estimate a background field and to compute the anomalies. Then, a Gaussian function for the correlation model between observations (assuming 2D isotropy) was set up, with a correlation length scale of 25-km, chosen according to DYN profiles correlation statistics obtained at different depths. The noise-to-signal (NTS) variance ratio used for the analysis of TEM, SAL and DYN were: 0.005, 0.05, and 0.01, respectively. This ratio was defined as the variance of the observational error divided by the variance of the interpolated field (the latter referring to the deviations between observations and the mean field). This parameter allows the inclusion in the analysis an estimation of the observational error and adjustments of the weight of the observations on the analysis (the larger the NTS parameter, the smaller the influence of the observation). Finally, all fields were spatially smoothed, with an additional low-pass filter with a cut-off length scale of 30 km, in order to avoid aliasing errors due to unresolved structures.

After station DYN data were interpolated onto the grid, all levels were referred to the lowest one by adding the contributions of all the levels below. This method allows profiles obtained at shallow stations take part in the recovery of the dynamic height field and has been previously tested over the continental shelf (*e.g.*, Rubio et al., 2009). Then, geostrophic velocities (GEO, m s⁻¹) were obtained by the first derivative between adjacent grid nodes of the DYN interpolated fields.

The used of in situ CTD data can be challenging and different methodological steps are necessary to undertake to assure the validity of the oceanographic outcomes used to describe the regional of oceanography. Among them, the OSI is a robust methodology to obtain interpolated fields from uneven spaced data (Cotroneo et al., 2016; León et al., 2015; Torres et al., 2011). In the schema used here, too additional parameters control the scales that are resolved and permit to filter out small structures that could emerge from the interpolation and that are not resolved by the original data. Those are the correlation length scale (which avoids spurious structures between observational points that are too far away) and the cut-off length scale which smooths the resulting interpolated fields to avoid
structures under a given scale which are not resolved by the original observations. The first parameter is fixed taking into account the empirical correlation scales computed using the original data. The second one is fixed taking into account the mean distance between CTD stations.

In addition to using a robust methodology, we carefully processed the CTD data to avoid salinity spikes (and the associated density), bias in temperature or conductivity between the profiles of the two ships, low synoptic measurements in a given area, among others. Moreover, resulting OSI fields have been validated individually by comparison with satellite imagery (SST, IR) and Sea Level Anomaly (SLA) maps, and even with the fields from Copernicus CMEMS GLORYS reanalyses.

An example is given in Figure B-2.1 where there is an agreement in the area covered by CTD measurements of the in-situ dynamic heights with the corresponding SLA fields. Satellite SLA fields offer much lower spatial resolution. Satellite SLA can be used as an alternative to obtain dynamic heights in an area where there is no in-situ observational data. SLA mapped fields consist in an optimal interpolation (similar methodology to the one used in this study) of along-track SLA data obtained from a constellation of altimeters onboard satellites measuring the global sea level with a revisit period higher than a week and a track distance around tens of kilometres. Thus, even if the along-track resolution is classically of around 7 km the resulting interpolated (and smoothed) SLA maps and the derived geostrophic currents are of much less spatio-temporal resolution (see for instance Dussurget et al. 2011) that the one obtained from the analysis of in-situ observations, following the methodology used in this study. Moreover, satellite SLA fields present specific problems in the coastal area, where the sea level measurements have lower quality than in the open ocean. *Figure B-2.1.* (a) Interpolated fields of dynamic height (values in dynamic meters indicated by the respective colour bars) and geostrophic vectors at 10 m obtained from JUVENA 2013 CTD data. (b) Interpolated fields of satellite sea level anomalies (SLA) in cm and geostrophic vectors during 12th September 2013.







Figure B-3.1. Static variables such as (a) bathymetry (BAT, m) and (b) its spatial gradient (BATG), (c) distance to the shelf-break (DSB, km) and distance to the coast (DCO, km).

Appendix B – Section 4: Characterising the vertical domain

Table B-4.1. Summary of pair-wise correlation analysis of preyscapes at different depth ranges by means of Spearman rank correlation coefficients and corresponding significance levels (lower and upper diagonal, respectively). Significance levels were set at <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001; NS: not significant. Strongly correlated (|rs| > 0.5) descriptors are marked in bold. See Table 1 for abbreviations.

	ANEJ ₁₀	ANEA ₁₀	PIL 10	ANEJDTG	ANEADTG	PILDTG	ANEJ ₇₀	ANEA ₇₀	PIL ₇₀
ANEJ ₁₀	NA	0.01	0.01	0.001	0.05	0.01	0.001	0.001	NS
ANEA10	0.082	NA	0.001	NS	0.001	0.001	NS	0.001	0.001
PIL 10	0.094	0.614	NA	NS	0.001	0.001	NS	0.001	0.001
ANEJ DTG	0.680	-0.011	0.05	NA	NS	0.05	0.001	0.01	NS
ANEADTG	0.069	0.763	0.751	0.038	NA	0.001	NS	0.001	0.001
PILDTG	0.086	0.568	0.984	0.066	0.758	NA	NS	0.001	0.001
ANEJ ₇₀	0.630	-0.051	-0.029	0.829	-0.047	-0.029	NA	NS	NS
ANEA ₇₀	0.128	0.541	0.826	0.081	0.672	0.805	0.040	NA	0.001
PIL ₇₀	0.038	0.537	0.727	0.020	0.687	0.702	-0.030	0.746	NA

Table B-4.2. Summary of pair-wise correlation analysis of oceanographic variables at different depth ranges by means of Spearman rank correlation coefficients and corresponding significance levels (lower and upper diagonal, respectively). Significance levels were set at <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001; NS: not significant. Strongly correlated (|rs| > 0.5) descriptors are marked in bold. See Table 1 for abbreviations.

	SAL10	TEM 10	GEO 10	SALDTG	TEM DTG	GEO DTG	SAL ₇₀	TEM 70	GEO 70
SAL ₁₀	NA	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	NS
TEM 10	-0.409	NA	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.001	0.01	0.01
GEO10	-0.212	0.303	NA	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.001	0.05	0.01
SALDTG	0.973	-0.334	-0.206	NA	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01
TEMDIG	-0.394	0.904	0.254	-0.355	NA	0.01	0.001	0.01	0.01
GEODTG	-0.261	0.346	0.973	-0.258	0.311	NA	0.001	0.01	0.01
SAL ₇₀	0.627	-0.019	0.051	0.643	-0.020	0.022	NA	0.001	0.01
TEM 70	0.361	0.101	-0.088	0.430	0.121	-0.109	0.004	NA	0.01
GEO70	0.066	0.325	0.630	0.101	0.288	0.679	0.145	0.296	NA

Appendix B – Section 5: Seabird detection functions

Model	Key function	Formula	AIC	Cramér- von Mises p-value	Ρα	se (Pa)	ΔΑΙϹ
hn	hn	~1	1963.132	0.738	0.489	0.032	0.000
hn.year	hn	\sim as.factor(Year)	1965.102	0.629	0.482	0.032	1.971
hn.size	hn	\sim group size	1965.119	0.720	0.489	0.036	1.988
hr	hr	~1	1965.999	0.358	0.603	0.032	2.868
hr.year	hr	\sim as.factor(Year)	1966.427	0.282	0.604	0.031	3.295
hr.size	hr	~size	1967.638	0.285	0.611	0.032	4.506
hn.beaufort	hn	\sim as.factor(Beaufort)	1969.324	0.657	0.486	0.033	6.192
hr.beaufort	hr	\sim as.factor(Beaufort)	1970.053	0.520	0.598	0.032	6.922
hn.waveH	hn	\sim as.factor(waveH)	1972.434	0.794	0.480	0.033	9.303
hn.cloud	hn	\sim as.factor(cloud)	1973.665	0.702	0.483	0.033	10.533
hr.waveH	hr	\sim as.factor(waveH)	1974.887	0.954	0.530	0.045	11.755
hr.cloud	hr	\sim as.factor(cloud)	1975.842	0.245	0.613	0.030	12.710

Table B-5.1. Modelling the detection function for Sooty shearwaters during the JUVENA surveys. Hn: half-normal. Hr: hazard-rate. Beaufort: sea state. waveH: wave height. Cloud: cloud cover.

Table B-5.2. Modelling the detection function for great shearwaters during the JUVENA surveys. Hn: half-normal. Hr: hazard-rate. Beaufort: sea state. waveH: wave height. Cloud: cloud cover.

Model	Key function	Formula	AIC	Cramér- von Mises p-value	Pa	se (Pa)	ΔΑΙϹ
hr.beaufort	hr	~as.factor(Beaufort)	6394.602	0.837	0.397	0.027	0.000
hr.year	hr	\sim as.factor(year)	6396.791	0.841	0.401	0.026	2.189
hr.size	hr	\sim group size	6398.656	0.779	0.399	0.027	4.054
hr	hr	~1	6399.875	0.746	0.404	0.026	5.273
hr.waveH	hr	\sim as.factor(waveH)	6405.030	0.796	0.402	5.239	10.428
hr.cloud	hr	\sim as.factor(cloud)	6408.496	0.790	0.398	0.026	13.894
hn.beaufort	hn	\sim as.factor(Beaufort)	6413.327	0.002	0.469	0.017	18.725
hn.year	hn	\sim as.factor(year)	6415.097	0.002	0.481	0.015	20.495
hn.waveH	hn	~as.factor(waveH)	6417.314	0.005	0.470	5.675	22.712
hn	hn	~1	6422.534	0.001	0.488	0.015	27.932
hn.size	hn	~size	6423.510	0.001	0.487	0.015	28.908
hn.cloud	hn	~as.factor(cloud)	6426.154	0.002	0.482	0.015	31.552



Figure B-5.1. Modelling the detection function for great shearwaters during the JUVENA surveys. Hn: half-normal. Hr: hazard-rate. Beaufort: sea state. waveH: wave height. Cloud: cloud cover.

Appendix B – Section 6: Correlation between descriptors

Table B-6.1. Pair-wise Spearman-rank correlation coefficient and corresponding significance levels (lower and upper diagonal, respectively) between 3D environmental descriptors integrated over the depth of maximum temperature gradient (DTG), 2D environmental descriptors and static descriptors. Significance levels were set at <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001; NS: not significant. Strongly correlated (|rs| > 0.5) descriptors are marked in bold. See Table 2.1 for abbreviations.

	ANEJDTG	ANEADTG	PILdtg	SALDTG	TEMDIG	GEODTG	DTG	MTG	SSTG	ВАТ	BATG	DCO	distSB
ANEJDTG	NA	NS	0.05	0.001	0.001	0.001	NS	NS	0.05	0.01	NS	NS	NS
ANEADTG	0.038	NA	0.001	0.05	0.001	NS	NS	NS	0.01	0.001	0.001	0.001	NS
PILDTG	0.066	0.758	NA	0.05	0.001	0.001	NS	NS	NS	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.01
SALDIG	-0.195	0.078	0.07	NA	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.01	0.001	NS	NS	NS
TEMDIG	0.131	-0.227	-0.244	-0.354	NA	0.001	0.001	NS	NS	0.001	0.001	0.001	NS
GEODIG	0.142	-0.056	-0.117	-0.259	0.312	NA	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.05	0.001	NS	0.001
DTG	-0.004	-0.017	-0.010	0.541	-0.173	-0.275	NA	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
MTG	0.013	-0.032	0.037	-0.264	-0.032	-0.131	-0.169	NA	NS	0.001	0.01	NS	0.001
SSTG	-0.064	0.081	-0.009	-0.088	0.013	0.364	-0.365	-0.05	NA	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
BAT	0.082	-0.238	-0.267	0.198	0.476	0.074	0.361	-0.199	-0.263	NA	0.001	0.001	0.001
BATG	-0.053	0.158	0.110	-0.035	-0.209	0.129	-0.235	-0.09	0.397	-0.586	NA	0.001	0.001
DCO	0.012	-0.239	-0.234	0.054	0.243	-0.029	0.292	-0.053	-0.349	0.656	-0.524	NA	0.001
DSB	0.045	0.049	0.093	0.051	0.033	-0.181	0.112	0.143	-0.249	0.266	-0.688	0.235	NA

Table B-6.2. Pair-wise Spearman-rank correlation coefficient and corresponding significance levels (lower and upper diagonal, respectively) between surface 3D environmental descriptors, 2D environmental descriptors and static descriptors. Significance level set at <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001; NS: not significant. Strongly correlated (|rs| > 0.5) descriptors are marked in bold. See Table 2.1 for abbreviations.

	ANEJ ₁₀	ANEA10	PIL 10	SAL10	TEM 10	GEO10	DTG	MTG	SSTG	BAT	BATG	DCO	DSB
ANEJ ₁₀	NA	0.01	0.01	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.05	0.001	0.01	NS	NS	NS
ANEA10	0.082	NA	0.001	NS	0.001	NS	0.001	NS	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	NS
PIL ₁₀	0.094	0.614	NA	NS	0.001	0.01	NS	NS	NS	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
SAL ₁₀	-0.399	-0.021	0.059	NA	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.05	0.001	NS	NS	NS
TEM 10	0.228	-0.171	-0.236	-0.408	NA	0.001	0.001	0.01	NS	0.001	0.001	0.001	NS
GEO10	0.224	0.025	-0.094	-0.213	0.305	NA	0.001	0.001	0.001	NS	0.001	0.01	0.001
DTG	-0.376	-0.161	-0.055	0.486	-0.193	-0.225	NA	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
MTG	0.063	0.031	0.048	-0.251	-0.083	-0.166	-0.169	NA	NS	0.001	0.01	NS	0.001
SSTG	0.237	0.166	0.016	-0.065	0.032	0.406	-0.365	-0.05	NA	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
BAT	-0.083	-0.292	-0.295	0.139	0.456	0.039	0.361	-0.199	-0.263	NA	0.001	0.001	0.001
BATG	0.026	0.203	0.122	-0.015	-0.166	0.173	-0.235	-0.090	0.397	-0.586	NA	0.001	0.001
DCO	-0.029	-0.255	-0.261	0.056	0.176	-0.090	0.292	-0.053	-0.349	0.656	-0.524	NA	0.001
DSB	0.026	0.018	0.101	0.031	0.023	-0.213	0.112	0.143	-0.249	0.266	-0.688	0.235	NA

Appendix B – Section 7: Surface environmental conditions

Figure B-7.1. 3D preycapes represented by the spatial patterns of log-transformed biomass (tonnes) of juveniles (ANEJ₁₀) (a-d) and adults (ANEA₁₀) (e-h) of European anchovy and European pilchard (ANEJ₁₀) (i-l) at 10 m depth during the 2013-2016 period. White solid and dashed lines depict the annual effort coverage corresponding to the R/V Emma Bardán and R/V Ramón Margalef, respectively. Isobaths of 200 m, 1000 m and 2000 m are outlined. Geographic references are indicated in Figure 2.1.



Figure B-7.2. 3D oceanographic environment represented by median values of (a-d) salinity (values in p.s.u., SAL₁₀), (e-h) temperature (values in °C, TEM₁₀) and (i-l) geostrophic velocity module (values in ms⁻¹, GEO₁₀) at 10-m depth during the 2013-2016 period. Dots and stars represent CTD cats performed by Emma Bardán and Ramón Margalef RVs, respectively. Isobaths of 200 m, 1000 m and 2000 m are outlined. Geographic references are indicated in Figure 2.1.



CHAPTER 3 – APPENDIX C

Essential dynamic ocean variables shape the environmental envelopes of marine megafauna diversity

Appendix C – Section 1: Species data

Figure C-1.1. Northern gannet (*Morus bassanus*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.2. Lesser black-backed gull (*Larus fuscus*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.3. Yellow-legged gull (*Larus michahellis*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.4. Mediterranean gull (*Ichthyaetus melanocephalus*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.5. Great skua (*Stercorarius skua*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.6. Sandwich tern (*Thalasseus sandvicensis*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.7. Razorbill (Alca torda) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.8. Common guillemot (*Uria aalge*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.9. Balearic shearwater (*Puffinus mauretanicus*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.10. Manx shearwater (*Puffinus puffinus*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.11. Common dolphin (*Delphinus delphis*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.12. Bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Figure C-1.13. Long-finned pilot whale (*Globicephala melas*) data from the PELACUS surveys 2007-2016. a) Number of sightings collected and individuals sighted each year and b) map of sightings and number of individuals per sighting.



Appendix C – Section 2: Distance Sampling Analysis

Covariate	Levels
Beaufort sea-state	1 - 6
Beaufort sea-state categorized	$1 \rightarrow 1, 2$ $2 \rightarrow 3, 4$ $3 \rightarrow 5, 6$
Glare intensity	None Faint Medium Strong Total
Glare intensity categorized	None_Faint $ ightarrow$ None, Faint Medium $ ightarrow$ Medium Strong_Total $ ightarrow$ Strong, Total
Swell height categorized	$1 \rightarrow \leq 0.50$ $2 \rightarrow \geq 0.60 \leq 1.0$ $3 \rightarrow \geq 1.2 \leq 1.5$ $4 \rightarrow \geq 1.7 \leq 2.0$
Cloud coverage	0 - 8
Cloud coverage categorized	$1 \to 0, 1, 2$ $2 \to 3, 4$ $3 \to 5, 6$ $4 \to 7, 8$
Visibility	0 - 8
Visibility categorized	$1 \to 0, 1, 2 2 \to 3, 4 3 \to 5, 6 4 \to 7, 8$
Overall detection conditions	Bad Medium Good Excellent
Year	2007 - 2016

Table C-2.1. Covariates tested in the Multi Covariate Distance Sampling analyses.

Figure C-2.1. Northern gannet hazard-rate detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 1000 m.



Figure C-2.2. Lesser black-backed gull hazard-rate detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 1000 m.



Figure C-2.3. Yellow-legged gull hazard-rate detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 500 m.



Figure C-2.4. Mediterranean gull half-normal detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 500 m.



Figure C-2.5. Great skua hazard-rate detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 600 m.



Figure C-2.6. Sandwich tern hazard-rate detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 800 m.



Figure C-2.7. Razorbill hazard-rate detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 500 m.



Figure C-2.8. Common guillemot hazard-rate detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 300 m.



Figure C-2.9. Balearic shearwater half-normal detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 500 m.



Figure C-2.10. Manx shearwater hazard-rate detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 350 m.



Figure C-2.11. Common dolphin hazard-rate detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 1000 m.



Figure C-2.12. Bottlenose dolphin half-normal detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 1300 m.



Figure C-2.13. Long-finned pilot whale half-normal detection function showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (black line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 1500 m.



Appendix C – Section 3: Environmental covariates

Table C-3.1. Environmental covariates used for spatial density modelling of the species, their units, resolution and source. ETOPO1 (Amante and Eakins, 2009, https://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/) was used to compute all the physiographic variables. Aqua MODIS satellite products from the web source ERDDAP (Simons, 2016) were used to compute SST, Chl-a and its gradient.

Туре	Environmental covariate	Acronyms	Resolution	Source	
Physiographic	Logarithm of the depth (m)	logBAT			
	Slope (degrees)	SLOPE	0.0.4°		
	Closest distance to the coast (km)	DisCO	0.04	EIOPOT	
	Closest distance to the self-break (km)	DisSB			
phic	Mean SST (°C)	SST	0.04°	Aqua MODIS	
anogra	Logarithm of the mean Chlorophyll a (mg/m ³)	Chl-a	0.04°	Aqua MODIS	
Oce	Chlorophyll a mean gradient	Chl-ag	0.04°	Aqua MODIS	

Figure C-3.2. Pair-wise correlation between predictor variables by means of Spearman-rank correlation coefficient. See Table C-3.1 for explanation of the abbreviations.

	log(BAT)	SLOPE	DistSB	DistCO	SST	Chl-a	Chl-ag
log(BAT)	1	-0.501	-0.601	0.474	0.130	-0.043	-0.235
SLOPE	-0.501	1	0.042	-0.177	-0.170	-0.152	0.020
DistSB	-0.601	0.042	1	-0.540	-0.002	0.174	0.284
DistCO	0.474	-0.177	-0.540	1	0.136	-0.239	-0.389
SST	0.130	-0.170	-0.002	0.136	1	-0.033	-0.122
log(Chl-a)	-0.043	-0.152	0.174	-0.239	-0.033	1	0.351
Chl-a _g	-0.235	0.020	0.284	-0.389	-0.122	0.351	1



Figure C-3.1. Physiographic variables: (a) depth, (b) slope, (c) distance to the coast, (d) distance to the shelf-break.



Figure C-3.2. Sea surface temperature (SST) over the time-series 2007-2016.


Figure C-3.3. Mean Chlorophyll a (Chl-a) over the time-series 2007-2016.



Figure C-3.4. Chlorophyll a mean gradient (Chl-a_g) over the time-series 2007-2016.

Appendix C – Section 4: Density surface models

Figure C-4.1. a) Environmental variables driving species abundance patterns characterized by means of relative variable importance (white colour indicates that the variable was not selected in the models) and b) boxplot of the relative variable importance for each group of species. Green colour indicates dynamic variables and grey colour indicate static variables. Acronyms of species are defined in Table 1 of the main text of the manuscript.



Figure C-4.2. Relationship between the average encounter rate (number of individuals sighted per 100 km of effort) of all species during the PELACUS surveys (2007-2016) and the average relative densities predicted in the study area. Densities were first averaged over the study area every year between 2007-2016. Acronyms of species are defined in Table 2 of the main text of the manuscript.





Figure C-4.3. Northern gannet spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.4. Lesser black-backed gull spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.5. Yellow-legged gull spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.6. Mediterranean gull spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.7. Great skua spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.8. Sandwich tern spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.9. Razorbill spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.10. Common guillemot spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.11. Balearic shearwater spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.12. Manx shearwater spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.13. Common dolphin spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.14. Bottlenose dolphin spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.



Figure C-4.15. Long-finned pilot whale spatial density predictions during PELACUS (2007–2016) oceanographic acoustic surveys.

Appendix C – Section 5: High-value biodiversity areas



Figure C-5.1. Maps showing the high-value biodiversity areas for the time-series 2007-2016 based on the biodiversity richness index (BRI) calculated for three cetacean species.



Figure C-5.2. Maps showing the high-value biodiversity areas for the time-series 2007-2016 based on the biodiversity richness index (BRI) calculated for ten seabird species.



Figure C-5.3. Maps showing the high-value biodiversity areas for each year of the time-series 2007-2016 based on the biodiversity richness index (BRI) calculated for all the species analysed (three cetacean and ten seabird species).

Figure C-5.4. Assessment of the geographical patterns in quantitative high-value biodiversity areas: a) linear models fitted for the percentage of cells with high abundance areas per sector, year and species. The solid blue line in each plot is the smooth function estimate and the shaded regions refer to the approximate 95% confidence intervals (the formula is showed in each plot). b) nMDS biplot based on a Bray Curtis dissimilarity distance showing the sectors correlating with the data as determined by *envfit* analysis (green arrows; *vegan* R-package (Oksanen et al., 2018)).



Chapter 4 – Appendix D

Modelling the spatial abundance of a migratory predator: a call for transboundary marine protected areas

Appendix D – Section 1: Survey's protocol

Visual line-transect protocols (Buckland et al., 2001) were followed during all surveys by a team of 3 observers working in turns of two and placed on the highest accessible point of the vessel, such that eye height was approximately 12 m and 7.5 m onboard R/V Thalassa and R/V Ramón Margalef, respectively. Observers scanned for marine mammals and seabirds a 180° sector ahead of the vessel. The port observer scanned the water to the front of the boat covering from 270° to 10° on the port side and the starboard observer from 350° to 90° on the starboard side, to ensure a good coverage of the track-line. Observers searched with naked eyes, and binoculars (10x42) were only used to aid species identification and to record the animals' behaviour. Observers collected data only along acoustic transects and, therefore, the vessel was navigating at constant heading and speed (around 10 knots) during daytime. Observation effort was geographically located thanks to the vessel GPS, which logs the coordinates of the vessel every 1 minute. For each observation period (i.e., leg), observers recorded data on vessel speed, heading, Beaufort sea-state, swell height and direction, wind speed and direction, cloud coverage, visibility, sun glare on each side of the vessel (port or starboard) and an overall subjective assessment of detection conditions of the sightings (good, moderate or bad relative to the detections).

Appendix D – Section 2: Workflow of the entire analytical process

Figure D.3.1. Workflow of the methods from the data collection to the Natura 2000 network assessment. MCDS: Multiple-Covariate Distance Sampling, GAMs: Generalized Additive Models; MPA: Marine Protected Area; EEZ: Exclusive Economic Zone.





Appendix D = 0 cellon 0. Environmental covariates

Figure D.4.1. Physiographic variables: (a) Depth, (b) Slope, (c) distance to the coast, (d) distance to

Appendix D – Section 3: Environmental covariates



Figure D.4.2. Oceanographic variables over the study years. a) SST; b) SST_g; c) w; d) EKE; e) SLA; f) Chl-a; g) Chl-a_g.













Appendix D – Section 4: Spearman-rank correlation coefficients

Table D.5.1. Pair-wise correlation between predictor variables by means of Spearman-rank correlation coefficient. Correlation higher than |0.7| are in bold. See Table 4.2 for abbreviations.

	CHL	CHLg	SST	SSTg	w	EKE	SLA	BAT	BATg	DisSB	Dist 1	Dist2	DisCO
CHL	1	0.505	-0.401	0.158	0.005	0.017	-0.133	-0.563	0.125	0.082	0.337	0.481	-0.336
CHLg	0.505	1	-0.181	0.319	-0.038	-0.032	-0.248	-0.464	0.192	0.018	0.217	0.324	-0.439
SST	-0.401	-0.181	1	-0.052	-0.271	-0.286	0.174	0.378	0.039	-0.190	-0.425	-0.414	0.031
SST_{g}	0.158	0.319	-0.052	1	0.113	0.118	-0.105	-0.233	0.106	0.009	0.098	0.118	-0.177
w	0.005	-0.038	-0.271	0.113	1	0.998	0.011	-0.010	-0.156	0.237	0.176	0.092	0.158
EKE	0.017	-0.032	-0.286	0.118	0.998	1	-0.001	-0.020	-0.154	0.239	0.183	0.103	0.152
SLA	-0.133	-0.248	0.174	-0.105	0.011	-0.001	1	0.353	-0.161	-0.020	-0.141	-0.246	0.358
BAT	-0.563	-0.464	0.378	-0.233	-0.010	-0.020	0.353	1	-0.466	0.009	-0.379	-0.577	0.656
BATg	0.125	0.192	0.039	0.106	-0.156	-0.154	-0.161	-0.466	1	-0.566	-0.389	-0.132	-0.471
DisSB	0.082	0.018	-0.190	0.009	0.237	0.239	-0.020	0.009	-0.566	1	0.687	0.380	0.160
Dist 1	0.337	0.217	-0.425	0.098	0.176	0.183	-0.141	-0.379	-0.389	0.687	1	0.823	-0.068
Dist2	0.481	0.324	-0.414	0.118	0.092	0.103	-0.246	-0.577	-0.132	0.380	0.823	1	-0.312
DisCO	-0.336	-0.439	0.031	-0.177	0.158	0.152	0.358	0.656	-0.471	0.160	-0.068	-0.312	1

Appendix D - Section 5: Spatial prediction reliability

We developed an example of interpolation versus extrapolation from simulated data: the light green polygon simulates the convex hull, *i.e.*, the smallest convex polygon containing the environmental variable values used as calibration data when estimating the models (Figure D.6.1). Likewise, derived from a simulated prediction dataset we represent those points (*i.e.*, predictions) which fall inside the convex hull and are interpolations (in green) and those which are outside the convex hull and are extrapolations (in blue).

This example is intended to show the importance of not only considering a prediction as an extrapolation but also taking into account the calibration data which is informing this prediction. In the Figure D.6.1b, c, d and e the red circles indicate the neighbourhood of some predictions. The Figure D.6.1b shows the neighbourhood of an extrapolation which is not informed by any calibration data, whilst the Figure D.6.1c shows that even if a prediction falls outside the convex hull (*i.e.*, even if it's an extrapolation), it can be still informed by calibration data lying in its neighbourhood, and we can argue that is "less of an extrapolation" (King and Zeng, 2007). However, as the Figure D.6.1d shows, an interpolation may not have calibration data lying in its neighbourhood and be less reliable than a "pure" extrapolation. Finally, the bottom red circle in the Figure D.6.1e shows the "ideal" prediction, in this case this prediction can be considered as interpolation since it falls inside the convex hull and its informed by calibration data lying in its neighbourhood.




Appendix D – Section 6: Distance Sampling Analysis

Figure D-6.1. Fin whale hazard-rate detection function based on JUVENA and PELACUS surveys showing histogram of perpendicular distance data for the sightings and the fitted detection probability (line) predicted by the model. Perpendicular distance was truncated at 4000 m.



Table D-6.1. Results of the best fitted detection functions, table show the following data: Key: type of detection function, Detection covariate: environmental covariates sued to perform MCDS (Multiple-Covariate Distance Sampling) analysis, Cov.1: levels of the covariate 1 used to perform the MCDS analysis, Cov2: if used, levels of the covariate 2 used to perform the MCDS analysis, ESW: effective strip half-width in meters, AIC: Akaike Information Criteria, Δ AIC: delta AIC, Param: number of parameters included in the detection function, Ks Dn: Kolmogorov-Smirnov goodness-of-fit statistics, Ks pvalue: p-value of Kolmogorov-Smirnov, CvM: Cramer-von Mises goodness-of-fit statistics, Pa: averaged detection probability, SE Pa: standard error of detection probability, CV Pa: coefficient of variation of detection probability.

Key	Detection covariate	Cov. 1	Cov. 2	ESW (m)	AIC	$\Delta \ {\rm AIC}$	Param	Ks Dn	Ks pvalue	CvM	CvM pvalue	Ρα	SE Pa	CV Pa	Fitted detection function
HR	R/V + cluster size	TH	1	2760.96											
			2	3299.854	674.10 0.00									° 1 – 1	
			3	3712.013		0.00	4	0.09	0.26	0.10	0.61	0.30	0.05	0.16	
		RM	1	1011.133											Definition of the second secon
			2	1377.985										8-62	
			3	1835.753											0 1000 2000 3000 4000 Perpendicular distance (m)
			6	3447.211											

Table D-6.1. Continuation

Key	Detection covariate	Cov. 1	Cov. 2	ESW (m)	AIC	Δ AIC	Param	Ks Dn	Ks pvalue	С∨М	CvM pvalue	Ρα	SE Pa	CV Pa	Fitted detection function
	R/V + Beaufort	тц	0,1,2,3	3255.67		0.13 4		0.08	0.32	0.11	0.54	0.30	0.05		
			4,5	3946.1726	(74.00									0.17	a protectadality
нк		DAA	0,1,2,3	636.3327	074.22		4							0.17	The second secon
		K/W	4,5	1302.4449											Perpendicular datance (m)
		2007		3256.51											e .
		2008		281.81			7	0.08		0.11		0.26	0.06		8 -
	V	2013		663.11		0.47			0.25		0.55			0.00	Villende no
нк	Year	2014		1291.45	674.77 0.6	0.67			0.35		0.55			0.22	02 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04
		2015		1187.91											
		2016		950.59											Perpendicular distance (m)

Table D-6.1. Continuation



Appendix D – Section 7: Results of spatial abundance modelling procedure

Table D-7.1. Detailed results of spatial abundance modelling procedure based on the Information-Theoretic approach. '+' signs indicate variables included in the model. Int: intercept, k: number of knots, AIC_c: corrected Akaike Information Criteria, Δ AICc: (AIC_c)_i – (AIC_c)_{min}, ω_i : Akaike weights, Dev (%): Percentage of deviance explained, see Table 4.2 for predictors abbreviations.

Model	Int	BAT	SST	EKE	SLA	CHLg	DisCO	Dist2	DisSB	SSTg	BATg	CHL	k	AIC	$\Delta \operatorname{AIC}_{\operatorname{c}}$	ω	Dev (%)
1	-6.779	+	+	+	+								4	775.627	0	0.340	37.42
2	-6.707	+	+	+		+							4	776.998	1.371	0.171	36.63
3	-6.842	+	+		+	+							4	777.895	2.268	0.109	36.21
4	-6.657	+	+	+			+						4	780.421	4.794	0.031	36.59
5	-6.626	+	+	+									4	780.520	4.893	0.029	35.98
6	-6.725	+	+	+						+			4	780.619	4.992	0.028	36.03
7	-6.752	+	+		+			+					4	780.687	5.060	0.027	36.42
8	-6.643	+	+	+					+				4	780.863	5.236	0.025	36.14
9	-6.690	+		+	+	+							4	780.880	5.253	0.025	34.12
10	-6.766	+	+		+				+				4	781.252	5.625	0.020	35.87
11	-6.758	+	+		+		+						4	781.753	6.126	0.016	36.03
12	-6.700	+	+		+								4	781.773	6.146	0.016	34.84
13	-6.623	+	+	+								+	4	781.893	6.266	0.015	35.53

Table D-7.1. Continuation

Model	Int	BAT	SST	EKE	SLA	CHLg	DisCO	Dist2	DisSB	SSTg	BATg	CHL	k	AIC	$\Delta \operatorname{AIC}_{\mathrm{c}}$	ωί	Dev (%)
14	-6.741	+	+			+		+					4	782.320	6.693	0.012	35.89
15	-6.721	+	+		+						+		4	782.420	6.793	0.011	35.25
16	-6.628	+	+	+							+		4	782.491	6.864	0.011	36.04
17	-6.721	+		+	+				+				4	782.536	6.909	0.011	35.06
18	-6.639	+	+	+				+					4	782.856	7.229	0.009	36.51
19	-6.674	+		+	+		+						4	783.085	7.458	0.008	34.99
20	-6.730	+	+		+					+			4	783.637	8.010	0.006	34.89
21	-6.663	+	+			+							4	783.705	8.078	0.006	34.44
22	-6.701	+	+		+							+	4	783.831	8.204	0.006	34.84
23	-6.671	+	+				+	+					4	784.003	8.376	0.005	36.25
24	-6.657	+			+	+							4	784.738	9.111	0.004	32.28
25	-6.696	+			+	+		+					4	784.777	9.150	0.004	33.53
26	-6.737	+	+			+				+			4	785.048	9.421	0.003	34.62

Chapter 5 – Appendix E

The value of time-series for conservation planning





Figure E.1.1. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Yellow-legged gull (*Larus michahellis*).



Figure E1.2. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Lesser black-backed gull (*Larus fuscus*).



Figure E1.3. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Mediterranean gull *(lchthyaetus melanocephalus)*.



Figure E1.4. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Sandwich tern (*Thalasseus sandvicensis*).



Figure E1.5. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Razorbill (*Alca torda*).



Figure E1.6. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Common guillemot (*Uria aalge*).



Figure E1.7. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Balearic shearwater (Puffinus mauretanicus).



Figure E1.8. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Manx shearwater (*Puffinus puffinus*).



Figure E1.9. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Great skua (*Stercorarius skua*).



Figure E1.10. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Northern gannet (*Morus bassanus*).



Figure E1.11. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Common dolphin (*Delphinus delphis*).



Figure E1.12. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*).



Figure E1.13. Map of the study area representing the abundance per planning unit of the Long-finned pilot whale (*Globicephala melas*).

Appendix E – Section 2: Conservation targets

Table E2.1. Conceptual decision framework showing the conservation targets (%) based on the categories of the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List of Threatened Species in Europe and the level of occurrence of the species in the area (MAGRAMA, 2012a, 2012b). The categories of the IUCN are DD: data deficient; LC: Least concern; NT: Near threatened; VU: Vulnerable; EN: Endangered and CR: Critically Endangered. To set the conservation target of the species categorized as DD we consider the same criteria as the species categorized as VU.

	DD	LC	NT	VU	EN	CR
Common	50	30	40	50	60	70
Abundant	40	20	30	40	50	60

Appendix E – Section 3: Approach 1 and Approach 2 results

Approach	Scenario comparison	W	p value
	Scenario2016	4403875	< 2.2e-16
	Scenario2016-2015	4407625	< 2.2e-16
	Scenario2016-2014	3802643	0.528
	Scenario2016-2013	3817852	0.728
A nan vo sich 1	Scenario2016-2012	3811503	0.642
Approach i	Scenario2016-2011	3823452	0.809
	Scenario2016-2010	3836589	0.998
	Scenario2016-2009	3839091	0.961
	Scenario2016-2008	3849175	0.813
	Scenario2016-2007	3836450	1.000
	Scenario2016	3942480	0.041
	Scenario2016-2015	3958084	0.019
	Scenario2016-2014	3816540	0.703
	Scenario2016-2013	3804757	0.544
Ammuna and D	Scenario2016-2012	3815665	0.691
Approach 2	Scenario2016-2011	3813579	0.661
	Scenario2016-2010	3822565	0.790
	Scenario2016-2009	3830083	0.903
	Scenario2016-2008	3833689	0.958
	Scenario2016-2007	3836450	1.000

Table E3.1. Results of Wilcoxon rank sum tests to assess differences in percentage overlap of selection frequency for the approaches 1 and 2. Significant results are shown in blue.

Appendix E – Section 4: Approach 3 results

Table E4.1. Pairwise comparison of planning scenarios using the Cohen's Kappa for the Marxan's best solution of each scenario. All the scenarios comparisons were based on the Scenario2016-2007. For each comparison it is represented the value of the Cohen's Kappa statistics (K) with their confidence interval. Colours highlighting the judgement for K about the extent of agreement in a < 0 - 1 scale (from red to green; Landis & Koch, 1977).

Approach	Scenarios comparison	К	L-CI	U-CI	Judgement
	Scenario2016	0.541	0.510	0.573	Moderate agreement
	Scenario2016-2015	0.630	0.601	0.658	Substantial agreement
	Scenario2016-2014	0.777	0.753	0.801	Substantial agreement
	Scenario2016-2013	0.809	0.786	0.831	Almost perfect agreement
3	Scenario2016-2012	0.832	0.811	0.853	Almost perfect agreement
	Scenario2016-2011	0.862	0.843	0.882	Almost perfect agreement
	Scenario2016-2010	0.885	0.867	0.903	Almost perfect agreement
	Scenario2016-2009	0.905	0.889	0.921	Almost perfect agreement
	Scenario2016-2008	0.932	0.918	0.946	Almost perfect agreement

All K values were significant at p-value < 2.2e-16

Figure E4.1. Relationships among solutions of the 10 scenarios of the approach 3. Left panel shows the dendrogram from a complete hierarchical cluster analysis and right panel the nMDS plots based on a Jaccard resemblance matrix.



Figure E4.2. Results of Wilcoxon rank sum tests to assess differences in percentage overlap of selection frequency for the approach 3. All the scenarios comparisons were based on the Scenario2016-2007. Dotted line shows the limit of significance for the test (p value = 0.05).



"All we have to decide is what to do with the time that is given us."

J.R.R. Tolkien, The Fellowship of the Ring